
CITY OF CORCORAN 

*Includes Materials - Materials relating to these agenda items can be found in the House Agenda Packet by
Door.

Corcoran Planning Commission Agenda 
July 2, 2020 - 7:00 pm  

1. Call to Order / Roll Call

2. Pledge of Allegiance

3. Agenda Approval

4. Open Forum

5. Minutes
a. Minutes – June 4, 2020*

6. New Business - Public Comment Opportunity

a. Sign Variance for the Corcoran Crossroads property located at 7625 County Road 116 (PID
26-119-23-11-0013) (city file no. 20-014)
i. Staff Report
ii. Commission Discussion & Recommendation

b. Sign Variance for property at 9350 County Road 19 (PID 07-119-23-43-0004) (city file no.
20-020)
i. Staff Report
ii. Commission Discussion & Recommendation

c. Public Hearing. Site Plan, Conditional Use Permit and Preliminary Plat for Eagle Brook
Church on property located at the northwest corner of Hackamore Road and CR 101 (PID
36-119-23-44-0008, 36-119-23-44-0010, 36-119-23-44-0009, 36-119-23-44-0013, 36-119-
23-44-0014) (city file no. 20-023)
i. Staff Report
ii. Open Public Hearing
iii. Close Hearing
iv. Commission Discussion & Recommendation

d. Final PUD Development Plan for Bellwether 5th Addition (PID 0-119-23-43-0011) (city file
no. 20-024)
i. Staff Report
ii. Commission Discussion & Recommendation

7. Reports/Information
a. Planning Project Update*
b. City Council Report* – Council Liaison Schultz
c. Other Business

Meeting Held Via Telephone/Other Electronic Means
Call-in Instructions:
Call: +1 312 626 6799 US
Enter Meeting ID: 894 8235 9428
Press *9 to speak during the Public Comment Sections.
Video Instructions:
Click this link: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89482359428 
OR visit www.zoom.us and enter Meeting ID: 815 4766 0164
Participants can utilize the Raise Hand function to be recognized to 
speak during the Public Comment Sections. Participant video feeds 
will be muted.
For more information on options to provide public comment visit: 
www.corcoranmn.gov



*Includes Materials - Materials relating to these agenda items can be found in the House Agenda Packet by
Door.

8. Commissioner Liaison Calendar
City Council Meetings

7/9/20 7/23/20 8/13/20 8/27/20 9/10/20 9/24/20 
Vehrenkamp Wu Shoulak Jacobs Dickman Vehrenkamp 

9. Adjournment

Due to the COVID-19 health pandemic, the Planning Commission's regular 
meeting place is not available and is not open to the public. Pursuant to 
Minnesota Statute 13D.021 the one or more members of the Planning 
Commission may participate by telephone or other electronic means.



CITY OF CORCORAN

Corcoran Planning Commission Minutes 
June 4, 2020 - 7:00 pm 

The Corcoran Planning Commission met on June 4, 2020 at City Hall in Corcoran, Minnesota. 

Present via telephonic or other electronic means were: Chair Jacobs, Commissioner Wu, Commissioner 
Dickman, Commissioner Shoulak, and Commissioner Vehrenkamp. 

Also present via telephonic or other electronic means were: City Administrator Martens, City Planner 
Lindahl, and Council Liaison Schultz. Compliance Official Pritchard was present at City Hall. 

1. Call to Order / Roll Call

Chair Jacobs called the meeting to order at 7:01pm.
2. Pledge of Allegiance
3. Agenda Approval

Motion made by Vehrenkamp seconded by Dickman to approve the agenda with the removal of
Agenda Item 6d.
Voting Aye: Jacobs, Wu, Dickman, Shoulak, and Vehrenkamp. (Motion carried 5:0)

4. Open Forum – NONE
5. Minutes

a. Minutes – May 7, 2020
Motion made by Wu seconded by Vehrenkamp to approve the agenda with correction to voting on
item 6a.
Voting Aye: Jacobs, Wu, Dickman, Shoulak, and Vehrenkamp. (Motion carried 5:0)

6. New Business

a. Public Hearing. Park Dedication Ordinance Update (20-004)
i. Staff Report – Planner Lindahl presented her staff report.
ii. Open Public Hearing – Chair Jacobs opened the public hearing. NONE
iii. Close Hearing

Motion made by Wu seconded by Shoulak to close the public hearing.
Voting Aye: Jacobs, Wu, Dickman, Shoulak, and Vehrenkamp.
(Motion carried 5:0)

iv. Commission Discussion & Recommendation – Staff clarified Park Dedication is based on
actual/ fair market value.
Motion made by Dickman seconded by Wu to recommend approval of the resolution as
presented.
Voting Aye: Jacobs, Wu, Dickman, Shoulak, and Vehrenkamp. (Motion carried 5:0)

b. Public Hearing. Preliminary Plat for Kariniemi Addition (PID 33-119-23-22-0004 and 33-119-
23-21-0001)  (city file 20-016)

i. Staff Report – Planner Lindahl presented her staff report.
ii. Open Public Hearing – Chair Jacobs opened the public hearing.

Two public comment letters were received prior to the meeting.
Andrew Wyffels, 6840 Rolling Hills Rd, shared concerns with the private drive, including
setbacks, snow storage and crop kill, ditch location and drainage, especially regarding
existing drain tile disturbance, as well as dust control. He also asked form clarification
regarding septic sites, Lot 4 access and development rights. Mr. Wyffels also stated that
the development was denser than the surrounding area.
Armand Brachman, 6855 Rolling Hills Rd, shared concerns with calculating development
rights from wetland areas. He also shared concern with allowing a private driveway vs. a
city street. He shared that septic sites might be challenging in the area as other neighbors

5a. 



 

 

 

had issues locating septic sites. Mr. Brachman also stated that the development is out of 
character for the surrounding area. 

 Donovan Demarais, 26175 Birch Bluff La. Excelsior, (Realtor, Partner Developer of Rolling 
Hills Acres) shared that the subdivision was a surprise and not conveyed by the purchaser. 
He also shared concerns about drainage and run-off as well as the driveway and septic 
sites/soil conditions. 

 Phillip Kothrade 6627 Co Rd 5, Annandale, (Developer of Rolling Hills Acres) shared 
concerns with existing drain tile and the private drive including location, ditch and setback 
from the property line. He said the development is out of character for the area and that 
transfer of development rights creates burden on other properties. He also shared concern 
with septic sites. 

 Mark Radintz, 6890 Rolling Hills Rd, stated he is currently building his home on Lot 1 
Rolling Hills Acres and agrees with the other concerns shared. He is concerned about his 
elevations and how this development may impact his drainage.  

 Nate Kariniemi, 19927 Larkin Rd, Applicant/developer, stated the development would meet 
or exceed code, the private drive would be built to City standards, and the stormwater 
management and wetland delineation were approved. He stated the there is a septic 
application pending with Hennepin County. Mr. Kariniemi also stated he grew up and still 
lives in Corcoran and would be open for discussion with anyone. 

iii. Close Hearing 
 Motion made by Vehrenkamp seconded by Shoulak to close the public hearing. 
  Voting Aye: Jacobs, Wu, Dickman, Shoulak, and Vehrenkamp.  

(Motion carried 5:0) 
iv. Commission Discussion & Recommendation -Staff clarified and answered questions raised 

during the public hearing: The applicant still has a number of conditions to address as part 
of approval; private drives are allowed per City Code; development rights can be 
reassigned when platting and an OSP could allow this number to double; septic is 
reviewed by Hennepin County prior to plat approval; HOA will be required for private drive. 
The Commission discussed development rights and calculation based on buildable 
acreage vs. non-buildable as well as the “transfer” of rights.  
The Commission inquired about access to the 40-acre property. Staff stated they had 
access to the east for the existing homestead and that any new access would most likely 
require wetland fill and that there is currently no approval for this. Staff briefly clarified the 
wetland fill process.  
The Commission discussed driveway design/construction and drainage and shared 
concerns that there wasn’t enough information provided. They discussed that even though 
they approve the plat, the conditions would need to be met prior to release and 
construction; staff confirmed and shared that this has been a Council policy, to keep 
applications moving through the process (with conditions) rather than holding the 
application up. Staff also clarified the final plat process and how conditions are resolved 
and that this application had several conditions prior to final plat. 
 

 Motion made by Jacobs seconded by Wu to recommend approval of the resolution as 
presented. 

 Voting Aye: Jacobs, Wu, Dickman, Shoulak, and Vehrenkamp. (Motion carried 5:0) 
 

c. Public Hearing. Spanier Conditional Use Permit and Variance for the Property located at 10580 
Cain Road (PID 02-119-23-23-004) (city file no. 20-019) 

i. Staff Report – Planner Lindahl presented her staff report. 
ii. Open Public Hearing – Chair Jacobs opened the public hearing. NONE 
iii. Close Hearing 
 Motion made by Wu seconded by Dickman to close the public hearing. 
  Voting Aye: Jacobs, Wu, Dickman, Shoulak, and Vehrenkamp. 

(Motion carried 5:0) 

iv. Commission Discussion & Recommendation – The Commission briefly discussed the 



 

 

 

setback non-conformity and that it would not expand. 
 Motion made by Shoulak seconded by Wu to recommend approval of the resolution as 

presented. 
 Voting Aye: Jacobs, Wu, Dickman, Shoulak, and Vehrenkamp. (Motion carried 5:0) 

 

d. Sign Variance at 9350 CR 19 (city file 20-020) REMOVED 
 

Chair Jacobs called a five-minute recess. (9:05) Chair Jacobs called the meeting back to order at 9:10pm. 
 

e. Public Hearing. Comprehensive Plan Amendment, Rezoning, Preliminary Plat and Preliminary 
PUD Development Plan for “Tavera” (PID 35-119-23-44-0001, 35-119-23-11-0001, 35-119-23- 
12-0002, 35-119-23-41-0001 and 35-119-23-43-0001) (City File 20-017) 

i. Staff Report – Planner Lindahl presented her staff report. 
ii. Open Public Hearing – Chair Jacobs opened the public hearing.  

One public comment letter was received prior to the meeting.  
 Paul Tabone, Lennar, Applicant/Developer, gave an overview of the project and PUD 

request and thanked the Commission and staff and stated he was available for questions. 
 Mark Lanterman, 6936 Oakridge Dr., referenced his public comment letter and reiterated 

his concerns with lot size and the PUD vs. variance process. He stated that a PUD should 
be treated the same as a variance and the plat should be required to meet code. Mr. 
Lanterman also referenced information included in his letter regarding a 2014 federal 
investigation and $13.2 M settlement for violations of the False Claims Act for originating 
and writing bad loans. 
Greg Hoglund, 19220 Hackamore Rd, shared concerns with the City’s website and the 
packet being too large to download and the location. He also asked for information on 
eminent domain process for the sewer route. He also shared his opinion that the 
development would be approved in a 5:0 vote. 
Nick Ashworth, 4760 Medina Lake Dr, shared concerns with density and that it should be 
lower. 

iii. Close Hearing 
 Motion made by Vehrenkamp seconded by Jacobs to close the public hearing. 
  Voting Aye: Jacobs, Wu, Dickman, Shoulak, and Vehrenkamp. 

(Motion carried 5:0) 
iv. Commission Discussion & Recommendation – At the request of the Commission, Staff 

clarified and answered a few questions: Staff clarified that the PUD and variance 
processes and requirements are distinctively and legally different and that a PUD does not 
need to meet variance standards per Code. The Commission is reviewing the application 
not the applicant and therefor the lawsuit is not relevant. Staff thanked Mr. Hoglund for the 
website comments and stated that eminent domain has not been voted on/finalized by the 
City Council. 
Mr. Lanterman asked for the floor and it was granted by Chair Jacobs. Mr. Lanterman 
stated that he believes his comments are relevant.  
The Commission asked Lennar for more information about their neighborhood meetings, 
why there was no amenity center proposed as well as cul de sac design and rear setback 
flexibility. 
Mr. Tabone stated neighborhood meetings had approximately 10-15 attendants and 
included questions on landscaping, drainage, stormwater, traffic, product type and design, 
as well as the referenced lawsuit. Rear setback flexibility is being requested to allow decks 
to be included. Mr. Tabone stated they are focusing on more natural amenities in lieu of a 
club house. They elected to leave out the cul de sac islands to simplify the plan as they 
were found to be problematic in construction and maintenance.   
Commissioner Vehrenkamp thanked Lennar for the work they’ve done to provide open 
space and conserve natural areas.  
Staff clarified the Theis parcel is included with the project.  
The Commission asked if allowing flexibility would set precedence. Staff clarified that PUD 



 

 

 

is unique to this project only and does not create or set precedence for other projects.  
The Commission shared concerns with tree preservation, fragmented ecologically 
significant areas and forests, preserving rural/natural character, as well as the possibility of 
requiring a conservation easement. 
The Commission discussed if there is enough benefit vs flexibility for the PUD. 
Buffering and screening was discussed, including the use of berms, larger trees, and more 
landscaping/existing natural landscape preservation, including working with and 
landscaping on neighboring properties. 
The Commission discussed the garage flexibility and the “gateway” sign. 
Paul Tabone responded that they could work with their landscape architect to address 
buffering in specific areas but that planting off their property is very difficult. Paul stated the 
topography and wetlands play a part in the site design as well as meeting Met Council 
density. These numbers could not be met without townhomes and twin homes and smaller 
lots. Paul clarified garage flexibility as well as setbacks. He also discussed grading and 
their reasoning for their request for early grading.  
 

 Motion made by Wu seconded by Shoulak to recommend approval of all resolutions with 
amendments to the PUD resolution to add condition 54 requiring cul de sac islands, revise 
condition 34c. to require a conservation easement and add condition 35 to require 
additional landscaping and buffering to multiple lots. 
 Voting Aye: Wu, Shoulak, and Vehrenkamp. Voting Nay: Jacobs and Dickman. (Motion 
carried 3:2) 
 

7. Reports/Information 

a. Planning Project Update – Information only. 

b. City Council Report – Council Liaison Schultz updated the Commission on Council activities. 

a. Other Business – The Commission discussed tree preservation ordinance.  

Staff reminded the Commission of the July 2 meeting and confirmed attendance.   

 
8. Commissioner Liaison Calendar 

 
City Council Meetings 

6/11/20 6/25/20 7/9/20 7/23/20 8/13/20 8/27/20 

Jacobs Dickman Vehrenkamp Wu Shoulak Jacobs 

 
9. Adjournment 
 Motion made by Shoulak seconded by Wu to adjourn. 

Voting Aye: Jacobs, Wu, Dickman, Shoulak, and Vehrenkamp. (Motion carried 5:0) 
Meeting adjourned at 12:47am, Friday June 5, 2020.  

 
 
  
 
  

Submitted by Mike Pritchard 
Code Compliance Official



 

 
105 South Fifth Avenue 
Suite 513 
Minneapolis, MN 55401 

Tel: 612-252-9070 
Fax: 612-252-9077 
www. land fo rm .ne t  

 

Landform®, SensiblyGreen® and Site to Finish® are registered service marks of Landform Professional Services, LLC.  

TO:  Corcoran Planning Commission 
 
FROM: T.J. Hofer through Kendra Lindahl, Landform 
 
DATE: June 25, 2020 for the July 2, 2020 Planning Commission Meeting 
 
RE: Corcoran Crossroads Marketplace Variances for the Property located at 7625 Co Rd 

No 116 (PID 26-119-23-11-0013) (city file no. 20-014) 
 
60-DAY REVIEW DEADLINE: July 31, 2020     
 
 
1.  Application Request 
 
The applicant has requested approval of variances to exceed the total allowed sign area and to 
allow a second dynamic display.  
 
The applicant will also require a variance for the construction of the new canopy. The existing 
canopy is a legal, nonconforming structure that could be expanded, but the application’s plan to 
remove and rebuild the canopy eliminates the legal, non-conformity. 
 
2. Context 

 

Zoning and Land Use 
 
The property is in the Neighborhood Commercial (C-1) District and is guided Commercial on the 
Future Land Use Map. 
  
Surrounding Properties  
 
The surrounding properties are also zoned Neighborhood Commercial (C-1) and guided 
Commercial. 
 
Natural Characteristics of the Site 
 
There are no relevant natural characteristics or resources near the site. 
 
Compliance with Minnesota Statutes 
 
Staff notes that Section 1030 of the Corcoran City Code is not in compliance with the Minnesota 
State Statute §462.357 Subd. 1e. Staff has reviewed this application using the standards set forth 
within the Minnesota Statutes.  
  

Agenda Item: 6.a. 
 



 

Spanier CUP and Variance (20-019)  2 
June 4, 2020 

3. Analysis of Request 
 
The applicant recently purchased the property and is making improvements as part of a rebranding 
of the Corcoran Crossroads gas/convenience store. 
 
Sign Variance 
 
The applicant is requesting a variance to exceed the total allowable wall sign area and to allow the 
use of two dynamic displays on the site. The code allows for wall sign area equal to 10% of the 
primary building face. The primary building face is 980 sq. ft., which allows for 98 sq. ft. of wall sign 
area. The applicant is proposing 154.93 sq. ft. of sign area, which includes the existing wall sign on 
the primary building face, the proposed Marathon Channel Letter sign on the canopy and the 
proposed two dynamic displays. The site currently has approximately 158 sq. ft. of wall signage. 
 
The code also restricts a use to one dynamic display and the applicant is proposing the use of two. 
Section 1070.040 of the Zoning Ordinance describes the variance process and standards. The 
burden of proof is on the applicant to show that all of the following criteria have been met: 
 

1. That there are practical difficulties in complying with the Zoning Ordinance. 
 
The site currently exceeds the amount of wall signage permitted by ordinance. The 
existing building signage totals  93 sq. ft., which would leave only five sq. ft. for the 
canopy signage.  The canopy currently has approximately 65 sq. ft. of signage.  
 
The applicant is requesting a variance to allow two dynamic price signs. With only one 
dynamic display the canopy would only be able to advertise to traffic traveling one way 
along County Road 116. Currently, the canopy has a dynamic display on both the north 
and south side of the structure. This allows traffic coming from either way to identify the 
site as a motor fuel station and see the prices available. The same effect could be 
achieved by a free-standing sign, but given the proximity to County Road 116, a free 
standing sign would likely need to occupy the right-of-way.  
 

2. That the conditions upon which a petition for a variation is based are unique to the parcel 
of land for which the variance is sought and were not created by the landowner. 
 
The parcel is located along County Road 116, where some of the largest setbacks are 
required in the City. This limits the amount of space available for sign placement and this 
requires that more wall signage be made available. Another gas station is unlikely to be 
constructed along the road, and if it were, it would be subject to the setbacks that are 
established then and could plan for more freestanding signage.  
 
Many businesses are not required to advertise with immediate pricing, but fuel stations 
are expected to advertise to potential customers at all time. The area that would normally 
house a freestanding sign with a dynamic display on both sides is within the right-of-way 
of County Road 116, and is not able to be used. 
 



 

Spanier CUP and Variance (20-019)  3 
June 4, 2020 

3. That the granting of the variation will not alter the essential character of the locality. 
 
The sign area will not be altered significantly from what the site currently has today and 
therefore does not alter the character of the locality.  
 
The existing canopy has two dynamic displays on it, and the applicant is looking to repeat 
this. It will not alter the character of the locality.  

 
4. The proposed variance would be in harmony with the general purposes and intent of the 

Ordinance. 
 
The intent of the Code is to limit the amount of signage so that the signage does not 
become a public nuisance. The proposed variances will maintain what currently exists 
now.  
 

5. The variance is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. 
 

The Commercial land use is intended to allow business in areas where sewer and water 
are available. Approving the variance will allow the business to grow and expand its 
service while maintain the business’s ability to advertise to its potential customers. The 
Commercial land use is intended to use the adopted Design Guidelines and updating the 
current signs to a more modern style will accomplish this.  
 

6. The City may impose conditions on the variance to address the impact of the variance. 
 

The design and size of the building is comparable to other fuel station canopies and  
staff believes there are no adverse impacts to the surrounding property owners.  
 

Setback Variance 
 
The existing canopy on the site is a legal, nonconforming structure as it does not meet the front 
setback requirements. The applicant plans to demolish and construct a new larger canopy. Staff 
notes that the City Code has not been updated since Minnesota Statutes §462.357 Subd. 1e. was 
updated in 2004 to regulate the rights of a legal, nonconforming uses and allowed repair, 
replacement, restoration, maintenance, but not expansion of the legal non-conforming structures.  
This is an expansion of the existing canopy size and is not simply restoration of a legal non-
conforming structure; therefore, the legal, non-conforming status is lost and a variance is required.  
 
Constructing the new canopy will require an additional variance.  
 
The applicant is requesting a variance to construct a structure within the setbacks from County Road 
116. The code requires a 100-ft. setback from the right-of-way of County Road 116. The applicant 
has proposed construction of the canopy 30.9-ft. setback where a 29.5-ft. setback currently exists. 
Section 1070.040 of the Zoning Ordinance describes the variance process and standards. The 
burden of proof is on the applicant to show that all of the following criteria have been met: 
 



 

Spanier CUP and Variance (20-019)  4 
June 4, 2020 

1. That there are practical difficulties in complying with the Zoning Ordinance. 
 
The 100-ft. setback from County Road 116 creates a practical difficulty due to the size of 
the lot. The lot is approximately 200-ft. deep and enforcing the 100-ft. setback would 
render over half the lot unusable. The lot could not be used for the intended use of a 
motor fuel station with the 100-ft. setback as the canopy could not be built and the 
canopy is required for the use. The new canopy would be no closer to the front setback 
than the existing structure.  
 

2. That the conditions upon which a petition for a variation is based are unique to the parcel 
of land for which the variance is sought and were not created by the landowner. 
 
The parcel is located along County Road 116, where some of the largest setbacks are 
required in the City. This limits the amount of space available for the placement of the 
canopy. Another gas station is unlikely to be constructed along the road, and if it were, it 
would be subject to the setbacks that are established then and would be required to build 
on an appropriately sized lot to accommodate the required structures.  

 
3. That the granting of the variation will not alter the essential character of the locality. 

 
The canopy will be set back further than it is now and will increase in size, but will not 
alter the character of the locality significantly.  
 

4. The proposed variance would be in harmony with the general purposes and intent of the 
Ordinance. 
 
The intent of the Code is to establish a corridor along County Road 116 where buildings 
can be placed. Enforcing the setback would ultimately render the lot unusable and would 
set the building considerably further back than neighboring properties.  
 

5. The variance is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. 
 

The Commercial land use is intended to allow business in areas where sewer and water 
are available. Approving the variance will allow the business to grow and expand its 
service and serve more customers. The Commercial land use is intended to use the 
adopted Design Guidelines and updating the current signs to a more modern style will 
accomplish this.  
 

6. The City may impose conditions on the variance to address the impact of the variance. 
 

The design and size of the building is comparable to other fuel station canopies and  
staff believes there are no adverse impacts to the surrounding property owners.  
 

 



 

Spanier CUP and Variance (20-019)  5 
June 4, 2020 

4. Conclusions 
 
The Planning Commission must first determine if the variance standards have been met. If the 
Commission finds that the variance standards have been met, they may recommend approval of the 
variances.   
 
If the Planning Commission finds that the variance standards have not been met, they should 
recommend denial of the requests.   
 
5. Recommendation 
 
Staff recommends approval of the resolution approving the variance for exceeding the total wall sign 
area and the allowance of two dynamic displays and the variance to allow for a reduced setback. 

 
Attachments 
1. Draft Resolution approving Variances 
2. Site Location Map 
3. Applicant’s Narrative dated June 1, 2020 
4. Site Plan received May 27, 2020   
5. Site Renderings received June 1, 2020 
 



City of Corcoran  July XX, 2020 
County of Hennepin    
State of Minnesota  

RESOLUTION NO.  2020-XX 
 

Page 1 of 4 
 

 
Motion By:       

Seconded By:       
 

APPROVAL OF VARIANCES TO EXCEED TOTAL WALL SIGN AREA, ALLOWTWO 
DYNAMIC DISPLAYS AND ALLOW A REDUCED SETBACK FROM THE CANOPY AT THE 

PROPERTY LOCATED AT 7625 CO RD NO 116 
CORCORAN, MN 55340 (PID 02-119-23-23-0004) (CITY FILE NO. 20-019) 

 
WHEREAS, Mahant, LLC. is requesting approval of a variance to allow for the construction of 
signs that exceed the total wall sign area allowed, allow two dynamic displays and allow a reduced 
canopy setback at the property described as follows: 
 

See Attachment A 

 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission has reviewed the variance at a duly called public meeting 
and recommends approval. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CORCORAN, MINNESOTA, that it should and hereby does approve the request for a variance 
and conditional use permit approval, subject to the following findings and conditions: 
 

1. Approval is granted to allow for the construction of a replacement gas canopy as shown 
on application and plans received by the City on April 8, 2020 and revisions received on 
April 17, 2020, April 24, 2020, May 18, 2020, May 27, 2020 and June 1 2020, except as 
amended by this resolution. 

 
2. A variance to allow for more wall sign area than is allowed and two dynamic displays, is 

approved  subject to the following findings: 
 

a. There are practical difficulties for the applicant in complying with the Zoning 
Ordinance. The site currently exceeds the amount allowed. The existing signage 
after the demolition of the canopy leaves only five square feet of wall signage. 
Without two dynamic displays the property has no ability to advertise to the 
northbound and southbound traffic at the same time.  
 

b. The conditions upon which the variance request is based are unique to this parcel 
due to there being no other fuel stations located along County Road 116. Fuel 
stations have a unique need for signage.  
 

c. The variance will not alter the essential character of the locality. The proposed 
variance will essentially reconstruct what already exists.  
 

d. The variance is in harmony with the general purposes and intent of the Ordinance 
and the standards for the C-1 District. 
 

e. The sign area will be greater than allowed and the second dynamic display will be 
more than is allowed, but is otherwise consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. The 



City of Corcoran  July XX, 2020 
County of Hennepin    
State of Minnesota  

RESOLUTION NO.  2020-XX 
 

Page 2 of 4 
 

variance is consistent with the commercial nature of the zoning district.  
 

3. A variance to allow a 30.9-foot setback from County Road 116 where 100 feet is required, 
is approved  subject to the following findings: 

 
a. There are practical difficulties for the applicant in complying with the Zoning 

Ordinance. The site is restricted due to setbacks from County Road 116. Enforcing 
the setbacks would render the site unusable for the proposed use due to the depth of 
the lot. 
 

b. The conditions upon which the variance request is based are unique to this parcel 
due to there being no other fuel stations located along County Road 116. Fuel 
stations have a unique need for additional structures.  
 

c. The accessory structure will not alter the essential character of the locality. The 
proposed variance will essentially reconstruct what already exists and expand it.  
 

d. The accessory structure is in harmony with the general purposes and intent of the 
Ordinance and the standards for the C-1 District. 
 

e. The structure is proposed to be set further back than currently exists and supports a 
use consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. The variance is consistent with the 
commercial nature of the zoning district.  

 
4. A building permit is required prior to beginning construction of the canopy. 

 
5. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant/landowner must record the approving 

resolution at Hennepin County and provide proof of recording to the City. 
 

6. Approval shall expire within one year of the date of approval unless the applicant 
commences the authorized use and the required improvements.  

  



City of Corcoran  July XX, 2020 
County of Hennepin    
State of Minnesota  

RESOLUTION NO.  2020-XX 
 

Page 3 of 4 
 

 
VOTING AYE       VOTING NAY 

 Thomas, Ron        Thomas, Ron 
 Bottema, Jon       Bottema, Jon 
 Dejewski, Brian       Dejewski, Brian 
 Anderson, Thomas      Anderson, Thomas 
 Schultz, Alan       Schultz, Alan 

 
 
Whereupon, said Resolution is hereby declared adopted on this XXrd day of July 2020. 
 

 
 

___________________________________ 
Ron Thomas - Mayor 

 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________  
           City Seal 
Jessica Beise – City Clerk/ Administrative Services Coordinator 
 
  



City of Corcoran  July XX, 2020 
County of Hennepin    
State of Minnesota  

RESOLUTION NO.  2020-XX 
 

Page 4 of 4 
 

Attachment A 
 

That part of the Northeast Quarter of the Northeast Quarter of Section 26, Township 119, 
Range 23 Hennepin County, Minnesota described as follows: Commencing at the 
northeast corner of the Northeast Quarter of said Section 26; thence Southerly along the 
east line thereof 553.25 feet to the point of beginning; thence Westerly at right angles 242 
feet; thence Southerly at right angles 102.75 feet; thence Easterly at right angles 242 feet 
to the east line of said Northeast Quarter; thence Northerly along said east line 102.75 feet 
to the point of beginning. Except Road. 



Hennepin County Natural Resources Map

 

Date: 6/25/2020

Comments:

This data (i) is furnished 'AS IS' with no representation 
as to completeness or accuracy; (ii) is furnished with 
no warranty of any kind; and (iii) is notsuitable for legal, 
engineering or surveying purposes. Hennepin County 
shall not be liable for any damage, injury or loss 
resulting from this data.
COPYRIGHT © HENNEPIN COUNTY  2020

1 inch = 200 feet

Legend
FEMA Floodplains - 100 Year

A
AE FLOODPLAIN
AH
AO
AE FLOODWAY

Wetlands
Potential Wetland - HCWI
Probable Wetland - HCWI
Probable Wetland - NWI

PID: 2611923110013
 Address: 7625 CO RD NO 116,
 CORCORAN
 Owner Name: MAHANT LLC
 Acres: 0.48
 

¯



 

 

 

 

 

 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

 

DATE: 06/01/2020 

 

VARIANCE REQUEST LETTER.   

 

To: City of Corcoran, MN 

 

From: Mahant LLC / 7625 County RD 116, Corcoran, MN-55340 

 

CC: Kendra Lindahl, AICP, LANDFORM 

 

MAHANT LLC, is the current owner of the property/ gas station located at 7625 county rd 116, 

Corcoran, MN-55340. As new development comes to the surrounding area, community is 

requesting us to bring Biodiesel and non- oxy fuel at this site. To support the community, we would 

like to add pumps for additional dispensing capacity to satisfy customers' needs.  

 

As we have gone through preliminary requirements including site survey and scope of work with 

the city staff members to add one dispenser in addition to two existing 2 dispensers. In addition, 

we will be adding an underground 20000gallon fuel tank with multiple compartments. To make 

this project possible, we will be required to demolish existing canopy and replace it with new 

canopy. This plan is also aimed to maintain safe access to the pump by public and will also comply 

with the current and upcoming standards. 

 

Our objective is with this variance request is an effort to build the front structure of the property 

with modern canopy and new dispensers to serve the community’s need while considering 

customers safety and maintaining current and upcoming requirements.  

 

Our Requests are as follows.  

 

1. Dynamic Gas price sign Display:   

 

Currently we have two dynamic display signs on the canopy, one on the north side of the 

canopy and another on the south side of the canopy. Community and traffic find this 

convenient as they are used to such display. If only one dynamic display is allowed, the 

traffic moving in one direction will be able to see the sign. This will create lots of 

inconvenience to the traffic coming from other direction. In addition to the inconvenience, 

this can also be a safety concern as it may distract the drivers trying to look for the gas 

price while driving in opposite direction. 

 



In addition, as a business owner, we like to make sure that dynamic displays are properly 

displayed and conveniently visible to the customer in the competitive market. Considering  

 

all these reasons, ideally, we would like to maintain the same dynamic display we currently 

have. However, per ordinance mentioned in your letter, only one dynamic display is 

allowed. So, we would like City council to consider our request for variance to allow 23.86 

sq. ft. display sign (which will include gas and diesel price display) each to the north and 

south side of the canopy, which is less than the total current display sign on the canopy.  

 

In general, in most gas station, in addition to one standard dynamic display sign permitted 

under section 84.05, gas stations in any district are permitted to display one additional 12 

square foot dynamic display as one wall sign or freestanding sign. This means, if we have 

free standing MID sign, the ordinance will allow additional dynamic display sign. However, 

since the property is close to highway, it will be difficult to have MID sign because of the 

safety reason. So, in lieu of this option, we would appreciate if you can consider addition 

dynamic sign option sign on the option.  

 

2. Exceed total allowable sign area: 

 

The front side building area is 14’ x 70’= 980 sq. ft., which will permit 98 sq. ft of signage 

for the business as per city ordinance. We would like to keep the existing signs on the 

front side of the building, which is 93 sq. ft. because these 93 sq. ft. signs mainly covers 

the name of the business and important products, which is common for any business. This 

means only 5 sq. ft. spare space is available for sign area on the canopy to advertise gas 

price which is practically not possible.  

 

All these signs are essential to the success for gas station and c-store type business. As 

keeping business name sign as the owner of the business and community take prides in 

the name of “Corcoran Crossroads Marketplace” Which has been historical and well 

respected in the community. Therefore, removing the business sign may adversely affect 

business as well as emotions of the community. Considering all these crucial factors it’s 

not possible to remove the existing business sign. While we respect the ordinances 

defined by the city for the display sign, considering above mentioned practical difficulties, 

we are requesting to the city council to allow proposed sign as to describe below.  

 

Existing Building sign:  

 

Corcoran Crossroads Sign 36’*25’ = 75 Sqft   

Java Sign 3’*3’ = 9 sqft 

Crossroads Deli Sign: 3’*3’= 9 Sqft 

Total Sign area on Building: 93 sqft 

 

 
 

 

  



 

Purposed sign on Canopy:  

 

2 Gas & Diesel Price Canopy price sign: 11.88 Sqft each *4 QTY = 47.52 Sqft. 

 

North Side South Side 

 

 

 Marathon Channel Letter: 15” *138” = 14.38 sqft   

 

 

Total Sign area on Canopy: 61.90 sqft. 

 

Total sign area including canopy and front part of the building= 154.93 sq.ft. 

 

 

We hope you agree with our request for the variances and will be able accept our proposal per 

above mentioned explanation. We sincerely think that this project will be better for our community 

and better for the business. We appreciate your time and efforts you are putting in reviewing this 

application. We will be open to work with you, if you have any specific suggestions to make this 

project successful. 

 

Thank you, 

 

Sincerely yours, 

 

 

 

RAJ  Patel 

For Corcoran Crossroads Marketplace 

 

 



973.7
Power
Pole

C

cped

S

Sanitary Manhole
rim=974.01

973.9

Guy
Anchor

C

cped

Gate Valve

Gate Valve

Gate Valve

Guy
Anchor

Guy
Anchor

T

tped
C

cped

Power
Pole

Power
Pole w/ lt

Power
Pole w/ siren?

E

Elec.
Meter

974.6

974.3

974.1 974.9 974.9

975.1
975.0

974.9

974.9

975.1
975.2

975.3

975.0
974.5

974.6 975.1 975.0
974.9 974.6 974.4

975.1

975.4975.1

975.2
Cleanout

San.
Cleanout

Manhole
rim=974.46

Manhole
rim=974.53

Manhole
rim=974.74

973.3

973.5

Cleanout975.2

975.2
E

Elec.
Meter

A/C
A/C

G

Gas
Meter

975.0 975.2 975.5 976.0

975.1975.0

975.0
974.7

974.5

977.1

975.4 976.2

tcc
975.96

975.3

977.4

977.5 977.4

975.8 976.0

tcc
975.84

tcc
976.13

tcc
976.28

tcc
976.29

tcc
976.17

M

mailbox

tcc
975.49

tcc
975.34976.1

tcc
975.16

tcc
975.25

tcc
975.28
975.3

Sign

976.7

977.1

M

M

M

975.0974.9

974.5

974.1

974.4

G

18" monitoring
rim=975.27

G14"
rim=975.50

G

1
4

" r
im

=
9

7
5

.5
6

G

1
9

" r
im

=
9

7
5

.4
6

G

38"
rim=975.42

G

45"
rim=975.33

975.5

975.4
975.4

974.7

975.8975.8
975.5

974.8

W

Well

Sign

975.2

975.2

975.3

975.3 975.1

975.0
975.3

975.2

975.2

975.3

975.5 975.6

FFE
975.5

975.3

975.1

974.4

974.7

974.7

974.9

975.1

975.7

976.1 976.2

976.1

Power
Pole

989.4

989.5

989.7

tnh
975.52

60.4

1
3

.7

6.7

2
0

.3

6.7

3
4

.3

60.4
6

8
.4

4
" B

ric
k 

le
dg

e 
al

on
g 

fr
on

t 
of

 b
ui

ld
in

g

Concrete Curb

C o n c r e t e    S u r f 
a c e

C o n c r e t e      S
 u r f 

a c e

B i t u 
m i n o

 u s

C
ha

in
 L

in
k 

Fe
nc

e 
on

 p
ro

pe
rt

y 
lin

e
S

 
0

0
°
1

5
'
1

4
"
 
W

 
1

0
2

.
7

5

S 89°44'46" E 202.00

N 89°44'46" W 202.00

N
 
0

0
°
1

5
'
1

4
"
 
E

 
1

0
2

.
7

5

Overhead Wires

O
ve

rh
ea

d 
W

ire
s

Overhead Wires

Over
hea

d W
ire

s

25.2

1
8

.3

B i t u 
m i n o

 u s

B i t u 
m i n o

 u s

B i t u 
m i n o

 u s

109.5

1
7

.6

2
0

.2

104.6

97.8

9
7
4

976
976

EA
S
T 

LI
N
E 

O
F 

TH
E 

N
E 

1
/4

 O
F 

TH
E 

N
E 

1
/4

, 
S
EC

. 
2

6
, 

TW
P.

 1
1

9
, 

R
. 

2
3

R
O

A
D

  
  

 R
IG

H
T 

O
F 

W
A
Y 

  
  

PE
R
  

  
 C

O
U
N
TY

  
  

 M
A
PS

 

C
O

U
N
TY

  
R
O

A
D

  
N
o.

 1
1
640

40

40 40

N
 0

0
°1

5
'1

4
" E

  
  
5
5
3
.2

5

90
°

magnail

magnail

242.00

W
oo

d 
Fe

nc
e

B i t u 
m i n o

 u s

29.5

30.9

1
9

.3

2
2
.
4

2
0
.
4

1
6

.0

AREA OF BUILDING = 4263 SQ.FT 

18.8

1
9

.4

7.1

6.5

3
7

.9

(F
le

tc
he

r 
La

ne
)

78.6

Column

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
C

A
N

O
P

Y

Pump

Islands

(4' wide)

Pump

Island

24'0"

Column

6
0

'
0

"

6
0

'
0

"

24'0"

Air Vacumn

Pump

Pump

Column
1-STORY METAL

No. 7625

974.6

O
 v

 e
 r

 h
 a

 n
 g

C
on

c.
 C

ur
b

1-STORY METAL BUILDING
No. 19905

1-STORY BLOCK BUILDING
No. 7569

1
-S

TO
R
Y 

B
LO

C
K 

B
U
IL

D
IN

G
N
o.

 7
6
1
0

Pa
y 

B
ox

es

C A N O P Y

Proposed

underground

fuel storage tank

Prop.

underground

propane tank

Prop.  propane

dispenser

Existing
existing

existing

existing

EXISTING

CANOPY AND

PUMP

ISLANDS TO

BE REMOVED

Cast Iron Monument
970.3

NE CORNER OF THE NE 1/4 OF SEC. 26

F:\survey\26-119-23 henn\01 Surveying - 88901 7625 Co Rd 116\01 CAD\01 Source\01 Survey Base.dwg

basis of bearings per Henn. Co. coord.

File No.

F.B. No. 1114-25   inv. 88901

Certification

7625 County Road No. 116

Corcoran, MN  55340

 Legal Description

That part of the Northeast Quarter of the Northeast Quarter of Section 26, Township 119,

Range 23 Hennepin County, Minnesota described as follows:  Commencing at the

northeast corner of the Northeast Quarter of said Section 26; thence Southerly along the

east line thereof 553.25 feet to the point of beginning; thence Westerly at right angles 242

feet; thence Southerly at right angles 102.75 feet; thence Easterly at right angles 242 feet

to the east line of said Northeast Quarter; thence Northerly along said east line 102.75 feet

to the point of beginning. Except Road.

                                                        Signed: ____________________________________________

                                                                          Gregory R. Prasch  Registration No. 24992

Prepared this 30th day of March 2020.

I certify that this plan, specification, or report was prepared by me or under my direct supervision

and that I am a duly Licensed land Surveyor under the laws of the State of Minnesota.

SITE  PLAN  SURVEY  FOR:

Zoning  Information

Property Currently Zoned:   C-1, Neighborhood Commercial

  Zoning Ordinance Requirements:

     Building Setbacks

          Front, from Major Roadways - 100 feet

          Front, from all other streets -  25 feet

          Side Yard - 20 feet

          Rear Yard - 20 feet

       Maximum principal building height - 35 feet

       Maximum building size - 50,000 sq.ft

       Maximum impervious surface coverage - 80%

      Minimum Lot Size - 25,000 sq.ft (single-tenant building)

      Minimum Lot Width - 100 feet

      Minimum Lot Depth - 200 feet

Refer to City code for condition requirements.

7601 73rd Avenue North

Minneapolis, Minnesota 55428

(763) 560-3093

DemarcInc.com

MAHANT, LLC

Property Address:

7625 County Road No. 116, Corcoran, MN  55340

Property Identification Number 26-119-23-11-0013

Benchmark: Global Positioning System

Total Area of Parcel =  20,756 sq.ft

Property is in Flood Zone "X" (an Area of minimal flooding) per FEMA Flood

Zone Map No. 27053C0158F, dated 11/04/2016.

This survey was prepared without the benefit of current title work. Differences

in description, easements and encumbrances may exist that may alter this

survey. Survey subject to change upon current title insurance commitment.

MN 1

MN 2

MN 3

MN 4

MN 5

MN 6

Miscellaneous Notes 

drawn by:

Proposed  Hardcover
Lot Area 20,756 sq ft
Building 4,263 sq ft
Pavement 14,665 sq ft
Total 18,928 sq ft
Percentage 91.19%

MN 7

Denotes Found Iron Monument

Denotes Iron Monument Set

Bollard

Light

Power Pole

Hydrant

Sanitary Manhole

Storm Manhole

Water Manhole

Catch Basin

Telephone Pedestal Riser

Cable Pedestal Riser

Electric Box or Transformer

Gas Storage Tank Cover

Legend

cped

tped

Gas Main

Underground Communications

Underground Electric

Sanitary Sewer

Storm Sewer

Watermain

Overhead Wires

4/3/2020 prop canopy location
4/7/2020 prop canopy location
4/21/2020 City comments
5-14-20 new pumps

AutoCAD SHX Text
H.C.S.A.H.  No. 116, PLAT 21

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERSTITIAL MONITORING SENSOR(S)

AutoCAD SHX Text
ATG

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUMP PUMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
VENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ATG

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPARE

AutoCAD SHX Text
20,000 tank

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE  IN  FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
s

AutoCAD SHX Text
w

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
G



Crossroads 7625 County Rd 116 
Corcoran MN 55340 

70’

50’

Building Size
14’ x 70’
980 sq ft

New signs to add  

Channel Letter ( 1 qty) 14.38 sq ft. 
15” h x 138” l 

Gas price Sign  (4 qty)  47.52 sq ft
11.88 SF active area ea           

Asking for 154.98 sq ft of  98 sq ft

Existing  sign to keep  = 93 sq ft
Corcoran Sign
36” x 25’
75 SF

Java Sign
3’ x 3’ = 9 sq ft

Fresh Deli  Sign
3’ x 3’ = 9 sq ft



Crossroads 7625 County Rd 116 
Corcoran MN 55340 

70’

50’

Canopy
60 x 24’ x 36”

Remove all existing Signs on canopy



Crossroads 7625 County Rd 116 
Corcoran MN 55340 

70’

24’
’

Gas, Diesel 
Pricers

Channel 
Letters

60’
’

Marathon Non Illuminated canopy fascia. 

We are asking for a variance for the second 12 sq ft 
pricer

Gas, Diesel 
Pricers



Crossroads 7625 County Rd 116 
Corcoran MN 55340 

70’

50’

Sign Size (2 qty)
30” x 57”
11.88 SF Active area ea.

Channel Letter ( 1 qty) 
15” h x 138” l 
14.38 sq ft. 

Pricer example

Sign Size (2 qty)
30” x 57”
11.88 SF Active Area ea.



 

 
105 South Fifth Avenue 
Suite 513 
Minneapolis, MN 55401 

Tel: 612-252-9070 
Fax: 612-252-9077 
www. land fo rm .ne t  

 

Landform®, SensiblyGreen® and Site to Finish® are registered service marks of Landform Professional Services, LLC.  

TO:  Corcoran Planning Commission 
 
FROM: Kevin Shay through Kendra Lindahl, Landform 
 
DATE: June 24, 2020 for the July 2, 2020 Planning Commission Meeting 
 
RE: Sign Variance for the Property located at 9350 County Road 19 (PID 07-119-23-43-

0004) (city file no. 20-020) 
 
60-DAY REVIEW DEADLINE: July 18, 2020 
 
 
1.  Application Request 
 
The applicant has requested approval of a variance to allow three freestanding signs, where one is 
allowed and 204 square feet of freestanding signage where 64 square feet is allowed. 
 
2. Context 
 
Zoning and Land Use 
 
The property is in the Rural Commercial (CR) District and is guided Rural Service/Commercial on 
the Future Land Use Map. 
 
Surrounding Properties  
 
The surrounding properties are also zoned Rural Commercial (CR) and guided Rural 
Service/Commercial. 
 
Natural Characteristics of the Site 
 
The site is a developed site with no wetlands or major natural characteristics. 
  
3. Analysis of Request 
 
Variance 
 
The property at 9350 County Road 19 currently has three freestanding signs on the site.  Staff finds 
no record of these sign permits at City Hall, but it is an older site and we are proceeding under the 
assumption that they are legal, non-conforming signs. The existing signs were likely installed 
meeting setback standards and have since become legal, nonconforming signs due to changes in 
the property lines related to acquisition of right-of-way related to the County Road 19 improvements 
several years ago.  The applicant is proposing to modify these signs in the following manner: 
 

Agenda Item: 6.b. 
 



 

9350 CR19 Sign Variance (20-020)  2 
July 2, 2020 

1. The first sign is located along County Road 10 on the east side of the site and is an 81-
square foot freestanding sign that is approximately 16 feet tall. The applicant is proposing to 
leave the sign in the existing location and reface the top cabinet of the sign. This modification 
is allowed as maintenance of a non-conforming sign. 
 

2. The second sign is located on the corner of County Road 10 and 19 and is a 102-square foot 
freestanding sign that is partially located outside the property line and does not meet setback 
standards (again this is due to acquisition of right-of-way as part of the County Road 19 
project). The applicant is proposing to reface the top two cabinets of the existing sign and 
remove the bottom cabinet from the sign. The resulting sign would be 66 square feet with 30 
square feet for the top cabinet and 36 square feet for the middle cabinet. The sign would still 
be partially located outside the property line. This modification is allowed as maintenance of 
a non-conforming sign. 

a. Staff recommends reducing this sign from 66 square feet to 64 square feet for it to 
comply with the current freestanding sign area standards. 
 

3. The third sign is located on the northwest side of the site along County Road 19 and is an 89 
square foot and 19.8-foot-tall freestanding sign. The applicant is proposing to replace the 
existing sign with a new sign in the same location. The proposed sign will have 56.8 square 
feet of signage (includes 11.7 square feet of dynamic display) and will be 16 feet tall. The 
new sign complies with city code requirements. 
 

4. They are also proposing new canopy signage. The applicant is proposing to remove the two 
30 square foot existing canopy signs attached to the gas station canopy to install a single 12 
square foot sign on the front of the gas canopy. 

 
The applicant is requesting a variance to allow three freestanding signs on the property. The site 
currently has three freestanding signs which do not comply with Section 84.05 of the Zoning 
Ordinance which allows one freestanding sign on the property. Removal of the third sign results in 
the loss of the legal non-conformity. The burden of proof is on the applicant to show that all of the 
following criteria have been met: 
 

1. That there are practical difficulties in complying with the Zoning Ordinance. 
 
In order to comply with the Zoning Ordinance, the applicant would be required to remove 
two existing signs to replace any of the existing signs. This would remove needed 
signage for the multi-tenant commercial site and would create a hardship for existing 
tenants. 
 

2. That the conditions upon which a petition for a variation is based are unique to the parcel 
of land for which the variance is sought and were not created by the landowner. 
 
The property is unique with multiple tenants located on one parcel creating the need for 
greater than usual signage to advertise the businesses. The three freestanding signs 
exist today and the applicant is requesting to improve upon those signs while complying 
with City Code standards for all new signage. If the variance is approved the total square 
footage of the freestanding signs will be reduced by 68 square feet. 



 

9350 CR19 Sign Variance (20-020)  3 
July 2, 2020 

 
3. That the granting of the variation will not alter the essential character of the locality. 

 
The area is characterized by numerous commercial businesses and the proposed 
signage will not alter the essential character of the area. The new signage will reflect the 
new tenant in the gas/convenience store and will provide a refresh the look of the multi-
tenant business area. 

 
4. The proposed variance would be in harmony with the general purposes and intent of the 

Ordinance. 
 
The proposed sign variance is in harmony with the general purposes and intent of the 
Ordinance. The new freestanding sign complies with the ordinance requirements while 
removing a sign that does not comply with ordinance standards. 
 

5. The variance is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. 
 

In the Comprehensive Plan it is identified that a goal is to enhance the City’s commercial 
development and facilitate expansion of existing businesses. The variance is consistent 
with the Comprehensive Plan goals for commercial businesses 
 

6. The City may impose conditions on the variance to address the impact of the variance. 
 

The design, size and height of the new freestanding sign meet the City Code standards 
for a freestanding sign in the Rural Commercial zoning district.  We encourage the 
applicant to reduce the sign are on the second sign from 66 to 64 square feet, which 
would also bring that sign into compliance with the size area standards. 

 
4. Conclusions 
 
Staff has reviewed the signage plans against the applicable standards outlined in the 
Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Ordinance and finds that the standards for a variance have been 
met. 
 
The Planning Commission must determine if the variance standards have been met. If the 
Commission finds that the variance standards have been met, they may recommend approval of the 
variance.   
 
5. Recommendation 
 
Staff recommends approval of the resolution approving the sign variance to allow three freestanding 
signs. 
 
  



 

9350 CR19 Sign Variance (20-020)  4 
July 2, 2020 

Attachments 
1. Draft Resolution 2020-xx approving the Variance 
2. Site Location Map 
3. Applicant’s Narrative dated May 7, 2020 
4. Survey received May 13, 2020   
5. Sign Exhibits 



City of Corcoran  July XX, 2020 
County of Hennepin    
State of Minnesota  

RESOLUTION NO.  2020-XX 
 

Page 1 of 2 
 

 
Motion By:       

Seconded By:       
 

APPROVAL OF A VARIANCE ALLOWING THREE FREESTANDING SIGNS AT 9350 
COUNTY ROAD 19 (PID 07-119-23-43-0004) (CITY FILE NO. 20-020) 

 
WHEREAS, Rose City Inc. is requesting approval of a variance to allow three freestanding signs 
on property legally described as follows: 
 

All that part of the South 629.00 feet of the Southeast Quarter of Section 7, Township 
119, Range 23, Hennepin County, Minnesota, which lies West of the following described 
line and its extension: 
 
Commencing at the Southwest corner of said Southeast Quarter; thence on an assumed 
bearing of North 89 degrees 50 minutes 29 seconds East along the South line thereof, a 
distance of 709.5 feet to the actual point of beginning of the line to be described; thence 
North 00 degrees 09 minutes 31 seconds West to the North line of said South 629.00 
feet of the Southeast Quarter and there terminating except the South 22 rods of the East 
16 rods of the West 43 rods of said Southeast Quarter. 

 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission has reviewed the variance and recommends approval. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CORCORAN, MINNESOTA, that it should and hereby does approve the request for a variance, 
subject to the following findings and conditions: 
 

1. Approval is granted to allow three freestanding signs totaling 204 square feet and new 
canopy signage as shown on application and plans received by the City on May 7, 2020 
and revised materials received on May 13, 2020 and June 4, 2020, except as amended 
by this resolution. 

 
2. A variance to allow three freestanding signs totaling 204 square feet where one 64 square 

foot sign is allowed, is approved subject to the following findings: 
 

a. In order to comply with the zoning ordinance, the applicant would be required to 
remove two existing signs to replace any of the existing signs. This would remove 
needed signage for the multi-tenant commercial site. 
 

b. The property is unique with multiple tenants located on one parcel creating the need 
for greater than usual signage to advertise the businesses. The three freestanding 
signs exist today and the applicant is requesting to improve upon those signs while 
complying with city code standards for all new signage. If the variance is approved 
the total square footage of the freestanding signs will be reduced by 68 square feet 
 

c. The area is characterized by commercial businesses and the proposed signage will 
not alter the essential character of the area. The new signage will provide a refresh 
the look of the multi-tenant business area. 
 



City of Corcoran  July XX, 2020 
County of Hennepin    
State of Minnesota  

RESOLUTION NO.  2020-XX 
 

Page 2 of 2 
 

d. The proposed sign variance is in harmony with the general purposes and intent of 
the Ordinance. The new freestanding sign complies with the ordinance requirements 
while removing a sign that does not comply with ordinance standards.  
 

e. In the Comprehensive Plan it is identified that a goal is to enhance the City’s 
commercial development and facilitate expansion of existing businesses. The 
variance is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan goals for commercial 
businesses.  

 
3. The signage shall comply with all ordinance requirements, except as specifically approved 

by this resolution. 
 

4. A sign permit is required prior to beginning construction.  
 

5. Although not required on this legal, non-conforming sign, the City encourages the 
developer to consider reducing the sign area for the second sign from 66 to 64 square feet 
in area to bring into compliance with the sign standards for a new freestanding sign. 

 
6. Approval shall expire within one year of the date of approval unless the applicant 

commences the authorized use and the required improvements.  
 

VOTING AYE       VOTING NAY 
 Thomas, Ron        Thomas, Ron 
 Bottema, Jon       Bottema, Jon 
 Dejewski, Brian       Dejewski, Brian 
 Anderson, Thomas      Anderson, Thomas 
 Schultz, Alan       Schultz, Alan 

 
 
Whereupon, said Resolution is hereby declared adopted on this xx day of July 2020. 
 

 
 

___________________________________ 
Ron Thomas - Mayor 

 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________  
           City Seal 
Jessica Beise – Administrative Services Director 



Hennepin County Property Map

 

Date: 6/25/2020

Comments:

1 inch = 400 feet

PARCEL ID: 0711923430004
 
OWNER NAME: Ess Real Estate Llc
 
PARCEL ADDRESS: 9350  Co Rd No 19, Corcoran MN 55374
 
PARCEL AREA: 7 acres, 304,815 sq ft
 
A-T-B: Torrens
 
SALE PRICE: $2,725,000
 
SALE DATA: 10/2006
 
SALE CODE: Excluded From Ratio Studies
 
ASSESSED 2019, PAYABLE 2020
       PROPERTY TYPE: Commercial-Preferred
       HOMESTEAD: Non-Homestead
       MARKET VALUE: $1,873,000
       TAX TOTAL: $65,853.66
 
ASSESSED 2020, PAYABLE 2021
      PROPERTY TYPE: Commercial-preferred
      HOMESTEAD: Non-homestead
      MARKET VALUE: $1,967,000
 

This data ( i) is furnished 'AS IS' with no 
representation as to completeness or 
accuracy; (ii) is furnished with no 
warranty of any kind; and (i ii) is notsuitable 
for legal, engineering or  surv ey ing purposes. 
Hennepin County shall not be liable f or any  
damage, in jury or loss resulting f rom this data.

COPYRIGHT © HENNEPIN 
COUNTY  2020



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Corcoran City Hall 
Kendra Lindahl 
8200 County Road 116 
Corcoran, MN 55340 
 
Re: PID# 0711923430004 
Marathon/Tom Thumb 
9350 Co Rd No 19 
Loretto, MN 55374 
 
Hearing Date: June 4, 2020 
 
With the above site we have proposed within the city the following signage that the Marathon 
standards:  
1) Canopy signage proposed is 3 sides of illuminated fascia on the gas canopy with 3 sets of 
Marathon decals (12.3sq ft ea).  
2) Sign #2 we are proposing that we reface the one existing sign cabinet only.  
3) Sign #1 We have proposed a 24’ Sign with 71.9sq ft of signage and 20.7 sq ft of Electronic 
Message Center and have a blue lit bar on the side of the sign.   
 
To comply with the city’s ordinances and comply with Marathon standards we have reduced our 
signage proposed to  
1)Canopy signage to have non-illuminated fascia & only (1) set of illuminated channel letters 
that comply with Section 84.05 Subd 3-f.  
2)Sign #2 we are compliant.  
3)Sign #1 new sign with 45.1 sq ft and 11.7 sq ft Electronic Message Center. This will conform 
with the city’s ordinances Section 84.04 Subd 7, 8 and 9. Section 84.05, Section 84.10, and 
84.11.    
 
The variance that is being proposed for the above business is as follows. Remove the existing 
main sign and install new footings and a new Marathon sign in the same area as the old sign on 
the property.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A) We are installing a new sign that is 56.8 sq ft total and the existing sign is 102 sq ft. 
that is older and in need of upgrading. It also has a metal catwalk around the sign to 
change out the manual reader board. With the proposed sign this will be eliminated.  The 
existing sign is also closer to the intersection and with the new sign it will be closer in the 
property line and comply with 84.04 subd 2-a. 
B) This is unique to this parcel within the city. This is a multi-tenant property. The 
signage proposed would be incorporating a new image with the gas station and re-fresh 
the look of the sign and canopy.   
C) Granting a variation will clean up the image of the business’s façade. And have a sign 
that is compliant with the city’s ordinances. And the sign will be moved back from 
obstructing the intersection with less things to look around.  
D) With an approved variance, the site would be within the city’s ordinance and have a 
new sign to enlighten the business front & curb appeal which is good for the business and 
the community. The new sign lighting inside and out will also comply with the city 
ordnance of Section 84.04 subd 8 a-h. 

 
 
If you have any questions please feel free to call 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Tammy Westerberg 
218-738-3188      
 
Customer agrees to order according to the above quote. 
Date __/__/__ Authorization___________________ 
 
 



Certificate of Survey and Topographic Survey on part of the Southeast Quarter of Section 7, Township
119, Range 23, Hennepin County, Minnesota



Location Map Existing Sign Proposed Sign

Landform® and Site to Finish® are registered service marks of Landform Professional Services, LLC.

06.24.2020
SIGN VARIANCE AT 9350 CR 19 • Corcoran, MN

Sign #1



Location Map Existing Sign Proposed Sign

Landform® and Site to Finish® are registered service marks of Landform Professional Services, LLC.

06.24.2020
SIGN VARIANCE AT 9350 CR 19 • Corcoran, MN

Sign #2



Location Map Existing Sign Proposed Sign

Landform® and Site to Finish® are registered service marks of Landform Professional Services, LLC.

06.24.2020
SIGN VARIANCE AT 9350 CR 19 • Corcoran, MN

Sign #3







 

 
105 South Fifth Avenue 
Suite 513 
Minneapolis, MN 55401 

Tel: 612-252-9070 
www. land fo rm .ne t  

 

Landform® and Site to Finish® are registered service marks of Landform Professional Services, LLC.  

Agenda Item: 6.c. 

TO:  Corcoran Planning Commission 
 
FROM: Kendra Lindahl, Landform 
 
DATE: June 24, 2020 for the July 2, 2020 Planning Commission Meeting 
 
RE: PUBLIC HEARING. Site Plan, Conditional Use Permit and Preliminary Plat for Eagle 

Brook Church for property at the northwest quadrant of Hackamore Road and CR 101 
(PID 36-119-23-44-0008, 36-119-23-44-0010, 36-119-23-44-0009, 36-119-23-44-0013, 
36-119-23-44-0014) (city file no. 20-023) 

 
REVIEW DEADLINE:  August 9, 2020 
 
 
1. Description of Request 
 
The applicants are requesting approval of a site plan, conditional use permit and preliminary plat for a 
proposed place of worship.  The facility is planned as a 70,000 sq. ft. single story structure with 1,500 
seats in the worship auditorium, a lobby with cafe, an administrative area for approximately ten staff and 
a children’s ministry classroom area for weekend kid’s programming use.  
 
2. Context 
 
Level of City Discretion in Decision-Making 
 
The City’s discretion in approving a site plan is limited to whether or not the plan meets the standards 
outlined in the Zoning Ordinance. If it meets these standards, the City must approve the site plan 
amendment. 
 
The City’s discretion in approving or denying a conditional use permit is limited to whether or not the 
proposed request meets the standards outlined in the City Code. If it meets these standards, the City 
must approve the conditional use permit.  
 
The City’s discretion in approving or denying a preliminary plat is limited to whether or not the proposed 
plat meets the standards outlined in the subdivision and zoning ordinance. If it meets these standards, 
the City must approve the preliminary plat. 
 
Background 
 
The site is made up of five lots with PID numbers 36-119-23-44-0008, 36-119-23-44-0009, 36-119-23-
44-0010, 36-119-23-44-0013 and 36-119-23-44-0014. Each lot has a single family residential structure 
on it and four of them contain accessory structures.  
 
The Council reviewed a concept plan on April 23rd and was generally supportive of the request provided 
that access issues were addressed. 
 



 

Eagle Brook Church (city file 20-023)  2 
July 2, 2020 

Zoning and Land Use 
 
The site is guided  Low Density Residential in the Comprehensive Plan and is zoned RSF-2 (Single 
Family Residential 2).  Places of Worship/Assembly (such as churches)  are a conditional use in 
residential districts.  
 
Surrounding Properties 
 
The property to the north and west is zoned PUD (Planned Unit Development), is guided for Low Density 
Residential and is part of the Ravinia development. The properties to the south and east are outside the 
City of Corcoran and are in the cities of Medina and Maple Grove, respectively.  
 
Natural Characteristics of the Site 
 
There are natural plant communities on the site identified as Wet Prairie on the Natural Resource 
Inventory Areas Map in the Comprehensive Plan. Further, multiple wetlands are shown on Hennepin 
County’s Natural Resources mapping software as shown on the Site Location map.  
 
3. Analysis: 
 
Staff has reviewed the application for consistency with Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance and 
City Code requirements, as well as City policies. The City Engineer’s comments are incorporated into 
this staff report.  
 
Site Plan 
 
Eagle Brook Church has several sites around the metropolitan area and church services are broadcast 
live from the Lino Lakes campus to their other campuses each weekend.  Eagle Brook holds four services 
each weekend (4:00 pm and 6:00 pm on Saturday and 9:00 am and 11:00 am on Sunday); however, 
additional services may be added. 
 
Design Guidelines/Architecture   
 
The property is located in the Southeast District of the City and subject to the design standards in 
Appendix B and the building standards in Section 1060.060 of the Zoning Ordinance.  Architectural 
elevations were submitted showing a mix of architectural precast concrete, architectural metal panels 
and glass.  The cross spire is natural stone with an aluminum cross.  This feature is exempt from height 
limits in the Zoning Ordinance. The building articulation would help break up the mass of the building.   
 
The ordinance limits curtain wall panels of steel, fiberglass and aluminum (non-structural, non-load 
bearing) to 20% of any wall surface (excludes overhead doors).  It does appear that the building may 
exceed these standards. The applicant did not provide a percentage of materials and must provide 
these details prior to issuance of a building permit to ensure compliance with ordinance requirements. A 
material sample board with proposed colors shall be provided for City review and approval. 
 
 



 

Eagle Brook Church (city file 20-023)  3 
July 2, 2020 

The plans note that mechanical equipment will be screened as required by Section 1060.030 of the 
Zoning Ordinance, but details must be provided to ensure compliance with these standards. 
 
Lot Standards 
 
The site complies with the RSF-2 zoning standards: 
 

 Required Proposed 

Minimum Lot Area  11,000 sq. ft.  27 +/- acres 

Minimum lot width  80 feet  1,010 feet 

Minimum Principal Structure Setbacks:   

Front, From Major Roadways*  100 feet  550 +/- feet 

Front, From all other streets  20 feet  50 +/- feet from Larkspur 
470 +/- feet from Hackamore 

Side (living)  10 feet  N/A 

Side (garage)**  5 feet  N/A 

Rear  30 feet  225 +/- feet 

Maximum Principal Building Height  35 feet  35 feet 
*Major Roadways are Principal Arterial, A Minor Reliever, A Minor Expander and A Minor Connector Roadways as shown on 
the 2030 Roadway Functional Classification map in the 2030 Comprehensive Plan. 
**Minimum separation between structures on adjacent parcels shall be 15 feet. 
 
The 70,000 sq. ft. building is similar to other Eagle Brook Church facilities in other communities.  As a 
comparison, some data for other campuses is provided below: 
 

Location Building Sq. Ft. Seats 

Lino Lakes Campus 85,000 sq. ft. (two stories) 2,100 Seats 

Woodbury Campus  75,000 sq. ft. (two stories) 1,500 Seats 

Blaine Campus 61,500 sq. ft. 1,500 Seats 

Anoka Campus 59,000 sq. ft.  1,000 Seats 

 
Like the proposed Corcoran site, these campuses are in or adjacent to residential areas.  Churches can 
be an asset to a community but must be well designed to transition the large structure to the adjacent 
residential properties. In this case, the structure is centrally located on the site and does provide larger 
setbacks and landscaping to transition to the adjacent residential.  The landscaping is discussed in 
more detail later in this this report. 
 
Parking 
 
The plan shows 848 parking stalls for this 1,500 seat facility. The code requires one space for every 4 
seats, based on the design capacity of the facility. The code would require 375 parking stalls for a 
facility of this size.  The church indicates that the 848 stalls proposed (2.26 times the minimum 
standard) are required based on data from other facilities.  The applicant indicates that they have 
studied parking at their other facilities and find an average of 1.5 people per car.  While they 
acknowledge that parking proposed may be more than required for an average weekend, they believe it 
is important to provide the proposed parking. 



 

Eagle Brook Church (city file 20-023)  4 
July 2, 2020 

 
The code states that a “pedestrian circulation route shall be provided from all parking areas and loading 
zones as may be applicable to the entrance of the building. Such circulation routes shall be surfaced 
with material such as asphalt, concrete, or equivalent material determined acceptable by the Zoning 
Administrator.”  The plans show sidewalks near the building but no pedestrian routes through the 
parking lot.  Given the number of people and vehicles using the site during peak times, clear pedestrian 
routes from the south parking lots must be identified on the plans.  Additionally, staff recommends that 
a sidewalk connection be provided from Hackamore Road to CR 101 to connect to the planned trails. 
 
Parking areas with 4 or more stalls shall be screened from properties guided or zoned residential and 
from public streets. Screening to a height of at least 3 feet shall be provided to screen vehicle 
headlights.  No such screening is shown and plans must be provided to address this standard.  This is 
also discussed in the landscape section of the staff report and is included as a condition of approval. 
 
Snow storage is a significant issue for a parking lot of this size.  The applicant shall provide additional 
information showing the location of snow storage on site.  While there are no limits to the hours of 
operation for snow plowing operations, the applicant should work to minimize disruptions to adjacent 
residential properties. 
 
Landscaping 
 
Section 1060.070 of the Zoning Ordinance lists the landscaping requirements.  The church landscaping 
plan meets minimum requirements. 
 
The applicant has indicated areas of tree preservation around the perimeter of the site, which will provide 
a buffer to adjacent residential areas.  As noted earlier, in addition to the minimum standards in the 
ordinance, screening from adjacent residential properties must be provided. Staff finds the combination 
of tree preservation and new landscaping, combined with larger than required setbacks, provides an 
appropriate transition the adjacent residential. However, if the Planning Commission finds that additional 
landscaping is needed, they should provide specific direction to the staff and the applicant. 
 
Parking areas with 4 or more stalls shall be screened from properties guided or zoned residential and 
from public streets. Screening to a height of at least 3 feet shall be provided to screen vehicle headlights. 
All exterior sides of the different parking lots are subject to these screening standards and the landscape 
plans shall be revised to add shrubs to screen headlights from adjacent properties. 
 
Underground irrigation is required for all new non-residential development where municipal water is 
available. An irrigation plan must be provided. 
 
Signage 
 
The ordinance allows one 32 sq. ft. sign up to 6 feet high for non-residential uses in the RSF-2 district.  
The plans show one sign 31.5 sq. ft. sign at the Hackamore Road entrance with stone and metal to match 
the building. It is not clear how the sign will be lit.  The applicant must apply for a sign permit to ensure 
compliance with ordinance standards.  
 



 

Eagle Brook Church (city file 20-023)  5 
July 2, 2020 

Sidewalks and Trails 
  
Pedestrian connections should be provided within the site.  The future public street that will connect 
Larkspur to Lupine will include a sidewalk on one side of the street. As noted in the parking section, 
additional sidewalk connections should be provided from the planned trails on Hackamore Road and CR 
101 to the building entrance. 
 
New public trails are planned on CR 101 and Hackamore Road within the right-of-way.  Each of those 
trails will be constructed when the associated street is reconstructed.   The County has requested 60-
foot ½ right-of-way for CR 101, but for Ravinia they requested an additional 5-foot trail easement adjacent 
to the right-of-way and we expect the same to be required for this project.  The trail along Hackamore is 
being designed as part of the street improvement project.  We expect that in addition to the right-of-way 
dedication, a trail easement will be required to accommodate the trail north of Hackamore.  The 
engineer’s memo notes that the developer will be required to install the trail as part of the project, but the 
street plans are still in design and final details should be available prior to approval of the final plat. 
 
Park Dedication 
 
The subdivision ordinance does not require park dedication for this site.  The ordinance states 
“Development of land for schools, religious institutions or other non-profit organizations may create 
additional demand on the City’s park and recreational land and facilities. The City may create partnerships 
with these organizations that foster cooperative use of school, non-profit and park properties for 
recreational activities.”  
 
A trail will be installed on the north side of Hackamore Road as part of the Hackamore Road 
improvements. These costs will be incorporated into that project and the church responsibility for costs 
will be 50% of the project from the property’s western boundary to County Road 101. No additional park 
dedication is required. 
 
Transportation/Access 
 
The City Engineer has completed a feasibility study to address all infrastructure needs. That study is 
attached to the memo included in this report. 
 
The public street connecting Lupine and Larkspur must be dedicated as a public right-of-way with this 
plat.  After review, public safety finds that the emergency vehicle access is not required.  No access to 
the church is planned from this future street, but the street will be constructed when Outlot A is developed.  
Utilities will be constructed in this right-of-way as part of the church project. 
 
The applicant is proposing two accesses onto Hackamore Road (one entrance/one exit) and one new 
access onto CR 101.  The Hackamore Road street improvements are currently being designed in 
partnership with the City of Medina. The developer is responsible for a portion of the improvements as 
outlined in the engineer’s memo. 
 
Additionally, a new right-in/right-out access is proposed on County Road 101.  Hennepin County has 
reviewed the requested access and supports this access with improvements required on CR 101 as 



 

Eagle Brook Church (city file 20-023)  6 
July 2, 2020 

noted in their memo, which is attached as an appendix to the City Engineer’s memo. Additionally, the 
City Engineer is requesting that the applicant work with Lennar and the City to Consider internal street 
access/temp turnarounds on Goldenrod Trail and 63rd Avenue (Amethyst Lane).  
 
Utilities 
 
Utilities can be extended through the site from the adjacent Ravinia developments to service the site. 
Utilities will be stubbed to Outlot A for future development. 
 
Public Safety Review 
 
The public safety team reviewed the plans and will require additional details to ensure that turning radii 
for emergency vehicles is met.  The plans must be revised to show the require turning radius and hydrant 
locations.  The draft resolution includes conditions to address the public safety requirements. 
 
Ponding 
 
Two treatment ponds are provided adjacent to the wetlands on the south. Stormwater ponding can be 
provided on site in compliance with local and state requirements with some modifications. More detail is 
provided in the engineer’s memo. 
 
Wetlands 
 
There are a number of wetlands on site.  The applicant has submitted a wetland delineation for review 
and approval by the City as the LGU for the WCA.  Wetland impacts are proposed for the County Road 
101 access and mitigation will be required. 
 
The applicant must comply with the wetland buffer and setback requirements in Section 1050.010 of the 
Zoning Ordinance. The wetlands require an average buffer of 25 feet and a structure setback of 15 feet 
from the buffer.  Wetland buffers, setbacks and buffer monument signs must be shown on the plans in 
compliance with ordinance requirements.  Wetland buffer planting mix must be installed by the applicant 
and the applicant must provide a buffer maintenance plan for review and approval by City staff.  
 
  



 

Eagle Brook Church (city file 20-023)  7 
July 2, 2020 

Conditional Use Permit 
 
A conditional use permit for the place of worship must be reviewed against the standards outlined in the 
Zoning Ordinance.  Staff finds that they meet those standards as follows: 
 

A. Compliance with and effect upon the Comprehensive Plan, including public facilities and capital 
improvement plans.  

 
The church facility is consistent with the types of uses typically found in residential districts, which 
includes educational facilities, government facilities and places of worship.   

 
B. The establishment, maintenance or operation of the conditional use will promote and enhance 

the general public welfare and will not be detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety, 
morals or comfort.  

 
The church facility complies with all ordinance standards for development in the RSF-2 district 
standards. Churches have historically been located in residential neighborhoods and there is no 
empirical data to suggest that it would be detrimental to the public health, safety, morals or comfort 
in the community.  

 
C. The conditional use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 

immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the neighborhood.  
 

The church will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate vicinity 
for the permitted uses in the RSF-2 district. Staff is not aware of any evidence to suggest that the 
development will diminish or impair property values in the neighborhood.  

 
D. The establishment of the conditional use will not impede the normal and orderly development 

and improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.  
 

The development will not impede normal and orderly development for uses permitted in the district.  
The surrounding properties have developed on the north and west as Ravinia residential 
development and public streets border the east and south property lines.  The project will access 
existing streets and will allow for a future street connection through the northern portion of the site.  
That street right-of-way will be dedicated when the church is built and will be constructed as a new 
street when the outlot is developed in the future. 

 
E. Adequate public facilities and services are available or can be reasonably provided to 

accommodate the proposed use.  
 

Adequate public facilities are available to serve the site and the development will need to pay for 
improvements on adjacent public streets. 
 
F. The conditional use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the 

district in which it is located.  



 

Eagle Brook Church (city file 20-023)  8 
July 2, 2020 

 
The conditional use conforms to the regulations in the RSF-2 district with the conditions noted in the 
staff report and draft resolution. 
 
G. The conditional use and site conforms to performance standards as specified by this Chapter.  

 
With conditions noted in the staff report and draft resolutions, the use will conform to the performance 
standards in the Zoning Ordinance. 

 
Preliminary Plat 
 
The preliminary plat application complies with ordinance standards and would create one 27.05-acre lot 
for the church and one 4.38-acre outlot for future development from the five existing parcels.  The two 
parcels would be separated by an easement for a future street that would be constructed when Outlot A 
is planned for development.  The plat includes dedication of additional right-of-way for Hackamore Road 
and County Road 101. 
 
The church’s narrative indicates that they do not have plans to develop the outlot, but it would be available 
for development in the future.  The church has provided a concept plan that shows how the property 
could be developed with residential lots.  Any plat for future subdivision would require a public hearing 
for preliminary plat approval and final plat approval.  
 
There are existing driveway and utility easements running north/south and east/west to the Schnell 
property that must be vacated/released prior to approval of the final plat.  There is also a utility easement 
running north/south that must be vacated.  As part of the Ravinia 11th Addition, Lennar requested vacation 
of the easement but the two other benefitting landowners (who own the property that the church is 
purchasing) were unwilling to release the easement.  City staff has had several discussions with this 
applicant about the issue and have directed them to reach out Lennar to obtain agreement for release of 
the easement. This has been included as a condition of approval.  If the applicant reaches out and is 
unable to reach agreement with Lennar, the City Attorney will work with staff and the applicant on other 
options to bring forward with the final plat. 
  
Conclusion 
 
The proposal appears to comply with ordinance requirements if the conditions in the staff report and draft 
resolutions are met. 
 
If the application is approved, the next step would be for applicant to apply for a final plat.  The final plat 
and development contract, which outlines all financial responsibilities, would be reviewed and approved 
by the City Council. 
 
  



 

Eagle Brook Church (city file 20-023)  9 
July 2, 2020 

4.  Recommendation: 
 
Move to recommend approval of the following: 

1. Draft Resolution Approving Site Plan and Conditional Use Permit 
2. Draft Resolution Approving Preliminary Plat 

 
Attachments 

1. Draft Resolution Approving Site Plan and Conditional Use Permit 
2. Draft Resolution Approving Preliminary Plat 
3. Site Location Map 
4. Public Safety Memo dated June 24, 2020 
5. City Engineer’s Memo dated June 24, 2020 
6. Applicant Narrative received June 10, 2020 
7. Topographic/Tree Survey received on May 19, 2020 
8. Site Graphics received May 19, 2020 
9. Site Photometrics received May 19, 2020 
10. Preliminary Plat received May 19, 2020 
11. Ghost Plat for outlot received June 10, 2010 
12. Sign Plan graphics received June 10, 2020 
13. Letters from Residents 



City of Corcoran             July xx, 2020 
County of Hennepin    
State of Minnesota  

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-___ 
 

Page 1 of 4 

 

 
Motion By:       

Seconded By:       
 
 

APPROVING A SITE PLAN AND CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT FOR EAGLE BROOK 
CHURCH FOR PROPERTY AT THE NORTHWEST QUADRANT OF HACKAMORE ROAD 

AND CR 101 (PID 36-119-23-44-0008, 36-119-23-44-0010, 36-119-23-44-0009, 36-119-23-44-
0013, 36-119-23-44-0014) (CITY FILE NO. 20-023) 

 
WHEREAS, the Eagle Brook Church has requested site plan and conditional use permit approval 
for the construction of a 70,000 square foot worship facility on property legally described as 
follows: 
 

See Attachment A 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission has reviewed the site plan and conditional use permit at a 
duly called Public Hearing and recommends approval; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CORCORAN, MINNESOTA, that it should and hereby does approve the request for a site plan 
and conditional use permit, based on the following findings and conditions: 
 
1. A site plan amendment and conditional use permit is approved to allow construction of an 

approximately 70,000 square foot worship facility with associated uses and parking, in 
accordance with the application and plans received by the City on May 19, 2020 and additional 
material received on June 10, 2020, except as amended by this resolution. 

 
2. Approval is granted for development on Lot 1 only.  Any further subdivision or development 

of Outlot A must be processed in accordance with City regulations, prior to development. 
 

3. A conditional use permit for the worship facility is approved, based on the finding that the 
standards in Section 1070.020 of the Zoning Ordinance have been met.  Specifically:  

 
a. The church facility is consistent with the types of uses typically found in 

residential districts, which includes educational facilities, government facilities 
and places of worship.   

 
b. The church facility complies with all ordinance standards for development in the 

RSF-2 district standards. Churches have historically been located in residential 
neighborhoods and there is no empirical data to suggest that it would be 
detrimental to the public health, safety, morals or comfort in the community.  

 
c. The church will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 

immediate vicinity for the permitted uses in the RSF-2 district. Staff is not aware 
of any evidence to suggest that the development will diminish or impair property 
values in the neighborhood.  

 
d. The development will not impede normal and orderly development for uses 

permitted in the district.  The surrounding properties have developed on the north 



City of Corcoran             July xx, 2020 
County of Hennepin    
State of Minnesota  

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-___ 
 

Page 2 of 4 

 

and west as Ravinia residential development and public streets border the east 
and south property lines.  The project will access existing streets and will allow 
for a future street connection through the northern portion of the site.  That street 
right-of-way will be dedicated when the church is built and will be constructed as 
a new street when the outlot is developed in the future. 

 
e. Adequate public facilities are available to serve the site and the development will 

need to pay for improvements on adjacent public streets. 
 

f. The conditional use conforms to the regulations in the RSF-2 district with the 
conditions noted in the staff report and draft resolution. 

 
g. With conditions noted in the staff report and draft resolutions, the use will 

conform to the performance standards in the Zoning Ordinance. 
 

4. The applicant must comply with the public safety memo dated June 24, 2020. 
 

5. The applicant must provide detailed plans to show compliance with Section 1060.050 of the 
Zoning Ordinance which limits curtain wall panels of steel, fiberglass and aluminum (non-
structural, non-load bearing) to 20% of any wall surface (excludes overhead doors).  Plans 
must be revised to show material percentages. 
 

6. The applicant must provide a material sample board with proposed colors for review and 
approval by the City. 

 
7. The applicant must provide detailed drawings to ensure that mechanical equipment is 

screened as required by Section 1060.030. 
 

8. The applicant shall provide lighting fixture cut sheets and pole details to ensure cut-off fixture 
requirements and maximum pole height requirements are met. 

 
9. The plans shall be revised to provide a pedestrian route via sidewalk from the trails planned 

on Hackamore Road and County Road 101 to the front entry to the facility. 
 

10. Clear pedestrian routes shall be provided from the large parking lots on the south to the front 
entry to the facility. 

 
11. A snow storage plan shall be submitted for review and approval by staff. 

 
12. The landscape plan shall be revised to provide a 3-foot high landscape screen around the 

perimeter of all parking areas as required by the Zoning Ordinance. 
 

13. Underground irrigation is required for all new non-residential development.  An irrigation plan 
must be submitted for City review and approval. 

 
14. A sign permit with additional details about sign lighting will be required to be submitted prior 

to sign construction. 
 
15. FURTHER, that the following conditions be met prior to issuance of building permits:  

 



City of Corcoran             July xx, 2020 
County of Hennepin    
State of Minnesota  

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-___ 
 

Page 3 of 4 

 

a. The applicant shall comply with the preliminary plat (Resolution 2020-__) conditions.  
 
 

b. The applicant shall submit any and all necessary permits to Hennepin County for septic 
system abandonment on site and provide proof of application to the City.  
 

c. The applicant shall submit any and all necessary permits to the State of Minnesota for the 
construction of a well and provide proof of application to the City.  

 
d. The applicant shall submit any and all necessary permits to the watershed and receive 

approval and shall provide proof of permits to the City. 
 

e. Record the approving resolution and required easements at Hennepin County and provide 
proof of recording to the City. 
 

f. Drainage and utility easements in recordable form must be provided to the city in 
recordable form for review and approval by the City Attorney. 
 

g. Enter into a development contract and submit a financial guarantee for the proposed work 
as outlined in Section 1070.050, Subd. 9 of the Zoning Ordinance. 
 
i. Any request to inspect the required landscaping in order to reduce financial 

guarantees must be accompanied by recertification/verification of field inspection by 
the project landscape architect. A letter signed by the project landscape architect 
verifying plantings have been corrected and is in compliance with the plans and 
specifications will suffice. 

 
16. Approval shall expire within one year of the date of approval unless the applicant commences 

the authorized use and completes the required improvements.  
 

 
VOTING AYE       VOTING NAY 

 Thomas, Ron        Thomas, Ron 
 Bottema, Jon       Bottema, Jon 
 Dejewski, Brian       Dejewski, Brian 
 Anderson, Thomas      Anderson, Thomas 
 Schultz, Alan       Schultz, Alan 

 
 
 
Whereupon, said Resolution is hereby declared adopted on this XX day of July 2020. 

 
 

________________________________ 
Ron Thomas - Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________      City Seal 
Jessica Beise – Administrative Services Director  



City of Corcoran             July xx, 2020 
County of Hennepin    
State of Minnesota  

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-___ 
 

Page 4 of 4 

 

 
 

ATTACHMENT A 
 

The North 310.00 feet of the South 1010.00 feet of East 780.00 feet of Southeast Quarter of the 
Southeast Quarter of Section 36, Township 119, Range 23, Hennepin County, Minnesota. 
  
And  
 
The East 874.5 feet of the South 400 feet of the Southeast Quarter  (SE 1/4) of the Southeast 
Quarter (SE 1/4) of Section 36, Township 119, Range 23, West of the 5th Principal Meridian 
according to the U.S. Government Survey thereof, Hennepin County, Minnesota. 
 
And 
 
The South 700 feet of that part of the Southeast Quarter (SE1/4 of SE1/4) of Section 36, 
Township 119 North, Range 23, West of the Fifth Principal Meridian, lying West of the East 780 
feet thereof and which lies North of the South 700 feet thereof, according to the U.S. 
Government Survey thereof. 
 
And 
 
That part of the Southeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter (SE1/4 of SE1/4) of Section 36, 
Township 119 North, Range 23, West of the Fifth Principal Meridian, lying West of the East 780 
feet thereof and which lies North of the South 700 feet thereof, according to the U.S. 
Government Survey thereof. 
 
And  
 
The East 874.5 feet of the North 300 feet of the South 700 feet of the Southeast Quarter of the 
Southeast Quarter_ (SE1/4 of SE1/4) of Section 36, Township 119, Range 23, Hennepin 
County, Minnesota 

 
 



City of Corcoran                                                                                                           July xx, 2020                                                                                              
County of Hennepin    
State of Minnesota  

RESOLUTION NO.  2020-____ 
 

 
Page 1 of 3 

 

 
Motion By:       

Seconded By:       
 

 
APPROVING A PRELIMINARY PLAT EAGLE BROOK CHURCH FOR PROPERTY AT THE 
NORTHWEST QUADRANT OF HACKAMORE ROAD AND CR 101 (PID 36-119-23-44-0008, 
36-119-23-44-0010, 36-119-23-44-0009, 36-119-23-44-0013, 36-119-23-44-0014) (CITY FILE 

NO. 20-023) 
 

WHEREAS, the Eagle Brook Church has requested preliminary plat approval for the property 
legally described as follows: 
 

See Attachment A 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission reviewed the submitted preliminary plat at a duly called 
Public Hearing and recommends approval, and;   
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CORCORAN, MINNESOTA, that it should and hereby does approve the request for preliminary 
plat subject to the following findings and conditions: 
 

1. A preliminary plat is approved to allow the creation of one lot and one outlot, in accordance 
with the application and plans received by the City on May 19, 2020 and additional material 
received on June 10, 2020, except as amended by this resolution. 

 
2. Park dedication is not required for religious institutions.  However, the applicant must 

provide the required trail easements on Hackamore Road and County Road 101. 
 

3. The application shall comply with all conditions in the City Engineer’s memo dated June 
24, 2020. 
 

4. The application is subject to the review and approval by Hennepin County. The applicant 
shall comply with any conditions of approval from the letter from the County dated June 
18, 2020. 
 

5. The applicant shall provide the required wetland buffer, buffer setback and buffer 
monuments in compliance with Section 1050.10, Subd. 5 of the Zoning Ordinance. 
 

a. The plans must be revised to show the wetland buffer, the wetland buffer setback 
and the wetland buffer signs and submitted for City review and approval. 

b. The wetland buffer planting must be installed as required by the ordinance. 
c. The applicant must provide a wetland buffer maintenance plan for review and 

approval by staff. 
d. Drainage and utility easements shall be provided over the wetland and wetland 

buffer. 
e. All permanent wetland buffer monument signs must be erected along the wetland 

buffer line as required by Section 1050.010, Subd. 7 of the Zoning Ordinance prior 
issuance of building permits.  



City of Corcoran                                                                                                           July xx, 2020                                                                                              
County of Hennepin    
State of Minnesota  

RESOLUTION NO.  2020-____ 
 

 
Page 2 of 3 

 

f. Wetland signs shall be purchased from the City.  
g. Wetland buffer signs must be installed at each lot line where it crosses a wetland 

buffer and where needed to indicate the contour of the buffer, with a maximum 
spacing of 200 feet of wetland edge as shown on the preliminary plat. 

h. The final locations must be inspected and approved by City staff.  
 

6. The wetland delineation and wetland mitigation plan must be approved prior to final plat 
approval.  The preliminary and final plat must reflect the approved delineation. 
 

7. There is a public driveway agreement easement and utility easement on the property 
that will need to be vacated/released prior to approval of the final plat. If the applicant is 
unable to obtain approval from all affected parties after a good faith effort, staff and the 
City Attorney will work with them to provide an acceptable alternative for Council 
approval.  

 
8. Approval of the preliminary plat shall expire within one year of the date of approval unless 

the applicant has filed a complete application for approval of a final plat. 
 

 
VOTING AYE       VOTING NAY 

 Thomas, Ron        Thomas, Ron 
 Bottema, Jon       Bottema, Jon 
 Dejewski, Brian       Dejewski, Brian 
 Anderson, Thomas      Anderson, Thomas 
 Schultz, Alan       Schultz, Alan 

 
 
Whereupon, said Resolution is hereby declared adopted on this XX day of July 2020. 
 

 
________________________________ 

Ron Thomas - Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
 

 
____________________________________      City Seal 
Jessica Beise – Administrative Services Director 

  



City of Corcoran                                                                                                           July xx, 2020                                                                                              
County of Hennepin    
State of Minnesota  

RESOLUTION NO.  2020-____ 
 

 
Page 3 of 3 

 

ATTACHMENT A 
 

The North 310.00 feet of the South 1010.00 feet of East 780.00 feet of Southeast Quarter of the 
Southeast Quarter of Section 36, Township 119, Range 23, Hennepin County, Minnesota. 
  
And  
 
The East 874.5 feet of the South 400 feet of the Southeast Quarter  (SE 1/4) of the Southeast 
Quarter (SE 1/4) of Section 36, Township 119, Range 23, West of the 5th Principal Meridian 
according to the U.S. Government Survey thereof, Hennepin County, Minnesota. 
 
And 
 
The South 700 feet of that part of the Southeast Quarter (SE1/4 of SE1/4) of Section 36, 
Township 119 North, Range 23, West of the Fifth Principal Meridian, lying West of the East 780 
feet thereof and which lies North of the South 700 feet thereof, according to the U.S. 
Government Survey thereof. 
 
And 
 
That part of the Southeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter (SE1/4 of SE1/4) of Section 36, 
Township 119 North, Range 23, West of the Fifth Principal Meridian, lying West of the East 780 
feet thereof and which lies North of the South 700 feet thereof, according to the U.S. 
Government Survey thereof. 
 
And  
 
The East 874.5 feet of the North 300 feet of the South 700 feet of the Southeast Quarter of the 
Southeast Quarter_ (SE1/4 of SE1/4) of Section 36, Township 119, Range 23, Hennepin 
County, Minnesota 



Hennepin County Natural Resources Map

 

Date: 4/14/2020

Comments:

This data (i) is furnished 'AS IS' with no representation 
as to completeness or accuracy; (ii) is furnished with 
no warranty of any kind; and (iii) is notsuitable for legal, 
engineering or surveying purposes. Hennepin County 
shall not be liable for any damage, injury or loss 
resulting from this data.

COPYRIGHT © HENNEPIN COUNTY  2020

1 inch = 400 feet

Legend

FEMA Floodplains - 100 Year

A

AE FLOODPLAIN

AH

AO

AE FLOODWAY

Wetlands

Potential Wetland - HCWI

Probable Wetland - HCWI

Probable Wetland - NWI

PID: 3611923440008
 Address: 6301 CO RD NO 101,
 CORCORAN
 Owner Name: JTC LLC ET AL
 Acres: 5.2
 

¯



 
 

 
CITY OF CORCORAN 

8200 County Road 116, Corcoran, MN 55340 
763.420.2288 

E-mail - general@ci.corcoran.mn.us  / Web Site - www.ci.corcoran.mn.us 

Memo 
To: Planning (Planner Lindahl) 

From: Director Gottschalk 

Date: June 24, 2020 

Re: Eagle Brook Church Plan Review 

  

 
On June 19, 2020, the public safety plan review committee discussed (via email) the updated Eagle Brook Church 
plans and proposals. Feedback was received from Director of Public Safety Gottschalk, Lieutenant Burns, Fire 
Chief Feist, Fire Chief Leuer, Building Inspector Geske, and Code Compliance Official Pritchard. The following 
additional comments on the plan are provided: 
 
With the inclusion of right in, right out, access from County Road 101 the group can support the elimination of 
the gravel access road on the North end of the project; however, the group did express some concerns about 
hydrant locations and other fire-fighting needs/requirements. Additionally, demonstrated turn radiuses, 
hydrant locations, and sprinkler room details will still need to be addressed by the developer and public safety 
group. These details are typically addressed when more detailed plans are received but felt it was important to 
note. Based on the most recent information the proposed site planning for the project is acceptable to the 
public safety group.  
 
This memo serves as a concept review and assumes that all specifications not articulated in the concept meet 
City standards. Additional fire and building codes will apply. 
 

mailto:general@ci.corcoran.mn.us
http://www.ci.corcoran.mn.us/


Technical
Memo

Wenck  |  Colorado  |  Georgia  |  Minnesota  |  North Dakota  |  Wyoming

Toll Free  800-472-2232  Web wenck.com

To: Kevin Mattson, P.E., Public Works Director

From: Kent Torve, P.E., City Engineer 

Date: June 24, 2020

Subject: Plan Review – Eagle Brook CUP

0.0 Background
This review was conducted for the CUP review. Feasibility Study and concept plan 
Engineering Memo are included by reference.

A stormwater review has been completed and a second model iteration will be required prior 
to WMO submittal. Those changes may affect comments below and will be incorporated in 
further reviews. The stormwater review memo is Attachment A, County comments on CSAH 
101 are Attachment B, and Feasibility Study is Attachment C. 

1.0 Transportation

CSAH 101 

1.1 Hennepin County provided review which is Attachment B. The memo describes a  
right-in/right-out access with additional design requirements.

1.2 Updated traffic signal and intersection improvements to be required as part of 
this project per Feasibility Study.

Hackamore Road

1.3 Entrance road widths meet City standard.

1.4 Eastbound left turn lane and westbound right turn lane at CSAH 101 shall be 
required as part of this project per Feasibility Study. Project design currently 
underway with Medina. 

1.4.1 Coordinate east approach grades with the Hackamore Road improvements 
project. Vertical curve being lowered per State Aid design.

1.5 Consider internal street access/temp turnarounds on Goldenrod Trail and 63rd 
Avenue (Amethyst Lane). Coordinate with City and adjacent property owners. 

Internal

1.6 Radius at east entrance on Hackamore Road to be 25’.

1.7 Larkspur Lane will be connected to Lupine Lane and shall be dedicated as public 
right-of-way. Grading and platting are required. 

1.8 Emergency access routes to pass roll test as observed by City Engineer.



2
 T:\2294-Corcoran\54 Eagle Brook Church\Plan Review\Submittal #1_2020_0519\_Wenck Review\Plan review_CUP Submittal #1_2020_0622.docx

2.0 Trails

2.1 A trail is proposed from west boundary of Ravinia to CSAH 101 as part of the 
overall Hackamore Project as noted in Feasibility Study

2.1.1 Trail to be graded with this development and easements to be provided on 
north side of Hackamore Road.

2.1.2 Trail alignment and elevation to be provided by City. 

3.0 Sewer

3.1 Install SDR 26 (as opposed to SCH 40) for sanitary sewer within City right-of-way 
to SAN MH 2, per City Standards. 

3.1.1 SAN MH 2 along west property line will be the transition point from public 
to private sewer. Easement or access agreement to be provided to allow 
for maintenance.

3.2 Review and relabel any duplicate sanitary manholes, for example there are 
duplicate SAN MH 2. 

3.3 All sewer services shall be in accordance with State building code. 

3.4 Watermain is stubbed east of sanitary sewer on Goldenrod Trail. Precautions shall 
be made to protect watermain while core-drilling the existing sanitary manhole.

3.5 Coordinate sewer utility stub to Outlot A with City.

4.0 Water

4.1 Coordinate water utility stub to Outlot A with City.

4.2 Install DIP on hydrant leads per City standards.

4.3 Temporary hydrant on Larkspur Lane to be relocated/reinstalled when connecting 
to watermain.

4.4 Hydrant at Lupine Lane to be relocated to high point of watermain. 

4.5 Hydrant spacing to be reviewed by public safety.

4.6 Domestic water service is to be stubbed directly from City owned and maintained 
watermain. Unless Eagle Brook provides and agreement to access private 
property for the shut off valve. 

4.7 Water valves required at tie-in points, or provide documentation developer’s 
contractor is willing to test against existing City valves.

4.8 Watermain alignment to be installed on the south side of future road (Larkspur 
Lane). Connect to north side of Lupine Lane using bends. Watermain on south 
side of road is necessary to accommodate the future sanitary sewer extension.

4.9 City recommends considering an additional watermain connection to both 63rd 
Avenue and Goldenrod Trail. The additional connection will facilitate continued 
water service when any repairs are needed, or the construction connection is 
made to Outlot A in the future.



3
 T:\2294-Corcoran\54 Eagle Brook Church\Plan Review\Submittal #1_2020_0519\_Wenck Review\Plan review_CUP Submittal #1_2020_0622.docx

4.10 Water valve locations for the private water line to be located at the right-of-way 
line.

4.11 Hydrants to be located at highpoints of watermain.

4.12 Retaining wall on Larkspur Lane may need to be reinstalled after watermain 
installation. Coordination with Lennar and City is required. 

5.0 Storm Sewer, Grading and Stormwater

As noted previously, a stormwater memorandum was previously provided that required 
modifications. The memo is attached. 

5.1 Developments creating significant impervious areas have contributed funding 
towards offsite water quality projects. In lieu of this approach, Eagle Brook shall 
provide ponding area for Hackamore Road improvements. 

5.2 From the existing 30% Hackamore design, there will be approximately 50,000 
cubic feet of storage required. More information will be provided on the 
breakdown of water quality vs live (rate control) storage. 

5.3 There is some potential for small cost credits for the road improvement for 
stormwater assistance. 

Storm Sewer
5.4 City recommends RCP for storm sewer under pavement areas.

5.5 City recommends RCP for all outlets from ponds and wetlands. Eagle Brook 
retains ownership of the BMPs and provides easement to the City.  

5.6 Drainage along Larkspur Lane right-of-way to be coordinated with City.  

5.7 Storm sewer may be needed to collect Hackamore drainage.

5.8 Culvert conveying public drainage connecting the two wetlands under the CSAH 
101 access road to be RCP. 

5.9 Relocate FES on west property edge to be away from the existing FES, coordinate 
with City, a structure may be required to connecting pipes. 

5.10 Culvert under Hackamore Road to be improved (extended or replaced) with the 
Hackamore improvements project.

5.11 Existing outlet in SE corner to be coordinated/reviewed by Hennepin County. 

5.12 Label existing pipe size and material. Verify condition of the culverts leaving site. 

Grading
5.13 Larkspur Lane will require EOF near connection with existing Larkspur Lane at an 

elevation lower than 985.0 as shown on Ravinia 11th Addition plans. Secondary 
pipe may be needed.  

5.14 East driveway access on Hackamore to show an overland EOF or additional piped 
outlets may be required.

5.15 Existing homestead driveway off Hackamore Road culvert crossing to be removed 
and hydraulic effects downstream should be reviewed with City.



4
 T:\2294-Corcoran\54 Eagle Brook Church\Plan Review\Submittal #1_2020_0519\_Wenck Review\Plan review_CUP Submittal #1_2020_0622.docx

5.16 Grading adjacent to Larkspur Lane to be no steeper than a 3:1. All other grading 
adjacent to wetlands and other water features to be graded no steeper than a 
3:1.

5.17 10:1 maintenance access bench to be provided to all ponds.

5.18 Swale between 2 wetlands on east property line to be stabilized. 

5.19 Modify grading plan to stay off adjacent properties or coordinate with property 
owner.

5.20 Plastic sheet pile weir along north property line to be removed. Permanent 
feature to be installed and coordinated with City and Lennar per feasibility study.

6.0 Erosion Control

6.1 City of Corcoran is an MS4 city and site visits to be conducted weekly

6.2 Compliance with owner’s MS4 permit will be monitored 

7.0 General

7.1 2020 detail plates to be incorporated in plan set

7.2 Abandon culverts and driveway accesses off CSAH 10 and Hackamore Road.

7.3 Submit irrigation plan.

7.4 Submit signage plan. Signage within right-of-way to meet City or County 
standards

7.5 Snow storage areas to have pre-treatment prior to discharge to water bodies. 

8.0 Plat

8.1 60’ half right-of-way on CSAH 101 is adequate.

8.2 Hackamore road concept design is at 30%. Additional right-of-way and trail 
easements shall be coordinated with plans and provided at final plat. 

8.3 Blanket drainage and utility easement required over Outlot A

8.4 Existing private driveway easement to be abandoned along Ravinia 11th. 
Coordinate with Lennar. 

8.5 Drainage and utility easement to be required on public drainage areas between 
wetlands on east property edge. 

8.6 Provide 20’ easement centered on manhole SAN MH 2 at Goldenrod Trail. 

8.7 10’ drainage and utility easement required on both sides of the Larkspur Lane 
right-of-way



2
 C:\Users\TorKC0063\Documents\Corcoran Offsite\3_City Projects\5_TLAC\2017 Water Revision\2016 TLAC Water Memo.docx

Attachment A



Technical 
Memo

To: Kevin Mattson, PE, Public Works Director

From: Danielle Tourtillott, EIT
Kent Torve, PE (MN)

Date: June 11, 2020

Subject: Eagle Brook Runoff Model Preliminary Review

Background
The purpose of this memorandum is to provide preliminary review comments on the 
HydroCAD model submitted by Loucks and Associates. In order to increase review efficiency 
for applicants and City staff, these guidelines were created to promote a standardized 
approach to hydraulic and hydrologic modeling on every proposed development.

The WMO has requested that development models be in general compliance with City 
requirements before the applicant submits information to the WMO. Doing so will increase 
consistency between the City and WMO approval and ultimately result in better overall 
stormwater management.

Model Modifications
Below are required modifications for a second iteration before the City authorizes submittal 
to the WMO:

HWLs, NWLs, and Methodology
 Establish an existing and proposed NWL and HWL for all wetlands. Wetlands shared 

with offsite properties shall be modeled and City will assist with any offsite 
coordination.

 Revise time of concentration calculations for a maximum sheet flow length of 100-ft.
 Justify changing the Reach Routing/Pond Routing Method between existing and 

proposed conditions. If the applicant desires to use the Sim-Route method, outlet 
devices must be entered downstream to upstream.

Curve Numbers
 Assume land use covers listed in TR-55/HydroCAD are in “good” condition, unless

proof is provided to document poor or fair condition.
 Assign CN of 77 for existing conditions.
 Assign CN 85 for proposed conditions pervious area.
 Assign CN 98 for wetlands, ponds and impervious surfaces.

EOFs
 Separate EOF pipe may be needed from west of main entrance towards CR 101 if 

pipe failure under Hackamore will cause flooding risk for properties upstream 
(Ravinia).

 West access (Exit) EOF shall be designed to protect upstream properties.

Wenck | Colorado | Georgia | Minnesota | North Dakota | Wyoming

Toll Free 800-472-2232 Web wenck.com



Kevin Mattson, PE
Public Works Director

2
T:\2294-Corcoran\54 Eagle Brook Church\Plan Review\Submittal #1_2020_0519\Stormwater Review prior to WMO Submittal\Attachment A_CUP Memo_ Stormwater Initial Summary

for WMO Submittal June 11.docx

City of Corcoran 

Water Quality
 City prefers a pond with filter bench rather than filtration (sand) basins. Applicant 

shall provide alternative design (that is acceptable to WMO) for review.

Other
 Provide treatment for the runoff from the curb cut on the south driveway before it 

reaches the wetland.
 Label biofiltration basin cross section with basin-specific elevations.
 North property boundary has plastic weir that will need to be addressed with final 

construction plans.



3
 C:\Users\TorKC0063\Documents\Corcoran Offsite\3_City Projects\5_TLAC\2017 Water Revision\2016 TLAC Water Memo.docx

Attachment B



 
Hennepin County Transportation Project Delivery 
Public Works Facility, 1600 Prairie Drive, Medina, MN 55340 
612-596-0300 | hennepin.us 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
June 18, 2020  
  
Ms. Kendra Lindahl, AICP                                   
Principal Consultant 
City of Corcoran 
8200 County Road 116 
Corcoran, MN 55340 
  
Re: Preliminary Plat Review – Eagle Brook Church (Received 05/22/20)  
County State Aid Highway (CSAH) 101 at Hackamore Road 
Hennepin County Plat Review ID #3829A (Reviewed 05/26/20) 
  
Dear Ms. Lindahl:  
         
Please consider the following county staff comments in your review of this preliminary plat 
proposal to redevelop five single family homesteads into a 1,500-seat church and campus: 
  
Access: This plat proposes three new accesses, one inbound and one outbound on Hackamore 
Road and a third right-in/right-out access on County Road 101. From a safety and operations 
standpoint, no new access on County Road 101 is recommended for this site. However, we 
recognize the desire for this access based on the projected traffic demands and to 
accommodate emergency vehicles. Therefore, we will accept a right-in/right-out access that is 
limited to weekend (Saturday and Sunday) services. Preferably, the location of the access would 
be halfway between Hackamore Road and 63rd Place. Given the constraints of wetlands west of 
County Road 101, we ask that the proposed access be located as close to the mid-point as 
feasible and that adequate sight distance be verified. 
 
To maintain safety and mobility along County Road 101, the proposed access will need to 
include a southbound right-turn lane and raised concrete center median along County Road 
101. The median will need to extend 100 feet on both sides of the new access. The southbound 
right-turn lane length will need to provide adequate space for vehicles to safely decelerate and 
to accommodate the county’s preferred turn lane dimensions. To ensure traffic impacts to 
County Road 101 will be limited to weekend hours, the access will need to incorporate a 
barricade (e.g. chain, gate, etc.) to be opened only during weekend services. Details of the 
access permit, as well as the design of the access, median, and right-turn lane will need to be 
formally reviewed by county staff during the permitting process.  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Right-of-Way: We request right-of-way dedication (approximately 10 feet) necessary along 
County Road 101 to match our preferred 60-foot half right-of-way section allowing for future 
roadway needs, such as an off-road trail.  
 
Bicycle and Pedestrian: Consistent with the Hennepin County Bicycle Plan, we recommend the 
inclusion of an off-road trail along County Road 101 to both connect to the existing trail system 
south of Hackamore Road as well as the city’s planned Hackamore Road trail. This would 
provide transportation choices and create connectivity within and between transportation 
modes for both the church community and surrounding neighborhoods. We welcome further 
discussion between the developer and city on how best to plan for and deliver this important 
multi-modal amenity. 
 
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) ramps and Accessible Pedestrian Signal (APS) 
infrastructure at the intersection of County Road 101 and Hackamore Road will need to be 
coordinated through the cities’ planned Hackamore Road project. 
 
Storm Water / Drainage: Please ensure discharge rates remain less than existing flow rates. The 
county storm water system will not take water from new drainage areas. Additional treatments 
may be necessary if flow rates cannot match existing. Contact: Drew McGovern at 612-596-0208 or 
drew.mcgovern@hennepin.us 
  
Permits: Please inform the developer that all construction within county right-of-way requires an 
approved Hennepin County permit prior to beginning construction. This includes, but is not 
limited to, driveway and street access, drainage and utility construction, trail development, and 
landscaping. Please also ensure the removal of all vacated driveways along County Road 101 
and regrading of the ditch drainage. Contact: Michael Olmstead, Permits Coordinator at 612-596-
0336 or michael.olmstead@hennepin.us 
  
More Information: Please contact us for any further discussion of these items. Bob Byers: 612-596-
0354, robert.byers@hennepin.us or Jason Gottfried: 612-596-0394, jason.gottfried@hennepin.us 
  
Sincerely,  
  
 
Carla Stueve, PE, PTOE  
County Highway Engineer  



�����������	�
���
	�������	�������
�

�
�����������

������� ! "#���$
�%�&����'	����#�$�()*�+*(�,�
#������������

������
����-���
�����������	���.�%��&����'	����#�$�,�
#����,���
���'����/��$.��$�%���&������
�	�
0���'�����1�2���1�������1�����	�3����1��	������4������������	�
���#�����
�0����0���'������$-1�2���5	��������������	�
��1�'��-�
#���$
4�678�+9�"�:��;��;7+���6<�"8������
=����#�>�?���'��


@�A��B*
��-�C��DE�B 7�
��
���F�
��$�G���F+7��00���F�
��$�G���F+7��00���F�
��$�G��F+

������	�
� H



CS
CS

995.45 995.46

995.96
995.82

99
6.2

0

996.26

996.42

99
6.

54

99
6.4

4

996.88

997.40

994.23

99
4.

98

995.63

995.75

99
3.5

6

99
4.

46

987.00

EDGE OF WATER AS
MEASURED 3-18-2020

EXISTIN
G

BRIDGE

BITUMINOUS
CURB B-STYLE

CURB

B
-S

TY
LE

C
U

R
B

B
-S

TY
LE

C
U

R
B

B
-S

TY
LE

C
U

R
B

BITUMINOUS
CURB

C
O

R
C
O

R
A
N

C
IT

Y 
LI

M
IT

S

(PUBLIC      ROAD)

(P
U

B
LI

C
  

  
  

R
O

A
D

)

CORCORAN
CITY LIMITS

42
.1

scan2830

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

FUTURE ROAD IMPROVEMENTS TO BE
DESIGNED & CONSTRUCTED BY CITY

FUTURE ROAD IMPROVEMENTS
TO BE DESIGNED & CONSTRUCTED

BY CITY/COUNTY

PROPOSED
BUILDING
FFE=995.00

CONCRETE STOOP-TYP
COORDINATE WITH
ARCHITECTURAL &

STRUCTURAL PLANS

CONCRETE STOOP-TYP
COORDINATE WITH
ARCHITECTURAL &

STRUCTURAL PLANS

CONCRETE STOOP-TYP
COORDINATE WITH
ARCHITECTURAL &

STRUCTURAL PLANS

CONCRETE STOOP-TYP
COORDINATE WITH
ARCHITECTURAL &
STRUCTURAL PLANS

20' GRAVEL TRAIL
FOR FIRE ACCESS

CONCRETE STOOP-TYP
COORDINATE WITH
ARCHITECTURAL &
STRUCTURAL PLANS

6.0'

PEDESTRIAN RAMP
TYP-SEE DETAIL

18.5' 26.0'
37.0'

26.0' 18.5'

18.5'
30.0'9.0'

TYP

9.0'

TYP

26.0'
10.0'

15.7'

26.0'

26.0'

18.5' 26.0'
37.0'

26.0'
37.0'

26.0'
37.0'

26.0' 18.5'
40.3'

26.0'
33.3'

18.5' 26.0'
37.0'

26.0'
37.0'

26.0'
37.0'

26.0' 18.5'

26
.0

'

26.0'

26.0'

8.7'
15.9'

30.0'

18.5' 26.0'
37.0'

26.0' 18.5'

8.7'

15.9'

9.0'

TYP

9.0'

TYP

9.0'

TYP

9.0'

TYP

9.0'

TYP

9.0'

TYP

9.0'

TYP

9.0'

TYP

26.0'

26.0'

13
.0

'
13

.0
'

10
.0

'

WETLAND
BUFFER-TYP

WETLAND
BUFFER-TYP

25.0'

25.0'

WETLAND
BUFFER-TYP

20
.0

'

20' BUILDING
& PARKING SETBACK

25
.0

'

WETLAND
BUFFER-TYP

10.0'

10' PARKING SETBACK

20.0'

20' BUILDING
& PARKING SETBACK

CONCRETE STOOP-TYP
COORDINATE WITH
ARCHITECTURAL &
STRUCTURAL PLANS

CONCRETE PAVEMENT
TYP-SEE DETAIL

6.0'

CONCRETE SIDEWALK
TYP-SEE DETAIL

CONCRETE SIDEWALK
TYP-SEE DETAIL

CONCRETE SIDEWALK
TYP-SEE DETAIL

SEE HARDSCAPE PLAN

BUILDING COLUMNS
& CANOPY ABOVE

SEE ARCHITECTURAL PLANS

B612 CURB
& GUTTER

TYP-SEE DETAIL

SURMOUNTABLE
CURB & GUTTER

TYP-SEE DETAIL

B612 CURB
& GUTTER
TYP-SEE DETAIL

B612 CURB
& GUTTER
TYP-SEE DETAIL

B612 CURB
& GUTTER
TYP-SEE DETAIL

B612 CURB
& GUTTER
TYP-SEE DETAIL

TYPICAL ADA
PARKING STALLS

SEE DETAIL

DOUBLE SIDED ADA
PARKING SIGN/

BOLLARD COMBO (6)
TYP-SEE DETAIL

DOUBLE SIDED ADA
NO PARKING ACCESS AISLE
SIGN/BOLLARD COMBO (3)

TYP-SEE DETAIL

ADA PARKING
SIGN (2)

TYP-SEE DETAIL

TYP ADA
PARKING STALLS

SEE DETAIL

ADA PARKING
SIGN/BOLLARD

COMBO (4)
TYP-SEE DETAIL

TYP ADA
PARKING STALLS
SEE DETAIL

ADA PARKING
SIGN/BOLLARD
COMBO (4)
TYP-SEE DETAIL

8

36

32
32 29

9
25

22
22

24

40

40
40

40
40

40
40

40

40

40
40

40
40

32

27

30

25.0'

100.0'

100' BUILDING
& PARKING
SETBACK

30.0'

30' BUILDING SETBACK

10
.0

'

10' BUILDING
& PARKING SETBACK

FRONT ENTRY PLAZA

SNOW
STORAGE

AREA

SURMOUNTABLE
CURB & GUTTER
TYP-SEE DETAIL

SNOW
STORAGE

AREA

B612 CURB
& GUTTER

TYP-SEE DETAIL

B612 CURB
& GUTTER

TYP-SEE DETAIL

CURB CUT
TYP-SEE DETAIL

MONUMENT
SIGN

SURMOUNTABLE
CURB & GUTTER
TYP-SEE DETAIL

B612 CURB
& GUTTER

TYP-SEE DETAIL

SNOW
STORAGE

AREA

SNOW
STORAGE

AREA

SNOW
STORAGE

AREA

SURMOUNTABLE
CURB & GUTTER
TYP-SEE DETAIL

SURMOUNTABLE
CURB & GUTTER
TYP-SEE DETAIL

CURB CUT
TYP-SEE DETAIL

HEAVY DUTY
BITUMINOUS
PAVEMENT
TYP-SEE DETAIL

LIGHT DUTY
BITUMINOUS
PAVEMENT
TYP-SEE DETAIL

LIGHT DUTY
BITUMINOUS

PAVEMENT
TYP-SEE DETAIL

HEAVY DUTY
BITUMINOUS

PAVEMENT
TYP-SEE DETAIL

LIGHT DUTY
BITUMINOUS
PAVEMENT
TYP-SEE DETAIL

HEAVY DUTY
BITUMINOUS
PAVEMENT
TYP-SEE DETAIL

50.0'

20.0'

BIOFILTRATION BASIN
TYP-SEE DETAIL

BIOFILTRATION BASIN
TYP-SEE DETAIL

6.0'

LIGHT DUTY
BITUMINOUS

PAVEMENT
TYP-SEE DETAIL

25'R
25'R

226'R

200'R

10'R

5'R

5'R

10'R
10'R

10'R 10'R

10'R

10'R

10'R

5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R

5'R
5'R

30'R

50'R

10'R

10'R

10'R

10'R
10'R

10'R

10'R

10'R
10'R

10'R

10'R

5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R

5'R

5'R

5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R

5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R

5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R

5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R

5'R

5'R

5'R

5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R
5'R

10'R

10'R

10'R

10'R

10'R

10'R

10'R

10'R

10'R

10'R

10'R
10'R

10'R

10'R

500'R

526'R

200'R

226'R
30'R

30'R

25'R

25'R

40'R

14'R

100'R

74'R15'R

15'R

134'R

160'R

100'R

126'R

15'R

15'R

15'R
15'R

30'R

30'R

10'R
10'R

10'R
10'R

10'R
10'R

10'R

10'R

10'R

10'R

10'R

174'R

200'R

10'R

5'R
5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R

5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R5'R

5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R

5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R
5'R

15'R

15'R

40'R

14'R

2'R

2'R

SCREENING FOR
TRASH DUMPSTERS

N

SCALE       IN       FEET

0 50 100

Consultants

LOUCKS PROJECT NO. 19176A

SD ISSUE

LOUCKS

7200 Hemlock Lane, Suite 300

Maple Grove, MN 55369

763.424.5505

www.loucksinc.com

PLANNING

CIVIL ENGINEERING

LAND SURVEYING

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

ENVIRONMENTAL

Co
py

rig
ht

 B
W

BR

DateItem

Sheet No.

Sheet Title

Comm. No. Drawn

3.2019023.00

This document may be an electronic file or may
be printed from an electronic file provided to
the user.  It is the sole responsibility of the user
to ensure that the content and quality is
consistent with the content and quality of the
original documents on file at BWBR.

Issued For

Consultants

651.222.3701
Saint Paul, MN 55102
380 St. Peter Street, Ste. 600

bwbr.com

This Sheet may be
a Reduced Copy.

The bar above is 1" long on a Full Size Sheet.
Drawing Scales apply to Full Size Sheets.

NOT F
OR

CONST
RUCTIO

N

Name

Date Lic./Reg. No.05-19-2020 53706

I hereby certify that this plan, specification or report was prepared
by me or under my direct supervision and that I am a duly

Licensed/Registered Professional Engineer under the laws of the
State of Minnesota

Trevor D. Gruys - PE

04-29-2020

EAGLE BROOK
CHURCH

WEST METRO
CAMPUS

CUP ISSUE 05-19-2020

SITE PLAN

220.CS

TDG/ZBM/MDC

NOTE:
EXISTING CONDITIONS
INFORMATION SHOWN IS FROM
A TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY
PREPARED BY E. G. RUD & SONS,
INC. AND DATED APRIL, 2020.




23

CIVIL LEGEND

Gopher State One Call

WARNING:
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR CALLING FOR LOCATIONS
OF ALL EXISTING UTILITIES. THEY SHALL COOPERATE WITH ALL UTILITY
COMPANIES IN MAINTAINING THEIR SERVICE AND / OR RELOCATION OF
LINES.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT GOPHER STATE ONE CALL AT
651-454-0002 AT LEAST 48 HOURS IN ADVANCE FOR THE LOCATIONS OF
ALL UNDERGROUND WIRES, CABLES, CONDUITS, PIPES, MANHOLES,
VALVES OR OTHER BURIED STRUCTURES BEFORE DIGGING. THE
CONTRACTOR SHALL REPAIR OR REPLACE THE ABOVE WHEN DAMAGED
DURING CONSTRUCTION AT NO COST TO THE OWNER.

NOTE:
SEE PAVEMENT SECTIONS ON SHEET 250.CD AND 251.CD
FOR TYPE AND DEPTH INFORMATION.

LIGHT DUTY BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT

CONCRETE SIDEWALK

HEAVY DUTY BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT

CONCRETE PAVEMENT

PAVEMENT TYPES

SITE NOTES
1. ALL PAVING, CONCRETE CURB, GUTTER AND SIDEWALK SHALL BE FURNISHED AND INSTALLED

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE DETAILS SHOWN PER THE DETAIL SHEET(S) AND STATE/LOCAL
JURISDICTION REQUIREMENTS.

2. ACCESSIBLE PARKING  AND ACCESSIBLE ROUTES SHALL BE PROVIDED PER CURRENT ADA
STANDARDS AND LOCAL/STATE REQUIREMENTS.

3. ALL CURB DIMENSIONS SHOWN ARE TO THE  FACE OF CURB UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

4. ALL BUILDING DIMENSIONS ARE TO THE OUTSIDE FACE OF WALL UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

5. TYPICAL FULL SIZED PARKING STALL IS 9' X 18.5' UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

6. ALL CURB RADII SHALL BE 5.0' UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

7. BITUMINOUS IMPREGNATED FIBER BOARD TO BE PLACED AT FULL DEPTH OF CONCRETE
ADJACENT TO EXISTING STRUCTURES AND BEHIND CURB ADJACENT TO DRIVEWAYS AND
SIDEWALKS.

8. SEE SITE ELECTRICAL PLAN FOR SITE LIGHTING.

CURRENT  ZONING: RSF-2
PROPOSED ZONING: RSF-2

PROPERTY AREA: 32.45 AC
DISTURBED AREA: 25.26 AC
EXISTING IMPERVIOUS AREA:   1.95 AC (6.0%)
PROPOSED IMPERVIOUS AREA: 10.68 AC (32.9%)

SITE DATA

YARD (BUILDING) SETBACKS:
FRONT (FROM 101) 100 FT MINIMUM
SIDE (FROM HACKAMORE)   20 FT MINIMUM
SIDE   10 FT MINIMUM
REAR   30 FT MINIMUM

OFF-STREET PARKING AND DESIGN STANDARD REQUIREMENTS
OFF-STREET PARKING SETBACKS:

FRONT (FROM 101) 100 FT MINIMUM
SIDE (FROM HACKAMORE)   20 FT MINIMUM
SIDE   10 FT MINIMUM
REAR   10 FT MINIMUM

MINIMUM PARKING LAYOUT DIMENSIONS (90 DEGREE PATTERN):
PARKING SPACE WIDTH = 9 FT
PARKING SPACE LENGTH = 18.5 FT
DRIVE LANE WIDTH = 26 FT

DEVELOPMENT AND DESIGN STANDARDS

PROPOSED CHURCH: XX,XXX SF @ X STALLS PER XXXX = XXX STALLS

TOTAL PARKING REQUIRED = XXX STALLS

TOTAL PARKING PROVIDED = 848 STALLS

OFF-STREET PARKING CALCULATIONS

PROPOSED ACCESSIBLE PARKING: 22 STALLS

REQUIRED ACCESSIBLE PARKING: 17 STALLS**

**REQUIRED MINIMUM NUMBER OF ACCESSIBLE SPACES FOR 501 TO 1000 STALLS
(2% OF TOTAL STALLS PROVIDED)

ACCESSIBLE PARKING

SIGNAGE AND STRIPING NOTES
1. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR ALL SITE SIGNAGE AND STRIPING AS SHOWN ON

THIS PLAN.

2. CONTRACTOR SHALL PAINT ALL ACCESSIBLE STALLS, LOGOS AND CROSS HATCH LOADING
AISLES WITH WHITE PAVEMENT MARKING PAINT, 4" IN WIDTH.

3. CONTRACTOR SHALL PAINT ANY/ALL DIRECTIONAL TRAFFIC ARROWS, AS SHOWN, IN WHITE
PAINT.

4. ALL SIGNAGE SHALL INCLUDE POST, CONCRETE FOOTING AND STEEL CASING WHERE
REQUIRED.

5. ALL SIGNAGE NOT PROTECTED BY CURB, LOCATED IN PARKING LOT OR OTHER PAVED AREAS
TO BE PLACED IN STEEL CASING, FILLED WITH CONCRETE AND PAINTED YELLOW.  REFER TO
DETAIL.

6. ANY/ALL STOP SIGNS TO INCLUDE A 24" WIDE PAINTED STOP BAR IN WHITE PAINT, PLACED AT
THE STOP SIGN LOCATION, A MINIMUM OF 4' FROM CROSSWALK IF APPLICABLE.  ALL STOP
BARS SHALL EXTEND FROM DIRECTIONAL TRANSITION BETWEEN LANES TO CURB.

7. ALL SIGNS TO BE PLACED 18" BEHIND BACK OF CURB UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.



3
 C:\Users\TorKC0063\Documents\Corcoran Offsite\3_City Projects\5_TLAC\2017 Water Revision\2016 TLAC Water Memo.docx

Attachment C



WENCK File #2294-0054
May 2020

Prepared by:

WENCK Associates, Inc.
1800 Pioneer Creek Center
Maple Plain, MN 55359
Phone: 763-479-4200
Fax: 763-479-4242

Prepared for:

City of Corcoran, MN 8200 County Road 116
Corcoran, MN 55340

Eagle Brook Church Draft 
Infrastructure Feasibility Study 



May 2020 i
\\wenck.local\wenckspace\Vol1\2294-Corcoran\54 Eagle Brook Church\Eagle Brook Report Text May 14th.docx

Table of Contents
1.0 INTRODUCTION ..........................................................................................1-1

2.0 TRANSPORTATION ......................................................................................2-1

2.1 Background .......................................................................................2-1
2.2 Proposed Development Characteristics ..................................................2-1
2.3 Existing Conditions .............................................................................2-1
2.4 Existing Traffic Volumes ......................................................................2-2
2.5 Traffic Forecasts .................................................................................2-2
2.6 Traffic Analysis...................................................................................2-4
2.7 Findings ............................................................................................2-7
2.8 Cost Estimates ...................................................................................2-7

3.0 SEWER AND WATER ....................................................................................3-1

3.1 Background .......................................................................................3-1
3.2 Sewer ...............................................................................................3-1
3.3 Potential Upsize of Water Main .............................................................3-1
3.4 Model Results.....................................................................................3-1
3.5 Sewer and Water Findings ...................................................................3-1

4.0 DRAINAGE AND WATER RESOURCES ...........................................................4-1

4.1 Stormwater Management.....................................................................4-1
4.2 Wetlands ...........................................................................................4-1
4.3 Findings ............................................................................................4-1

5.0 FINANCING.................................................................................................5-1

5.1 Summary ..........................................................................................5-1

6.0 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS ...................................................6-1



May 2020 ii
\\wenck.local\wenckspace\Vol1\2294-Corcoran\54 Eagle Brook Church\Eagle Brook Report Text May 14th.docx

Table of Contents (Cont.) 
IN-TEXT TABLES

Table 1. Weekday Peak Hour Trip Generation for Proposed Church ................................2-3
Table 2. Wednesday Evening Trip Generation for Proposed Church ................................2-3
Table 3. Saturday Trip Generation for Proposed Church ...............................................2-3
Table 4. Sunday Trip Generation for Proposed Church .................................................2-4
Table 5. Level of Service Results without CSAH 101 Access ..........................................2-5
Table 6. Level of Service Results with CSAH 101 Access ..............................................2-6
Table 7. Model Results for Water Main Increase and New Tower....................................3-1

FIGURES

1 Site Plan and Infrastructure Impacts

APPENDICES

A Traffic Volumes
B Preliminary Hackamore Design for Two Options 
C Stormwater Modeling Guidelines
 



May 2020 1-1
\\wenck.local\wenckspace\Vol1\2294-Corcoran\54 Eagle Brook Church\Eagle Brook Report Text May 14th.docx

1.0 Introduction

Eagle Brook Church is proposing to construct a facility located on Hackamore Road and 
CSAH 101 in southeast Corcoran. The area is currently large lot (rural) residential and had 
previously been ghost platted as urban residential, so the change in use is under review for 
infrastructure impacts and needs related to traffic, sewer service, water supply, drainage 
and stormwater.  This Draft Feasibility Study is the basis for cost estimating on public 
infrastructure needs for the site. Figure 1 shows the site layout and infrastructure impacts 
for the facility. 



May 2020 2-1
\\wenck.local\wenckspace\Vol1\2294-Corcoran\54 Eagle Brook Church\Eagle Brook Report Text May 14th.docx

2.0 Transportation

2.1 BACKGROUND

This study examined weekday, Saturday, and Sunday peak hour traffic impacts of the 
proposed project at the following intersections:

 County Road 116/Hackamore Road
 CSAH 101/Hackamore Road
 Hackamore Road/west development access
 Hackamore Road/east development access
 CSAH 101/development access

2.2 PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT CHARACTERISTICS

For purpose of the traffic impact analysis, the proposed project will consist of the 
construction of a new church building with 1,500 seats (70,000 square feet). The project 
includes approximately 850 on-site parking spaces. The project has two access points on 
Hackamore Road, with the western access having dual lanes exit only and the eastern 
access, also dual lanes and enter only. A right in/right out access is proposed on CSAH 101.

Church activities consist of the following:

 Weekday activities between 8:00 am and 5:00 pm are conducted with 15 employees 
on site.

 Wednesday evening student activities occur between 6:00 pm and 9:00 pm. Church 
staff estimate these activities involve 350 students and 35 adult volunteers.

 On Saturdays, the church plans to hold services at 4:00 pm and 6:00 pm.
 On Sundays, the church plans to hold services at 9:00 a.m. and 11:00 a.m. 

The project is expected to be completed in early 2022.

2.3 EXISTING CONDITIONS

The proposed site consists of five existing single family homes and one house may remain 
(northwest lot), but four will be removed as part of the project. The project site is bounded 
by CSAH 101 on the east, Hackamore Road on the south, and single family homes (Lennar) 
to the west and north.

Adjacent to the site, CSAH 101 is a two-lane undivided roadway with turn lanes at major 
intersections. On the south, Hackamore Road is a two-lane undivided roadway. Existing 
conditions near the proposed project location are further described below.

County Road 116/Hackamore Road - The signalized intersection provides one left turn lane 
and one through/right turn lane on the northbound and southbound approaches. The 
eastbound and westbound approaches consist of one lane shared by all movements.

CSAH 101/Hackamore Road - The signalized intersection provides one left turn lane, one 
through lane, and one right turn lane on the northbound and southbound approaches. The 
eastbound and westbound approaches consist of one lane shared by all movements.



May 2020 2-2
\\wenck.local\wenckspace\Vol1\2294-Corcoran\54 Eagle Brook Church\Eagle Brook Report Text May 14th.docx

2.4 EXISTING TRAFFIC VOLUMES

Existing weekday turn movement volumes for the CSAH 101/Hackamore Road and CR 
116/Hackamore Road collected for the Hackamore Road design project were obtained from 
City staff. This data was used for the weekday a.m. and p.m. peak hour forecasts.

The significant reduction in traffic volumes due to closures associated with COVID-19 
eliminated the possibility of collecting accurate volume data for the Wednesday evening, 
Saturday, and Sunday time periods. Traffic volumes during these time periods were 
estimated using data from nearby MnDOT Automatic Traffic Recording locations collected in 
2019. Using this data, hourly adjustment factors were developed and applied to the current 
weekday data, resulting in reasonable estimates for the Wednesday evening, Saturday, and 
Sunday time periods. These volumes were used in the development of traffic forecasts as 
described next.

2.5 TRAFFIC FORECASTS

To adequately address the impacts of the proposed project, forecasts and analyses were 
completed for the years 2023 and 2030. Specifically, traffic forecasts were developed for 
the following time periods:

 Weekday a.m. and p.m. peak hours
 Wednesday from 6:00-7:00 pm and 9:00 to 10:00 pm
 Saturday from 3:15 to 4:15 pm, 5:00 to 6:00 pm, and 7:00 pm to 8:00 pm
 Sunday from 8:15 – 9:15 a.m., 10:00 – 11:00 a.m., and 12:00 – 1:00 p.m.

These time periods were chosen based on information from Church staff, the church service 
times on Saturday and Sunday, and the time periods for student instruction on Wednesday 
evenings.

In addition, traffic forecasts were developed both with and without the proposed right 
in/right out access on CSAH 101.

Traffic forecasts were developed for following scenarios:

 2020 Existing. Existing volumes were determined through traffic counts at the 
subject intersections. The existing volume information includes trips generated by 
nearby uses.

 2023 No-Build. Existing volumes at the subject intersections were increased by 1.0 
percent per year. In addition, traffic generated by nearby approved residential 
developments were added to determine 2023 No-Build volumes. The 1.0 percent per 
year growth rate was calculated based on both recent growth experienced near the 
site and projected growth in the area.

 2023 Build. Trips generated by the proposed development were added to the 2023 
No-Build volumes to determine 2023 Build volumes.

 2030 No-Build. Existing volumes at the subject intersections were increased by 1.0 
percent per year. In addition, traffic generated by nearby approved residential 
developments were added to determine 2030 No-Build volumes. The 1.0 percent per 
year growth rate was calculated based on recent growth experienced near the site 



May 2020 2-3
\\wenck.local\wenckspace\Vol1\2294-Corcoran\54 Eagle Brook Church\Eagle Brook Report Text May 14th.docx

and projected growth in the area.

 2030 Build. Trips generated by the proposed project and the additional development 
to the west were added to the 2030 No-Build volumes to determine 2030 Build 
volumes.

The expected development trips were determined from detailed attendance information 
provided by Eagle Brook Church. Attendance information from the existing Wayzata High 
School location was analyzed to establish the expected attendance at the proposed location. 
Based on this data and growth estimates for this area, the following attendance estimates 
were developed:

 Wednesday evening – 350 students and 35 adult volunteers
 Saturday services – 840 persons for the 4:00 pm service and 750 persons for the 

6:00 pm service
 Sunday services – 1,200 persons for the 9:00 am service and 1,410 persons for the 

11:00 am service.

Expected vehicle occupancy and entering and exiting percentages were based on data from 
existing Eagle Brook Church locations. The entering and exiting percentages from this data 
were applied to the forecasted vehicle counts, resulting in the trip generation information in 
Tables 1 to 4. 

Table 1. Weekday Peak Hour Trip Generation for Proposed Church
Time Period Trips

In Out
A.M. Peak Hour 20 0
P.M. Peak Hour 0 20

Table 2. Wednesday Evening Trip Generation for Proposed Church
Time Period Trips

In Out
6-7 pm 235 200
9-10 pm 200 235

Table 3. Saturday Trip Generation for Proposed Church
Time Period Trips

In Out
315-330 p.m. 18 0
330-345 p.m. 96 0
345-400 p.m. 261 0
400-415 p.m. 106 0

500-515 p.m. 26 221
515-530 p.m. 95 210
530-545 p.m. 236 35
545-600 p.m. 73 13

700-715 p.m. 0 155
715-730 p.m. 0 223
730-745 p.m. 0 37
745-800 p.m. 0 14



May 2020 2-4
\\wenck.local\wenckspace\Vol1\2294-Corcoran\54 Eagle Brook Church\Eagle Brook Report Text May 14th.docx

Table 4. Sunday Trip Generation for Proposed Church
Time Period Trips

In Out
815-830 a.m. 25 0
830-845 a.m. 137 0
845-900 a.m. 372 0
900-915 a.m. 152 0

1000-1015 a.m. 48 316
1015-1030 a.m. 179 300
1030-1045 a.m. 442 50
1045-1100 a.m. 136 19

1200-1215 p.m. 0 291
1215-1230 p.m. 0 419
1230-1245 p.m. 0 69
1245-100 p.m. 0 27

Trip distribution percentages for the subject development trips were established based on 
information from Church staff. The distribution percentages for trips generated by the 
proposed development are as follows:

 25 percent to/from the north on CSAH 101
 11 percent to/from the east on Hackamore Road
 28 percent to/from the south on CSAH 101
 13 percent to/from the north on CR 116
 4 percent to/from west (of CR 116) on Hackamore Road
 19 percent to/from the south on CR 116

Development trips were assigned to the surrounding roadway network using the preceding 
trip distribution percentages. Traffic volumes were established for all the forecasting 
scenarios described earlier. The resultant traffic volumes are shown in the appendix.

2.6 TRAFFIC ANALYSIS

Traffic analyses were completed for the subject intersections for all scenarios described 
earlier using Synchro software. Year 2020 analysis was completed using existing 
geometrics, control, and signal timing. Year 2023 and 2030 analyses assumed the following 
improvements had been implemented on Hackamore Road:

 CSAH 101/Hackamore Road – East and west approaches expanded to provide one 
left turn lane, one through lane, and one right turn lane

 CR 116/Hackamore Road - East and west approaches expanded to provide one left 
turn lane, one through lane, and one right turn lane

 Hackamore Road/east development access – westbound right turn lane and 
eastbound left turn lane provided

 CSAH 101/right turn access – southbound right turn lane provided

Capacity analysis results are presented in terms of level of service (LOS), which is defined in 
terms of traffic delay at the intersection. LOS ranges from A to F. LOS A represents the best 



May 2020 2-5
\\wenck.local\wenckspace\Vol1\2294-Corcoran\54 Eagle Brook Church\Eagle Brook Report Text May 14th.docx

intersection operation, with little delay for each vehicle using the intersection. LOS F 
represents the worst intersection operation with excessive delay. The following is a detailed 
description of the conditions described by each LOS designation:

 Level of service A corresponds to a free flow condition with motorists virtually 
unaffected by the intersection control mechanism. For a signalized or an unsignalized 
intersection, the average delay per vehicle would be approximately 10 seconds or 
less.

 Level of service B represents stable flow with a high degree of freedom, but with 
some influence from the intersection control device and the traffic volumes. For a 
signalized intersection, the average delay ranges from 10 to 20 seconds. An 
unsignalized intersection would have delays ranging from 10 to 15 seconds for this 
level.

 Level of service C depicts a restricted flow which remains stable, but with significant 
influence from the intersection control device and the traffic volumes. The general 
level of comfort and convenience changes noticeably at this level. The delay ranges 
from 20 to 35 seconds for a signalized intersection and from 15 to 25 seconds for an 
unsignalized intersection at this level.

 Level of service D corresponds to high-density flow in which speed and freedom are 
significantly restricted. Though traffic flow remains stable, reductions in comfort and 
convenience are experienced. The control delay for this level is 35 to 55 seconds for 
a signalized intersection and 25 to 35 seconds for an unsignalized intersection. 

 Level of service E represents unstable flow of traffic at or near the capacity of the 
intersection with poor levels of comfort and convenience. The delay ranges from 55 
to 80 seconds for a signalized intersection and from 35 to 50 seconds for an 
unsignalized intersection at this level.

 Level of service F represents forced flow in which the volume of traffic approaching 
the intersection exceeds the volume that can be served. Characteristics often 
experienced include long queues, stop-and-go waves, poor travel times, low comfort 
and convenience, and increased accident exposure. Delays over 80 seconds for a 
signalized intersection and over 50 seconds for an unsignalized intersection 
correspond to this level of service.

The LOS results for the study intersections are presented in Tables 5 and 6.

Table 5. Level of Service Results without CSAH 101 Access
CSAH 101/
Hackamore

Weekday
AM

Weekday
PM

Wed
6-7
pm

Wed
9-10 
pm

Sat 
315-

415 pm

Sat
5-6
pm

Sat
7-8
pm

Sun 
815-

915 am

Sun 10-
11 am

Sun 12-
1 pm

2020 Existing B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) A (c) B (c)
2023 No-Build B (d) B (d) B (d) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) A (c) B (c)
2023 Build B (d) B (d) B (d) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) C (d) C (c)
2030 No-Build C (d) B (d) C (d) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) C (d) C (c)
2030 Build C (d) B (d) C (d) B (c) B (d) C (c) B (c) B (c) C (d) C (d)
CR 116/
Hackamore
2020 Existing B (c) B (c) B (c) A (c) A (c) A (c) A (c) A (c) A (c) A (c)
2023 No-Build B (d) B (c) B (c) A (c) B (c) A (c) A (c) A (c) A (c) A (c)
2023 Build B (d) B (c) B (d) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (d) B (c)
2030 No-Build B (d) C (d) C (d) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (d) B (c)



May 2020 2-6
\\wenck.local\wenckspace\Vol1\2294-Corcoran\54 Eagle Brook Church\Eagle Brook Report Text May 14th.docx

CSAH 101/
Hackamore

Weekday
AM

Weekday
PM

Wed
6-7
pm

Wed
9-10 
pm

Sat 
315-

415 pm

Sat
5-6
pm

Sat
7-8
pm

Sun 
815-

915 am

Sun 10-
11 am

Sun 12-
1 pm

2030 Build B (d) C (d) C (d) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (d) B (c)
Hackamore/
East access
2023 Build A (a) A (a) A (a) A (a) A (a) A (a) A (a) A (a) A (b) A (a)
2030 Build A (a) A (a) A (a) A (a) A (a) A (a) A (a) A (a) A (b) A (a)
Hackamore/
West access
2023 Build A (a) A (b) A (b) A (b) A (a) A (c) A (b) A (b) F (f) D (e)
2030 Build A (a) A (b) A (b) A (b) A (a) A (c) A (b) A (b) F (f) D (f)

A=Overall intersection LOS, (b) = Worst movement LOS

Table 6. Level of Service Results with CSAH 101 Access
CSAH 101/
Hackamore

Weekday
AM

Weekday
PM

Wed
6-7
pm

Wed
9-10 
pm

Sat 
315-

415 pm

Sat
5-6
pm

Sat
7-8
pm

Sun 
815-

915 am

Sun 10-
11 am

Sun 12-
1 pm

2020 Existing B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) A (c) B (c)
2023 No-Build B (d) B (d) B (d) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) A (c) B (c)
2023 Build B (d) B (d) B (d) B (c) B (c) B (d) B (c) B (c) C (d) B (c)
2030 No-Build C (d) B (d) B (d) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) C (d) C (c)
2030 Build C (d) B (d) B (d) B (c) B (d) B (d) B (c) B (c) C (d) C (c)
CR 116/
Hackamore
2020 Existing B (c) B (c) B (c) A (c) A (c) A (c) A (c) A (c) A (c) A (c)
2023 No-Build B (d) B (c) B (c) A (c) B (c) A (c) A (c) A (c) A (c) A (c)
2023 Build B (d) B (c) B (d) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (d) B (c)
2030 No-Build B (d) C (d) C (d) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (d) B (c)
2030 Build B (d) C (d) C (d) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (c) B (d) B (c)
CSAH 101/
access
2023 Build A (a) A (a) A (b) A (b) A (a) A (b) A (b) A (a) A (b) A (c)
2030 Build A (a) A (a) A (b) A (b) A (a) A (b) A (b) A (a) A (b) A (c)
Hackamore/
East access
2023 Build A (a) A (a) A (a) A (a) A (a) A (a) A (a) A (a) A (b) A (a)
2030 Build A (a) A (a) A (a) A (a) A (a) A (a) A (a) A (a) A (b) A (a)
Hackamore/
West access
2023 Build A (a) A (b) A (b) A (b) A (a) A (b) A (b) A (a) A (c) A (b)
2030 Build A (a) A (b) A (b) A (b) A (a) A (b) A (b) A (a) A (d) A (c)

A=Overall intersection LOS, (b) = Worst movement LOS

As shown in Table 5, all movements and intersections with one exception operate at 
acceptable levels of service under the scenario with no access on CSAH 101. The one 
exception is the Hackamore Road/west access intersection, which operates poorly during 
the Sunday 10-11 am and Sunday 12-1 pm time periods. The poor level of service is due to 
the high volume of exiting traffic during the time periods.

As shown in Table 6, all movements and intersections operate at acceptable levels of service 
under the scenario with access on CSAH 101. Operations at the Hackamore Road/west 
access intersection improve during the Sunday 10-11 am and Sunday 12-1 pm time periods 
because a portion of traffic exits onto CSAH 101 instead of Hackamore Road.

Vehicle queue length impacts at the CSAH 101/Hackamore Road intersection were reviewed 
using the SimTraffic software. The queue length information was developed based on five 
runs of SimTraffic using detailed 15-minute volumes developed for each scenario. The 
SimTraffic simulations were carefully reviewed for all scenarios to determine if any vehicle 
queues on Hackamore Road would impede traffic operations at the Hackamore Road/east 



May 2020 2-7
\\wenck.local\wenckspace\Vol1\2294-Corcoran\54 Eagle Brook Church\Eagle Brook Report Text May 14th.docx

access intersection. Based on the current site plan, this intersection is located 
approximately 600 feet west of CSAH 101. 

Under all scenarios, the longest queue length was 329 feet on the eastbound approach at 
CSAH 101 during the Saturday 5-6 pm time period. All other eastbound queue lengths were 
shorter than 329 feet. Therefore, vehicle queues from the CSAH 101/Hackamore Road 
intersection are not expected to impact the proposed access locations on Hackamore Road.

2.7 FINDINGS

In order to accommodate the 2023 and 2030 traffic volumes presented in this report, we 
recommend implementation of the following improvements:

CSAH 101/Hackamore Road
 Construct left turn and right turn lanes on both the eastbound and westbound 

approaches
 Install updated traffic signal control

Hackamore Road/east development access
 Construct a westbound right turn lane and an eastbound left turn lane

CSAH 101/development access
 We recommend construction of this access on CSAH 101, in order to improve traffic 

operations at the Hackamore Road access locations.
Trail

 A trail is proposed from west boundary of Ravinia to CSAH 101 which is part of the 
overall Hackamore project. 

Other recommendations:

 Recommended that Church staff develop a detailed Traffic and Parking Management 
Plan tailored for the proposed site to ensure efficient traffic and parking operations. 
The plan should include details on temporary traffic control at the access 
intersections, pedestrian accommodations, and parking accommodations. 

 Ravinia has constructed temporary turnarounds and Larkspur and Lupine will be 
connected on the north loop road. For the remaining Goldenrod and 63rd Avenue 
connections, coordination is required for modification to permanent solutions 
meeting City standards with a design goal to minimize the necessary improvements. 
Easements may be required.

2.8 COST ESTIMATES

The cost estimates for the Hackamore project were determined using the plans developed 
by WSB, the engineering firm contracted by the two cities for the preliminary Hackamore 
design plans. Since Hackamore has several developments and small cul de sac access 
points, two options were created for discussion between the cities. Option 1 is a “Continuous 
Three Lane”, where the middle of the road is dedicated to left turns (See Appendix B for 
preliminary layout). This provides straighter alignment for the complete length of 
Hackamore. Option 2 is “Standard Turn Lanes”, where the taper and turn lane are designed 
for each access point, and some road widths are narrower if no turn lane or taper occurs.  

The difference in road surface areas between Option 1 and Option 2 for this length of 
Hackamore road is minimal since the access points of Eagle Brook Church and CSAH 101 



May 2020 2-8
\\wenck.local\wenckspace\Vol1\2294-Corcoran\54 Eagle Brook Church\Eagle Brook Report Text May 14th.docx

turn lanes are all within the length so a “Continuous Third Lane” is very similar to the 
“Standard Turn Lane” design. 

Cost Basis

Cost estimating was done using a Corcoran data base of recently constructed paving 
projects. Bid results for the public turn lane projects have ranged from $80 per square yard 
to a more recent $106 per square yard cost for the pavement work. For this Hackamore 
estimate a bituminous, aggregate and select granular for a recent (2020) street project was 
also utilized resulting in a unit cost of $90 per SY (see Appendix B). 

Construction estimates were from the Eagle Brook West Boundary and the CSAH 101 
intersection and totals were increased by 25% for contingency, engineering, construction 
management, easements, etc. 

Option 1 Continuous Three Lane

Total Square Yards = 10,600 = $954,000

Total Project Estimate = $1.2 M

Option 2  Standard Turn Lane Design

Total Square Yards = 10,240 = $921,600

Total Project Estimate = $1.15 M

Signal

For estimating purposes a cost of $250,00 can be used for new CSAH 101 signals. County 
and other cities participation will be pursued. 

Right In / Right Out

The traffic analysis recommends a Right In / Right Out along CSAH 101 for the facility. The 
County will provide any design approval, however, for cost estimating purposes pavement 
quantity of 600 SY for “right in” and 400 SY improvement for the “right out” were used. 
County may require a center median to ensure the right in/right out movements,  which 
triggers further road widening etc. Therefore, the cost estimate is:

Right in / Right Out-- CSAH 101
 Total Square Yards = 1,000 SY = $90,000
 Used a 2.0 “Multiplier” for site constraints, median, widening, and other unknowns.  

Total Construction = $180,000
Total Estimate = $225,000

Trail Improvements 

A trail along the north side was estimated using $33 / SY for the thinner section of a 
pavement estimate. Trail results are:



May 2020 2-9
\\wenck.local\wenckspace\Vol1\2294-Corcoran\54 Eagle Brook Church\Eagle Brook Report Text May 14th.docx

Eagle Brook West Boundary to CSAH 101 
 Total Square Yards = 2,030 SY = $67,000
 Culvert extension, creek crossing, etc. = $50,000
 Assumes grading and subgrade preparation are done with the development

Total Trail Construction = $117,000
Total Trail Estimate = $150,000



May 2020 3-1
\\wenck.local\wenckspace\Vol1\2294-Corcoran\54 Eagle Brook Church\Eagle Brook Report Text May 14th.docx

3.0 Sewer and Water

3.1 BACKGROUND

The parcel has laterals available from Ravinia and the existing water model was executed 
for pressure and fire flow. Corcoran will eventually have a tower and booster station so the 
analysis was provided for both (No Tower and With Tower). Secondly, it is assumed the 
2020 Trunk Water Main is installed and operating along CR 116 west of Ravinia which 
provides “looping” for the SE corner of Corcoran. Should the City project be delayed 
additional analysis on water modeling is needed. 

3.2 SEWER

The church can be serviced by the laterals installed with Ravinia as follows:

 For “slab on grade” (no basement) construction, either Goldenrod (970.5) or Ravinia 
11th (979.25)

 For a structure with a basement, the Goldenrod stub would be utilized.

Additional information is needed for the land north of the “North Loop”, which may also require 
sewer service. 

3.3 POTENTIAL UPSIZE OF WATER MAIN

Since the proposed land use changed and fire flows are above residential needs, the model 
was executed for 1) connecting to the existing 8-inch stubs and a second analysis 2) 
investigating the benefit achieved by increasing water main size to 12 inch. This would 
require replacing new 8-inch in Ravinia streets with 12-inch diameter pipe further back into 
the Ravinia system.

3.4 MODEL RESULTS

Table 7. Model Results for Water Main Increase and New Tower
No Tower No Tower Future with Tower

Water Main 8” loop 12” loop 8” loop
Fire Flow 1,700 GPM 1,700 GPM 2,900 GPM
Pressure 44 PSI 44 PSI 69 PSI

3.5 SEWER AND WATER FINDINGS

 Sewer service is feasible through the Ravinia development.
 Water model analysis shows that the upsizing to 12-inch (and reconstructing new 

infrastructure) does not provide additional benefit. 
 Looping will be occur between Lupine and Larkspur with the north loop road, and 

 Depending on the final site plan layout, looping for the remaining two water stubs may 
be necessary in accordance with municipal system practices.



May 2020 4-1
\\wenck.local\wenckspace\Vol1\2294-Corcoran\54 Eagle Brook Church\Eagle Brook Report Text May 14th.docx

4.0 Drainage and Water Resources

4.1 STORMWATER MANAGEMENT

Stormwater is manageable for the site and will be subject to City stormwater guidelines, 
wetland regulations and Elm Creek Watershed approval.

 Site drainage is to the southeast and it can be estimated from other developments in 
the west metro with heavy soils, that 3% to 5% of the buildable parcel area would 
be utilized for stormwater management (outside wetland boundaries). This site has 
elevation “drop” which will allow for higher pond storage and result in the lower end 
of the range (3% of buildable area) for an estimate of pond footprint area. 

 Drainage to southeast enters a culvert under Hackamore Road, then is channeled 
back under Hackamore Road from Medina near CR 101. 

 FEMA LOMR (Letter of Map Revision) process is being conducted for Ravinia drainage 
to the west, therefore upstream floodplain elevation will be established with that 
process and is not foreseen to affect this building site. 

 One unique site feature is a heavy duty plastic weir for a pond that drains onto the 
property. The weir was reviewed during Ravinia 11th EOF review and determined 
that access for improvements would occur during redevelopment of the residential 
property. Therefore, the City will coordinate the replacement with Lennar and Eagle 
Brook.

4.2 WETLANDS

Significant wetlands exist and the formal process will need to be followed. It can be noted 
that Corcoran is the LGU for the Wetland Conservation Act and obtained this authority in 
2019.

4.3 FINDINGS

The stormwater shown on the concept plan will be modified during design and approval 
process. 

 City stormwater guidelines will be utilized (see Attachment) that cover flood 
modeling and drainage items. 

 An emergency overflow or diversion culvert conveying stormwater under church’s 
main entrance may be required to protect Hackamore Road during extreme events.

 Replacement / modification of the plastic weir is required.
 Coordination with Hackamore project will be required, this site may provide combined 

benefit for treatment or wetland mitigation. 
 Opportunity may exist for an enhanced water quality treatment project and City would 

assist with leveraging watershed or grant funds. 
 FEMA LOMR process is underway for upstream Ravinia and may include Eagle Brook 

Church drainageway.

 



May 2020 5-1
\\wenck.local\wenckspace\Vol1\2294-Corcoran\54 Eagle Brook Church\Eagle Brook Report Text May 14th.docx

5.0 Financing

5.1 SUMMARY

Financing options of the infrastructure necessary for development and to mitigate impacts 
typically follow the approach of:

 On-site infrastructure is managed by the developer
 Updated (June) 2020 Trunk Line Area Charges for sewer and water (TLAC) will apply.
 Off-site projects are typically managed by the City (engineering, bidding and 

construction management) through a Letter of Credit and escrow process. Typically 
the LOC is posted for the entire project amount, and as bids are opened the 
construction amount is deposited in cash so the City can enter into a construction 
contract and the LOC is reduced. 

The financial package will be further detailed and negotiated as the project moves forward 
and culminates with inclusion in the overall Developer Agreement with the overall 
preliminary plat approval, which is updated for each final plat phase of the development. 



May 2020 6-1
\\wenck.local\wenckspace\Vol1\2294-Corcoran\54 Eagle Brook Church\Eagle Brook Report Text May 14th.docx

6.0 Conclusions and Recommendations

The following infrastructure improvements are feasible and necessary to manage the 
development. These improvements are consistent with similar requirements based on 
infrastructure analysis for other developments in Corcoran 

Overall 

This feasibility study was based on a concept plan shown on Figure 1. Construction plans 
will be reviewed and modified related to stormwater management, utility pipe sizes, 
adjacent property stubs, street connections, pipe inverts, etc.   

Sewer and Water

 Sewer service is feasible through the Ravinia development.
 Water model analysis for the change in use show that the upsizing to 12-inch (and 

reconstructing new infrastructure) does not provide additional benefit, therefore the 
existing 8-inch pipes in Ravinia will be utilized.   

 Looping will be required between Lupine and Larkspur and looping for the remaining two 
stubs will be at City discretion for municipal best practices and determined during 
approval process. 

Transportation

The project impacts require improvements for traffic management as shown in this report 
and summarized below. Corcoran and Medina are beginning a joint project on Hackamore 
road improvements and Eagle Brook Church impacts will be included in the project. 

CSAH 101/Hackamore Road
 Construct left turn and right turn lanes on both the eastbound and westbound 

approaches.
 Install updated traffic signal control.

Hackamore Road/east development access
 Construct a westbound right turn lane and an eastbound left turn lane.

CSAH 101/development access
 We recommend construction of this access on CSAH 101 in order to improve traffic 

operations at the Hackamore Road access locations.

Trail
 A trail is proposed from Ravinia to CSAH 101, which is part of the overall Hackamore 

project.

Traffic Management
 We recommend that Church staff develop a detailed Traffic and Parking Management 

Plan tailored for the proposed site to ensure efficient traffic and parking operations. 
The plan should include details on temporary traffic control at the access 
intersections, pedestrian accommodations, and parking accommodations.



May 2020 6-2
\\wenck.local\wenckspace\Vol1\2294-Corcoran\54 Eagle Brook Church\Eagle Brook Report Text May 14th.docx

Turnarounds
 Ravinia has constructed temporary turnarounds and Larkspur and Lupine will be 

connected on the north loop road. For the remaining Goldenrod and 63rd Avenue 
connections, coordination is required for modification to permanent solutions 
meeting City standards with a design goal to minimize the necessary improvements. 
Easements may be required.

Stormwater and Water Resources 

 On site stormwater management is feasible.
 The Elm Creek Watershed Management Commission’s development rules and 

standards will apply and City stormwater guidelines. 
 City stormwater guidelines will also be utilized (see Attachment).
 Plastic weir on the north edge is required to be replaced as directed by City. 
 An emergency overflow or diversion culvert conveying stormwater under church’s 

main entrance may be required to protect Hackamore Road during extreme events.
 Coordination with Hackamore road improvement project will be required, this site 

may provide combined benefit for road treatment, wetlands or enhanced water 
quality project. Credits in the overall project would be provided. 

 FEMA LOMR process is underway for upstream Ravinia and may include Eagle Brook 
Church drainageway.



Figures

1 Site Plan and Infrastructure Impacts



SINGLE STORY
70,000 SF

1,500 SEATS

WETLAND

WETLAND

WETLAND

WETLAND
STORMWATER
MANAGEMENT

AREA

STORMWATER
MANAGEMENT

AREA

STORMWATER
MANAGEMENT AREA

340 CARS

200 CARS
310 CARS

GOLDENROD TRAFFIC
OR EMERGENCY ACCESS
MAY BE REQUIRED

RAVINIA 11TH TURNAROUD, STORMWATER
EOF AND UTILITY COORDINATION WITH
LENNAR IS NECESSARY.  SEWER INVERT
979.25 AT LARKSPUR IS FEASIBLE FOR AT
GRADE CONSTRUCTION.  CONNECT TO 8''
WATERMAIN IN LARKSPUR

SEWER INVERT IN
LUPINE 994.3,

NOT FEASIBLE FOR
CHURCH SEWER SERVICE

CONNECTION.

SEWER INVERT IN
GOLDENROD 970.5,

IS FEASIBLE FOR
CONNECTION.

8'' WATER FROM
GOLDENROD MAY
LOOP TO LUPINE

8'' WATER
FROM LUPINE

PROPOSED STREET ALIGNMENT

LOOP WATER THROUGH
SITE FROM LUPINE TO LARKSPUR

EXISTING POND WEIR STRUCTURE
NEEDS TO BE STUDIED AND FIX
COORDINATED WITH LENNAR

STORMWATER GOES SOUTH INTO
MEDINA THEN NORTH UNDER

HACKAMORE AND EAST UNDER CR 101

EOF DIVERSION PIPE TO
EAST MAY BE REQUIRED

ENTRYEXIT

PLANNED TRAIL
ON NORTH SIDE
OF HACKAMORE

HACKAMORE , TRAIL AND CR 101
INTERSECTION IMPROVEMENTS
UNDER STUDY WITH MEDINA

PLANNED COUNTY TRAIL
ON WEST SIDE OF CR 101

MODIFY EASTERN
STREET STUB TO

PERMANENT SOLUTION
AND WATER LOOPING

VACATE EXISTING PRIVATE
DRIVEWAY EASEMENT

PROVIDE INFORMATION
FOR DEVELOPMENT

PLAN FOR THIS AREA
NORTH OF LOOP ROAD

COUNTY DETERMINES
CR 101 ACCESS

4567101

12
''

8''

8''

8''

8''

8'
'

63rd Place
North

S
te

ep
le

C
ha

se
La

n
e

County
Road 47

Bridle Pa
th

Lupine Lane

Larkspur
Lane

Goldenrod Trail

Larkspur Cou

rt

C
ou

nt
y 

Ro
ad

 1
01

B
ro

ck
to

n 
La

ne
 N

or
th

Bergamot Drive

Hackamore Road

8'
'

8''
8'

'

8''

8''

8'
'

8'
'

8''

8''

Path: L:\2294\0054\Pro\EagleBrook\EagleBrook.aprx
5/1/2020 4:25 PM     ShuJC0243  Layout: Site Plan and Infrastructure Impacts

Figure 1

MAY 2020

Site Plan and Infrastructure Impacts

CITY OF CORCORAN

¯250 0 250125
Feet



Appendix A

Traffic Volumes



Weekday A.M. Peak Hour Traffic Volumes without CSAH 101 Access
CSAH 101/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 13 143 28 139 44 21 12 134 162 100 467 27
2023 No-Build 13 147 29 143 45 22 12 138 167 103 481 28
2023 Build 13 147 29 143 47 22 17 138 167 103 481 33
2030 No-Build 20 222 43 154 63 23 16 148 179 110 516 39
2030 Build 20 222 43 154 65 23 21 148 179 110 516 44
CR 116/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 17 48 34 58 10 14 1 96 44 48 485 8
2023 No-Build 18 49 35 60 10 14 1 99 45 49 500 8
2023 Build 18 50 35 60 10 14 1 99 49 52 500 8
2030 No-Build 25 71 73 64 43 73 58 208 49 88 595 18
2030 Build 25 72 73 64 43 73 58 208 53 91 595 18
Hackamore/
East access EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2023 Build 8 190 - - 86 12 - - - - - -
2030 Build 8 285 - - 118 12 - - - - - -
Hackamore/
West access
2023 Build - 198 - - 86 - - - - 0 - 0
2030 Build - 293 - - 118 - - - - 0 - 0

Weekday P.M. Peak Hour Traffic Volumes without CSAH 101 Access
CSAH 101/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 27 106 14 119 93 67 42 490 150 34 211 10
2023 No-Build 28 109 14 123 96 69 43 505 155 35 217 10
2023 Build 33 111 19 123 96 69 43 505 155 35 217 10
2030 No-Build 40 155 20 131 161 74 72 541 166 38 233 17
2030 Build 45 157 25 131 161 74 72 541 166 38 233 17
CR 116/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 22 25 19 37 24 51 25 566 94 21 132 14
2023 No-Build 23 26 20 38 25 53 26 583 97 22 136 14
2023 Build 23 26 20 42 26 56 26 583 97 22 136 14
2030 No-Build 30 46 56 41 59 114 85 727 104 58 205 24
2030 Build 30 46 56 45 60 117 85 727 104 58 205 24
Hackamore/
East access EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2023 Build 0 163 - - 149 0 - - - - - -
2030 Build 0 227 - - 250 0 - - - - - -
Hackamore/
West access
2023 Build - 151 - - 149 - - - - 12 - 8
2030 Build - 215 - - 250 - - - - 12 - 8



Wednesday 6-7 P.M. Peak Hour Traffic Volumes without CSAH 101 Access
CSAH 101/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 26 104 14 117 91 66 41 480 147 33 207 10
2023 No-Build 27 107 14 121 94 68 42 495 151 34 213 10
2023 Build 77 129 70 121 120 68 107 495 151 34 213 69
2030 No-Build 34 134 18 129 130 73 58 530 162 36 229 14
2030 Build 84 156 74 129 156 73 123 530 162 36 229 73
CR 116/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 22 25 19 36 24 50 25 555 92 21 129 14
2023 No-Build 23 26 20 37 25 52 26 572 95 22 133 14
2023 Build 23 35 20 75 33 78 26 572 140 53 133 14
2030 No-Build 27 37 39 40 43 84 57 664 102 41 172 20
2030 Build 27 46 39 78 51 110 57 664 147 72 172 20
Hackamore/
East access EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2023 Build 85 276 - - 146 150 - - - - - -
2030 Build 85 314 - - 202 150 - - - - - -
Hackamore/
West access
2023 Build - 233 - - 146 - - - - 128 - 72
2030 Build - 271 - - 202 - - - - 128 - 72

Wednesday 9-10 P.M. Peak Hour Traffic Volumes without CSAH 101 Access
CSAH 101/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 7 41 7 43 23 15 9 103 51 22 112 6
2023 No-Build 7 42 7 44 24 15 9 106 53 23 115 6
2023 Build 66 68 72 44 46 15 65 106 53 23 115 56
2030 No-Build 9 49 9 47 31 17 13 114 56 24 124 8
2030 Build 68 75 74 47 53 17 69 114 56 24 124 58
CR 116/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 7 12 9 16 6 11 4 109 23 12 102 4
2023 No-Build 7 12 9 16 9 11 4 112 24 12 105 4
2023 Build 7 20 9 61 15 42 4 112 62 38 105 4
2030 No-Build 9 15 14 18 10 18 10 130 25 17 119 5
2030 Build 9 23 14 63 19 49 10 130 63 43 119 5
Hackamore/
East access EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2023 Build 72 207 - - 39 128 - - - - - -
2030 Build 72 216 - - 51 128 - - - - - -
Hackamore/
West access
2023 Build - 129 - - 39 - - - - 150 - 85
2030 Build - 138 - - 51 - - - - 150 - 85



Saturday 315-415 P.M. Peak Hour Traffic Volumes without CSAH 101 Access
CSAH 101/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 14 86 14 89 48 30 19 215 108 46 234 13
2023 No-Build 14 89 14 92 49 31 20 222 111 47 241 13
2023 Build 14 89 14 92 102 31 154 222 111 47 241 133
2030 No-Build 16 99 16 98 59 33 24 237 119 51 258 15
2030 Build 16 99 16 98 112 33 158 237 119 51 258 135
CR 116/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 14 26 19 33 12 23 9 228 48 24 213 8
2023 No-Build 14 27 20 34 12 24 9 235 49 25 219 8
2023 Build 14 46 20 34 12 24 9 235 49 25 219 8
2030 No-Build 16 31 25 36 16 31 16 262 53 31 241 10
2030 Build 16 50 25 36 16 31 16 262 144 94 241 10
Hackamore/
East access EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2023 Build 173 117 - - 82 307 - - - - - -
2030 Build 173 131 - - 97 307 - - - - - -
Hackamore/
West access
2023 Build - 290 - - 82 - - - - 0 - 0
2030 Build - 304 - - 97 - - - - 0 - 0

Saturday 5-6 P.M. Peak Hour Traffic Volumes without CSAH 101 Access
CSAH 101/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 14 86 14 89 48 30 19 215 108 46 234 13
2023 No-Build 14 89 14 92 49 31 20 222 111 47 241 13
2023 Build 134 142 148 92 96 31 140 222 111 47 241 120
2030 No-Build 16 99 16 98 59 33 24 237 119 51 258 15
2030 Build 136 152 150 98 106 33 144 237 119 51 258 122
CR 116/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 14 26 19 33 12 23 9 228 48 24 213 8
2023 No-Build 14 27 20 34 12 24 9 235 49 25 219 8
2023 Build 14 44 20 125 31 87 9 235 131 81 219 8
2030 No-Build 16 31 25 36 16 31 16 262 53 31 241 10
2030 Build 16 48 25 127 35 95 16 262 135 87 241 10
Hackamore/
East access EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2023 Build 155 424 - - 82 274 - - - - - -
2030 Build 155 438 - - 97 274 - - - - - -
Hackamore/
West access
2023 Build - 272 - - 82 - - - - 307 - 173
2030 Build - 286 - - 97 - - - - 307 - 173



Saturday 7-8 P.M. Peak Hour Traffic Volumes without CSAH 101 Access
CSAH 101/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 11 66 11 68 37 23 14 165 83 36 180 10
2023 No-Build 11 68 11 70 38 24 14 170 86 37 185 10
2023 Build 118 115 131 70 38 24 14 170 86 37 185 10
2030 No-Build 13 77 13 75 47 25 18 182 92 40 199 12
2030 Build 120 124 133 75 47 25 18 182 92 40 199 12
CR 116/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 11 20 14 25 9 17 7 175 37 19 164 6
2023 No-Build 11 21 14 26 9 18 7 180 38 20 169 6
2023 Build 11 21 14 108 26 74 7 180 38 20 169 6
2030 No-Build 13 24 19 28 13 25 14 203 41 25 187 8
2030 Build 13 24 19 110 30 81 14 203 41 25 187 8
Hackamore/
East access EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2023 Build 0 365 - - 63 0 - - - - - -
2030 Build 0 376 - - 76 0 - - - - - -
Hackamore/
West access
2023 Build - 91 - - 63 - - - - 274 - 155
2030 Build - 102 - - 76 - - - - 274 - 155

Sunday 815-915 A.M. Peak Hour Traffic Volumes without CSAH 101 Access
CSAH 101/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 5 29 5 30 16 10 6 72 36 15 78 4
2023 No-Build 5 30 5 31 16 10 6 74 37 15 80 4
2023 Build 5 30 5 31 92 10 198 74 37 15 80 176
2030 No-Build 7 36 7 33 24 11 10 80 40 17 86 5
2030 Build 7 36 7 33 100 11 202 80 40 17 86 177
CR 116/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 5 9 6 11 4 8 3 76 16 8 71 3
2023 No-Build 5 9 6 11 4 8 3 78 16 8 73 3
2023 Build 5 36 6 11 4 8 3 78 146 97 73 3
2030 No-Build 7 12 11 12 7 15 9 94 18 13 84 4
2030 Build 7 39 11 12 7 15 9 94 148 102 84 4
Hackamore/
East access EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2023 Build 246 40 - - 27 440 - - - - - -
2030 Build 246 48 - - 38 440 - - - - - -
Hackamore/
West access
2023 Build - 286 - - 27 - - - - 0 - 0
2030 Build - 294 - - 38 - - - - 0 - 0



Sunday 1000-1100 A.M. Peak Hour Traffic Volumes without CSAH 101 Access
CSAH 101/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 9 58 10 59 32 20 12 144 72 31 156 9
2023 No-Build 9 60 10 61 33 21 12 148 74 32 161 9
2023 Build 181 136 202 61 122 21 238 148 74 32 161 210
2030 No-Build 11 68 12 65 41 22 16 159 80 34 172 11
2030 Build 183 144 204 65 130 22 242 159 80 34 172 212
CR 116/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 9 17 12 22 8 15 6 152 32 16 142 5
2023 No-Build 9 18 12 23 8 15 6 157 33 16 146 5
2023 Build 9 50 12 153 35 104 6 157 186 121 146 5
2030 No-Build 11 21 17 24 12 23 13 178 35 22 163 7
2030 Build 11 53 17 154 39 112 13 178 188 127 163 7
Hackamore/
East access EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2023 Build 290 519 - - 55 516 - - - - - -
2030 Build 290 530 - - 68 516 - - - - - -
Hackamore/
West access
2023 Build - 369 - - 55 - - - - 440 - 246
2030 Build - 380 - - 68 - - - - 440 - 246

Sunday 1200-100 P.M. Peak Hour Traffic Volumes without CSAH 101 Access
CSAH 101/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 13 81 14 84 45 29 19 203 101 44 220 12
2023 No-Build 13 83 14 87 46 30 19 209 104 45 227 12
2023 Build 214 172 240 87 46 30 19 209 104 45 227 12
2030 No-Build 15 93 16 93 56 32 23 224 112 49 243 14
2030 Build 216 182 242 93 56 32 23 224 112 49 243 14
CR 116/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 13 24 18 31 11 21 8 215 45 23 201 7
2023 No-Build 13 25 19 32 11 22 8 222 46 24 207 7
2023 Build 13 25 19 185 43 127 8 222 46 24 207 7
2030 No-Build 15 29 24 34 15 29 15 247 50 29 228 9
2030 Build 15 29 24 187 47 134 15 247 50 29 228 9
Hackamore/
East access EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2023 Build 0 627 - - 77 0 - - - - - -
2030 Build 0 640 - - 92 0 - - - - - -
Hackamore/
West access
2023 Build - 111 - - 77 - - - - 516 - 290
2030 Build - 124 - - 92 - - - - 516 - 290



Weekday A.M. Peak Hour Traffic Volumes with CSAH 101 Access
CSAH 101/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 13 143 28 139 44 21 12 134 162 100 467 27
2023 No-Build 13 147 29 143 45 22 12 138 167 103 481 28
2023 Build 13 147 29 143 47 22 17 138 167 103 481 28
2030 No-Build 20 222 43 154 63 23 16 148 179 110 516 39
2030 Build 20 222 43 154 65 23 21 148 179 110 516 39
CR 116/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 17 48 34 58 10 14 1 96 44 48 485 8
2023 No-Build 18 49 35 60 10 14 1 99 45 49 500 8
2023 Build 18 50 35 60 10 14 1 99 49 52 500 8
2030 No-Build 25 71 73 64 43 73 58 208 49 88 595 18
2030 Build 25 72 73 64 43 73 58 208 53 91 595 18
CSAH 101/
access EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2023 Build - - 0 - - - - 173 - - 612 5
2030 Build - - 0 - - - - 192 - - 665 5
Hackamore/
East access EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2023 Build 8 190 - - 86 7 - - - - - -
2030 Build 8 285 - - 118 7 - - - - - -
Hackamore/
West access
2023 Build - 198 - - 86 - - - - 0 - 0
2030 Build - 293 - - 118 - - - - 0 - 0

Weekday P.M. Peak Hour Traffic Volumes with CSAH 101 Access
CSAH 101/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 27 106 14 119 93 67 42 490 150 34 211 10
2023 No-Build 28 109 14 123 96 69 43 505 155 35 217 10
2023 Build 32 110 15 123 96 69 43 505 155 37 221 10
2030 No-Build 40 155 20 131 161 74 72 541 166 38 233 17
2030 Build 44 156 21 131 161 74 72 541 166 40 237 17
CR 116/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 22 25 19 37 24 51 25 566 94 21 132 14
2023 No-Build 23 26 20 38 25 53 26 583 97 22 136 14
2023 Build 23 26 20 42 26 56 26 583 97 22 136 14
2030 No-Build 30 46 56 41 59 114 85 727 104 58 205 24
2030 Build 30 46 56 45 60 117 85 727 104 58 205 24
CSAH 101/
access EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2023 Build - - 6 - - - - 606 - - 263 0
2030 Build - - 6 - - - - 659 - - 288 0
Hackamore/
East access EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2023 Build 0 157 - - 149 0 - - - - - -
2030 Build 0 221 - - 250 0 - - - - - -
Hackamore/
West access
2023 Build - 151 - - 149 - - - - 6 - 8
2030 Build - 215 - - 250 - - - - 6 - 8



Wednesday 6-7 P.M. Peak Hour Traffic Volumes with CSAH 101 Access
CSAH 101/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 26 104 14 117 91 66 41 480 147 33 207 10
2023 No-Build 27 107 14 121 94 68 42 495 151 34 213 10
2023 Build 65 117 32 121 120 68 107 495 151 58 251 10
2030 No-Build 34 134 18 129 130 73 58 530 162 36 229 14
2030 Build 72 144 36 129 156 73 123 530 162 60 267 14
CR 116/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 22 25 19 36 24 50 25 555 92 21 129 14
2023 No-Build 23 26 20 37 25 52 26 572 95 22 133 14
2023 Build 23 35 20 75 33 78 26 572 140 53 133 14
2030 No-Build 27 37 39 40 43 84 57 664 102 41 172 20
2030 Build 27 46 39 78 51 110 57 664 147 72 172 20
CSAH 101/
access EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2023 Build - - 62 - - - - 627 - - 258 59
2030 Build - - 62 - - - - 675 - - 279 59
Hackamore/
East access EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2023 Build 85 214 - - 146 91 - - - - - -
2030 Build 85 252 - - 202 91 - - - - - -
Hackamore/
West access
2023 Build - 233 - - 146 - - - - 66 - 72
2030 Build - 271 - - 202 - - - - 66 - 72

Wednesday 9-10 P.M. Peak Hour Traffic Volumes with CSAH 101 Access
CSAH 101/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 7 41 7 43 23 15 9 103 51 22 112 6
2023 No-Build 7 42 7 44 24 15 9 106 53 23 115 6
2023 Build 52 54 27 44 46 15 65 106 53 51 160 6
2030 No-Build 9 49 9 47 31 17 13 114 56 24 124 8
2030 Build 54 61 29 47 53 17 69 114 56 52 469 8
CR 116/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 7 12 9 16 6 11 4 109 23 12 102 4
2023 No-Build 7 12 9 16 9 11 4 112 24 12 105 4
2023 Build 7 20 9 61 15 42 4 112 62 38 105 4
2030 No-Build 9 15 14 18 10 18 10 130 25 17 119 5
2030 Build 9 23 14 63 19 49 10 130 63 43 119 5
CSAH 101/
access EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2023 Build - - 73 - - - - 174 - - 144 50
2030 Build - - 73 - - - - 184 - - 156 50
Hackamore/
East access EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2023 Build 72 134 - - 39 78 - - - - - -
2030 Build 72 143 - - 51 78 - - - - - -
Hackamore/
West access
2023 Build - 129 - - 39 - - - - 77 - 85
2030 Build - 138 - - 51 - - - - 77 - 85



Saturday 315-415 P.M. Peak Hour Traffic Volumes with CSAH 101 Access
CSAH 101/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 14 86 14 89 48 30 19 215 108 46 234 13
2023 No-Build 14 89 14 92 49 31 20 222 111 47 241 13
2023 Build 14 89 14 92 102 31 154 222 111 47 241 13
2030 No-Build 16 99 16 98 59 33 24 237 119 51 258 15
2030 Build 16 99 16 98 112 33 158 237 119 51 258 15
CR 116/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 14 26 19 33 12 23 9 228 48 24 213 8
2023 No-Build 14 27 20 34 12 24 9 235 49 25 219 8
2023 Build 14 46 20 34 12 24 9 235 49 25 219 8
2030 No-Build 16 31 25 36 16 31 16 262 53 31 241 10
2030 Build 16 50 25 36 16 31 16 262 144 94 241 10
CSAH 101/
access EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2023 Build - - 0 - - - - 267 - - 302 120
2030 Build - - 0 - - - - 287 - - 325 120
Hackamore/
East access EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2023 Build 173 117 - - 82 187 - - - - - -
2030 Build 173 131 - - 97 187 - - - - - -
Hackamore/
West access
2023 Build - 290 - - 82 - - - - 0 - 0
2030 Build - 304 - - 97 - - - - 0 - 0

Saturday 5-6 P.M. Peak Hour Traffic Volumes with CSAH 101 Access
CSAH 101/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 14 86 14 89 48 30 19 215 108 46 234 13
2023 No-Build 14 89 14 92 49 31 20 222 111 47 241 13
2023 Build 105 113 57 92 96 31 140 222 111 105 332 13
2030 No-Build 16 99 16 98 59 33 24 237 119 51 258 15
2030 Build 107 123 59 98 106 33 144 237 119 109 349 15
CR 116/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 14 26 19 33 12 23 9 228 48 24 213 8
2023 No-Build 14 27 20 34 12 24 9 235 49 25 219 8
2023 Build 14 44 20 125 31 87 9 235 131 81 219 8
2030 No-Build 16 31 25 36 16 31 16 262 53 31 241 10
2030 Build 16 48 25 127 35 95 16 262 135 87 241 10
CSAH 101/
access EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2023 Build - - 149 - - - - 358 - - 302 107
2030 Build - - 149 - - - - 378 - - 325 107
Hackamore/
East access EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2023 Build 155 275 - - 82 167 - - - - - -
2030 Build 155 289 - - 97 167 - - - - - -
Hackamore/
West access
2023 Build - 272 - - 82 - - - - 158 - 173
2030 Build - 286 - - 97 - - - - 158 - 173



Saturday 7-8 P.M. Peak Hour Traffic Volumes with CSAH 101 Access
CSAH 101/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 11 66 11 68 37 23 14 165 83 36 180 10
2023 No-Build 11 68 11 70 38 24 14 170 86 37 185 10
2023 Build 92 89 50 70 38 24 14 170 86 89 266 10
2030 No-Build 13 77 13 75 47 25 18 182 92 40 199 12
2030 Build 94 98 52 75 47 25 18 182 92 92 280 12
CR 116/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 11 20 14 25 9 17 7 175 37 19 164 6
2023 No-Build 11 21 14 26 9 18 7 180 38 20 169 6
2023 Build 11 21 14 108 26 74 7 180 38 20 169 6
2030 No-Build 13 24 19 28 13 25 14 203 41 25 187 8
2030 Build 13 24 19 110 30 81 14 203 41 25 187 8
CSAH 101/
access EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2023 Build - - 133 - - - - 286 - - 233 0
2030 Build - - 133 - - - - 302 - - 251 0
Hackamore/
East access EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2023 Build 0 232 - - 63 0 - - - - - -
2030 Build 0 243 - - 75 0 - - - - - -
Hackamore/
West access
2023 Build - 91 - - 63 - - - - 141 - 155
2030 Build - 102 - - 76 - - - - 141 - 155

Sunday 815-915 A.M. Peak Hour Traffic Volumes with CSAH 101 Access
CSAH 101/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 5 29 5 30 16 10 6 72 36 15 78 4
2023 No-Build 5 30 5 31 16 10 6 74 37 15 80 4
2023 Build 5 30 5 31 92 10 198 74 37 15 80 4
2030 No-Build 7 36 7 33 24 11 10 80 40 17 86 5
2030 Build 7 36 7 33 100 11 202 80 40 17 86 5
CR 116/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 5 9 6 11 4 8 3 76 16 8 71 3
2023 No-Build 5 9 6 11 4 8 3 78 16 8 73 3
2023 Build 5 36 6 11 4 8 3 78 146 97 73 3
2030 No-Build 7 12 11 12 7 15 9 94 18 13 84 4
2030 Build 7 39 11 12 7 15 9 94 148 102 84 4
CSAH 101/
access EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2023 Build - - 0 - - - - 90 - - 100 172
2030 Build - - 0 - - - - 97 - - 108 172
Hackamore/
East access EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2023 Build 246 40 - - 27 268 - - - - - -
2030 Build 246 48 - - 38 268 - - - - - -
Hackamore/
West access
2023 Build - 286 - - 27 - - - - 0 - 0
2030 Build - 294 - - 38 - - - - 0 - 0



Sunday 1000-1100 A.M. Peak Hour Traffic Volumes with CSAH 101 Access
CSAH 101/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 9 58 10 59 32 20 12 144 72 31 156 9
2023 No-Build 9 60 10 61 33 21 12 148 74 32 161 9
2023 Build 139 95 72 61 122 21 238 148 74 115 291 9
2030 No-Build 11 68 12 65 41 22 16 159 80 34 172 11
2030 Build 141 103 74 65 130 22 242 159 80 117 302 11
CR 116/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 9 17 12 22 8 15 6 152 32 16 142 5
2023 No-Build 9 18 12 23 8 15 6 157 33 16 146 5
2023 Build 9 50 12 153 35 104 6 157 186 121 146 5
2030 No-Build 11 21 17 24 12 23 13 178 35 22 163 7
2030 Build 11 53 17 154 39 112 13 178 188 127 163 7
CSAH 101/
access EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2023 Build - - 213 - - - - 308 - - 202 201
2030 Build - - 213 - - - - 322 - - 218 201
Hackamore/
East access EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2023 Build 290 306 - - 55 315 - - - - - -
2030 Build 290 317 - - 68 315 - - - - - -
Hackamore/
West access
2023 Build - 369 - - 55 - - - - 227 - 246
2030 Build - 380 - - 68 - - - - 227 - 246

Sunday 1200-100 P.M. Peak Hour Traffic Volumes with CSAH 101 Access
CSAH 101/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 13 81 14 84 45 29 19 203 101 44 220 12
2023 No-Build 13 83 14 87 46 30 19 209 104 45 227 12
2023 Build 165 124 87 87 46 30 19 209 104 142 380 12
2030 No-Build 15 93 16 93 56 32 23 224 112 49 243 14
2030 Build 167 134 89 93 56 32 23 224 112 146 396 14
CR 116/
Hackamore EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2020 Existing 13 24 18 31 11 21 8 215 45 23 201 7
2023 No-Build 13 25 19 32 11 22 8 222 46 24 207 7
2023 Build 13 25 19 185 43 127 8 222 46 24 207 7
2030 No-Build 15 29 24 34 15 29 15 247 50 29 228 9
2030 Build 15 29 24 187 47 134 15 247 50 29 228 9
CSAH 101/
access EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2023 Build - - 250 - - - - 404 - - 284 -
2030 Build - - 250 - - - - 424 - - 306 -
Hackamore/
East access EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
2023 Build 0 377 - - 77 0 - - - - - -
2030 Build 0 390 - - 92 0 - - - - - -
Hackamore/
West access
2023 Build - 111 - - 77 - - - - 266 - 290
2030 Build - 124 - - 92 - - - - 266 - 290



Appendix B

Preliminary Hackamore Design for Two Options



ROADWAY COSTS PER SQUARE YARD

Depth
(IN) Conversion Conversion

Units Unit Qty / SY Unit Price Total Price /
SY

Common Excavation 36.5 - - CU YD 1.01 $ 12.00 $ 12.17

Bituminous Pavement - Road 6.5 120 LB/SY-IN TON 0.39 $ 70.00 $ 27.30

Aggregate Base - Road 12 115 LB/SY-IN TON 0.69 $ 18.00 $ 12.42

Select Granular - Road 18 115 LB/SY-IN TON 1.04 $ 18.00 $ 18.63

Geotextile - Road - - - SQ YD 1.00 $ 3.00 $ 3.00

Striping - - - LIN FT 1.00 $ 1.00 $ 1.00

SUBTOTAL COST / SY $ 75.00

Mobilization, Traffic, Removals $ 7.50

Other $ 7.50

TOTAL COST / SY $ 90.00

TRAIL COSTS PER SQUARE YARD

Depth
(IN) Conversion Conversion

Units Unit Qty / SY Unit Price Total Price /
SY

Common Excavation 9 - - CU YD 0.25 $ 12.00 $ 3.00
Bituminous Pavement - Trail 3 120 LB/SY-IN TON 0.18 $ 90.00 $ 16.20
Aggregate Base - Trail 6 115 LB/SY-IN TON 0.35 $ 20.00 $ 6.90

SUBTOTAL COST / SY $ 27.00
Mobilization, Traffic, Removals $ 2.70

Other $ 2.70
TOTAL COST / SY $ 32.40
ROUNDED VALUE $ 33.00



100+00 105+00 110+00 115+00 120+00 125+00 130+00 135+00 140+00 145+00 150+00 155+00 160+00 165+00
170+00

175+00

C
TY

 R
O

AD
 1

16

H
AC

KA
M

O
R

E 
C

IR
C

LE

H
U

N
TE

R
 R

O
AD

ST
EE

PL
E 

CH
AS

E 
RD

BE
RG

AM
O

T 
DR

IV
E

C
TY

 R
O

AD
 1

01

FO
XB

ER
RY

 D
RI

VE

FU
TU

R
E

D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T

STA 167+14.88, 0.00'
COUNTY ROAD 101

STA 145+25.03, 0.00'
STEEPLE CHASE ROAD

STA 145+12.85, 0.00'
BERGAMOT DRIVE

STA 136+86.43, 0.00'
HUNTER ROAD

STA 130+65.02, 0.00'
HACKAMORE CIRCLE

STA 121+63.93, 0.00'
FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

STA 111+68.19, 0.00'
FOXBERRY DRIVE

STA 103+97.19, 0.00' RT
MEDINA LAKE DRIVE

STA 114+17.16, 0.00'
COUNTY ROAD 116

100+00 105+00 110+00 115+00 120+00 125+00 130+00 135+00 140+00 145+00 150+00 155+00 160+00 165+00
170+00

175+00

C
TY

 R
O

AD
 1

16

H
AC

KA
M

O
R

E 
C

IR
C

LE

H
U

N
TE

R
 R

O
AD

ST
EE

PL
E 

CH
AS

E 
RD

BE
RG

AM
O

T 
DR

IV
E

C
TY

 R
O

AD
 1

01

FO
XB

ER
RY

 D
RI

VE

FU
TU

R
E

D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T

STA 167+14.88, 0.00'
COUNTY ROAD 101

STA 145+25.03, 0.00'
STEEPLE CHASE ROAD

STA 145+12.85, 0.00'
BERGAMOT DRIVE

STA 136+86.43, 0.00'
HUNTER ROAD

STA 130+65.02, 0.00'
HACKAMORE CIRCLE

STA 121+63.93, 0.00'
FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

STA 111+68.19, 0.00'
FOXBERRY DRIVE

STA 103+97.19, 0.00' RT
MEDINA LAKE DRIVE

STA 114+17.16, 0.00'
COUNTY ROAD 116

WSB PROJECT NO.:

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

N
O

.
D

AT
E

D
ES

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

SCALE:

PLAN BY:

DESIGN BY:

CHECK BY:

I H
ER

EB
Y 

C
ER

TI
FY

 T
H

AT
 T

H
IS

 P
LA

N
, S

PE
C

IF
IC

AT
IO

N
,

O
R

 R
EP

O
R

T 
W

AS
 P

R
EP

AR
ED

 B
Y 

M
E 

O
R

 U
N

D
ER

 M
Y

D
IR

EC
T 

SU
PE

R
VI

SI
O

N
 A

N
D

 T
H

AT
 I 

AM
 A

 D
U

LY
LI

C
EN

SE
D

 P
R

O
FE

SS
IO

N
AL

 E
N

G
IN

EE
R

 U
N

D
ER

 T
H

E
LA

W
S 

O
F 

TH
E 

ST
AT

E 
O

F 
M

IN
N

ES
O

TA
.

LI
C

. N
O

:
D

AT
E:

R-015661-000

AS SHOWN

GMD

GMD

JLS

4/
27

/2
02

0

H
AC

KA
M

O
R

E 
R

O
AD

 IM
PR

O
VE

M
EN

T 
PR

O
JE

C
T

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
M

ED
IN

A
C

IT
Y 

O
F 

C
O

R
C

O
R

AN

OPTION 1
AND

OPTION 2

K
:
\
0
1
5
6
6
1
-
0
0
0
\
C
a
d
\
P
l
a
n
\
0
1
5
6
6
1
-
0
0
0
-
C
-
S
T
R
T
-
P
L
A
N

_
r
o
l
l
_
C
O

M
P
A
R
E
.
d
w

g
 
4
/
2
7
/
2
0
2
0
 
1
1
:
2
9
:
1
1
 
A
M

SCALE        IN           FEET

0
H:

50 100

N

SCALE        IN           FEET

0
H:

50 100

N

HACKAMORE ROAD - OPTION 2 HACKAMORE ROAD - OPTION 2 HACKAMORE ROAD - OPTION 2 HACKAMORE ROAD - OPTION 2

SCALE        IN           FEET

0
H:

50 100

N

SCALE        IN           FEET

0
H:

50 100

N

M
ED

IN
A 

LA
KE

 D
R

IV
E

HACKAMORE ROAD - OPTION 1 HACKAMORE ROAD - OPTION 1 HACKAMORE ROAD - OPTION 1 HACKAMORE ROAD - OPTION 1

SCALE        IN           FEET

0
H:

50 100

N

SCALE        IN           FEET

0
H:

50 100

N

SCALE        IN           FEET

0
H:

50 100

N

SCALE        IN           FEET

0
H:

50 100

N

 BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT

BITUMINOUS TRAIL

BOULEVARD TURF/LANDSCAPING

PAVEMENT MARKINGS

 BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT

BITUMINOUS TRAIL

BOULEVARD TURF/LANDSCAPING

PAVEMENT MARKINGS

 BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT

BITUMINOUS TRAIL

BOULEVARD TURF/LANDSCAPING

PAVEMENT MARKINGS

 BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT

BITUMINOUS TRAIL

BOULEVARD TURF/LANDSCAPING

PAVEMENT MARKINGS



Appendix C

Stormwater Modeling Guidelines



Stormwater Guidelines for Development
March 2019

Issue

Cities changing from rural to urban development are challenged by the additional stormwater 
generated due to construction of impervious surfaces, along with the offsite infrastructure, or 
lack thereof, to manage effectively. To standardize the modeling and review process, the 
guidelines below were created for efficiency. 

Note: A watershed approval is required per Elm Creek WMO rules, which also reviews flow 
rates, water quality and volume management.

Modeling

Watershed Information
 Provide an aerial photo of the development that includes the overall watershed and 

subwatershed boundaries
 Provide a summary of the acreage to each discharge point leaving the site. Any increase 

(or decrease) shall be identified. 
 Show any floodplain adjacent to project or within the project
 Show downstream water bodies and flow paths 

o Downstream flow paths and water bodies typically need to have elevations, 
inverts, and condition identified. 

Subwatersheds  
A HydroCAD model (typically used) has inputs that can vary by user. To minimize resubmittals, 
review time and effort, the following data shall be utilized. 

 Electronic model shall be submitted
 Hydrologic Soil Group (HSG) shall be lowered one category due to the mass grading and 

compaction of the soils. For example, an existing B soil, shall be modeled as a proposed 
C soil (unless it remains undisturbed)

 Wetlands, filtration basins, and ponds shall be modeled at CN of 98 
 Identify peak rates for storm events and proposed shall be equal or less than existing 

rates. 
o Note: There are certain conditions where at City’s discretion the off-site 

conditions require a reduction in flow rate from existing rates. 
 SWMM (i.e. EPA-, XP-, or PC-) models can be submitted for review, however these 

increase review time. 

Model Setup for Outlet Control Structures, NWLs and Infiltration
 The model’s flow control structures (OCS, culverts, etc.) shall match the construction 

plan information. During the plan and model review both may be modified and revised
 Individual detail plates are required for each OCS, and individual plates shall have 

inverts identified
 A pond or wetland NWL (and model starting elevation) shall be set at the constructed 

outlet control elevation. 
o No live storage shall be utilized below the controlling OCS elevation. 
o No live storage shall be used for filtration shelves on ponds below controlling OCS 

elevation



2
 T:\2294-Corcoran\33-Pulte Homes\Stormwater Modeling Guidelines for Development.docx

 If a pond or wetland has an NWL (wet surface), infiltration shall not be used in flood 
routing. 

 If a pond has filtration BMP causing drawdown below the NWL, this drawdown elevation 
shall not be used as the NWL for flood routing. (Filtration has a slower release time and 
during wet periods is not available as live storage). 

Construction Plans 

Catch Basins
 Street drainage shall be sufficient to manage the 10-year event
 Typical a CB inlet capacity is 2 to 2.5 CFS, and CBs shall be spaced accordingly
 Three inches (0.25 feet) of head on a CB will inundate a street centerline (2% slope). 
 Spacing is 200 to 250 feet using longitudinal street dimensions of 40 feet from road 

centerline to half the house footprint (assumes rear half of house drains to rear yard). 
Dimensions equal 10,000 SF. 

 CBs may be required on both sides of ped ramps to capture flows 

Natural Drainage Features
 Waterbodies receiving urban drainage (wetlands, ditches, gullies) may need to have 

OCS installed, erosion protection, or reduced flow rates to allow the feature to function 
over the long term due to more consistent flows from increased impervious via 
development

 Offsite work may be necessary and City will assist with coordination, easements, etc. 

HWLs and EOFs 
 The freeboard requirements are: 

o Low Opening is a minimum of two feet above the HWL
o Low Opening is a minimum of two feet above the EOF  

 EOFs shall be accurately shown and as builts are required. The highest point shall be the 
EOF (for example top of curb) since this is the controlling elevation

o In certain instances, channel calculations of the swale may be required to show 
the EOF has capacity to manage estimated flow

 Overland EOFs are preferred, however if a second pipe serves as an EOF then modeling 
will include a 100-year event using the second pipe (EOF) as the only outlet (primary 
outlet plugged). 

Rear Yards
 Rear yards or swales less than 2% shall have draintile. Typically, every two to three lots 

will require rear yard CBs.    

Sump Connections
 Houses adjoining a wetland or pond do not need individual sump connection
 Others will have access to rear yard stormsewer. 

Offsite Impacts

Adjacent Parcels
 City will review adjacent parcels (downstream and upstream) for impacts from volume, 

point discharge, etc. and may require off site improvements. City will assist in 
coordination of any off site work. 

 Off site water quality improvement projects may be determined by the City for 
assistance with compliance with City’s TMDL approach of implementing improvements 
upon development. 

 FEMA modifications may be necessary due to development and implemented by City.    



Toll Free: 800-472-2232   Email: wenckmp@wenck.com   Web: wenck.com









GENERAL NOTES
07/11/2017

1. THE ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS SHOW PRINCIPAL AREAS AND LIMITS OF 
CONSTRUCTION WHERE WORK MUST BE ACCOMPLISHED UNDER THIS CONTRACT. 
INCIDENTAL WORK MAY BE NECESSARY IN AREAS NOT SHOWN ON ARCHITECTURAL 
DRAWINGS DUE TO CHANGES AFFECTING ELECTRICAL, MECHANICAL, AND PLUMBING 
ALONG WITH OTHER SYSTEMS. THIS INCIDENTAL WORK SHALL BE PART OF THIS 
CONTRACT, AND ALL TRADES SHALL INSPECT THESE AREAS, ASCERTAIN WORK 
REQUIRED, AND DO THE WORK IN ACCORDANCE OF CONTRACT REQUIREMENTS AT NO 
ADDITIONAL COST.

2. CONTRACTORS SHALL VISIT THE SITE DURING BIDDING TO BECOME FAMILIAR WITH THE 
EXISTING CONDITIONS. THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL LOCATE, INSPECT, AND 
FIELD VERIFY EXISTING CONDITIONS, DIMENSIONS, AND ELEVATIONS PRIOR TO 
DEMOLITION AND CONSTRUCTION. NOTIFY ARCHITECT IMMEDIATELY OF ANY 
DISCREPANCIES.

3. DO NOT SCALE DRAWINGS. NOTIFY ARCHITECT IMMEDIATELY OF ANY DISCREPANCIES.

4. WHEREVER OPENINGS ARE CUT THROUGH FIRE RATED PARTITIONS, IT SHALL BE THE 
RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR FOR WHOM THE HOLE IS CUT TO PATCH AND 
REPAIR ANY OPENING TO MAINTAIN THE INTEGRITY OF THE FIRE RATING.

5. GENERAL CONTRACTOR TO CHECK MECHANICAL DRAWINGS FOR EXISTING PIPES AND 
DUCTS FURRED IN WALLS. VERIFY SIZE AND LOCATION WITH MECHANICAL CONTRACTOR 
PRIOR TO PROCEEDING WITH REMODELING.

6. FIREPROOFING SHALL BE UNPIERCED. ANY SUBCONTRACTOR PENETRATING THE 
FIREPROOFING SHALL BE REQUIRED TO REPLACE FIREPROOFING TO THE ORIGINAL 
CONDITION AND FIRE RATING AT THE SUBCONTRACTOR'S EXPENSE.

7. EQUIPMENT UNIT DIMENSIONS ARE FOR PRODUCT DESCRIPTION ONLY, VERIFY 
SIZE WITH MANUFACTURER.

8. ALL DIMENSIONS PERTAINING TO MECHANICAL OR ELECTRICAL SERVICES OR 
EQUIPMENT SHALL BE VERIFIED WITH THE RESPECTIVE TRADE.

9. ALL CONTRACTORS THAT PENETRATE AND/OR DISTURB ANY AREAS AT EXISTING 
CONDITIONS SHALL PATCH AREA TO MATCH EXISTING ADJACENT AREA OR 
SURFACE AND PREPARE FOR SCHEDULED FINISH APPLICATION. COORDINATE 
WORK WITH GENERAL CONTRACTOR PRIOR TO PROCEEDING.

10. VERIFY HEIGHTS AND LOCATIONS OF ACCESS PANELS (AP) AND COORDINATE 
TYPES WITH TRADES WHICH REQUIRE THEM.

11. PROVIDE LINTELS AND FRAMING FOR GRILLES, LOUVERS, AND ROOF VENTS AS 
REQUIRED BY MECHANICAL CONTRACTOR, VERIFY SIZE AND LOCATION.

12. STRUCTURAL, MECHANICAL, AND ELECTRICAL ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS 
MAY DIFFER FROM ARCHITECTURAL. SEE RESPECTIVE SECTIONS AND/OR 
DRAWINGS FOR DEFINITIONS.

13. AT MECHANICAL AND ELECTRICAL EQUIPMENT ROOMS, PROVIDE 3/4" FIRE 
RESISTANT TREATED PLYWOOD BACKING BEHIND ALL SURFACE MOUNTED 
FIXTURES AND EQUIPMENT UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.

14. HOUSEKEEPING PADS SHALL BE PROVIDED BY TRADES WHICH REQUIRE THEM. 
SEE MECHANICAL AND ELECTRICAL DRAWINGS FOR SIZES AND LOCATIONS.

PROJECT DIRECTORY

OWNER

EAGLE BROOK CHURCH

ARCHITECT

BWBR

CIVIL ENGINEER

LOUCKS ASSOCIATES INC

CONTRACTOR

SHEEHY CONSTRUCTION COMPANY

DESIGN / BUILD

MECHANICAL ENGINEER

MASTER MECHANICAL 

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

ERICKSEN ROED AND ASSOCIATES

380 ST. PETER STREET
SUITE 600
SAINT PAUL, MN 55102
T  651.222.3701

7015 20TH AVENUE
CENTERVILLE, MN 55038
T 651.429.9227

7200 HEMLOCK LANE
SUITE 300
MAPLE GROVE, MN 55369
T  763.424.5505

2550 UNIVERISTY AVENUE WEST STREET
SUITE 201
SAINT PAUL, MN 55114
T  651.251.7570

360 WEST LARPENTEUR AVENUE
SAINT PAUL, MN 55113
T  651.488.6691
F  651.488.4992

1027 GEMINI ROAD
EAGAN, MN 55121
T  651.605.1600

DESIGN / BUILD 

ELECTRICAL ENGINEER

GEPHART ELECTRICAL
3550 LABORE ROAD
SAINT PAUL, MN 55110
T  651.484.4900
F  651.484.2248

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

LOUCKS ASSOCIATES INC
7200 HEMLOCK LANE
SUITE 300
MAPLE GROVE, MN 55369
T  763.424.5505

1  .  7 0 1  .  1  D F

P
LA

N
 T

Y
P

E

P
LA

N
 T

Y
P

E

Z
O

N
E

 N
U

M
B

E
R

F
LO

O
R

 L
E

V
E

L

S
H

E
E

T
 G

R
O

U
P

IN
G

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 N
U

M
B

E
R

1.402.1DE: BLDG 1, SECOND FLOOR, 
ZONE 1, DEMOLITION PLAN

1  .  4 0 2  .  1  DE

P
LA

N
 T

Y
P

E

Z
O

N
E

 N
U

M
B

E
R

F
LO

O
R

 L
E

V
E

L

S
H

E
E

T
 G

R
O

U
P

IN
G

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 N
U

M
B

E
R

1.701.1DF: BLDG 1, FIRST FLOOR, 
ZONE 1, DEMO FIRE PROTECTION

SHEET

GROUPING PLAN

300 STRUCTURAL PLANS
D STRUCTURAL DEMO PLANS

400 DE DEMOLITION PLAN
DI DIMENSION PLAN
EX EXTERIOR PLAN
FL FLOOR PLAN
FN FINISH PLAN
FP FLOOR PATTERN PLAN
QU EQUIPMENT PLAN
RC REFLECTED CEILING PLAN
SY (SYSTEMS) FURNITURE PLAN

500 EXTERIOR ARCHITECTURE

600 INTERIOR ARCHITECTURE

700 DF DEMO FIRE PROTECTION
DM DEMO MED GAS
DP DEMO PLUMBING
F MECH FIRE PROTECTION
M MECH MED GAS
P MECH PLUMBING

800 DH DEMO HVAC
DP DEMO PIPING
H MECH HVAC
P MECH PIPING

900 DL DEMO ELEC LIGHTING
DP DEMO ELEC POWER
DS DEMO ELEC SYSTEMS
L ELEC LIGHTING
P ELEC POWER
S ELEC SYSTEMS

SHEET NUMBERING EXPLANATION

SHEET

GROUPING PLAN

100 TITLE SHEET
CO CODE PLAN
PH PHASING PLAN
RF REFERENCE PLAN

200 AS ARCHITECTURAL SITE PLAN
CD CIVIL DEMOLITION PLAN
CG CIVIL GRADING PLAN
CU CIVIL UTILITIES PLAN
CP CIVIL PAVING PLAN
LP LANDSCAPE PLAN

11/07/2019

SITE LOCATION MAP

TRUE 
NORTH

PLAN 
NORTH

MAP DATA: COPYRIGHT 2020 GOOGLE

PROPOSED SITE

CORCORAN

MEDINA

MAPLE GROVE

HACKAMORE

C
R

10
1

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

H

G

F

E

D

7654321

C
o

p
yr

ig
h
t 

B
W

B
R

Name

Date Lic./Reg. No.

DateItem

Sheet No.

Sheet Title

Comm. No. Drawn

This Sheet may be 

a Reduced Copy.

The bar above is 1" long on a Full Size Sheet.

Drawing Scales apply to Full Size Sheets.

N
O

T 
FO

R

C
O
N

ST
R
U
C
TI

O
N

This document may be an electronic file or may 

be printed from an electronic file provided to 

the user. It is the sole responsibility of the user 

to ensure that the content and quality is 

consistent with the content and quality of the 

original documents on file at BWBR.

C

B

A

Issued For

Consultants

651.222.3701
Saint Paul, MN 55102
380 St. Peter Street, Ste. 600

bwbr.com

Keyplan

EAGLE BROOK 

CHURCH  

WEST METRO 

CAMPUS

I hereby certify that this plan, specification or report was prepared

by me or under my direct supervision and that I am a duly 

Licensed Architect under the laws of the State of Minnesota.

5
/1

9
/2

0
2

0
 1

0
:0

9
:5

3
 A

M

ARS

TITLE SHEET

100

3.2019149.00

LUA - ARCHITECTURAL INDEX
NUMBER SHEET NAME

510 EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

Sheet count: 1

LUA - FRONT END INDEX
NUMBER SHEET NAME

100 TITLE SHEET

101.RF FIRST LEVEL REFERENCE PLAN

PLAT01 PRE-PLAT-01

PLAT02 PRE-PLAT-02

PLAT03 PRE-PLAT-03

SURVEY01 TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY-01

SURVEY02 TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY-02

SURVEY03 TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY-03

Sheet count: 8

EAGLE BROOK CHURCH
WEST METRO CAMPUS

19200 HACKAMORE ROAD 

CORCORAN, MINNESOTA 55340

CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT ISSUE 

MAY 19, 2020

ABBREVIATIONS
TERM

MIN MINUTE

MIR MIRROR

MISC MISCELLANEOUS

MLAM METAL LAMINATE

MO MASONRY OPENING

MP ARCHITECTRUAL METAL PANEL

MTD MOUNTED

N/A NOT APPLICABLE

NIC NOT IN CONTRACT

No or # NUMBER

NRC NOISE REDUCTION COEFFICIENT

OC ON CENTER

OD OUTSIDE DIAMETER

OFCI OWNER FURNISHED CONTRACTOR INSTALLED

OFOI OWNER FURNISHED OWNER INSTALLED

OPG OPENING

OPP OPPOSITE

ORD OVERFLOW ROOF DRAIN

PC PRECAST CONCRETE

PD PENCIL DRAWER

PG PLASTIC GLAZING

PLAM PLASTIC LAMINATE

PLF POUNDS PER LINEAL FOOT

PNL PANEL, PANELING

PNT PAINT

PP PUSH PLATE

PR PROPOSAL REQUEST

PREP PREPARATION

PROJ NO PROJECT NUMBER

PSF POUNDS PER SQUARE FOOT

PSI POUNDS PER SQUARE INCH

PTD PAPER TOWEL DISPENSER

PTN PARTITION

PVC POLYVINYL CHLORIDE

PWC PROTECTIVE WALL COVERING

PWD PLYWOOD

QSM QUARTZ SURFACE MATERIAL

QT QUARRY TILE

QTB QUARRY TILE BASE

QTY QUANTITY

R RADIUS

RB RESILIENT BASE

RCP REFLECTED CEILING PLAN

RD ROOF DRAIN

REBAR REINFORCING BAR

REF REFERENCE

REFR REFRIGERATOR

REINF REINFORCED, REINFORCING

REQD REQUIRED

REV REVISED, REVISION

RF RESILIENT FLOORING

RG RADIATION SHIELDING GLASS

RINS RIGID INSULATION

RM ROOM

RO ROUGH OPENING

RP RESINOUS PANEL

SC SHOWER CURTAIN

SCHED SCHEDULE

SD SOAP DISPENSER

SDF STATIC DISSIPATIVE FLOORING

SF SQUARE FEET

SIM SIMILAR

SLR SEALER

SLW SLOTTED WALL

SNT SEALANT

SPD SANITARY PRODUCT DISPENSER

SPEC SPECIFICATION

SPR SANITARY PRODUCT RECEPTACLE

SQ SQUARE

SSM SOLID SURFACE MATERIAL

SSNT SECURITY SEALANT

SST STAINLESS STEEL

STC SOUND TRANSMISSION COEFFICIENT

STD STANDARD

STN STONE

STRUC STRUCTURAL

TB TACKBOARD

TBD TO BE DETERMINED

TD TISSUE DISPENSER

TEL TELEPHONE

TEMP TEMPERATURE

TEMP TEMPORARY

TER TERRAZZO

TERB TERRAZZO BASE

TPH TOILET PAPER HOLDER

TS TRANSITION STRIP

TV TELEVISION

TYP TYPICAL

UC UNDER CABINET / UNDER COUNTER

UNO UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE

UTIL UTILITIES

UV ULTRAVIOLET

VAC VACUUM

VAR VARIES

VCT VINYL COMPOSITION TILE

VERT VERTICAL

VG VISION CONTROL GLAZING

VIF VERIFY IN FIELD

VOC VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUND

WC WALL COVERING

WC WATER CLOSET

WD WOOD

WDB WOOD BASE

WG WIRED GLASS

WP WATERPROOFING

WT WINDOW TREATMENT

WWF WELDED WIRE FABRIC

ABBREVIATIONS
TERM

AC AIR CONDITIONING

ACC ACCESSIBLE

ACT ACOUSTIC CEILING TILE

AD ADDENDUM

ADJ ADJUSTABLE

AFF ABOVE FINISH FLOOR

AHU AIR HANDLING UNIT

AL ALUMINUM

ALT ALTERNATE

AMB AMBULATORY

AP ACCESS PANEL

APPROX APPROXIMATE

ARCH ARCHITECTURAL

AUX AUXILIARY

AV AUDIO VISUAL

AWP ACOUSTIC WALL PANEL

BCMU BURNISHED CONCRETE MASONRY UNIT

BLDG BUILDING

BLKG BLOCKING

BR BRICK

BRG BEARING

BUR BUILT-UP ROOFING

CC CUBICLE CURTAIN

CCTV CLOSED CIRCUIT TELEVISION

CF CUBIC FOOT

CFCI CONTRACTOR FURNISHED CONTRACTOR INSTALLED

CFM CUBIC FEET PER MINUTE

CG CORNER GUARD

CJT CONTROL JOINT

CL CENTERLINE

CLG CEILING

CM CULTURED MARBLE

CMU CONCRETE MASONRY UNIT

CO2 CARBON DIOXIDE

COMP COMPUTER

CONC CONCRETE

CONT CONTINUOUS

CPT CARPET

CPTB CARPET BASE

CR CRASH RAIL

CR CARD READER

CT CERAMIC TILE

CTB CERAMIC TILE BASE

CY CUBIC YARD

DEMO DEMOLISH

DET DETENTION

DF DECORATIVE FILM

DG DECORATIVE OR ART GLASS

DIA DIAMETER

DIAG DIAGONAL

DIM DIMENSION

DWG DRAWING

DWP DECORATIVE WALL PANEL

EA EACH

EIFS EXTERIOR INSULATION FINISH SYSTEM

EJT EXPANSION JOINT

EL ELEVATION

ELEC ELECTRIC, ELECTRICAL

ELEV ELEVATOR

ELF ELASTOMERIC LIQUID FLOORING

EM ENTRANCE MAT

EQ EQUAL

EQPT EQUIPMENT

EXG EXISTING

EXT EXTERIOR

FAB FABRIC

FAF FLUID-APPLIED FLOOR COATING

FAW FLUID-APPLIED WALL COATING

FD FLOOR DRAIN

FE FIRE EXTINGUISHER ON BRACKET

FEC FIRE EXTINGUISHER AND CABINET

FFE FINIISH FLOOR ELEVATION

FG MONOLITHIC GLASS, FLAT GLAZING

FRP FIBERGLASS REINFORCED PLASTIC

FRT FIRE RETARDANT TREATED

FT FOOT, FEET

GA GAUGE

GALV GALVANIZED

GCMU GLAZED CONCRETE MASONRY UNIT

GF GLAZING FILM

GFCI GROUND FAULT CIRCUIT INTERRUPTER

GLUELAM GLUED-LAMINATED

GMU GLASS MASONRY UNIT

GPBD GYPSUM BOARD

HDW HARDWARE

HM HOLLOW METAL

HORIZ HORIZONTAL

HPNT HIGH-PERFORMANCE PAINT

HR HANDRAIL

HR HOUR

ID INSIDE DIAMETER

IG INSULATED GLASS UNIT(S)

INS INSULATION

INTB INTEGRAL BASE

KBT KEYBOARD TRAY

KD KNOCKED-DOWN

LAV LAVATORY

LB POUNDS

LF LINEAR FEET

LG LAMINATED GLAZING

LVT LUXURY VINYL TILE

MAX MAXIMUM

MB MARKER BOARD

MECH MECHANICAL

MFR MANUFACTURER

MG MIRRORED GLASS

MIN MINIMUM

LUA - SITEWORK INDEX
NUMBER SHEET NAME

200.EX EXISTING CONDITIONS

210.SD DEMO PLAN

220.CS SITE PLAN

230.CG GRADING PLAN

231.SW SWPPP

232.SW SWPPP NOTES

240.CU UTILITY PLAN - SANITARY & WATERMAIN

241.CU UTILITY PLAN - STORM SEWER

242.CU UTILITY PLAN - FOUNDATION DRAINTILE

250.CD CIVIL DETAILS

251.CD CIVIL DETAILS

252.CD CIVIL DETAILS

260.LP LANDSCAPE PLAN

270.LP LANDSCAPE DETAILS

SITE01 SITE PHOTOMETRIC

Sheet count: 15

SD ISSUE 04/29/2020
CUP ISSUE 05/19/2020



DNDN

DN

724 SF

105
ADMIN

292 SF

106
CONFERENCE

1,342 SF

101
OVERFLOW295 SF

112
RESTROOM

291 SF

111
RESTROOM

212 SF

113
ENTRY

249 SF

128
ENTRY

677 SF

127
TOILET

2,403 SF

114A
PLATFORM

95 SF

114B
STORAGE

2,673 SF

119

LOADING

DOCK

579 SF

117

CONTROL

ROOM

320 SF

118
ENGINEERING

548 SF

115

GREEN

ROOM

973 SF

122
STORAGE

278 SF

108
ELECTRICAL64 SF

120
JANITOR

33 SF

121
ACOUSTICS

1,580 SF

147

EC

WORSHIP

819 SF

124

MEETING

ROOM

282 SF

125

SPECIAL

NEEDS

2,053 SF

145

ELEMENTARY

1-3

1,753 SF

143

ELEMENTARY

4-5463 SF

146
STORAGE/IDF

57 SF

145A
TOILET

56 SF

143A
TOILET

57 SF

145B
TOILET

56 SF

143B
TOILET

734 SF

141
36+

741 SF

139
TODDLERS

731 SF

137
WALKERS

55 SF

141A
TOILET

57 SF

139A
TOILET

672 SF

135
INFANTS

816 SF

136
KINDERGARTEN

56 SF

136A
TOILET

57 SF

1038A
TOILET

816 SF

138
PREKINDERGARTEN

802 SF

140
PRESCHOOL

58 SF

140A
TOILET

63 SF

142
JAINTOR

428 SF

144

WORK

ROOM

310 SF

100B
VESTIBULE

430 SF

132
TOILET

438 SF

104
CAFE PREP

1,173 SF

103

CAFE

SERVE

848 SF

102

CAFE

SEATING

296 SF

100A
VESTIBULE

1,505 SF

107

VOLUNTEER

CENTRAL

288 SF

110
STORAGE

67 SF

106A
STORAGE

137 SF

105B
OFFICE

162 SF

105A
HUDDLE 101 SF

131
TOILET

1,089 SF

123
CORRIDOR

199 SF

149
IDF

SLOPE DNSLOP DN

SLOPE DN

1:20 SLOPE
1:20 SLOPE

1:12 SLOPE
1:12 SLOPE

1
:2

0
 S

L
O

P
E

1
:2

0
 S

L
O

P
E

139 SF

107A
PANTRY

+97'-0"

+99'-10 1/2"

+100'-0"

+101'-0"
+101'-0"

+102'-0"

+103'-0"

+104'-0"

+105'-0"

+106'-0"

+107'-0"

+108'-0"

+101'-0"

+102'-0"

+103'-0"

+104'-0"

+105'-0"

+106'-0"

+107'-0"

+101'-0"

+102'-0"

+103'-0"

+104'-0"

+105'-0"

+106'-0"

+107'-0"

+100'-0"

L
O

C
K

E
R

S

C
O

A
T

 H
O

O
K

S

+100'-0"

+99'-11"

+96'-0"

1 2 4 5 6

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

8 119 12 13

H

J

26'-5" 30'-0" 30'-0" 30'-0"

10

23'-3"

27'-9" 17'-10" 49'-0" 65'-6" 21'-0" 28'-9" 12'-11" 24'-1 3/4"

3 7

2
0
'-8

"
3
2
'-0

"
2
9
'-0

"
4
5
'-3

"
4
9
'-2

"
1
3
'-0

"
2
6
'-7

"
2
0
'-0

"

14,828 SF

114
WORSHIP

657 SF

107D
CORRIDOR

62 SF

107E
H2O

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

H

G

F

E

D

7654321

C
o

p
yr

ig
h
t 

B
W

B
R

Name

Date Lic./Reg. No.

DateItem

Sheet No.

Sheet Title

Comm. No. Drawn

This Sheet may be 

a Reduced Copy.

The bar above is 1" long on a Full Size Sheet.

Drawing Scales apply to Full Size Sheets.

N
O

T 
FO

R

C
O
N

ST
R
U
C
TI

O
N

FO
R
 R

EF
ER

EN
C
E 

O
N

LY

This document may be an electronic file or may 

be printed from an electronic file provided to 

the user. It is the sole responsibility of the user 

to ensure that the content and quality is 

consistent with the content and quality of the 

original documents on file at BWBR.

C

B

A

Issued For

Consultants

651.222.3701
Saint Paul, MN 55102
380 St. Peter Street, Ste. 600

bwbr.com

Keyplan

TRUE 

NORTH

PLAN 

NORTH

EAGLE BROOK 

CHURCH  

WEST METRO 

CAMPUS

I hereby certify that this plan, specification or report was prepared

by me or under my direct supervision and that I am a duly 

Licensed Architect under the laws of the State of Minnesota.

5
/1

9
/2

0
2

0
 9

:1
3

:2
7
 A

M

ARS

FIRST LEVEL REFERENCE

PLAN

101.RF

3.2019149.00

1/16" = 1'-0"101.RF

2H REFERENCE PLAN - FIRST LEVEL

CUP ISSUE 05/19/2020



349,806 S.F.
(8.03 ACRES)

31
2,

39
7 

S
.F

.
(7

.1
7 

A
C
R
ES

)

340,265 S.F.
(7.81 ACRES)

262,355 S.F.
(6.02 ACRES)

241,804 S.F.
(5.55 ACRES)

4
0

0
.0

1
3

0
0

.0
1

3
1

0
.0

1

443.72
874.52

4
0

0
.0

1

874.52

7
0

0
.0

6
6

2
4

.1
8

874.52

543.35
448.85

3
0

0
.0

1
4

0
0

.0
1

3
1

0
.0

1

7
0

0
.0

1

33

33

50

50

60

780.01

979.9979.497
9.1

976.11

982.3

982.9

983.9

980.51
981.19

985.47
CS989.25

989.43

988.83

988.72 988.60

989.08

988.99

989.00

98
9.

70

989.47

989.65

989.73

988.78

988.62

988.61

98
6.1

4

984.45

981.23

979.90
981.46

979.6 979.2 978.9 978.9 979.8

979.0

980.9

981.1

982.5980.2980.1

982.5
986.7

987.0

985.86

FNDIP40344 98
0.

67
FN

DI
P4

03
44

985.6983.8980.3

97
9.

83
FN

D
IP

-4
03

4497
8.

5

978.2
979.1

982.51

FNDIP-40344

978.9
979.4979.2

979.2979.5980.92
FNDIP-40344

98
1.

75
FN

D
IP

-4
03

44

98
2.

2

98
2.

91
FN

D
IP

-4
03

44

982.38

FNDIP-40344

984.1

985.9

984.83
FNDIP-40344

985.28
FNDIP-40344

985.0
984.5 983.3

984.0

98
3.9

9

FN
DIP-

40
34

4

987.54

98
6.7

6
986.10

985.38

985.44

98
6.

13

986.12

986.90

987.28

987.64

988.08

987.90

988.06

988.37

98
8.

18

988.37

988.27

988.38

987.95987.72

986.36
987.53

988.16
987.98

987.55

989.24

989.11

989.16

990.41

990.30 98
9.

95
99

0.
23

984.92
CS 98

6.
42

98
7.9

3

984.27
981.43

982.24

986.3
986.8

985.5 98
1.

6

979.48

979.8

98
2.

6
98

1.
9

980.2
979.9

982.3
981.7

981.9

982.3

98
6.0

1

FN
DIP5

36
42

985.51
FNDIP-40344

985.71
FNDIP-40344

990.2

989.3

990.1990.1

989.5
989.5

990.0
989.8

988.6
985.5

983.7

981.4

988.8

987.6

986.4

984.9

983.4

982.2

983.7

985.2 983.6

981.8

980.7

979.2

979.6

980.3
978.7

978.7

978.4

978.2

978.1

977.1

977.1

977.3

977.6

977.7

978.6

989.0

988.1

986.6

986.9

985.1

98
7.

12
98

7.
12

98
6.

63

98
6.4

8

98
6.

28

98
6.

30

98
5.

58

985.36

986.1984.5
984.9

986.6

986.4

986.82

987.65
98

7.8
9

987.30

986.6

980.8
977.8

976.6

974.2 974.3
976.5

976.9

97
9.9

6

983.7

975.4

974.3
975.2975.1

974.6

973.4

980.27

FF
E

97
9.

89

979.64

979.43
980.04

979.83
FFE GARFL

979.64

98
6.

4

985.5

984.2983.2
981.7 98

7.
0

979.7979.4
979.4

979.1

COCO

978.2

977.3

977.8

978.1

988.22

988.38
FFE GARFLR

988.05
987.99

98
7.

91

987.56

987.27

987.41

98
7.

95

98
7.

3

993.5
987.2

980.3977.7976.4
989.0

985.7

980.0
977.6

976.4

975.3

977.1

980.2
987.1

987.1

978.9

976.4

975.2

977.8

981.6

981.8
977.6

975.3

97
5.

62

974.06

974.01

973.90
974.46974.59974.18

974.70

974.70

973.50

973.56

973.27

972.89

97
2.

62

975.3

97
2.

72

97
3.

46

974.67

974.54

97
4.

91

974.56

974.04

973.80974.397
5.4

974.8

975.0

992.0

991.6

992.27

993.97

990.9

988.9

990.9

99
2.

8

988.97

990.94

991.72

992.32

992.83

993.09
993.3499

3.4
7

99
3.

55
FF

E 
G

A
R

FL
R

994.11

99
3.

29

99
3.

8299
4.

31

994.32

992.83

991.35

989.12

991.0

994.5

994.9

993.4

991.1

990.9

989.4

995.45 995.46

990.9

99
1.

8

991.62

992.17

991.67
991.32

9
9

3
.5

5
FF

E
98

9.
9

987.4

988.2

991.27991.47

990.0

990.2

991.75

982.9

982.6

CO
981.91

982.1

982.1

983.3 981.9

982.3

981.9

981.3

982.0

980.7

993.23

99
3.

36

992.22

993.64

991.3
990.4

991.1

982.9

981.0

995.96
995.82

99
6.2

0

996.26

996.42

99
6.

54

99
6.4

4

996.88

997.40997.95

999.30

99
9.

72

998.0

997.5 997.7

998.2

99
8.

4

997.30

995.13
996.3

995.1

996.6

994.23

99
4.

98

995.63

992.1

988.0

987.8

992.6

995.75 994.9

973.49
MAGDRAW

983.67

FNDIP1/2

98
2.8

6
983.13
98

2.9
5

98
2.2

8

982.12

981.87980.62 980.04

981.51

98
2.0

3

98
1.

98

98
0.5

6
98

0.5
9

98
0.3

5
979.17

979.42

97
9.

34

97
8.

40

978.28
977.81

977.83

97
7.

69

97
7.

33

977.51

977.38
977.11

977.18

97
7.

03

97
6.

72

97
6.7

9
97

6.7
9

977.05

976.69

97
6.

71

97
6.9

2

976.72
977.21

97
7.2

5

97
6.9

3 977.62

978.00
979.75

97
9.

36

98
1.

40

981.76

982.88 983.08

983.88

983.87

98
3.

60

98
4.

44

984.69

984.41

985.15

986.67 985.35

984.59

984.55

98
4.

55

98
4.2

8

984.33

984.41

98
3.

32

983.59

98
3.3

8 983.80
982.19

981.86

98
1.

79

97
9.

62

979.46 977.56

97
7.

63

97
6.

02

975.87

97
4.

96

974.99

97
5.

24

97
4.

05

973.87

974.07 97
3.

81

97
4.

00

974.12STOP-LIGHT

973.94

980.4

98
5.

0

984.7
982.3

97
0.

94

974.9

976.7976.4

97
5.

9

975.3

974.9

97
6.

2

975.06975.72

977.1
977.3

976.2
977.7978.3

977.3

979.1980.1981.1
981.9

982.8
982.0

98
3.

1

984.5
983.8

970.77

97
3.1

9

972.58
97

3.0
9 971.72

971.71

971.43971.64STOPLIGHT

972.82

STO
PLI

GHT

97
2.4

1

973.76

97
3.9

8

973.53

97
2.4

6

97
2.3

0
97

1.8
5

961.60

974.09

96
3.

31

96
2.

72

974.99

976.11

977.12

97
8.

00

978.67

97
9.

16

980.13

980.56
981.34

981.32

980.73

975.80

980.95

980.78

981.50

98
2.

38
98

3.
07

983.46

98
4.

09

984.20

98
4.3

2

98
4.3

2

984.63

96
7.

9
967.0

967.4

968.2
968.3

968.1
967.9

974.2

97
4.

0

97
3.

7

98
0.4

0

FN
DIP4

03
44

98
4.

65
98

4.
54

984.29

98
4.5

0

983.78
983.28

982.66

982.48

986.36

987.00
987.38

987.36

986.03

985.35

985.47 98
4.

2

984.75

98
5.

11

98
6.

8
98

7.
0

98
6.

2
98

5.
0

98
5.

0

98
5.

1

982.36

983.02

983.67
983.75
983.78

983.90
983.66

983.96
984.29

984.65

984.73

984.68

984.76

984.50

984.33

983.89

983.52

983.35

983.18

982.42

981.37

980.46

979.47

978.97

978.07

976.95

975.95

974.90

99
1.

87

991.24

989.34

989.77

986.75

986.54

984.29
983.11

981.72 981.16

980.62
980.07

979.93 980.04

975.2

975.2
970.54

971.86

975.3974.8

972.8

975.1

967.2

967.6

969.5

973.0
976.1978.2979.3

979.3

978.1
978.0 978.6

977.6

975.5

973.9

969.5

969.5

974.9

977.1

977.5
976.9

977.1

977.2

976.0

976.0

974.6

973.6

972.4

973.9

973.2

971.6

969.9

971.2

969.1

975.1
976.2

976.5

977.4

976.4

976.4

974.5

973.0

971.5

972.4

973.5

975.5

976.9

976.8

977.6

978.1

978.4

977.8

975.2
973.6

972.5

973.2
973.6

976.6

978.9

979.5

981.4 979.2 976.2 973.7 973.1

974.3

976.1

977.8
980.1981.6

982.6 981.1
979.7

978.1

976.5

979.9

97
7.

21

97
5.

44 974.81

972.21 97
2.

00

97
1.

25

97
1.

72

97
1.

64

1008.56FNDIP43044

988.5

98
6.

9
98

2.
3

1003.8

1006.6

1007.9

1009.3

1011.6

1010.4

1009.6

1008.4

1007.6

1007.47

1008.38

1008.74

10
09

.7
2

1009.54

1008.63

1009.05

1008.6

1004.9

1002.8

1001.4

1000.2

999.1

994.3
993.9

992.0

990.5

990.0

990.2

989.3

991.2
991.8

989.6

991.8

990.8

990.25

990.28

990.06990.24

977.71

975.25
976.27

975.32

98
6.2

0

98
5.

85975.21

975.20

973.99

97
3.

98

97
5.

37

975.46

97
4.

02

974.03

974.93
974.76

974.14

974.18

975.00

974.18

974.13

97
3.9

8

975.15

974.4

97
3.

99

974.1

974.7

974.1

975.3

978.9 978.0 977.1 977.1 976.3
975.2

974.6

974.9
974.9

975.4

975.5

974.9

975.9
976.1

976.8

977.1

976.7975.9

975.7

975.43

97
5.

93

97
5.

85

976.80

97
4.

94 975.12

975.33

97
3.

9097
4.

99

974.82

97
4.

11

974.71

97
4.

15

97
3.

96

97
4.

38

97
4.7

4

974.17

974.05

975.15

97
4.

74

973.74

974.00

974.35

97
3.

55

974.4

974.3
973.55

974.3

974.4974.5

974.9974.3974.9974.7974.8975.1
975.3

975.9

975.6
975.0

975.1 974.6
975.0

975.4

977.8977.8975.9

976.2

976.3

976.0

976.6

97
6.4

976.3

977.1

977.2

977.75
977.0

978.16

977.39

97
7.8

0

97
8.4

1

979.44

98
1.5

4

982.17981.64
979.72

983.04 983.63

983.44
982.72

982.45
983.45

983.46

990.44

99
0.

27

988.3

986.3

984.83

983.98

984.24

98
3.

13

981.58

980.96

980.90

981.19

982.53

983.4

984.0

981.65

978.66

977.63

977.63

975.61
977.75

978.63

979.76

980.84

982.7

98
7.

6
98

9.
6

98
9.

6

98
7.

7

989.68
FNDIP-CAP

996.92
FNDIP-CAP

1003.8

1009.09
FNDIP-40344

1011.96
FNDIP-40344

1012.1

988.9989.7
991.8994.0994.8

995.7997.0

1001.6 1000.6 999.6
1001.4

1001.0

997.7

1002.11004.71005.6
1007.31007.6

1010.7
1009.9

1008.1

1010.7

10
11

.71012.9

1003.3

1014.7

1014.4

1014.6 1008.3 1002.7 1001.8

1001.71004.11005.41009.6
1014.7

1011.74

1011.40

10
10

.6
4

1007.88

1006.69
1007.12

10
07

.3
4

10
07

.7
4

10
08

.4
2

1008.84
1013.82

1012.58

1012.33

1011.77

1007.921007.88

1007.39
MH SEPTIC

1005.9

1006.2

1003.3

99
3.8

9

993.62991.8

992.0

99
2.

2

993.7

993.7

99
4.

4 994.59

99
4.

50

99
4.

37

994.50

993.5

993.98
993.1

993.1

991.9

991.3

991.6

986.67

986.82
FFE

98
6.6

4

98
6.4

985.98

98
6.

68

991.76989.8991.16

986.2

988.22

98
6.

6
98

9.0
3

986.7

986.0 986.63

987.0

988.45

991.09

993.7

992.6 992.46

983.94

982.74
984.42

986.01
985.8

984.89

985.4

986.16
MH SEPTIC

986.03PVC-PIPE

986.47
MH SEPTIC

986.32
PVC-PIPE

986.18

PVC-PIPE

986.63MH SEPTIC

986.5

986.2

987.35

990.6

991.0

992.2

991.4

991.0

990.3
990.1

990.3

989.15
989.24

988.73

988.66

988.86
988.35

988.44

990.30

990.70

990.42

988.0
988.5

989.09

988.85
988.19

987.88

988.4

987.8
990.5

990.5

990.1

990.94

991.96

992.46

991.8
992.1

989.5
991.17

991.28

990.12

98
7.

4 987.2

98
7.

3

986.9

98
6.9

3

991.7
990.2

986.6

99
3.5

6

99
4.

46

994.8

99
4.

62

99
2.3

8

991.0

990.46

989.0

987.60

989.7

992.58

991.48

993.3

992.0

992.1

991.6

990.5

988.1

988.9

989.8

990.2

988.5

988.2

987.6

987.9

988.8

990.0
989.6

990.1

988.7
990.2

991.6

990.0985.2

980.6 986.4

984.0

979.7

978.3

983.2

980.8

977.6

97
5.

8

97
6.

18

97
7.

38

97
5.

90

975.0

976.9597
4.

9

97
3.

9

97
4.

7

974.74

97
4.

25

97
7.2

2

977.19

974.86
976.03

977.74 97
7.

80

976.84

978.51

978.94

978.73

976.61

975.7

977.54
979.52 979.81

979.52

981.3

98
3.

7

981.32

979.33
981.41
984.10 98

4.2
8

984.1 986.2

987.1

987.12

987.02

984.78

988.88

986.6

989.44 98
9.

49

989.2

988.9989.699
0.1

3989.98

98
9.

7

988.04

98
9.

06
989.11

988.08

987.5

987.5986.9

98
6.

81

98
6.7

0

986.2

986.77

987.0

988.18 98
7.

80

987.8

988.5

987.5

988.9989.40

989.57

98
8.

62

98
7.

47
98

4.
12

98
3.

40

981.45
981.85

981.14

981.44
MH SEPTIC

982.30
MH SEPTIC
982.31
PVC-PIPE

981.44
PVC-PIPE

984.46

986.98
986.82

986.0

986.3

985.7

984.9

985.4
985.9

984.4

984.0

983.2

982.7

985.1 984.2

983.9

984.6

985.2

985.8

987.0

990.2

991.5
990.8

989.3

986.9

986.0

985.0

986.2

98
9.

48

990.13

990.23

989.6

991.57
991.45

99
0.

65

99
2.

61

993.20

993.26

997.77

997.62

99
6.

96

10
02

.1
2

1002.02

1005.27

10
05

.69

10
07

.85
1007.51

1008.27

1008.74

1008.30

1007.29

1006.43

1005.78

1005.46

1005.34

1005.46

FFE
1005.32 10

03
.9

9

1004.72

1003.2

1005.35
1005.2010

05
.9

2

1004.3

1005.5

10
06

.74

10
06

.3
7

10
06

.4
7

10
06

.6
2

10
07

.5
0

1008.69

1009.69

1009.99

1010.45

1010.83

10
09

.71

1008.69

10
07

.3
6

1010.8

1012.2

1014.0

1012.11013.9

1015.7

1014.3

10
14

.3
8

10
16

.6
9

1016.98

1018.24

FFE

1018.02

1016.10

10
15

.3
4

1013.93

1012.74

10
12

.8
6

10
13

.6
0

10
13

.9
5

10
14

.4
9

10
15

.03

1015.59

1016.20

1016.72

1017.33
1017.27

1017.77
10

16
.9

8

10
16

.4
0

1015.081015.14

1016.81

1017.04
10

16
.0

2

1014.20

993.74

993.54

993.83

FFE

993.80

99
2.

97

992.71

993.15

993.28

99
3.0

4

992.99

992.36

992.43

992.42

992.18

992.44

993.26

991.17

990.13 988.87

985.9

988.4

99
4.1

4

99
4.2

3

994.26

FFE

99
4.

08

99
3.9

3

993.80

99
3.

60

993.09
992.56

99
3.

92

994.15

994.26

991.9

993.0
991.7

989.7

975.0
973.2

974.7 973.9

974.6
972.6974.6

974.2

975.6

978.7

978.5

978.9

983.6

985.9

989.6

985.0 982.93

985.97

988.92

989.7

986.8

988.5985.6

985.5

983.2

980.61

983.2

978.47

981.3

984.5

987.6
985.1

985.8

985.6

985.4

986.7

987.00

987.3

986.5

986.04

985.94986.57

987.60
987.63

987.73
987.71

987.75
987.74

987.67

98
7.6

7
987.7498

7.
69

987.78

988.03

988.15

988.06

5806
988.21
FIREPLACE-COR

5807
988.19
FIREPLACE-COR

5808
988.25
FIREPLACE-COR
5809
988.22
FIREPLACE-COR

986.9

987.5

988.04

988.30

988.24

988.26

988.30

988.40

98
8.

84

988.99

FFE

988.81

988.63

988.37

988.13

98
8.0

2

98
7.

82

986.94

987.08

PO
ST-G

ATE

98
8.

09

98
8.

12

988.21

989.25

98
8.

24
98

8.
56

98
9.

68

98
8.

54

988.58988.21

98
8.

37

989.48

988.5

989.46 989.10

98
4.

15

988.29
987.99

98
7.

78
98

7.
98

987.3

986.8

989.3

989.59

989.13

991.00

984.48

983.61982.42

982.46

982.62

97
8.

97

979.22

979.90

979.98

979.99

FFE

97
9.

75

97
8.

99

97
8.5

4

97
9.

38

981.16

982.38

983.41

984.69

981.96

982.50

98
6.

65

98
6.

96

98
5.

22

98
3.

58

981.40

978.94

978.18

978.40

97
8.

84

978.77

978.92

979.01

975.07

977.88

979.35
979.33

977.66

97
8.

20

98
0.

30

98
0.

37

979.38
982.15 98

1.
15

981.08

981.36

981.65

978.81

979.44

979.95

980.13
980.39

978.1

97
8.

0 978.54

97
8.8

1

980.02

983.80

985.23

979.8

980.8981.14

981.52

982.77
980.9

980.3987.58

987.12

985.7

985.4

986.43

987.21

988.89

FFE

988.35

98
7.

74

986.29

986.88

98
8.

16

98
9.

87

989.8198
9.

74
FN

D
IP

40
34

4

975.27

1010.00
1007.8

10
07

.0
9

10
07

.4
210

07
.21

1007.92

FFE

10
07

.63

1008.35

1007.69
1007.82

MH SEPTIC

1007.42
MH SEPTIC

1008.14

1003.45

987.24

EDGE OF WATER AS
MEASURED 3-18-2020

10
10

1000

990

99
0

99
0

986

98
0

970

980

980

980

980

978

980

980

980

988

98
4

984
980

97
8

97
6

97
497

697
8

98
298

4

978
978

980

986

988
986

984
982

980

98
4

98
2

97
8

97
6

974

972

1008

1006

1004

1002

998

996

994

992 990

988

986

98
4

98
2

978

976

976

978

982

984

986

988

988

98
6

98
8

990

986 98
4

98
2

98
0

97
8

97
6

97
4

986

98
6

984

982

984

982

978

100610
10

10
12

1008

1004

1002
1000

1000 99
8

99
6 99

4

992

990

988

986

EXISTING
GARAGE 64

.5

40.4

64
.5

40.4

28.4

24.3

3.1

18
.6

24.7 28.6

49.271.3

54.4
32.1

54.4

32.1

26.5 24
.5

26.5

24
.5

7.9

3.9

38.6

6.5

13.9

4.9
5.9

5.3

60.5

18.4

10.0

12.2

20.7

6.9

12.8

25
.1

2.0

11
.325.0

8.
3

19.5

14
.4

25.5

14
.2

12.0 5.
9

5.2

5.
0

6.0

9.
8

7.2

18
.1

30.7

44
.2

40.4

30
.3

40.4

30
.3

24.0

6.
9

1.7

24
.8

24.4

58
.2

46.8

26
.9

36.4

28.5

36.4

28.5

35.4

12
.5

2.
1 11.6 19
.8

14.4

13
.7

0.6 24.9

26.3

6.
1 8.0

EXISTING
SHED

EXISTIN
G

HOUSE

DECK DECK

DECK

DECK

EXISTING
SHED

EXISTING
SHED

EXISTING

BUILDING

EXISTING
GARAGE

EXISTIN
G

BU
ILD

IN
G

EXISTING
HOUSE

EXISTING
GARAGE

PO
RCH

EXISTING
HOUSE

EXISTING

HOUSE

EXISTIN
G

G
AR

AG
E

EXISTIN
G

BRIDGE

EXISTING
BRIDGE

PO
RC

H

EXISTIN
G

PO
OL

BITUMINOUS
CURB B-STYLE

CURB

B
-S

TY
LE

C
U

R
B

B
-S

TY
LE

C
U

R
B

B
-S

TY
LE

C
U

R
B

BITUMINOUS
CURB

97
4

D
R
IV

EW
A
Y 

A
N

D
 U

TI
LI

TY
 A

G
R
EE

M
EN

T 
PE

R
 D

O
C
U

M
EN

TS
 N

O
. 

50
64

57
8 

A
N

D
 4

65
31

82

30

30

DRIVEWAY AND UTILITY AGREEMENT PER DOCUMENTS NO. 5064578 AND 4653182

30

 1
5'

 I
N

G
R
ES

S
, 

EG
R
ES

S
, 

A
N

D
D

R
IV

EW
A
Y 

EA
S
EM

EN
T 

PE
R

D
O

C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

59
50

71
4 

A
N

D
56

42
60

0

15

15

50
' H

IG
H

W
A
Y 

EA
S
EM

EN
T 

PE
R

D
O

C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

79
01

48
0

 1
5'

 R
EL

IA
N

T 
EN

ER
G

Y 
/

M
IN

N
EG

A
S
C
O

 U
TI

LI
TY

EA
S
EM

EN
T 

PE
R
 D

O
C
U

M
EN

T
N

O
. 

71
87

06
6

15

15

R
EL

EA
S
ED

 F
R
O

M
 1

5'
 I

N
G

R
ES

S
,

EG
R
ES

S
, 

A
N

D
 D

R
IV

EW
A
Y 

EA
S
EM

EN
T

C
R
EA

TE
D

 B
Y 

D
O

C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

59
50

71
4

PE
R
 D

O
C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

59
50

71
5

50
' H

IG
H

W
A
Y 

EA
S
EM

EN
T 

PE
R

D
O

C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

84
70

91
3

DRAINAGE AND UTILITY EASEMENT
PER DOCUMENT NO. 8470913

 1
5'

 R
EL

IA
N

T 
EN

ER
G

Y 
/

M
IN

N
EG

A
S
C
O

 U
TI

LI
TY

 E
A
S
EM

EN
T

PE
R
 D

O
C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

71
87

06
7

50
' H

IG
H

W
A
Y 

EA
S
EM

EN
T 

PE
R

D
O

C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

78
92

15
3

NORTH LINE OF THE SE 1/4 OF THE SE 1/4 OF S.36-T.119-R.23

SOUTH LINE OF THE SE 1/4 OF THE SE 1/4 OF S.36-T.119-R.23
EA

S
T 

LI
N

E 
O

F
TH

E 
S
E 

1/
4 

O
F

TH
E 

S
E 

1/
4 

O
F

S
.3

6-
T.

11
9-

R
.2

3

SE CORNER OF THE SE 1/4 OF THE
SE 1/4 OF S.36-T.119-R.23

60

60

C
O

R
C
O

R
A
N

C
IT

Y 
LI

M
IT

S

50

NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTH 700
FEET OF THE SE 1/4 OF THE SE
1/4 OF S.36-T.119-R.23

40
0.

00

70
0.

00

874.50

EXISTING
SEPTIC
AREA

EXISTING
SEPTIC
AREA

EXISTING
SEPTIC
AREA

EXISTING
SEPTIC
AREA

W
ES

T 
LI

N
E 

O
F 

TH
E 

EA
S
T 

87
4.

5
FE

ET
 O

F 
TH

E 
S
E 

1/
4 

O
F 

TH
E 

S
E

1/
4 

O
F 

S
.3

6-
T.

11
9-

R
.2

3

NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTH 400
FEET OF THE SE 1/4 OF THE SE
1/4 OF S.36-T.119-R.23

24.9

79.3

33

16

(PUBLIC      ROAD)

(P
U

B
LI

C
  

  
  

R
O

A
D

)

CORCORAN
CITY LIMITS

13
3.

3

47
.9

16

42
.1

118.33

78
.2

1

124.54

78
.0

0

440.6

W
ES

T 
LI

N
E 

O
F 

TH
E

EA
S
T 

78
0 

FE
ET

 O
F 

TH
E

S
E 

1/
4 

O
F 

TH
E 

S
E 

1/
4

O
F 

S
.3

6-
T.

11
9-

R
.2

3

NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTH 1010 FEET OF THE
SE 1/4 OF THE SE 1/4 OF S.36-T.119-R.23

50

50

17
4.

1

780.00

174.5

10
3.

6

60

60

S
1°

25
'0

0"
W

  
 6

3.
70

EXISTING
SEPTIC
MOUND

IN
V 

= 9
94

.0
9

IN
V =

 9
79.0

9

INV = 980.03

977.63
ST-20

975.02
ST21

976.38
ST-14

987.90
ST-11

987.25
ST-8

989.54
ST-?

988.10
ST-?

979.34
ST-?

976.23
ST-?

965.9

966.1

966.3

967.1

967.2

970.7

967.3

973.7

983.56FES

986.1
985.7 986.3

986.5986.8

985.7

986.5
986.0

985.0

983.9
983.5

985.3

983.72
INV4INCH-PVC

984.1

988.9

989.3
988.1

988.9

991.1

990.6994.4

995.51001.9

998.91004.0

1004.71006.7

1006.8

1015.2

1009.8

1010.0

IN
V-E =

 975.76

10
10

.9
5

10
08

.1

1008.1

1009.6

1008.05

1008.26

1008.08

1008.09

1008.25

1008.22

10
08

.2
3

1008.90
SPR9

1009.42
SPR15

10
08

.4
9

SP
R1

1

1005.74
ST-1

1000.11
ST-3

990.88
ST-6

988.78
ST-9

992.51
ST-4

969.4

970.9

972.1

971.0

971.4

972.6

976.7

978.2976.0

973.1

969.1

970.3

971.4

971.4

971.5

972.7

24
.2

5.55.
3

8.5

36
.6

17.6

10
.5

11.0

SW
ALE

97
0

96
8

972
974

976

978

980

EXISTING
SEPTIC
AREA

78.7

EX
IS

TI
NG

PO
OL

N

SCALE       IN       FEET

0 50 100

Consultants

LOUCKS PROJECT NO. 19176A

SD ISSUE

LOUCKS

7200 Hemlock Lane, Suite 300

Maple Grove, MN 55369

763.424.5505

www.loucksinc.com

PLANNING

CIVIL ENGINEERING

LAND SURVEYING

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

ENVIRONMENTAL

Co
py

rig
ht

 B
W

BR

DateItem

Sheet No.

Sheet Title

Comm. No. Drawn

3.2019023.00

This document may be an electronic file or may
be printed from an electronic file provided to
the user.  It is the sole responsibility of the user
to ensure that the content and quality is
consistent with the content and quality of the
original documents on file at BWBR.

Issued For

Consultants

651.222.3701
Saint Paul, MN 55102
380 St. Peter Street, Ste. 600

bwbr.com

This Sheet may be
a Reduced Copy.

The bar above is 1" long on a Full Size Sheet.
Drawing Scales apply to Full Size Sheets.

NOT F
OR

CONST
RUCTIO

N

Name

Date Lic./Reg. No.05-19-2020 53706

I hereby certify that this plan, specification or report was prepared
by me or under my direct supervision and that I am a duly

Licensed/Registered Professional Engineer under the laws of the
State of Minnesota

Trevor D. Gruys - PE

04-29-2020

EAGLE BROOK
CHURCH

WEST METRO
CAMPUS

CUP ISSUE 05-19-2020

EXISTING
CONDITIONS

200.EX

TDG/ZBM/MDC

NOTE:
EXISTING CONDITIONS
INFORMATION SHOWN IS FROM
A TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY
PREPARED BY E. G. RUD & SONS,
INC. AND DATED APRIL, 2020.

Gopher State One Call

WARNING:
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR CALLING FOR LOCATIONS
OF ALL EXISTING UTILITIES. THEY SHALL COOPERATE WITH ALL UTILITY
COMPANIES IN MAINTAINING THEIR SERVICE AND / OR RELOCATION OF
LINES.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT GOPHER STATE ONE CALL AT
651-454-0002 AT LEAST 48 HOURS IN ADVANCE FOR THE LOCATIONS OF
ALL UNDERGROUND WIRES, CABLES, CONDUITS, PIPES, MANHOLES,
VALVES OR OTHER BURIED STRUCTURES BEFORE DIGGING. THE
CONTRACTOR SHALL REPAIR OR REPLACE THE ABOVE WHEN DAMAGED
DURING CONSTRUCTION AT NO COST TO THE OWNER.

DENOTES CONCRETE SURFACE

DENOTES BITUMINOUS SURFACE

DENOTES GRAVEL SURFACE

DENOTES PAVER SURFACE

DENOTES EXISTING CONTOURS

DENOTES TREES COVERED AREA

DENOTES ROCK SURFACE

DENOTES RIPRAP

DENOTES RETAINING WALL
DENOTES FENCE

DENOTES EXISTING SANITARY SEWER
DENOTES EXISTING STORM SEWER
DENOTES OVERHEAD UTILITY
DENOTES UNDERGROUND ELECTRIC LINE
DENOTES UNDERGROUND GAS LINE
DENOTES UNDERGROUND CABLE LINE

DENOTES TREE LINE

DENOTES UNDERGROUND FIBER OPTIC LINE

DENOTES IRON MONUMENT FOUND AS LABELED

DENOTES CATCH BASIN

DENOTES STORM SEWER MANHOLE

DENOTES HYDRANT

DENOTES WATER VALVE

DENOTES GAS METER

DENOTES POWER POLE

DENOTES SIGN

DENOTES LIGHT POLE

DENOTES CABLE PEDESTAL

DENOTES EXISTING SPOT ELEVATION

DENOTES STORM SEWER APRON

DENOTES WELL

DENOTES MISCELLANEOUS MANHOLE

DENOTES MAILBOX

DENOTES FIBER OPTIC BOX

DENOTES ELECTRICAL BOX

DENOTES GUY WIRE

DENOTES AIR CONDITIONING UNIT

DENOTES GAS VALVE

DENOTES CLEAN OUT
DENOTES CURB STOP

DENOTES HAND HOLE

DENOTES BRACE POLE OR GUY POLE

DENOTES ELECTRICAL MANHOLE

DENOTES SANITARY SEWER MANHOLE

GV

CO

CS

DENOTES FOUND MAGNETIC DRAW

DENOTES FINISHED FLOOR ELEVATION

1234 DENOTES TREE TAG NUMBER

DENOTES UNDERGROUND TELEPHONE LINE

DENOTES WETLAND AS DELINEATED

DENOTES SOIL TEST

BY KJOLHAUG ENVIRONEMENTAL

SURVEY LEGEND:



33

33

50

50

60

976.11985.47
CS

989.43

988.72

989.47

989.65

988.78988.06

98
8.

18

987.55

98
9.

95
99

0.
23

CS

984.27
979.48

COCO

CO
981.91

980.62 980.04

974.12STOP-LIGHT

973.94

97
0.

94

975.06975.72

970.77

97
3.0

9

972.82

973.76

97
3.9

8

974.09

96
3.

31

96
2.

72

982.48 982.36

981.37

970.54

971.86

97
1.

25

1007.47

1008.38

1008.74

1006.51

1008.64

1009.05

987.80

988.83

992.73

990.24

977.75

982.45

983.46

990.44

980.96

975.61

1007.39
MH SEPTIC

985.98

982.74

984.89

986.16
MH SEPTIC

986.03PVC-PIPE

986.47
MH SEPTIC

986.32
PVC-PIPE

986.18

PVC-PIPE

986.63MH SEPTIC

98
6.9

3

98
6.

81

98
6.7

0

981.44
MH SEPTIC

982.30
MH SEPTIC
982.31
PVC-PIPE
981.44
PVC-PIPE987.08

PO
ST-G

ATE
988.21

975.07

1007.82

MH SEPTIC

1007.42
MH SEPTIC

EDGE OF WATER AS
MEASURED 3-18-2020

EXISTING
GARAGE

EXISTING
SHED

EXISTIN
G

HOUSE

DECK DECK

DECK

DECK

EXISTING
SHED

EXISTING
SHED

EXISTING

BUILDING

EXISTING
GARAGE

EXISTIN
G

BU
ILD

IN
G

EXISTING
HOUSE

EXISTING
GARAGE

PO
RCH

EXISTING
HOUSE

EXISTING

HOUSE

EXISTIN
G

G
AR

AG
E

EXISTIN
G

BRIDGE

EXISTING
BRIDGE

PO
RC

H

EXISTIN
G

PO
OL

BITUMINOUS
CURB B-STYLE

CURB

B
-S

TY
LE

C
U

R
B

B
-S

TY
LE

C
U

R
B

B
-S

TY
LE

C
U

R
B

BITUMINOUS
CURB

60

60

C
O

R
C
O

R
A
N

C
IT

Y 
LI

M
IT

S

EXISTING
SEPTIC
AREA

EXISTING
SEPTIC
AREA

EXISTING
SEPTIC
AREA

EXISTING
SEPTIC
AREA

24.9

79.3

33

16

(PUBLIC      ROAD)

(P
U

B
LI

C
  

  
  

R
O

A
D

)

CORCORAN
CITY LIMITS

13
3.

3

47
.9

16

42
.1

440.6

50

50

17
4.

1

174.5

10
3.

6

60

60

50

EXISTING
SEPTIC
MOUND

IN
V

 =
 9

70
.4

2

IN
V 

= 9
94

.0
9

IN
V =

 9
79.0

9

INV = 980.03

983.56FES

983.72
INV4INCH-PVC

IN
V-E =

 975.76

SW
ALE

EXISTING
SEPTIC
AREA

78.7

EX
IS

TI
NG

PO
OL

REMOVE EXISTING
RETAINING WALL-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
SEPTIC SYSTEM

REMOVE EXISTING
POOL & PAVERS

REMOVE EXISTING
RETAINING WALL-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
GARAGE

REMOVE EXISTING
HOUSE

REMOVE EXISTING
WATER VALVE

REMOVE EXISTING
CONCRETE-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
TREES-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
RETAINING WALLS-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
GRAVEL-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
PAVERS

REMOVE EXISTING
TREES-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
BITUMINOUS-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
BITUMINOUS-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
TREES-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
OVERHEAD POWER
LINES, POWER POLE
& GUY WIRE
COORDINATE WITH
UTILITY PROVIDER

REMOVE EXISTING
OVERHEAD POWER
LINES & POWER POLE
COORDINATE WITH
UTILITY PROVIDER

REMOVE EXISTING
STORM SEWER
CULVERT

REMOVE EXISTING GAS
& ELECTRICAL LINES
COORDINATE WITH

UTILITY PROVIDER

SEAL EXISTING WELL
REMOVE ALL ASSOCIATED
WATER PIPING

REMOVE EXISTING
SEPTIC SYSTEM &

ASSOCIATED
SANITARY PIPING

REMOVE EXISTING
GARAGE

REMOVE EXISTING
SHED

REMOVE EXISTING
TREES-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
POOL & CONCRETE

REMOVE EXISTING
LIGHT FIXTURES (6)

REMOVE EXISTING
CATCH BASIN

REMOVE EXISTING
GATE & POST

REMOVE EXISTING
RETAINING WALLS-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
LIGHT FIXTURES (2)

REMOVE EXISTING
SEPTIC SYSTEM
& ASSOCIATED
SANITARY PIPING

REMOVE EXISTING
WATER VALVE & POOL
EQUIPMENT
REMOVE EXISTING
A/C UNIT, GAS &
ELECTRIC METERSREMOVE EXISTING

HOUSE

REMOVE EXISTING
PAVERS-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
CONCRETE-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
BRIDGE STRUCTURE

REMOVE EXISTING
LIGHT FIXTURES (2)

REMOVE EXISTING
WALLS-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
MAILBOX

REMOVE EXISTING
FENCE-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
TREES-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
BRIDGE

REMOVE EXISTING
STORM SEWER CULVERT

REMOVE EXISTING
FENCE-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
MAILBOX REMOVE EXISTING

STORM SEWER CULVERT

 REMOVE EXISTING
TREES-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
CATCH BASIN

REMOVE EXISTING
BITUMINOUS-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
BITUMINOUS-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
RETAINING WALL-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
RETAINING WALL-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
BUILDING-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
SHED-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
CONCRETE-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
GRAVEL-TYP

 REMOVE EXISTING
TREES-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
TREES-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
GRAVEL-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
FENCE-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
GARAGE-TYP

 REMOVE EXISTING
FENCE-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
PAVERS-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
RETAINING WALL-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
ELECTRICAL LINES

COORDINATE WITH
UTILITY PROVIDER

REMOVE EXISTING FENCE-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
BUILDING-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
SEPTIC SYSTEM & ASSOCIATED
SANITARY PIPING

REMOVE EXISTING
CLEAN OUT

REMOVE EXISTING
BITUMINOUS-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING CONCRETE-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
TREES-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
SEPTIC SYSTEM
& ASSOCIATED

SANITARY PIPING

REMOVE EXISTING
CATCH BASINS &

STORM SEWER

REMOVE EXISTING
RETAINING WALL-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
HOUSE-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
PAVERS-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
RETAINING WALLS-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
GARAGE-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
CONCRETE-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
BITUMINOUS-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
ELECTRICAL LINES
COORDINATE WITH
UTILITY PROVIDER

REMOVE EXISTING
BITUMINOUS-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
WALLS-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
GATE & ASSOCIATED

ELECTRICAL EQUIPMENT

REMOVE EXISTING
CONCRETE-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
MAILBOX

REMOVE EXISTING
SEPTIC SYSTEM & ASSOCIATED

SANITARY PIPING

REMOVE EXISTING
HOUSE-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
RETAINING WALLS-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
CONCRETE-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
CONCRETE-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
RETAINING WALLS-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
BITUMINOUS-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
TREES-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
TREES-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
STORM SEWER, FLARED

END & RIPRAP

REMOVE EXISTING
STORM SEWER

CULVERT

REMOVE EXISTING
TREES-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
TREES-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
TREES-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
TREES-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
TREES-TYP

REMOVE EXISTING
TREES AS NEEDED FOR

SANITARY SEWER
INSTALLATION

REMOVE & REPLACE
EXISTING CURB & GUTTER,

BITUMINOUS AND
SIDEWALK AS NEEDED
FOR SANITARY SEWER

INSTALLATION

REMOVE EXISTING
STORM SEWER

CULVERT

SEAL EXISTING WELL
REMOVE ALL ASSOCIATED

WATER PIPING

SEAL EXISTING WELL
REMOVE ALL ASSOCIATED
WATER PIPING

DEMO RELATED TO FUTURE ROAD IMPROVEMENTS TO BE
DESIGNED & CONSTRUCTED BY CITY

DEMO RELATED TO
FUTURE ROAD

IMPROVEMENTS
TO BE DESIGNED &

CONSTRUCTED
BY CITY/COUNTY

REMOVE & REPLACE
EXISTING CURB & GUTTER,

BITUMINOUS AND
SIDEWALK AS NEEDED

FOR WATERMAIN
INSTALLATION

REMOVE & REPLACE
EXISTING CURB & GUTTER,

BITUMINOUS,
SIDEWALK, CATCH BASINS AND

STORM SEWER AS NEEDED
FOR WATERMAIN

INSTALLATION

APPROXIMATE
EXTENTS OF
WETLAND
IMPACTS

APPROXIMATE
EXTENTS OF
WETLAND
IMPACTS

N

SCALE       IN       FEET

0 50 100

Consultants

LOUCKS PROJECT NO. 19176A

SD ISSUE

LOUCKS

7200 Hemlock Lane, Suite 300

Maple Grove, MN 55369

763.424.5505

www.loucksinc.com

PLANNING

CIVIL ENGINEERING

LAND SURVEYING

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

ENVIRONMENTAL

Co
py

rig
ht

 B
W

BR

DateItem

Sheet No.

Sheet Title

Comm. No. Drawn

3.2019023.00

This document may be an electronic file or may
be printed from an electronic file provided to
the user.  It is the sole responsibility of the user
to ensure that the content and quality is
consistent with the content and quality of the
original documents on file at BWBR.

Issued For

Consultants

651.222.3701
Saint Paul, MN 55102
380 St. Peter Street, Ste. 600

bwbr.com

This Sheet may be
a Reduced Copy.

The bar above is 1" long on a Full Size Sheet.
Drawing Scales apply to Full Size Sheets.

NOT F
OR

CONST
RUCTIO

N

Name

Date Lic./Reg. No.05-19-2020 53706

I hereby certify that this plan, specification or report was prepared
by me or under my direct supervision and that I am a duly

Licensed/Registered Professional Engineer under the laws of the
State of Minnesota

Trevor D. Gruys - PE

04-29-2020

EAGLE BROOK
CHURCH

WEST METRO
CAMPUS

CUP ISSUE 05-19-2020

DEMOLITION PLAN

210.SD

TDG/ZBM/MDC

NOTE:
EXISTING CONDITIONS
INFORMATION SHOWN IS FROM
A TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY
PREPARED BY E. G. RUD & SONS,
INC. AND DATED APRIL, 2020.

Gopher State One Call

WARNING:
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR CALLING FOR LOCATIONS
OF ALL EXISTING UTILITIES. THEY SHALL COOPERATE WITH ALL UTILITY
COMPANIES IN MAINTAINING THEIR SERVICE AND / OR RELOCATION OF
LINES.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT GOPHER STATE ONE CALL AT
651-454-0002 AT LEAST 48 HOURS IN ADVANCE FOR THE LOCATIONS OF
ALL UNDERGROUND WIRES, CABLES, CONDUITS, PIPES, MANHOLES,
VALVES OR OTHER BURIED STRUCTURES BEFORE DIGGING. THE
CONTRACTOR SHALL REPAIR OR REPLACE THE ABOVE WHEN DAMAGED
DURING CONSTRUCTION AT NO COST TO THE OWNER.

DENOTES CONCRETE SURFACE

DENOTES BITUMINOUS SURFACE

DENOTES GRAVEL SURFACE

DENOTES PAVER SURFACE

DENOTES EXISTING CONTOURS

DENOTES TREES COVERED AREA

DENOTES ROCK SURFACE

DENOTES RIPRAP

DENOTES RETAINING WALL
DENOTES FENCE

DENOTES EXISTING SANITARY SEWER
DENOTES EXISTING STORM SEWER
DENOTES OVERHEAD UTILITY
DENOTES UNDERGROUND ELECTRIC LINE
DENOTES UNDERGROUND GAS LINE
DENOTES UNDERGROUND CABLE LINE

DENOTES TREE LINE

DENOTES UNDERGROUND FIBER OPTIC LINE

DENOTES IRON MONUMENT FOUND AS LABELED

DENOTES CATCH BASIN

DENOTES STORM SEWER MANHOLE

DENOTES HYDRANT

DENOTES WATER VALVE

DENOTES GAS METER

DENOTES POWER POLE

DENOTES SIGN

DENOTES LIGHT POLE

DENOTES CABLE PEDESTAL

DENOTES EXISTING SPOT ELEVATION

DENOTES STORM SEWER APRON

DENOTES WELL

DENOTES MISCELLANEOUS MANHOLE

DENOTES MAILBOX

DENOTES FIBER OPTIC BOX

DENOTES ELECTRICAL BOX

DENOTES GUY WIRE

DENOTES AIR CONDITIONING UNIT

DENOTES GAS VALVE

DENOTES CLEAN OUT
DENOTES CURB STOP

DENOTES HAND HOLE

DENOTES BRACE POLE OR GUY POLE

DENOTES ELECTRICAL MANHOLE

DENOTES SANITARY SEWER MANHOLE

GV

CO

CS

DENOTES FOUND MAGNETIC DRAW

DENOTES FINISHED FLOOR ELEVATION

1234 DENOTES TREE TAG NUMBER

DENOTES UNDERGROUND TELEPHONE LINE

DENOTES WETLAND AS DELINEATED

DENOTES SOIL TEST

BY KJOLHAUG ENVIRONEMENTAL

REMOVE EXISTING CURB & GUTTER,
RETAINING WALLS, FENCE, ETC.

REMOVE EXISTING MANHOLES, POWER
POLES, LIGHT POLES, BOLLARDS, PARKING
METERS, SIGNS, ETC.

REMOVE EXISTING CONCRETE PAVING,
SIDEWALKS, ETC.

REMOVE EXISTING TREES

REMOVE EXISTING UTILITIES

REMOVE EXISTING BITUMINOUS PAVING

DEMOLITION LEGEND:

REMOVE EXISTING BUILDING

REMOVE EXISTING TREES/WOODS

REMOVE EXISTING GRAVEL PAVEMENT

SURVEY LEGEND:

1. CONTRACTOR SHALL REMOVE AND/OR RELOCATE EXISTING PRIVATE UTILITIES AS NECESSARY.
CONTRACTOR TO COORDINATE ACTIVITIES WITH UTILITY COMPANIES.

2. CONTRACTOR SHALL PROTECT SURFACE AND SUBSURFACE FEATURES NOT NOTED FOR
REMOVAL.

3.  CONTRACTOR TO CLEAR AND GRUB EXISTING VEGETATION WITHIN CONSTRUCTION LIMITS,
STRIP TOP SOIL,  AND STOCKPILE ON-SITE. REFER TO GRADING PLAN AND SWPPP FOR
SEDIMENT AND EROSION CONTROL REQUIREMENTS.

4. CLEAR AND GRUB AND REMOVE ALL TREES, VEGETATION AND SITE DEBRIS PRIOR TO GRADING.
ALL REMOVED MATERIAL SHALL BE HAULED FROM THE SITE DAILY. ALL CLEARING AND
GRUBBING AND REMOVALS SHALL BE PERFORMED PER THE CONTRACT SPECIFICATIONS.
EROSION CONTROL MEASURES SHALL BE IMMEDIATELY ESTABLISHED UPON REMOVAL.  SEE THE
STORMWATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN (SWPPP).

5. CONTRACTOR SHALL REMOVE ALL SITE SURFACE FEATURES WITHIN REMOVAL LIMITS UNLESS
OTHERWISE NOTED.

6. WELLS ON THE PROPERTY SHALL BE SEALED BY A MINNESOTA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH (MDH)
LICENSED CONTRACTOR.

7. SEPTIC SYSTEMS AND ALL ASSOCIATED SANITARY PIPING SHALL BE REMOVED AND DISPOSED OF
PER MINNESOTA POLLUTION CONTROL AGENCY (MPCA) REQUIREMENTS.

8. CONTRACTOR SHALL REMOVE AND DISPOSE OF ALL SMALL UTILITIES SUCH AS GAS, ELECTRIC,
CABLE, TELEPHONE, ETC. SERVING THE EXISTING HOUSES TO THE PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY (ROW)
OR THE MAIN SERVING THE UTILITY.

9. CONTRACTOR TO COORDINATE ALL WORK WITHIN THE PUBLIC ROW WITH THE CITY AND/OR
COUNTY.

10.CONTRACTOR TO COORDINATE ALL WORK WITHIN THE NORTH AND WEST PROPERTIES WITH
THE PROPERTY OWNER.

SITE DEMOLITION NOTES

REMOVE EXISTING PAVERS

APPROXIMATE EXTENTS OF WETLAND IMPACTS



CS
CS

995.45 995.46

995.96
995.82

99
6.2

0

996.26

996.42

99
6.

54

99
6.4

4

996.88

997.40

994.23

99
4.

98

995.63

995.75

99
3.5

6

99
4.

46

987.00

EDGE OF WATER AS
MEASURED 3-18-2020

EXISTIN
G

BRIDGE

BITUMINOUS
CURB B-STYLE

CURB

B
-S

TY
LE

C
U

R
B

B
-S

TY
LE

C
U

R
B

B
-S

TY
LE

C
U

R
B

BITUMINOUS
CURB

C
O

R
C
O

R
A
N

C
IT

Y 
LI

M
IT

S

(PUBLIC      ROAD)

(P
U

B
LI

C
  

  
  

R
O

A
D

)

CORCORAN
CITY LIMITS

42
.1

scan2830

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

FUTURE ROAD IMPROVEMENTS TO BE
DESIGNED & CONSTRUCTED BY CITY

FUTURE ROAD IMPROVEMENTS
TO BE DESIGNED & CONSTRUCTED

BY CITY/COUNTY

PROPOSED
BUILDING
FFE=995.00

CONCRETE STOOP-TYP
COORDINATE WITH
ARCHITECTURAL &

STRUCTURAL PLANS

CONCRETE STOOP-TYP
COORDINATE WITH
ARCHITECTURAL &

STRUCTURAL PLANS

CONCRETE STOOP-TYP
COORDINATE WITH
ARCHITECTURAL &

STRUCTURAL PLANS

CONCRETE STOOP-TYP
COORDINATE WITH
ARCHITECTURAL &
STRUCTURAL PLANS

20' GRAVEL TRAIL
FOR FIRE ACCESS

CONCRETE STOOP-TYP
COORDINATE WITH
ARCHITECTURAL &
STRUCTURAL PLANS

6.0'

PEDESTRIAN RAMP
TYP-SEE DETAIL

18.5' 26.0'
37.0'

26.0' 18.5'

18.5'
30.0'9.0'

TYP

9.0'

TYP

26.0'
10.0'

15.7'

26.0'

26.0'

18.5' 26.0'
37.0'

26.0'
37.0'

26.0'
37.0'

26.0' 18.5'
40.3'

26.0'
33.3'

18.5' 26.0'
37.0'

26.0'
37.0'

26.0'
37.0'

26.0' 18.5'

26
.0

'

26.0'

26.0'

8.7'
15.9'

30.0'

18.5' 26.0'
37.0'

26.0' 18.5'

8.7'

15.9'

9.0'

TYP

9.0'

TYP

9.0'

TYP

9.0'

TYP

9.0'

TYP

9.0'

TYP

9.0'

TYP

9.0'

TYP

26.0'

26.0'

13
.0

'
13

.0
'

10
.0

'

WETLAND
BUFFER-TYP

WETLAND
BUFFER-TYP

25.0'

25.0'

WETLAND
BUFFER-TYP

20
.0

'

20' BUILDING
& PARKING SETBACK

25
.0

'

WETLAND
BUFFER-TYP

10.0'

10' PARKING SETBACK

20.0'

20' BUILDING
& PARKING SETBACK

CONCRETE STOOP-TYP
COORDINATE WITH
ARCHITECTURAL &
STRUCTURAL PLANS

CONCRETE PAVEMENT
TYP-SEE DETAIL

6.0'

CONCRETE SIDEWALK
TYP-SEE DETAIL

CONCRETE SIDEWALK
TYP-SEE DETAIL

CONCRETE SIDEWALK
TYP-SEE DETAIL

SEE HARDSCAPE PLAN

BUILDING COLUMNS
& CANOPY ABOVE

SEE ARCHITECTURAL PLANS

B612 CURB
& GUTTER

TYP-SEE DETAIL

SURMOUNTABLE
CURB & GUTTER

TYP-SEE DETAIL

B612 CURB
& GUTTER
TYP-SEE DETAIL

B612 CURB
& GUTTER
TYP-SEE DETAIL

B612 CURB
& GUTTER
TYP-SEE DETAIL

B612 CURB
& GUTTER
TYP-SEE DETAIL

TYPICAL ADA
PARKING STALLS

SEE DETAIL

DOUBLE SIDED ADA
PARKING SIGN/

BOLLARD COMBO (6)
TYP-SEE DETAIL

DOUBLE SIDED ADA
NO PARKING ACCESS AISLE
SIGN/BOLLARD COMBO (3)

TYP-SEE DETAIL

ADA PARKING
SIGN (2)

TYP-SEE DETAIL

TYP ADA
PARKING STALLS

SEE DETAIL

ADA PARKING
SIGN/BOLLARD

COMBO (4)
TYP-SEE DETAIL

TYP ADA
PARKING STALLS
SEE DETAIL

ADA PARKING
SIGN/BOLLARD
COMBO (4)
TYP-SEE DETAIL

8

36

32
32 29

9
25

22
22

24

40

40
40

40
40

40
40

40

40

40
40

40
40

32

27

30

25.0'

100.0'

100' BUILDING
& PARKING
SETBACK

30.0'

30' BUILDING SETBACK

10
.0

'

10' BUILDING
& PARKING SETBACK

FRONT ENTRY PLAZA

SNOW
STORAGE

AREA

SURMOUNTABLE
CURB & GUTTER
TYP-SEE DETAIL

SNOW
STORAGE

AREA

B612 CURB
& GUTTER

TYP-SEE DETAIL

B612 CURB
& GUTTER

TYP-SEE DETAIL

CURB CUT
TYP-SEE DETAIL

MONUMENT
SIGN

SURMOUNTABLE
CURB & GUTTER
TYP-SEE DETAIL

B612 CURB
& GUTTER

TYP-SEE DETAIL

SNOW
STORAGE

AREA

SNOW
STORAGE

AREA

SNOW
STORAGE

AREA

SURMOUNTABLE
CURB & GUTTER
TYP-SEE DETAIL

SURMOUNTABLE
CURB & GUTTER
TYP-SEE DETAIL

CURB CUT
TYP-SEE DETAIL

HEAVY DUTY
BITUMINOUS
PAVEMENT
TYP-SEE DETAIL

LIGHT DUTY
BITUMINOUS
PAVEMENT
TYP-SEE DETAIL

LIGHT DUTY
BITUMINOUS

PAVEMENT
TYP-SEE DETAIL

HEAVY DUTY
BITUMINOUS

PAVEMENT
TYP-SEE DETAIL

LIGHT DUTY
BITUMINOUS
PAVEMENT
TYP-SEE DETAIL

HEAVY DUTY
BITUMINOUS
PAVEMENT
TYP-SEE DETAIL

50.0'

20.0'

BIOFILTRATION BASIN
TYP-SEE DETAIL

BIOFILTRATION BASIN
TYP-SEE DETAIL

6.0'

LIGHT DUTY
BITUMINOUS

PAVEMENT
TYP-SEE DETAIL

25'R
25'R

226'R

200'R

10'R

5'R

5'R

10'R
10'R

10'R 10'R

10'R

10'R

10'R

5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R

5'R
5'R

30'R

50'R

10'R

10'R

10'R

10'R
10'R

10'R

10'R

10'R
10'R

10'R

10'R

5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R

5'R

5'R

5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R

5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R

5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R

5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R

5'R

5'R

5'R

5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R
5'R

10'R

10'R

10'R

10'R

10'R

10'R

10'R

10'R

10'R

10'R

10'R
10'R

10'R

10'R

500'R

526'R

200'R

226'R
30'R

30'R

25'R

25'R

40'R

14'R

100'R

74'R15'R

15'R

134'R

160'R

100'R

126'R

15'R

15'R

15'R
15'R

30'R

30'R

10'R
10'R

10'R
10'R

10'R
10'R

10'R

10'R

10'R

10'R

10'R

174'R

200'R

10'R

5'R
5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R

5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R5'R

5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R

5'R

5'R
5'R

5'R
5'R

15'R

15'R

40'R

14'R

2'R

2'R

SCREENING FOR
TRASH DUMPSTERS

N

SCALE       IN       FEET

0 50 100

Consultants

LOUCKS PROJECT NO. 19176A

SD ISSUE

LOUCKS

7200 Hemlock Lane, Suite 300

Maple Grove, MN 55369

763.424.5505

www.loucksinc.com

PLANNING

CIVIL ENGINEERING

LAND SURVEYING

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

ENVIRONMENTAL

Co
py

rig
ht

 B
W

BR

DateItem

Sheet No.

Sheet Title

Comm. No. Drawn

3.2019023.00

This document may be an electronic file or may
be printed from an electronic file provided to
the user.  It is the sole responsibility of the user
to ensure that the content and quality is
consistent with the content and quality of the
original documents on file at BWBR.

Issued For

Consultants

651.222.3701
Saint Paul, MN 55102
380 St. Peter Street, Ste. 600

bwbr.com

This Sheet may be
a Reduced Copy.

The bar above is 1" long on a Full Size Sheet.
Drawing Scales apply to Full Size Sheets.

NOT F
OR

CONST
RUCTIO

N

Name

Date Lic./Reg. No.05-19-2020 53706

I hereby certify that this plan, specification or report was prepared
by me or under my direct supervision and that I am a duly

Licensed/Registered Professional Engineer under the laws of the
State of Minnesota

Trevor D. Gruys - PE

04-29-2020

EAGLE BROOK
CHURCH

WEST METRO
CAMPUS

CUP ISSUE 05-19-2020

SITE PLAN

220.CS

TDG/ZBM/MDC

NOTE:
EXISTING CONDITIONS
INFORMATION SHOWN IS FROM
A TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY
PREPARED BY E. G. RUD & SONS,
INC. AND DATED APRIL, 2020.




23

CIVIL LEGEND

Gopher State One Call

WARNING:
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR CALLING FOR LOCATIONS
OF ALL EXISTING UTILITIES. THEY SHALL COOPERATE WITH ALL UTILITY
COMPANIES IN MAINTAINING THEIR SERVICE AND / OR RELOCATION OF
LINES.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT GOPHER STATE ONE CALL AT
651-454-0002 AT LEAST 48 HOURS IN ADVANCE FOR THE LOCATIONS OF
ALL UNDERGROUND WIRES, CABLES, CONDUITS, PIPES, MANHOLES,
VALVES OR OTHER BURIED STRUCTURES BEFORE DIGGING. THE
CONTRACTOR SHALL REPAIR OR REPLACE THE ABOVE WHEN DAMAGED
DURING CONSTRUCTION AT NO COST TO THE OWNER.

NOTE:
SEE PAVEMENT SECTIONS ON SHEET 250.CD AND 251.CD
FOR TYPE AND DEPTH INFORMATION.

LIGHT DUTY BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT

CONCRETE SIDEWALK

HEAVY DUTY BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT

CONCRETE PAVEMENT

PAVEMENT TYPES

SITE NOTES
1. ALL PAVING, CONCRETE CURB, GUTTER AND SIDEWALK SHALL BE FURNISHED AND INSTALLED

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE DETAILS SHOWN PER THE DETAIL SHEET(S) AND STATE/LOCAL
JURISDICTION REQUIREMENTS.

2. ACCESSIBLE PARKING  AND ACCESSIBLE ROUTES SHALL BE PROVIDED PER CURRENT ADA
STANDARDS AND LOCAL/STATE REQUIREMENTS.

3. ALL CURB DIMENSIONS SHOWN ARE TO THE  FACE OF CURB UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

4. ALL BUILDING DIMENSIONS ARE TO THE OUTSIDE FACE OF WALL UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

5. TYPICAL FULL SIZED PARKING STALL IS 9' X 18.5' UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

6. ALL CURB RADII SHALL BE 5.0' UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

7. BITUMINOUS IMPREGNATED FIBER BOARD TO BE PLACED AT FULL DEPTH OF CONCRETE
ADJACENT TO EXISTING STRUCTURES AND BEHIND CURB ADJACENT TO DRIVEWAYS AND
SIDEWALKS.

8. SEE SITE ELECTRICAL PLAN FOR SITE LIGHTING.

CURRENT  ZONING: RSF-2
PROPOSED ZONING: RSF-2

PROPERTY AREA: 32.45 AC
DISTURBED AREA: 25.26 AC
EXISTING IMPERVIOUS AREA:   1.95 AC (6.0%)
PROPOSED IMPERVIOUS AREA: 10.68 AC (32.9%)

SITE DATA

YARD (BUILDING) SETBACKS:
FRONT (FROM 101) 100 FT MINIMUM
SIDE (FROM HACKAMORE)   20 FT MINIMUM
SIDE   10 FT MINIMUM
REAR   30 FT MINIMUM

OFF-STREET PARKING AND DESIGN STANDARD REQUIREMENTS
OFF-STREET PARKING SETBACKS:

FRONT (FROM 101) 100 FT MINIMUM
SIDE (FROM HACKAMORE)   20 FT MINIMUM
SIDE   10 FT MINIMUM
REAR   10 FT MINIMUM

MINIMUM PARKING LAYOUT DIMENSIONS (90 DEGREE PATTERN):
PARKING SPACE WIDTH = 9 FT
PARKING SPACE LENGTH = 18.5 FT
DRIVE LANE WIDTH = 26 FT

DEVELOPMENT AND DESIGN STANDARDS

PROPOSED CHURCH: XX,XXX SF @ X STALLS PER XXXX = XXX STALLS

TOTAL PARKING REQUIRED = XXX STALLS

TOTAL PARKING PROVIDED = 848 STALLS

OFF-STREET PARKING CALCULATIONS

PROPOSED ACCESSIBLE PARKING: 22 STALLS

REQUIRED ACCESSIBLE PARKING: 17 STALLS**

**REQUIRED MINIMUM NUMBER OF ACCESSIBLE SPACES FOR 501 TO 1000 STALLS
(2% OF TOTAL STALLS PROVIDED)

ACCESSIBLE PARKING

SIGNAGE AND STRIPING NOTES
1. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR ALL SITE SIGNAGE AND STRIPING AS SHOWN ON

THIS PLAN.

2. CONTRACTOR SHALL PAINT ALL ACCESSIBLE STALLS, LOGOS AND CROSS HATCH LOADING
AISLES WITH WHITE PAVEMENT MARKING PAINT, 4" IN WIDTH.

3. CONTRACTOR SHALL PAINT ANY/ALL DIRECTIONAL TRAFFIC ARROWS, AS SHOWN, IN WHITE
PAINT.

4. ALL SIGNAGE SHALL INCLUDE POST, CONCRETE FOOTING AND STEEL CASING WHERE
REQUIRED.

5. ALL SIGNAGE NOT PROTECTED BY CURB, LOCATED IN PARKING LOT OR OTHER PAVED AREAS
TO BE PLACED IN STEEL CASING, FILLED WITH CONCRETE AND PAINTED YELLOW.  REFER TO
DETAIL.

6. ANY/ALL STOP SIGNS TO INCLUDE A 24" WIDE PAINTED STOP BAR IN WHITE PAINT, PLACED AT
THE STOP SIGN LOCATION, A MINIMUM OF 4' FROM CROSSWALK IF APPLICABLE.  ALL STOP
BARS SHALL EXTEND FROM DIRECTIONAL TRANSITION BETWEEN LANES TO CURB.

7. ALL SIGNS TO BE PLACED 18" BEHIND BACK OF CURB UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.



33

33

50

50

60

979.9979.497
9.1

976.11

982.3

982.9

983.9

980.51
981.19

985.47
CS989.25

989.43

988.83

988.72 988.60

989.08

988.99

989.00

98
9.

70

989.47

989.65

989.73

988.78

988.62

988.61

98
6.1

4

984.45

981.23

979.90
981.46

979.6 979.2 978.9 978.9 979.8

979.0

980.9

981.1

982.5980.2980.1

982.5
986.7

987.0

985.6983.8980.3

97
8.

5

978.2
979.1

978.9
979.4979.2

979.2979.5

98
2.

2984.1

985.9

985.0
984.5 983.3

984.0

987.54

98
6.7

6
986.10

985.38

985.44

98
6.

13

986.12

986.90

987.28

987.64

988.08

987.90

988.06

988.37

98
8.

18

988.37

988.27

988.38

987.95987.72

986.36
987.53

988.16
987.98

987.55

989.24

989.11

989.16

990.41

990.30 98
9.

95
99

0.
23

984.92
CS 98

6.
42

98
7.9

3

984.27
981.43

982.24

986.3
986.8

985.5 98
1.

6

979.48

979.8

98
2.

6
98

1.
9

980.2
979.9

982.3
981.7

981.9

982.3

990.2

989.3

990.1990.1

989.5
989.5

990.0
989.8

988.6
985.5

983.7

981.4

988.8

987.6

986.4

984.9

983.4

982.2

983.7

985.2 983.6

981.8

980.7

979.2

979.6

980.3
978.7

978.7

978.4

978.2

978.1

977.1

977.1

977.3

977.6

977.7

978.6

989.0

988.1

986.6

986.9

985.1

98
7.

12
98

7.
12

98
6.

63

98
6.4

8

98
6.

28

98
6.

30

98
5.

58

985.36

986.1984.5
984.9

986.6

986.4

986.82

987.65
98

7.8
9

987.30

986.6

980.8
977.8

976.6

974.2 974.3
976.5

976.9

97
9.9

6

983.7

975.4

974.3
975.2975.1

974.6

973.4

97
9.

89

979.64

979.43
980.04

979.64

98
6.

4

985.5

984.2983.2
981.7 98

7.
0

979.7979.4
979.4

979.1

978.2

977.3

977.8

978.1

988.22

988.05
987.99

98
7.

91

987.56

987.27

987.41

98
7.

95

98
7.

3

993.5
987.2

980.3977.7976.4
989.0

985.7

980.0
977.6

976.4

975.3

977.1

980.2
987.1

987.1

978.9

976.4

975.2

977.8

981.6

981.8
977.6

975.3

97
5.

62

974.06

974.01

973.90
974.46974.59974.18

974.70

974.70

973.50

973.56

973.27

972.89

97
2.

62

975.3

97
2.

72

97
3.

46

974.67

974.54

97
4.

91

974.56

974.04

973.80974.397
5.4

974.8

975.0

992.0

991.6

992.27

993.97

990.9

988.9

990.9

99
2.

8

988.97

990.94

991.72

992.32

992.83

993.09
993.3499

3.4
7

994.11

99
3.

29

99
3.

8299
4.

31

994.32

992.83

991.35

989.12

991.0

994.5

994.9

993.4

991.1

990.9

989.4

995.45 995.46

990.9

99
1.

8

991.62

992.17

991.67
991.32

98
9.

9

987.4

988.2

991.27991.47

990.0

990.2

991.75

982.9

982.6

982.1

982.1

983.3 981.9

982.3

981.9

981.3

982.0

980.7

993.23

99
3.

36

992.22

993.64

991.3
990.4

991.1

982.9

981.0

995.96
995.82

99
6.2

0

996.26

996.42

99
6.

54

99
6.4

4

996.88

997.40997.95

999.30

99
9.

72

998.0

997.5 997.7

998.2

99
8.

4

997.30

995.13
996.3

995.1

996.6

994.23

99
4.

98

995.63

992.1

988.0

987.8

992.6

995.75 994.9

98
2.8

6
983.13
98

2.9
5

98
2.2

8

982.12

981.87

981.51

98
2.0

3

98
1.

98

98
0.5

6
98

0.5
9

98
0.3

5
979.17

979.42

97
9.

34

97
8.

40

978.28
977.81

977.83

97
7.

69

97
7.

33

977.51

977.38
977.11

977.18

97
7.

03

97
6.

72

97
6.7

9
97

6.7
9

977.05

976.69

97
6.

71

97
6.9

2

976.72
977.21

97
7.2

5

97
6.9

3 977.62

978.00
979.75

97
9.

36

98
1.

40

981.76

982.88 983.08

983.88

983.87

98
3.

60

98
4.

44

984.69

984.41

985.15

986.67 985.35

984.59

984.55

98
4.

55

98
4.2

8

984.33

984.41

98
3.

32

983.59

98
3.3

8 983.80
982.19

981.86

98
1.

79

97
9.

62

979.46 977.56

97
7.

63

97
6.

02

975.87

97
4.

96

974.99

97
5.

24

97
4.

05

973.87

974.07 97
3.

81

97
4.

00

974.12STOP-LIGHT

973.94

980.4

98
5.

0

984.7
982.3

97
0.

94

974.9

976.7976.4

97
5.

9

975.3

974.9

97
6.

2

977.1
977.3

976.2
977.7978.3

977.3

979.1980.1981.1
981.9

982.8
982.0

98
3.

1

984.5
983.8

970.77

97
3.1

9

972.58

972.48

97
3.0

9

972.72

STO
PLI

GHT

971.61

971.89

971.72

971.71

971.43971.64STOPLIGHT

972.82

STO
PLI

GHT

97
2.4

1

973.76

97
3.9

8

973.53

97
2.4

6

97
2.3

0
97

1.8
5

961.60

974.09

96
3.

31

96
2.

72

963.59

974.99

976.11

977.12

97
8.

00

978.67

97
9.

16

980.13

980.56
981.34

981.32

980.73

975.80

980.95

980.78

981.50

98
2.

38
98

3.
07

983.46

98
4.

09

984.20

98
4.3

2

98
4.3

2

984.63

96
7.

9

967.0

967.4

968.2
968.3

968.1
967.9

974.2

97
4.

0

97
3.

7

98
4.

65
98

4.
54

984.29

98
4.5

0

983.78
983.28

982.66

982.48

986.36

987.00
987.38

987.36

986.03

985.35

985.47 98
4.

2

984.75

98
5.

11

98
6.

8
98

7.
0

98
6.

2
98

5.
0

98
5.

0

98
5.

1

982.36

983.02

983.67
983.75
983.78

983.90
983.66

983.96
984.29

984.65

984.73

984.68

984.76

984.50

984.33

983.89

983.52

983.35

983.18

982.42

981.37

980.46

979.47

978.97

978.07

976.95

975.95

974.90

99
1.

87

991.24

989.34

989.77

986.75

986.54

984.29
983.11

981.72 981.16

980.62
980.07

979.93 980.04

975.2

975.2
975.3974.8

972.8

975.1

967.2

967.6

969.5

973.0
976.1978.2979.3

979.3

978.1
978.0 978.6

977.6

975.5

973.9

969.5

969.5

974.9

977.1

977.5
976.9

977.1

977.2

976.0

976.0

974.6

973.6

972.4

973.9

973.2

971.6

969.9

971.2

969.1

975.1
976.2

976.5

977.4

976.4

976.4

974.5

973.0

971.5

972.4

973.5

975.5

976.9

976.8

977.6

978.1

978.4

977.8

975.2
973.6

972.5

973.2
973.6

976.6

978.9

979.5

981.4 979.2 976.2 973.7 973.1

974.3

976.1

977.8
980.1981.6

982.6 981.1
979.7

978.1

976.5

979.9

97
7.

21

97
5.

44 974.81

972.21 97
2.

00

97
1.

72

97
1.

64

988.5

98
6.

9
98

2.
3

1003.8

1006.6

1007.9

1009.3

1011.6

1010.4

1009.6

1008.4

1007.6

1007.47

1008.38

1008.74

1008.64

10
09

.7
2

1009.54

1008.63

1009.05

10
08

.3
9

1007.98

1008.6

1004.9

1002.8

1001.4

1000.2

999.1

994.3
993.9

992.0
994.6

990.5

990.0

990.2

989.3

991.2
991.8

990.0

989.6

989.5

990.0

991.8

990.8

991.44

990.25

990.28

990.06990.24

977.71

975.25
976.27

975.32

98
6.2

0

98
5.

85975.21

975.20

973.99

97
3.

98

97
5.

37

975.46

97
4.

02

974.03

974.93
974.76

974.14

974.18

975.00

974.18

974.13

97
3.9

8

975.15

974.4

97
3.

99

974.1

974.7

974.1

975.3

978.9 978.0 977.1 977.1 976.3
975.2

974.6

974.9
974.9

975.4

975.5

974.9

975.9
976.1

976.8

977.1

976.7975.9

975.7

975.43

97
5.

93

97
5.

85

976.80

97
4.

94 975.12

975.33

97
3.

9097
4.

99

974.82

97
4.

11

974.71

97
4.

15

97
3.

96

97
4.

38

97
4.7

4

974.17

974.05

975.15

97
4.

74

973.74

974.00

974.35

97
3.

55

974.4

974.3
973.55

974.3

974.4974.5

974.9974.3974.9974.7974.8975.1
975.3

975.9

975.6
975.0

975.1 974.6
975.0

975.4

977.8977.8975.9

976.2

976.3

976.0

976.6

97
6.4

976.3

977.1

977.2

977.0
978.16

977.39

97
7.8

0

97
8.4

1

979.44

98
1.5

4

982.17981.64
979.72

983.04 983.63

983.44
982.72983.45

990.44

99
0.

27

988.3

986.3

984.83

983.98

984.24

98
3.

13

981.58

980.96

980.90

981.19

982.53

983.4

984.0

981.65

978.66

977.63

977.63

975.61
977.75

978.63

979.76

980.84

982.7

98
7.

6
98

9.
6

98
9.

6

98
7.

7

1003.8

1012.1

988.9989.7
991.8994.0994.8

995.7997.0

1001.6 1000.6 999.6
1001.4

1001.0

997.7

1002.11004.71005.6
1007.31007.6

1010.7
1009.9

1008.1

1010.7

10
11

.71012.9

1003.3

1014.7

1014.4

1014.6 1008.3 1002.7 1001.8

1001.71004.11005.41009.6
1014.7

1011.74

1011.40

10
10

.6
4

1007.88

1006.69
1007.12

10
07

.3
4

10
07

.7
4

10
08

.4
2

1008.84
1013.82

1012.58

1012.33

1011.77

1007.921007.88

1005.9

1006.2

1003.3

99
3.8

9

993.62991.8

992.0

99
2.

2

993.7

993.7

99
4.

4 994.59

99
4.

50

99
4.

37

994.50

993.5

993.98
993.1

993.1

991.9

991.3

991.6

986.67

98
6.6

4

98
6.4

98
6.

68

991.76989.8991.16

986.2

988.22

98
6.

6

98
9.0

3

986.7

986.0 986.63

987.0

988.45

991.09

993.7

992.6 992.46

983.94
984.42

986.01
985.8

985.4

986.5

986.2

987.35

990.6

991.0

992.2

991.4

991.0

990.3
990.1

990.3

989.15
989.24

988.73

988.66

988.86
988.35

988.44

990.30

990.70

990.42

988.0
988.5

989.09

988.85
988.19

987.88

988.4

987.8
990.5

990.5

990.1

990.94

991.96

992.46

991.8
992.1

989.5
991.17

991.28

990.12

98
7.

4 987.2

98
7.

3

986.9

991.7
990.2

986.6

99
3.5

6

99
4.

46

994.8

99
4.

62

99
2.3

8

991.0

990.46

989.0

987.60

989.7

992.58

991.48

993.3

992.0

992.1

991.6

990.5

988.1

988.9

989.8

990.2

988.5

988.2

987.6

987.9

988.8

990.0
989.6

990.1

988.7
990.2

991.6

990.0985.2

980.6 986.4

984.0

979.7

978.3

983.2

980.8

977.6

97
5.

8

97
6.

18

97
7.

38

97
5.

90

975.0

976.9597
4.

9

97
3.

9

97
4.

7

974.74

97
4.

25

97
7.2

2

977.19

974.86
976.03

977.74 97
7.

80

976.84

978.51

978.94

978.73

976.61

975.7

977.54
979.52 979.81

979.52

981.3

98
3.

7

981.32

979.33
981.41
984.10 98

4.2
8

984.1 986.2

987.1

987.12

987.02

984.78

988.88

986.6

989.44 98
9.

49

989.2

988.9989.699
0.1

3989.98

98
9.

7

988.04

98
9.

06
989.11

988.08

987.5

987.5986.9

986.2

986.77

987.0

988.18 98
7.

80

987.8

988.5

987.5

988.9989.40

989.57

98
8.

62

98
7.

47
98

4.
12

98
3.

40

981.45
981.85

981.14

984.46

986.98
986.82

986.0

986.3

985.7

984.9

985.4
985.9

984.4

984.0

983.2

982.7

985.1 984.2

983.9

984.6

985.2

985.8

987.0

990.2

991.5
990.8

989.3

986.9

986.0

985.0

986.2

98
9.

48

990.13

990.23

989.6

991.57
991.45

99
0.

65

99
2.

61

993.20

993.26

997.77

997.62

99
6.

96

10
02

.1
2

1002.02

1005.27

10
05

.69

10
07

.85
1007.51

1008.27

1008.74

1008.30

1007.29

1006.43

1005.78

1005.46

1005.34
1005.32 10

03
.9

9

1004.72

1003.2

1005.35
1005.2010

05
.9

2

1004.3

1005.5

10
06

.74

10
06

.3
7

10
06

.4
7

10
06

.6
2

10
07

.5
0

1008.69

1009.69

1009.99

1010.45

1010.83

10
09

.71

1008.69

10
07

.3
6

1010.8

1012.2

1014.0

1012.11013.9

1015.7

1014.3

10
14

.3
8

10
16

.6
9

1016.98

1018.02

1016.10

10
15

.3
4

1013.93

1012.74

10
12

.8
6

10
13

.6
0

10
13

.9
5

10
14

.4
9

10
15

.03

1015.59

1016.20

1016.72

1017.33
1017.27

1017.77
10

16
.9

8
10

16
.4

0

1015.081015.14

1016.81

1017.04

10
16

.0
2

1014.20

993.74

993.54

993.80

99
2.

97

992.71

993.15

993.28

99
3.0

4

992.99

992.36

992.43

992.42

992.18

992.44

993.26

991.17

990.13 988.87

985.9

988.4

99
4.1

4

99
4.2

3

99
4.

08

99
3.9

3

993.80

99
3.

60

993.09
992.56

99
3.

92

994.15

994.26

991.9

993.0
991.7

989.7

975.0
973.2

974.7 973.9

974.6
972.6974.6

974.2

975.6

978.7

978.5

978.9

983.6

985.9

989.6

985.0 982.93

985.97

988.92

989.7

986.8

988.5985.6

985.5

983.2

980.61

983.2

978.47

981.3

984.5

987.6
985.1

985.8

985.6

985.4

986.7

987.00

987.3

986.5

986.04

985.94986.57

987.60
987.63

987.73
987.71

987.75
987.74

987.67

98
7.6

7
987.7498

7.
69

987.78

988.03

988.15

988.06

5806
988.21
FIREPLACE-COR

5807
988.19
FIREPLACE-COR

5808
988.25
FIREPLACE-COR
5809
988.22
FIREPLACE-COR

986.9

987.5

988.04

988.30

988.24

988.26

988.30

988.40

98
8.

84

988.81

988.63

988.37

988.13

98
8.0

2

98
7.

82

986.94

98
8.

09

98
8.

12

989.25

98
8.

24
98

8.
56

98
9.

68

98
8.

54

988.58988.21

98
8.

37

989.48

988.5

989.46 989.10

98
4.

15

988.29
987.99

98
7.

78
98

7.
98

987.3

986.8

989.3

989.59

989.13

991.00

984.48

983.61982.42

982.46

982.62

97
8.

97

979.22

979.90

979.98

97
9.

75

97
8.

99

97
8.5

4

97
9.

38

981.16

982.38

983.41

984.69

981.96

982.50

98
6.

65

98
6.

96

98
5.

22

98
3.

58

981.40

978.94

978.18

978.40

97
8.

84

978.77

978.92

979.01977.88

979.35
979.33

977.66

97
8.

20

98
0.

30

98
0.

37

979.38
982.15 98

1.
15

981.08

981.36

981.65

978.81

979.44

979.95

980.13
980.39

978.1

97
8.

0 978.54

97
8.8

1

980.02

983.80

985.23

979.8

980.8981.14

981.52

982.77
980.9

980.3987.58

987.12

985.7

985.4

986.43

987.21

988.35

98
7.

74

986.29

986.88

98
8.

16

98
9.

87

989.81

975.27

1010.00
1007.8

10
07

.0
9

10
07

.4
210

07
.21

10
07

.63

1008.35

1007.69

1008.14

1003.45

987.24

EDGE OF WATER AS
MEASURED 3-18-2020

10
10

1000

990

99
0

99
0

986

98
0

970

980

980

980

980

978

980

980

980

988

98
4

984
980

97
8

97
6

97
497

697
8

98
298

4

978
978

980

986

988
986

984
982

980

98
4

98
2

97
8

97
6

974

972

1008

1006

1004

1002

998

996

994

992 990

988

986

98
4

98
2

978

976

976

978

982

984

986

988

988

98
6

98
8

990

986 98
4

98
2

98
0

97
8

97
6

97
4

986

98
6

984

982

984

982

978

100610
10

10
12

1008

1004

1002
1000

1000 99
8

99
6 99

4

992

990

988

986

EXISTIN
G

BRIDGE

BITUMINOUS
CURB B-STYLE

CURB

B
-S

TY
LE

C
U

R
B

B
-S

TY
LE

C
U

R
B

B
-S

TY
LE

C
U

R
B

BITUMINOUS
CURB

97
4

D
R
IV

EW
A
Y 

A
N

D
 U

TI
LI

TY
 A

G
R
EE

M
EN

T 
PE

R
 D

O
C
U

M
EN

TS
 N

O
. 

50
64

57
8 

A
N

D
 4

65
31

82

30

30

DRIVEWAY AND UTILITY AGREEMENT PER DOCUMENTS NO. 5064578 AND 4653182

30

 1
5'

 I
N

G
R
ES

S
, 

EG
R
ES

S
, 

A
N

D
D

R
IV

EW
A
Y 

EA
S
EM

EN
T 

PE
R

D
O

C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

59
50

71
4 

A
N

D
56

42
60

0

15

15

50
' H

IG
H

W
A
Y 

EA
S
EM

EN
T 

PE
R

D
O

C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

79
01

48
0

 1
5'

 R
EL

IA
N

T 
EN

ER
G

Y 
/

M
IN

N
EG

A
S
C
O

 U
TI

LI
TY

EA
S
EM

EN
T 

PE
R
 D

O
C
U

M
EN

T
N

O
. 

71
87

06
6

15

15

R
EL

EA
S
ED

 F
R
O

M
 1

5'
 I

N
G

R
ES

S
,

EG
R
ES

S
, 

A
N

D
 D

R
IV

EW
A
Y 

EA
S
EM

EN
T

C
R
EA

TE
D

 B
Y 

D
O

C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

59
50

71
4

PE
R
 D

O
C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

59
50

71
5

50
' H

IG
H

W
A
Y 

EA
S
EM

EN
T 

PE
R

D
O

C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

84
70

91
3

DRAINAGE AND UTILITY EASEMENT
PER DOCUMENT NO. 8470913

 1
5'

 R
EL

IA
N

T 
EN

ER
G

Y 
/

M
IN

N
EG

A
S
C
O

 U
TI

LI
TY

 E
A
S
EM

EN
T

PE
R
 D

O
C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

71
87

06
7

50
' H

IG
H

W
A
Y 

EA
S
EM

EN
T 

PE
R

D
O

C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

78
92

15
3

60

60

C
O

R
C
O

R
A
N

C
IT

Y 
LI

M
IT

S

50

33

16

(PUBLIC      ROAD)

(P
U

B
LI

C
  

  
  

R
O

A
D

)

CORCORAN
CITY LIMITS

16

42
.1

118.33

78
.2

1

124.54

78
.0

0

50

50

60

60

S
1°

25
'0

0"
W

  
 6

3.
70

IN
V 

= 9
94

.0
9

IN
V =

 9
79.0

9

INV = 980.03

977.63
ST-20

975.02
ST21

976.38
ST-14

987.90
ST-11

987.25
ST-8

989.54
ST-?

988.10
ST-?

979.34
ST-?

976.23
ST-?

965.9

966.1

966.3

967.1

967.2

970.7

967.3

973.7

983.56FES

986.1
985.7 986.3

986.5986.8

985.7

986.5
986.0

985.0

983.9
983.5

985.3

983.72
INV4INCH-PVC

984.1

988.9

989.3
988.1

988.9

991.1

990.6994.4

995.51001.9

998.91004.0

1004.71006.7

1006.8

1015.2

1009.8

1010.0

IN
V-E =

 975.76

10
10

.9
5

10
08

.1

1008.1

1009.6

1008.05

1008.26

1008.08

1008.09

1008.25

1008.22

10
08

.2
3

1008.90
SPR9

1009.42
SPR15

10
08

.4
9

SP
R1

1

1005.74
ST-1

1000.11
ST-3

990.88
ST-6

988.78
ST-9

992.51
ST-4

969.4

970.9

972.1

971.0

971.4

972.6

976.7

978.2976.0

973.1

969.1

970.3

971.4

971.4

971.5

972.7

97
0

96
8

972
974

976

978

980
scan2830

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G















 






























   









 







FUTURE ROAD IMPROVEMENTS TO BE
DESIGNED & CONSTRUCTED BY CITY

FUTURE ROAD IMPROVEMENTS
TO BE DESIGNED & CONSTRUCTED

BY CITY/COUNTY













  





PROPOSED
BUILDING
FFE=995.00






































95.00

95.00

94.95

94.76

95.00

94.40

95.00

95.00

94.00

93.82

93.59
93.31

93.68

93.77

94.72

95.00
95.00

93.48
93.75

94.33

95.00
92.96

92.82
93.38

93.33

92.16

92.45

92.59
92.97

88.95
89.50

89.02

90.28

89.80

91.39

91.15

91.67

91.91
92.17

93.03
92.77

93.11

93.23

93.81
95.00

95.00

95.00

93.69

93.00

94.84

95.00 94.86

95.00

94.38

94.40

92.58
92.75

93.09

92.91
93.08

93.26

93.53

92.59

91.15

88.24

82.28

82.88

82.24 81.85

93.46

93.08

93.26

93.26

93.08

93.46 93.26

93.53

93.08

93.26
93.26

93.11

93.5394.30
94.59

94.75 94.86

94.9395.00
95.00

94.86

94.35

93.58

93.58

93.54
92.86

92.57

92.16

92.34
91.88

92.63

92.35

93.58 92.87

93.77
93.19

91.64

92.81
92.21

91.87

95.00

95.00

95.00

95.00

94.88

95.00

95.00

94.68

94.12

94.02
94.71

93.85

94.21
95.00

94.88

95.00

95.00
95.00

94.88

92.73
92.23

91.70

92.52

92.32
93.26
93.06

91.43

89.3989.67

89.49
90.01

90.19

91.12

91.30

89.12
88.86

88.49

88.23
87.92

87.05

86.23

85.19 84.79 83.86

83.3284.20
84.66

85.60

86.44

87.39

87.71
87.97

88.34
88.60

88.97
89.49

90.60

91.12

91.68

90.88

91.16

90.36

89.25

88.73

88.36
88.10

87.73

87.47

87.20

83.4283.69

83.33
83.06

83.72

84.08

84.64

84.28

84.67

85.03

85.58

85.22

85.61

85.97

86.17

86.53
86.92

86.56

87.20

86.84

83.42
83.14

82.80
82.41

82.75
82.19

81.86
81.47

81.80

81.25

80.91

80.86

80.52

79.97

80.30
79.91
79.64

79.57

80.00
80.39

80.95
81.34

81.89

82.28

83.12

83.64

83.41
83.80

84.08

84.47

85.01

84.70

91.66
91.09

92.27

92.56

92.72

92.61
92.82 92.61

92.37

92.36

92.34
92.58

92.70

92.26

91.98
91.99

91.95

92.6192.82

92.61

92.33

92.34

91.87

91.91

91.86

91.86

92.35

92.31

92.61

92.82 92.61

92.31

91.98

86.11

85.88
86.60

86.78 86.98

87.34

87.37

87.73

88.28

87.92

88.67

88.31

88.87

89.23

89.62

89.26

89.89

89.53

90.51

90.15

86.91
86.64

87.53

85.57

85.23

84.98
85.14

85.28

84.89

84.69

85.08
84.56

83.95

85.30 85.50

85.77

86.16

85.71

83.56

84.17

84.28

85.25

85.07
85.51

85.79

85.11
84.93

84.67

84.78

84.69

84.77

85.13
85.65

83.13
84.01

1.4%

1.8%

2.0%

0.8%0.7%

0.7%

1.5%

1.0%

1.5%

1.5%

0.8%

1.1%

1.
6%

3.0%
3.3%

2.0%

2.0%

3.0%

1.
1%

2.
4%

2.
1%

3.
3%

1.8%

1.8%

1.8%

1.8%

1.8%

1.8%

1.8%

1.8%

1.8%

1.8%

2.0%

1.5%

1.
0%

1.
0%

1.
3%

1.
1%

1.
3%

1.
0%

2.
4%

3.1%

1.5%

1.5%

1.5%

1.5%

1.3%

1.2%

1.0%

1.0%

1.0%

4.
5%

3.
7%

2.
4%

2.
2%

1.
8%

1.5%

3.
0%

2.0%
2.0%

1.
4%

1.5%

1.5%

1.1%

2.0%

2.0%

1.2%

1.2%

1.2%

2.1%

2.1%

2.0%

1.7%

1.7%

1.8%

1.8%

1.9%

2.0%
2.0%

1.5%

1.5%

1.5%

2.0%

2.0%

2.0%

2.0%

2.0%

2.0%

2.0%

2.0%

2.0%
2.0%

1.5%

1.5%

1.5%

2.0%

2.0%

1.7%

1.0%

3.0%
2.0%

2.2%

0.8%

2.2%

82.22 ±EX 80.35 ±EX
81.03 ±EX81.64 ±EX 81.56 ±EX 83.90 ±EX

83.45 ±EX82.45 ±EX

84.09 ±EX

84.13 ±EX
84.13 ±EX

84.54 ±EX

990991

989

990

991

992

993

99
3

99
4

994

99
4

99
3

99
0

99
1

99
2

99
3

98
5

99
0

98
6

98
7

98
8

98
9

99
1

99
2

99
0

98
6

98
7

98
8

98
9

99
1

99
2

990

989

991

985

986

987

988

989

984

985

985

984

984

98
4 98

3

98
2

98
0

98
1

98
2

98
3

98
5

98
3

98
4

98
6

98
7

98
8

98
9

98
5

98
4

98
6

98
7

98
5

99
0

98
6

98
7

98
8

98
9

99
1

10
05

10
06

10
07

10
08

10
01

10
02

10
03

10
04

10
00

99
8

99
9 99

5

99
1

99
2

99
3

99
4

99
6

99
7 99

0

98
9

98
8

995

1000

1005

990

980

98
0

97
5

98
5

985

980

980

98
5

985

98
9

990
99510

05
10

10

10
0410

0610
0710

0810
0910

11

81.19
80.80

1.
0%

1.
0%

98
0

97
5985

980979 981982

980
977 978 979

981

980
979

981 982

976
977

978
979985

980

985

984

986

987

988

98
0

97
7

97
8

97
9

98
1

98
0

98
5

983

982

982
981

980
985

97
5

97
0

970

975

969

971
972

973
974

980

976
977

978
979

981

98
0

98
5

97
5

975

972 973 974
976 977 976 975

97
0

APPROXIMATE
EXTENTS OF
WETLAND
IMPACTS

APPROXIMATE
EXTENTS OF

WETLAND
IMPACTS

PRE-TREATMENT
SEDIMENTATION

BASIN
TOP=979.00

BOTTOM=976.00

BIOFILTRATION BASIN
HWL=981.67

OUTLET=979.80
BOTTOM=979.00

DRAINTILE INV=975.67
SEE DETAIL

PRE-TREATMENT
SEDIMENTATION
BASIN
TOP=971.50
BOTTOM=969.00

BIOFILTRATION BASIN
HWL=976.11
OUTLET=973.00
BOTTOM=971.50
DRAINTILE INV=968.17
SEE DETAIL

N

SCALE       IN       FEET

0 50 100

Consultants

LOUCKS PROJECT NO. 19176A

SD ISSUE

LOUCKS

7200 Hemlock Lane, Suite 300

Maple Grove, MN 55369

763.424.5505

www.loucksinc.com

PLANNING

CIVIL ENGINEERING

LAND SURVEYING

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

ENVIRONMENTAL

Co
py

rig
ht

 B
W

BR

DateItem

Sheet No.

Sheet Title

Comm. No. Drawn

3.2019023.00

This document may be an electronic file or may
be printed from an electronic file provided to
the user.  It is the sole responsibility of the user
to ensure that the content and quality is
consistent with the content and quality of the
original documents on file at BWBR.

Issued For

Consultants

651.222.3701
Saint Paul, MN 55102
380 St. Peter Street, Ste. 600

bwbr.com

This Sheet may be
a Reduced Copy.

The bar above is 1" long on a Full Size Sheet.
Drawing Scales apply to Full Size Sheets.

NOT F
OR

CONST
RUCTIO

N

Name

Date Lic./Reg. No.05-19-2020 53706

I hereby certify that this plan, specification or report was prepared
by me or under my direct supervision and that I am a duly

Licensed/Registered Professional Engineer under the laws of the
State of Minnesota

Trevor D. Gruys - PE

04-29-2020

EAGLE BROOK
CHURCH

WEST METRO
CAMPUS

CUP ISSUE 05-19-2020

GRADING AND
DRAINAGE PLAN

230.CG

TDG/ZBM/MDC

NOTE:
EXISTING CONDITIONS INFORMATION
SHOWN IS FROM A TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY
PREPARED BY E. G. RUD & SONS, INC. AND
DATED APRIL, 2020.




23

CIVIL LEGEND

Gopher State One Call

WARNING:
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR CALLING FOR LOCATIONS
OF ALL EXISTING UTILITIES. THEY SHALL COOPERATE WITH ALL UTILITY
COMPANIES IN MAINTAINING THEIR SERVICE AND / OR RELOCATION OF
LINES.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT GOPHER STATE ONE CALL AT
651-454-0002 AT LEAST 48 HOURS IN ADVANCE FOR THE LOCATIONS OF
ALL UNDERGROUND WIRES, CABLES, CONDUITS, PIPES, MANHOLES,
VALVES OR OTHER BURIED STRUCTURES BEFORE DIGGING. THE
CONTRACTOR SHALL REPAIR OR REPLACE THE ABOVE WHEN DAMAGED
DURING CONSTRUCTION AT NO COST TO THE OWNER.

GRADING, DRAINAGE & EROSION CONTROL NOTES
1. SPOT ELEVATIONS REPRESENT FINISHED SURFACE GRADES, GUTTER/FLOW LINE, FACE OF BUILDING,

OR EDGE OF PAVEMENT UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

2. CATCH BASINS AND MANHOLES IN PAVED AREAS SHALL BE SUMPED 0.04 FEET.  ALL CATCH  BASINS
IN GUTTERS SHALL BE SUMPED 0.16 FEET.  RIM ELEVATIONS SHOWN ON PLANS DO NOT REFLECT
SUMPED ELEVATIONS.

3. GRADING OF THE INFILTRATION AREAS SHALL BE ACCOMPLISHED USING LOW-IMPACT
EARTH-MOVING EQUIPMENT TO PREVENT COMPACTION OF THE UNDERLYING SOILS.  SMALL
TRACKED DOZERS AND BOBCATS WITH RUNNER TRACKS ARE RECOMMENDED.

4. ALL DISTURBED UNPAVED AREAS ARE TO RECEIVE MINIMUM OF 4 INCHES OF TOP SOIL AND
SEED/MULCH OR SOD. THESE AREAS SHALL BE WATERED/MAINTAINED BY THE CONTRACTOR UNTIL
VEGETATION IS ESTABLISHED.

5. FOR SITE RETAINING WALLS "TW" EQUALS SURFACE GRADE AT TOP FACE OF WALL (NOT TOP OF
WALL), "GW" EQUALS SURFACE GRADE AT WALL GRADE TRANSITION, AND "BW" EQUALS SURFACE
GRADE AT BOTTOM FACE OF WALL (NOT BOTTOM OF BURIED WALL COURSES).

6. REFER TO THE REPORT OF GEOTECHNICAL EXPLORATION AND REVIEW (REPORT NO. ________),
DATED ____________  AS PREPARED BY ________________FOR AN EXISTING SUBSURFACE SITE
CONDITION ANALYSIS AND CONSTRUCTION RECOMMENDATIONS.

7. STREETS MUST BE CLEANED AND SWEPT WHENEVER TRACKING OF SEDIMENTS OCCURS AND
BEFORE SITES ARE LEFT IDLE FOR WEEKENDS AND HOLIDAYS.  A REGULAR SWEEPING SCHEDULE
MUST BE ESTABLISHED.

8. DUST MUST BE ADEQUATELY CONTROLLED.

9. SEE SWPPP FOR ADDITIONAL EROSION CONTROL NOTES AND REQUIREMENTS.

10. SEE UTILITY PLAN  FOR WATER, STORM AND SANITARY SEWER INFORMATION.

11. SEE SITE PLAN FOR CURB AND BITUMINOUS TAPER LOCATIONS.

GRADING LEGEND:

APPROXIMATE EXTENTS OF WETLAND IMPACTS



33

33

50

50

60

979.9979.497
9.1

976.11

982.3

982.9

983.9

980.51
981.19

985.47
CS989.25

989.43

988.83

988.72 988.60

989.08

988.99

989.00

98
9.

70

989.47

989.65

989.73

988.78

988.62

988.61

98
6.1

4

984.45

981.23

979.90
981.46

979.6 979.2 978.9 978.9 979.8

979.0

980.9

981.1

982.5980.2980.1

982.5
986.7

987.0

985.6983.8980.3

97
8.

5

978.2
979.1

978.9
979.4979.2

979.2979.5

98
2.

2984.1

985.9

985.0
984.5 983.3

984.0

987.54

98
6.7

6
986.10

985.38

985.44

98
6.

13

986.12

986.90

987.28

987.64

988.08

987.90

988.06

988.37

98
8.

18

988.37

988.27

988.38

987.95987.72

986.36
987.53

988.16
987.98

987.55

989.24

989.11

989.16

990.41

990.30 98
9.

95
99

0.
23

984.92
CS 98

6.
42

98
7.9

3

984.27
981.43

982.24

986.3
986.8

985.5 98
1.

6

979.48

979.8

98
2.

6
98

1.
9

980.2
979.9

982.3
981.7

981.9

982.3

990.2

989.3

990.1990.1

989.5
989.5

990.0
989.8

988.6
985.5

983.7

981.4

988.8

987.6

986.4

984.9

983.4

982.2

983.7

985.2 983.6

981.8

980.7

979.2

979.6

980.3
978.7

978.7

978.4

978.2

978.1

977.1

977.1

977.3

977.6

977.7

978.6

989.0

988.1

986.6

986.9

985.1

98
7.

12
98

7.
12

98
6.

63

98
6.4

8

98
6.

28

98
6.

30

98
5.

58

985.36

986.1984.5
984.9

986.6

986.4

986.82

987.65
98

7.8
9

987.30

986.6

980.8
977.8

976.6

974.2 974.3
976.5

976.9

97
9.9

6

983.7

975.4

974.3
975.2975.1

974.6

973.4

97
9.

89

979.64

979.43
980.04

979.64

98
6.

4

985.5

984.2983.2
981.7 98

7.
0

979.7979.4
979.4

979.1

978.2

977.3

977.8

978.1

988.22

988.05
987.99

98
7.

91

987.56

987.27

987.41

98
7.

95

98
7.

3

993.5
987.2

980.3977.7976.4
989.0

985.7

980.0
977.6

976.4

975.3

977.1

980.2
987.1

987.1

978.9

976.4

975.2

977.8

981.6

981.8
977.6

975.3

97
5.

62

974.06

974.01

973.90
974.46974.59974.18

974.70

974.70

973.50

973.56

973.27

972.89

97
2.

62

975.3

97
2.

72

97
3.

46

974.67

974.54

97
4.

91

974.56

974.04

973.80974.397
5.4

974.8

975.0

992.0

991.6

992.27

993.97

990.9

988.9

990.9

99
2.

8

988.97

990.94

991.72

992.32

992.83

993.09
993.3499

3.4
7

994.11

99
3.

29

99
3.

8299
4.

31

994.32

992.83

991.35

989.12

991.0

994.5

994.9

993.4

991.1

990.9

989.4

995.45 995.46

990.9

99
1.

8

991.62

992.17

991.67
991.32

98
9.

9

987.4

988.2

991.27991.47

990.0

990.2

991.75

982.9

982.6

982.1

982.1

983.3 981.9

982.3

981.9

981.3

982.0

980.7

993.23

99
3.

36

992.22

993.64

991.3
990.4

991.1

982.9

981.0

995.96
995.82

99
6.2

0

996.26

996.42

99
6.

54

99
6.4

4

996.88

997.40997.95

999.30

99
9.

72

998.0

997.5 997.7

998.2

99
8.

4

997.30

995.13
996.3

995.1

996.6

994.23

99
4.

98

995.63

992.1

988.0

987.8

992.6

995.75 994.9

98
2.8

6
983.13
98

2.9
5

98
2.2

8

982.12

981.87

981.51

98
2.0

3

98
1.

98

98
0.5

6
98

0.5
9

98
0.3

5
979.17

979.42

97
9.

34

97
8.

40

978.28
977.81

977.83

97
7.

69

97
7.

33

977.51

977.38
977.11

977.18

97
7.

03

97
6.

72

97
6.7

9
97

6.7
9

977.05

976.69

97
6.

71

97
6.9

2

976.72
977.21

97
7.2

5

97
6.9

3 977.62

978.00
979.75

97
9.

36

98
1.

40

981.76

982.88 983.08

983.88

983.87

98
3.

60

98
4.

44

984.69

984.41

985.15

986.67 985.35

984.59

984.55

98
4.

55

98
4.2

8

984.33

984.41

98
3.

32

983.59

98
3.3

8 983.80
982.19

981.86

98
1.

79

97
9.

62

979.46 977.56

97
7.

63

97
6.

02

975.87

97
4.

96

974.99

97
5.

24

97
4.

05

973.87

974.07 97
3.

81

97
4.

00

974.12STOP-LIGHT

973.94

980.4

98
5.

0

984.7
982.3

97
0.

94

974.9

976.7976.4

97
5.

9

975.3

974.9

97
6.

2

977.1
977.3

976.2
977.7978.3

977.3

979.1980.1981.1
981.9

982.8
982.0

98
3.

1

984.5
983.8

970.77

97
3.1

9

972.58

972.48

97
3.0

9

972.72

STO
PLI

GHT

971.61

971.89

971.72

971.71

971.43971.64STOPLIGHT

972.82

STO
PLI

GHT

97
2.4

1

973.76

97
3.9

8

973.53

97
2.4

6

97
2.3

0
97

1.8
5

961.60

974.09

96
3.

31

96
2.

72

963.59

974.99

976.11

977.12

97
8.

00

978.67

97
9.

16

980.13

980.56
981.34

981.32

980.73

975.80

980.95

980.78

981.50

98
2.

38
98

3.
07

983.46

98
4.

09

984.20

98
4.3

2

98
4.3

2

984.63

96
7.

9

967.0

967.4

968.2
968.3

968.1
967.9

974.2

97
4.

0

97
3.

7

98
4.

65
98

4.
54

984.29

98
4.5

0

983.78
983.28

982.66

982.48

986.36

987.00
987.38

987.36

986.03

985.35

985.47 98
4.

2

984.75

98
5.

11

98
6.

8
98

7.
0

98
6.

2
98

5.
0

98
5.

0

98
5.

1

982.36

983.02

983.67
983.75
983.78

983.90
983.66

983.96
984.29

984.65

984.73

984.68

984.76

984.50

984.33

983.89

983.52

983.35

983.18

982.42

981.37

980.46

979.47

978.97

978.07

976.95

975.95

974.90

99
1.

87

991.24

989.34

989.77

986.75

986.54

984.29
983.11

981.72 981.16

980.62
980.07

979.93 980.04

975.2

975.2
975.3974.8

972.8

975.1

967.2

967.6

969.5

973.0
976.1978.2979.3

979.3

978.1
978.0 978.6

977.6

975.5

973.9

969.5

969.5

974.9

977.1

977.5
976.9

977.1

977.2

976.0

976.0

974.6

973.6

972.4

973.9

973.2

971.6

969.9

971.2

969.1

975.1
976.2

976.5

977.4

976.4

976.4

974.5

973.0

971.5

972.4

973.5

975.5

976.9

976.8

977.6

978.1

978.4

977.8

975.2
973.6

972.5

973.2
973.6

976.6

978.9

979.5

981.4 979.2 976.2 973.7 973.1

974.3

976.1

977.8
980.1981.6

982.6 981.1
979.7

978.1

976.5

979.9

97
7.

21

97
5.

44 974.81

972.21 97
2.

00

97
1.

72

97
1.

64

988.5

98
6.

9
98

2.
3

1003.8

1006.6

1007.9

1009.3

1011.6

1010.4

1009.6

1008.4

1007.6

1007.47

1008.38

1008.74

1008.64

10
09

.7
2

1009.54

1008.63

1009.05

10
08

.3
9

1007.98

1008.6

1004.9

1002.8

1001.4

1000.2

999.1

994.3
993.9

992.0
994.6

990.5

990.0

990.2

989.3

991.2
991.8

990.0

989.6

989.5

990.0

991.8

990.8

991.44

990.25

990.28

990.06990.24

977.71

975.25
976.27

975.32

98
6.2

0

98
5.

85975.21

975.20

973.99

97
3.

98

97
5.

37

975.46

97
4.

02

974.03

974.93
974.76

974.14

974.18

975.00

974.18

974.13

97
3.9

8

975.15

974.4

97
3.

99

974.1

974.7

974.1

975.3

978.9 978.0 977.1 977.1 976.3
975.2

974.6

974.9
974.9

975.4

975.5

974.9

975.9
976.1

976.8

977.1

976.7975.9

975.7

975.43

97
5.

93

97
5.

85

976.80

97
4.

94 975.12

975.33

97
3.

9097
4.

99

974.82

97
4.

11

974.71

97
4.

15

97
3.

96

97
4.

38

97
4.7

4

974.17

974.05

975.15

97
4.

74

973.74

974.00

974.35

97
3.

55

974.4

974.3
973.55

974.3

974.4974.5

974.9974.3974.9974.7974.8975.1
975.3

975.9

975.6
975.0

975.1 974.6
975.0

975.4

977.8977.8975.9

976.2

976.3

976.0

976.6

97
6.4

976.3

977.1

977.2

977.0
978.16

977.39

97
7.8

0

97
8.4

1

979.44

98
1.5

4

982.17981.64
979.72

983.04 983.63

983.44
982.72983.45

990.44

99
0.

27

988.3

986.3

984.83

983.98

984.24

98
3.

13

981.58

980.96

980.90

981.19

982.53

983.4

984.0

981.65

978.66

977.63

977.63

975.61
977.75

978.63

979.76

980.84

982.7

98
7.

6
98

9.
6

98
9.

6

98
7.

7

1003.8

1012.1

988.9989.7
991.8994.0994.8

995.7997.0

1001.6 1000.6 999.6
1001.4

1001.0

997.7

1002.11004.71005.6
1007.31007.6

1010.7
1009.9

1008.1

1010.7

10
11

.71012.9

1003.3

1014.7

1014.4

1014.6 1008.3 1002.7 1001.8

1001.71004.11005.41009.6
1014.7

1011.74

1011.40

10
10

.6
4

1007.88

1006.69
1007.12

10
07

.3
4

10
07

.7
4

10
08

.4
2

1008.84
1013.82

1012.58

1012.33

1011.77

1007.921007.88

1005.9

1006.2

1003.3

99
3.8

9

993.62991.8

992.0

99
2.

2

993.7

993.7

99
4.

4 994.59

99
4.

50

99
4.

37

994.50

993.5

993.98
993.1

993.1

991.9

991.3

991.6

986.67

98
6.6

4

98
6.4

98
6.

68

991.76989.8991.16

986.2

988.22

98
6.

6

98
9.0

3

986.7

986.0 986.63

987.0

988.45

991.09

993.7

992.6 992.46

983.94
984.42

986.01
985.8

985.4

986.5

986.2

987.35

990.6

991.0

992.2

991.4

991.0

990.3
990.1

990.3

989.15
989.24

988.73

988.66

988.86
988.35

988.44

990.30

990.70

990.42

988.0
988.5

989.09

988.85
988.19

987.88

988.4

987.8
990.5

990.5

990.1

990.94

991.96

992.46

991.8
992.1

989.5
991.17

991.28

990.12

98
7.

4 987.2

98
7.

3

986.9

991.7
990.2

986.6

99
3.5

6

99
4.

46

994.8

99
4.

62

99
2.3

8

991.0

990.46

989.0

987.60

989.7

992.58

991.48

993.3

992.0

992.1

991.6

990.5

988.1

988.9

989.8

990.2

988.5

988.2

987.6

987.9

988.8

990.0
989.6

990.1

988.7
990.2

991.6

990.0985.2

980.6 986.4

984.0

979.7

978.3

983.2

980.8

977.6

97
5.

8

97
6.

18

97
7.

38

97
5.

90

975.0

976.9597
4.

9

97
3.

9

97
4.

7

974.74

97
4.

25

97
7.2

2

977.19

974.86
976.03

977.74 97
7.

80

976.84

978.51

978.94

978.73

976.61

975.7

977.54
979.52 979.81

979.52

981.3

98
3.

7

981.32

979.33
981.41
984.10 98

4.2
8

984.1 986.2

987.1

987.12

987.02

984.78

988.88

986.6

989.44 98
9.

49

989.2

988.9989.699
0.1

3989.98

98
9.

7

988.04

98
9.

06
989.11

988.08

987.5

987.5986.9

986.2

986.77

987.0

988.18 98
7.

80

987.8

988.5

987.5

988.9989.40

989.57

98
8.

62

98
7.

47
98

4.
12

98
3.

40

981.45
981.85

981.14

984.46

986.98
986.82

986.0

986.3

985.7

984.9

985.4
985.9

984.4

984.0

983.2

982.7

985.1 984.2

983.9

984.6

985.2

985.8

987.0

990.2

991.5
990.8

989.3

986.9

986.0

985.0

986.2

98
9.

48

990.13

990.23

989.6

991.57
991.45

99
0.

65

99
2.

61

993.20

993.26

997.77

997.62

99
6.

96

10
02

.1
2

1002.02

1005.27

10
05

.69

10
07

.85
1007.51

1008.27

1008.74

1008.30

1007.29

1006.43

1005.78

1005.46

1005.34
1005.32 10

03
.9

9

1004.72

1003.2

1005.35
1005.2010

05
.9

2

1004.3

1005.5

10
06

.74

10
06

.3
7

10
06

.4
7

10
06

.6
2

10
07

.5
0

1008.69

1009.69

1009.99

1010.45

1010.83

10
09

.71

1008.69

10
07

.3
6

1010.8

1012.2

1014.0

1012.11013.9

1015.7

1014.3

10
14

.3
8

10
16

.6
9

1016.98

1018.02

1016.10

10
15

.3
4

1013.93

1012.74

10
12

.8
6

10
13

.6
0

10
13

.9
5

10
14

.4
9

10
15

.03

1015.59

1016.20

1016.72

1017.33
1017.27

1017.77
10

16
.9

8
10

16
.4

0

1015.081015.14

1016.81

1017.04

10
16

.0
2

1014.20

993.74

993.54

993.80

99
2.

97

992.71

993.15

993.28

99
3.0

4

992.99

992.36

992.43

992.42

992.18

992.44

993.26

991.17

990.13 988.87

985.9

988.4

99
4.1

4

99
4.2

3

99
4.

08

99
3.9

3

993.80

99
3.

60

993.09
992.56

99
3.

92

994.15

994.26

991.9

993.0
991.7

989.7

975.0
973.2

974.7 973.9

974.6
972.6974.6

974.2

975.6

978.7

978.5

978.9

983.6

985.9

989.6

985.0 982.93

985.97

988.92

989.7

986.8

988.5985.6

985.5

983.2

980.61

983.2

978.47

981.3

984.5

987.6
985.1

985.8

985.6

985.4

986.7

987.00

987.3

986.5

986.04

985.94986.57

987.60
987.63

987.73
987.71

987.75
987.74

987.67

98
7.6

7
987.7498

7.
69

987.78

988.03

988.15

988.06

5806
988.21
FIREPLACE-COR

5807
988.19
FIREPLACE-COR

5808
988.25
FIREPLACE-COR
5809
988.22
FIREPLACE-COR

986.9

987.5

988.04

988.30

988.24

988.26

988.30

988.40

98
8.

84

988.81

988.63

988.37

988.13

98
8.0

2

98
7.

82

986.94

98
8.

09

98
8.

12

989.25

98
8.

24
98

8.
56

98
9.

68

98
8.

54

988.58988.21

98
8.

37

989.48

988.5

989.46 989.10

98
4.

15

988.29
987.99

98
7.

78
98

7.
98

987.3

986.8

989.3

989.59

989.13

991.00

984.48

983.61982.42

982.46

982.62

97
8.

97

979.22

979.90

979.98

97
9.

75

97
8.

99

97
8.5

4

97
9.

38

981.16

982.38

983.41

984.69

981.96

982.50

98
6.

65

98
6.

96

98
5.

22

98
3.

58

981.40

978.94

978.18

978.40

97
8.

84

978.77

978.92

979.01977.88

979.35
979.33

977.66

97
8.

20

98
0.

30

98
0.

37

979.38
982.15 98

1.
15

981.08

981.36

981.65

978.81

979.44

979.95

980.13
980.39

978.1

97
8.

0 978.54

97
8.8

1

980.02

983.80

985.23

979.8

980.8981.14

981.52

982.77
980.9

980.3987.58

987.12

985.7

985.4

986.43

987.21

988.35

98
7.

74

986.29

986.88

98
8.

16

98
9.

87

989.81

975.27

1010.00
1007.8

10
07

.0
9

10
07

.4
210

07
.21

10
07

.63

1008.35

1007.69

1008.14

1003.45

987.24

EDGE OF WATER AS
MEASURED 3-18-2020

10
10

1000

990

99
0

99
0

986

98
0

970

980

980

980

980

978

980

980

980

988

98
4

984
980

97
8

97
6

97
497

697
8

98
298

4

978
978

980

986

988
986

984
982

980

98
4

98
2

97
8

97
6

974

972

1008

1006

1004

1002

998

996

994

992 990

988

986

98
4

98
2

978

976

976

978

982

984

986

988

988

98
6

98
8

990

986 98
4

98
2

98
0

97
8

97
6

97
4

986

98
6

984

982

984

982

978

100610
10

10
12

1008

1004

1002
1000

1000 99
8

99
6 99

4

992

990

988

986

EXISTIN
G

BRIDGE

BITUMINOUS
CURB B-STYLE

CURB

B
-S

TY
LE

C
U

R
B

B
-S

TY
LE

C
U

R
B

B
-S

TY
LE

C
U

R
B

BITUMINOUS
CURB

97
4

D
R
IV

EW
A
Y 

A
N

D
 U

TI
LI

TY
 A

G
R
EE

M
EN

T 
PE

R
 D

O
C
U

M
EN

TS
 N

O
. 

50
64

57
8 

A
N

D
 4

65
31

82

30

30

DRIVEWAY AND UTILITY AGREEMENT PER DOCUMENTS NO. 5064578 AND 4653182

30

 1
5'

 I
N

G
R
ES

S
, 

EG
R
ES

S
, 

A
N

D
D

R
IV

EW
A
Y 

EA
S
EM

EN
T 

PE
R

D
O

C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

59
50

71
4 

A
N

D
56

42
60

0

15

15

50
' H

IG
H

W
A
Y 

EA
S
EM

EN
T 

PE
R

D
O

C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

79
01

48
0

 1
5'

 R
EL

IA
N

T 
EN

ER
G

Y 
/

M
IN

N
EG

A
S
C
O

 U
TI

LI
TY

EA
S
EM

EN
T 

PE
R
 D

O
C
U

M
EN

T
N

O
. 

71
87

06
6

15

15

R
EL

EA
S
ED

 F
R
O

M
 1

5'
 I

N
G

R
ES

S
,

EG
R
ES

S
, 

A
N

D
 D

R
IV

EW
A
Y 

EA
S
EM

EN
T

C
R
EA

TE
D

 B
Y 

D
O

C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

59
50

71
4

PE
R
 D

O
C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

59
50

71
5

50
' H

IG
H

W
A
Y 

EA
S
EM

EN
T 

PE
R

D
O

C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

84
70

91
3

DRAINAGE AND UTILITY EASEMENT
PER DOCUMENT NO. 8470913

 1
5'

 R
EL

IA
N

T 
EN

ER
G

Y 
/

M
IN

N
EG

A
S
C
O

 U
TI

LI
TY

 E
A
S
EM

EN
T

PE
R
 D

O
C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

71
87

06
7

50
' H

IG
H

W
A
Y 

EA
S
EM

EN
T 

PE
R

D
O

C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

78
92

15
3

60

60

C
O

R
C
O

R
A
N

C
IT

Y 
LI

M
IT

S

50

33

16

(PUBLIC      ROAD)

(P
U

B
LI

C
  

  
  

R
O

A
D

)

CORCORAN
CITY LIMITS

16

42
.1

118.33

78
.2

1

124.54

78
.0

0

50

50

60

60

S
1°

25
'0

0"
W

  
 6

3.
70

IN
V 

= 9
94

.0
9

IN
V =

 9
79.0

9

INV = 980.03

965.9

966.1

966.3

967.1

967.2

970.7

967.3

973.7

983.56FES

986.1
985.7 986.3

986.5986.8

985.7

986.5
986.0

985.0

983.9
983.5

985.3

983.72
INV4INCH-PVC

984.1

988.9

989.3
988.1

988.9

991.1

990.6994.4

995.51001.9

998.91004.0

1004.71006.7

1006.8

1015.2

1009.8

1010.0

IN
V-E =

 975.76

10
10

.9
5

10
08

.1

1008.1

1009.6

1008.05

1008.26

1008.08

1008.09

1008.25

1008.22

10
08

.2
3

1008.90
SPR9

1009.42
SPR15

10
08

.4
9

SP
R1

1

969.4

970.9

972.1

971.0

971.4

972.6

976.7

978.2976.0

973.1

969.1

970.3

971.4

971.4

971.5

972.7

97
0

96
8

972
974

976

978

980
scan2830

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G















 






























   









 







FUTURE ROAD IMPROVEMENTS TO BE
DESIGNED & CONSTRUCTED BY CITY

FUTURE ROAD IMPROVEMENTS
TO BE DESIGNED & CONSTRUCTED

BY CITY/COUNTY













  





PROPOSED
BUILDING
FFE=995.00






































990991

989

990

991

992

993

99
3

99
4

994

99
4

99
3

99
0

99
1

99
2

99
3

98
5

99
0

98
6

98
7

98
8

98
9

99
1

99
2

99
0

98
6

98
7

98
8

98
9

99
1

99
2

990

989

991

985

986

987

988

989

984

985

985

984

984

98
4 98

3

98
2

98
0

98
1

98
2

98
3

98
5

98
3

98
4

98
6

98
7

98
8

98
9

98
5

98
4

98
6

98
7

98
5

99
0

98
6

98
7

98
8

98
9

99
1

10
05

10
06

10
07

10
08

10
01

10
02

10
03

10
04

10
00

99
8

99
9 99

5

99
1

99
2

99
3

99
4

99
6

99
7 99

0

98
9

98
8

995

1000

1005

990

980

98
0

97
5

98
5

985

980

980

98
5

985

98
9

990
99510

05
10

10

10
0410

0610
0710

0810
0910

11

98
0

97
5985

980979 981982

980
977 978 979

981

980
979

981 982

976
977

978
979985

980

985

984

986

987

988

98
0

97
7

97
8

97
9

98
1

98
0

98
5

983

982

982
981

980
985

97
5

97
0

970

975

969

971
972

973
974

980

976
977

978
979

981

98
0

98
5

97
5

975

972 973 974
976 977 976 975

97
0

ROCK
CONSTRUCTION
ENTRANCE
SEE DETAIL

ROCK
CONSTRUCTION

ENTRANCE
SEE DETAIL

ROCK
CONSTRUCTION

ENTRANCE
SEE DETAIL

INLET
PROTECTION

TYP-SEE DETAIL

INLET
PROTECTION

TYP-SEE DETAIL

INLET
PROTECTION

TYP-SEE DETAIL

INLET
PROTECTION

TYP-SEE DETAIL

INLET
PROTECTION

TYP-SEE DETAIL

SILT FENCE
TYP-SEE DETAIL

SILT FENCE
TYP-SEE DETAIL

SILT FENCE
TYP-SEE DETAIL

SILT FENCE
TYP-SEE DETAIL

SILT FENCE
TYP-SEE DETAIL

EROSION CONTROL BLANKET
SEE DETAIL

EROSION CONTROL BLANKET
SEE DETAIL

EROSION CONTROL BLANKET
SEE DETAIL

N

SCALE       IN       FEET

0 50 100

Consultants

LOUCKS PROJECT NO. 19176A

SD ISSUE

LOUCKS

7200 Hemlock Lane, Suite 300

Maple Grove, MN 55369

763.424.5505

www.loucksinc.com

PLANNING

CIVIL ENGINEERING

LAND SURVEYING

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

ENVIRONMENTAL

Co
py

rig
ht

 B
W

BR

DateItem

Sheet No.

Sheet Title

Comm. No. Drawn

3.2019023.00

This document may be an electronic file or may
be printed from an electronic file provided to
the user.  It is the sole responsibility of the user
to ensure that the content and quality is
consistent with the content and quality of the
original documents on file at BWBR.

Issued For

Consultants

651.222.3701
Saint Paul, MN 55102
380 St. Peter Street, Ste. 600

bwbr.com

This Sheet may be
a Reduced Copy.

The bar above is 1" long on a Full Size Sheet.
Drawing Scales apply to Full Size Sheets.

NOT F
OR

CONST
RUCTIO

N

Name

Date Lic./Reg. No.05-19-2020 53706

I hereby certify that this plan, specification or report was prepared
by me or under my direct supervision and that I am a duly

Licensed/Registered Professional Engineer under the laws of the
State of Minnesota

Trevor D. Gruys - PE

04-29-2020

EAGLE BROOK
CHURCH

WEST METRO
CAMPUS

CUP ISSUE 05-19-2020

STORM WATER
POLLUTION
PREVENTION PLAN
(SWPPP)

231.SW

TDG/ZBM/MDC

NOTE:
EXISTING CONDITIONS INFORMATION
SHOWN IS FROM A TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY
PREPARED BY E. G. RUD & SONS, INC. AND
DATED APRIL, 2020.




23

CIVIL LEGEND

Gopher State One Call

WARNING:
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR CALLING FOR LOCATIONS
OF ALL EXISTING UTILITIES. THEY SHALL COOPERATE WITH ALL UTILITY
COMPANIES IN MAINTAINING THEIR SERVICE AND / OR RELOCATION OF
LINES.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT GOPHER STATE ONE CALL AT
651-454-0002 AT LEAST 48 HOURS IN ADVANCE FOR THE LOCATIONS OF
ALL UNDERGROUND WIRES, CABLES, CONDUITS, PIPES, MANHOLES,
VALVES OR OTHER BURIED STRUCTURES BEFORE DIGGING. THE
CONTRACTOR SHALL REPAIR OR REPLACE THE ABOVE WHEN DAMAGED
DURING CONSTRUCTION AT NO COST TO THE OWNER.

GRADING, DRAINAGE & EROSION CONTROL NOTES
1. SPOT ELEVATIONS REPRESENT FINISHED SURFACE GRADES, GUTTER/FLOW LINE, FACE OF BUILDING,

OR EDGE OF PAVEMENT UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

2. CATCH BASINS AND MANHOLES IN PAVED AREAS SHALL BE SUMPED 0.04 FEET.  ALL CATCH  BASINS
IN GUTTERS SHALL BE SUMPED 0.16 FEET.  RIM ELEVATIONS SHOWN ON PLANS DO NOT REFLECT
SUMPED ELEVATIONS.

3. GRADING OF THE INFILTRATION AREAS SHALL BE ACCOMPLISHED USING LOW-IMPACT
EARTH-MOVING EQUIPMENT TO PREVENT COMPACTION OF THE UNDERLYING SOILS.  SMALL
TRACKED DOZERS AND BOBCATS WITH RUNNER TRACKS ARE RECOMMENDED.

4. ALL DISTURBED UNPAVED AREAS ARE TO RECEIVE MINIMUM OF 4 INCHES OF TOP SOIL AND
SEED/MULCH OR SOD. THESE AREAS SHALL BE WATERED/MAINTAINED BY THE CONTRACTOR UNTIL
VEGETATION IS ESTABLISHED.

5. FOR SITE RETAINING WALLS "TW" EQUALS SURFACE GRADE AT TOP FACE OF WALL (NOT TOP OF
WALL), "GW" EQUALS SURFACE GRADE AT WALL GRADE TRANSITION, AND "BW" EQUALS SURFACE
GRADE AT BOTTOM FACE OF WALL (NOT BOTTOM OF BURIED WALL COURSES).

6. REFER TO THE REPORT OF GEOTECHNICAL EXPLORATION AND REVIEW (REPORT NO. ________),
DATED ____________  AS PREPARED BY ________________FOR AN EXISTING SUBSURFACE SITE
CONDITION ANALYSIS AND CONSTRUCTION RECOMMENDATIONS.

7. STREETS MUST BE CLEANED AND SWEPT WHENEVER TRACKING OF SEDIMENTS OCCURS AND
BEFORE SITES ARE LEFT IDLE FOR WEEKENDS AND HOLIDAYS.  A REGULAR SWEEPING SCHEDULE
MUST BE ESTABLISHED.

8. DUST MUST BE ADEQUATELY CONTROLLED.

9. SEE SWPPP FOR ADDITIONAL EROSION CONTROL NOTES AND REQUIREMENTS.

10. SEE UTILITY PLAN  FOR WATER, STORM AND SANITARY SEWER INFORMATION.

11. SEE SITE PLAN FOR CURB AND BITUMINOUS TAPER LOCATIONS.

SWPPP LEGEND

INLET PROTECTION

SILT FENCE

EXISTING DRAINAGE PATTERN

PROPOSED DRAINAGE PATTERN

BIO ROLLS

EROSION CONTROL BLANKET



Consultants

LOUCKS PROJECT NO. 19176A

SD ISSUE

LOUCKS

7200 Hemlock Lane, Suite 300

Maple Grove, MN 55369

763.424.5505

www.loucksinc.com

PLANNING

CIVIL ENGINEERING

LAND SURVEYING

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

ENVIRONMENTAL

Co
py

rig
ht

 B
W

BR

DateItem

Sheet No.

Sheet Title

Comm. No. Drawn

3.2019023.00

This document may be an electronic file or may
be printed from an electronic file provided to
the user.  It is the sole responsibility of the user
to ensure that the content and quality is
consistent with the content and quality of the
original documents on file at BWBR.

Issued For

Consultants

651.222.3701
Saint Paul, MN 55102
380 St. Peter Street, Ste. 600

bwbr.com

This Sheet may be
a Reduced Copy.

The bar above is 1" long on a Full Size Sheet.
Drawing Scales apply to Full Size Sheets.

NOT F
OR

CONST
RUCTIO

N

Name

Date Lic./Reg. No.05-19-2020 53706

I hereby certify that this plan, specification or report was prepared
by me or under my direct supervision and that I am a duly

Licensed/Registered Professional Engineer under the laws of the
State of Minnesota

Trevor D. Gruys - PE

04-29-2020

EAGLE BROOK
CHURCH

WEST METRO
CAMPUS

CUP ISSUE 05-19-2020

SWPPP NOTES
AND DETAILS

232.SW

TDG/ZBM/MDC

ESTIMATED QUANTITIES

DESCRIPTION UNIT

TEMPORARY ROCK CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE EA
PREFABRICATED CONCRETE WASHOUT EA

SILT FENCE (STANDARD) LF
EROSION CONTROL BLANKET SY
INLET PROTECTION EA

QUANTITY

3
-

9,950
22,400

32
BIO-ROLL LF -

SITE VICINITY MAP

CONSTRUCTION STORMWATER SPECIAL WATERS SEARCH MAP

V:\Trevor\SWPPP (2020).PNG

PROJECT SITE

*

PROJECT SITE

*

BIOROLLS

DRAWN 2/2016

LOUCKS PLATE NO.

3006

LOUCKS

PLAN

ELEVATION

3"-4"

STRAW BALES SHALL BE STAKED
WITH TWO WOOD (2"x2") OR

STRAW BALES SHALL BE TRENCHED
INTO THE SOIL 3"-4".

DIRECTION
OF FLOW

STEEL (FENCE POST OR #8 REBAR)
STAKES.

12" MIN.

TWINE GROUND LINE

1. THE NATURE OF THIS PROJECT WILL CONSIST OF CONSTRUCTING A PROPOSED BUILDING, PARKING
LOT, SURFACE PAVEMENTS, BIOFILTRATION BASINS, AND UTILITIES.

2. THE INTENDED SEQUENCING OF MAJOR CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES ARE AS FOLLOWS:

1. INSTALL VEHICLE TRACKING BMP (SPRING 2022)
2. INSTALL INLET PROTECTION (SPRING 2022)
3. INSTALL SILT FENCE AROUND SITE (SPRING 2022)
4. CLEAR AND GRUB SITE (SPRING 2022)
5. STRIP AND STOCKPILE TOPSOIL (SPRING 2022)
6. REMOVE PAVEMENTS AND UTILITIES (SPRING 2022)
7. ROUGH GRADE SITE (SPRING 2022)
8. IMPORT CLEAN FILL FOR REPLACEMENT AND BALANCE (SPRING 2022)
9. INSTALL UTILITIES (SPRING 2022)
10. INSTALL BUILDING FOUNDATIONS (SPRING 2022)
11. INSTALL CURB AND GUTTER (SUMMER 2022)
12. INSTALL PAVEMENTS AND WALKS (SUMMER 2022)
13. FINAL GRADE SITE (SUMMER 2022)
14. REMOVE ACCUMULATED SEDIMENT FROM STORMWATER SYSTEMS (FALL 2022)
15. SEED AND MULCH  (FALL 2022)
16. WHEN ALL CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY IS COMPLETE AND THE SITE IS STABILIZED, REMOVE SILT FENCE,

INLET PROTECTION, AND RESEED ANY AREAS DISTURBED BY THE REMOVAL.

3. SITE DATA:
PROPERTY AREA  / DISTURBED AREA:  32.45 AC / 25.26 AC
PRE-CONSTRUCTION IMPERVIOUS AREA: 1.95 AC
POST-CONSTRUCTION IMPERVIOUS AREA: 10.68 AC

GENERAL SOIL TYPE:  SEE PRELIMINARY GEOTECHNICAL SOIL BORINGS BY BRAUN INTERTEC
HYDROLOGY INFORMATION:  SEE HYDROLOGY REPORT PREPARED BY LOUCKS DATED MAY 19, 2020

4. EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROLS WERE DESIGNED TO EFFECTIVELY CONTROL STORMWATER
RUNOFF WITHIN THE PROJECT AREAS. EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL HAVE BEEN PROPOSED TO
MINIMIZE CHANNEL EROSION AND SCOUR IN THE IMMEDIATE VICINITY OF DISCHARGE POINTS.
FACTORS THAT WERE CONSIDERED INCLUDE PROPOSED IMPERVIOUS AREAS, SLOPE OF IMPERVIOUS
SURFACES, STORMWATER INFRASTRUCTURE DISCHARGE POINTS, AND ANNUAL AVERAGE
PRECIPITATION DATA FOR THE PROJECT AREA.

5. HENNEPIN COUNTY RECEIVES AN AVERAGE OF 32 INCHES OF PRECIPITATION PER YEAR. THE
FOLLOWING HENNEPIN COUNTY 24-HOUR STORM EVENTS ARE BASED ON ATLAS 14 RAINFALL DATA:
2-YR 2.86 INCHES
10-YR 4.26 INCHES
100-YR 7.32 INCHES

6. SEE "EXHIBIT:PROPOSED DRAINAGE AREAS" FOR SITE MAP WITH DRAINAGE AREA BOUNDARIES.

7. THE LOCATION OF AREAS NOT TO BE DISTURBED MUST BE IDENTIFIED WITH FLAGS, STAKES, SIGNS,
SILT FENCE, ETC. BEFORE CONSTRUCTION BEGINS.

8. CONTRACTOR SHALL INSTALL RAIN GAUGE ON SITE.

9. NO DEWATERING IS EXPECTED TO OCCUR ON SITE. NO GROUNDWATER EXPECTED TO BE
ENCOUNTERED DURING CONSTRUCTION. IF DEWATERING IS REQUIRED, REFER TO CITY
REGULATIONS.

10. NO SOIL CONTAMINATION EXPECTED TO BE ENCOUNTERED DURING EXCAVATION.

11. ALL DISTURBED GROUND LEFT INACTIVE FOR FOURTEEN (14) OR MORE DAYS SHALL BE STABILIZED BY
SEEDING OR SODDING (ONLY AVAILABLE PRIOR TO SEPTEMBER 15) OR BY MULCHING OR COVERING
OR OTHER EQUIVALENT CONTROL MEASURE.             

12. ON SLOPES 3:1 OR GREATER MAINTAIN SHEET FLOW AND MINIMIZE RILLS AND/OR GULLIES, SLOPE
LENGTHS CAN NOT BE GREATER THAN 75 FEET.

DENOTES SLOPES GREATER THAN 3:1. ALL 3:1 SLOPES TO BE STABILIZED WITH EROSION 
CONTROL BLANKET

13. ALL STORM DRAINS AND INLETS MUST BE PROTECTED UNTIL ALL SOURCES OF POTENTIAL DISCHARGE
ARE STABILIZED.

14. SOIL COMPACTION SHALL BE MINIMIZED DURING CONSTRUCTION.

15. TEMPORARY SOIL STOCKPILES MUST HAVE EFFECTIVE SEDIMENT CONTROL AND CAN NOT BE PLACED
IN SURFACE WATERS OR STORM WATER CONVEYANCE SYSTEMS.  TEMPORARY STOCKPILES WITHOUT
SIGNIFICANT AMOUNT OF SILT, CLAY, OR ORGANIC COMPOUNDS ARE EXEPMT EX: CLEAN
AGGREGATE STOCK PILES, DEMOLITION CONCRETE STOCKPILES, SAND STOCKPILES.

16. SEDIMENT CONTROL PRACTICES SHALL BE INSTALLED ON ALL DOWNGRADIENT PERIMETERS AND
UPGRADIENT OF ANY BUFFER ZONES.

17. SEDIMENT LADEN WATER MUST BE DISCHARGED TO A SEDIMENTATION BASIN WHENEVER POSSIBLE.
IF NOT POSSIBLE, IT MUST BE TREATED WITH THE APPROPRIATE BMP'S.

18. SOLID WASTE MUST BE DISPOSED OF PROPERLY AND MUST COMPLY WITH MPCA DISPOSAL
REQUIREMENTS.

19. NO VEHICLE WASHING ALLOWED ON SITE.

20. NO ENGINE DEGREASING IS ALLOWED ON SITE.

21. THE OWNER IS RESPONSIBLE FOR COMPLIANCE WITH ALL TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE PERMIT.
THE OPERATOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR COMPLIANCE WITH SECTIONS 3, 4, 6-22, 24 AND APPLICABLE
REQUIREMENTS FOR CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY IN SECTION 23.

22. TERMINATION OF COVERAGE-PERMITTEE(S) WISHING TO TERMINATE COVERAGE MUST SUBMIT A
NOTICE OF TERMINATION (NOT) TO THE MPCA. ALL PERMITTEE(S) MUST SUBMIT A NOT WITHIN 30
DAYS AFTER THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS HAVE BEEN MET:

A. PERMIT TERMINATION CONDITIONS, PER NPDES PERMIT SECTION 13.1 HAVE BEEN ACHIEVED ON
ALL PORTIONS OF THE SITE FOR WHICH THE PERMITTEE IS RESPONSIBLE.

A.A. PERMANENT UNIFORM PERENNIAL VEGETATIVE COVER MUST BE ESTABLISHED AT 70%
DENSITY OF ITS EXPECTED FINAL GROWTH.

A.B. THE PERMANENT STORMWATER TREATMENT SYSTEM IS CONSTRUCTED, MEETS ALL
REQUIREMENTS, AND IS OPERATING AS DESIGNED.

A.C. ALL TEMPORARY SYNTHETIC EROSION PREVENTION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL BMPS MUST
BE REMOVED.

A.D. CLEAN OUT SEDIMENT FROM CONVEYANCE SYSTEMS AND PERMANENT STORMWATER
TREATMENT SYSTEMS (RETURN TO DESIGN CAPACITY).

23.  INSPECTIONS
A. INITIAL INSPECTION FOLLOWING SILT FENCE INSTALLATION BY CITY REPRESENTATIVE IS

REQUIRED.
B. EXPOSED SOIL AREAS:  ONCE EVERY 7 DAYS AND WITHIN 24 HOURS FOLLOWING A  0.5" OVER

24  HOUR  RAIN EVENT.
C. STABILIZED AREAS:  ONCE EVERY 30 DAYS
D. FROZEN GROUND:  AS SOON AS RUNOFF OCCURS OR PRIOR TO RESUMING

CONSTRUCTION.
E. INSPECTION AND MAINTENANCE RECORDS MUST BE RETAINED FOR 3 YEARS AFTER FILING OF

THE NOTICE OF TERMINATION AND MUST INCLUDE: DATE AND TIME OF ACTION, NAME OF
PERSON(S) CONDUCTING WORK, FINDING OF INSPECTIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR
CORRECTIVE ACTION, DATE AND AMOUNT OF RAINFALL EVENTS GREATER THAN 0.5 INCHES IN
A 24 HOUR PERIOD.

F. OBSERVE ANY DISCHARGE OCCURRING ONSITE AND DOCUMENT CORRECTIVE ACTIONS TAKEN.
DISCHARGE SHOULD BE DESCRIBED AND PHOTOGRAPHED.

24.  MINIMUM MAINTENANCE
A. ALL NONFUNCTIONAL BMPS MUST BE REPAIRED, REPLACED, OR SUPPLEMENTED WITH

FUNCTIONAL BMPS BY THE END OF THE NEXT BUSINESS DAY AFTER DISCOVERY OR AS SOON AS
FIELD CONDITIONS ALLOW.

B. REPAIR, REPLACE, OR SUPPLEMENT ALL PERIMETER CONTROL DEVICES WHEN THEY BECOME
NONFUNCTIONAL OR THE SEDIMENT REACHES 12 THE HEIGHT OF THE DEVICE.

C. SEDIMENT BASINS DRAINED AND SEDIMENT REMOVED WHEN REACHES 1/2 STORAGE VOLUME.
D. SEDIMENT REMOVED FROM SURFACE WATERS WITHIN (7)SEVEN CALENDAR DAYS OF

DISCOVERY.
E. CONSTRUCTION SITE EXITS INSPECTED, TRACKED SEDIMENT REMOVED WITHIN (1)ONE

CALENDAR DAY.
F. PROVIDE COPIES OF EROSION INSPECTION RESULTS TO CITY ENGINEER FOR ALL EVENTS

GREATER THAN 12" IN 24 HOURS.

25. THE SWPPP, INCLUDING ALL CHANGES TO IT, AND INSPECTIONS AND MAINTENANCE RECORDS MUST
BE KEPT AT THE SITE DURING CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY BY THE PERMITTEE(S) WHO HAVE
OPERATIONAL CONTROL OF THE SITE.

26. OWNER MUST KEEP RECORDS OF ALL PERMITS REQUIRED FOR THE PROJECT, THE SWPPP, ALL
INSPECTIONS AND MAINTENANCE, PERMANENT OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE AGREEMENTS, AND
REQUIRED CALCULATIONS FOR TEMPORARY AND PERMANENT STORM WATER MANAGEMENT
SYSTEMS.  THESE RECORDS MUST BE RETAINED FOR THREE YEARS AFTER FILING NPDES NOTICE OF
TERMINATION.

27. SWPPP MUST BE AMENDED WHEN:
A. THERE IS A CHANGE IN DESIGN, OPERATION, MAINTENANCE, WEATHER OR SEASONAL

CONDITIONS  THAT HAS A SIGNIFICANT EFFECT ON DISCHARGE
B. INSPECTIONS INDICATE THAT THE SWPPP IS NOT EFFECTIVE AND DISCHARGE IS EXCEEDING

WATER QUALITY STANDARDS.
C. THE BMP'S IN THE SWPPP ARE NOT CONTROLLING POLLUTANTS IN DISCHARGES OR IS NOT

CONSISTENT WITH THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE PERMIT.

28. CONCRETE WASHOUT AREA
A. CONCRETE WASH-OUT SITES NOT ALLOWED ON SITE AND MUST BE CONTAINED ON TRUCKS.
B. ALL SPILLS SHALL BE CLEANED UP IMMEDIATELY.

29. IN THE EVENT OF ENCOUNTERING A WELL OR SPRING DURING CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTOR TO
CEASE CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY AND NOTIFY ENGINEER.

30. PIPE OULTETS MUST BE PROVIDED WITH TEMPORARY OR PERMANENT ENERGY DISSIPATION WITHIN
24 HOURS AFTER CONNECTION TO A SURFACE WATER.

31. FINAL STABILIZATION
FINAL STABILIZATION REQUIRES THAT ALL SOIL DISTURBING ACVTIVITIES HAVE BEEN COMPLETED
AND THAT  DISTURBED AREAS ARE STABILIZED BY A UNIFORM PERENNIAL VEGETATIVE COVER WITH
70% OF THE EXPECTED FINAL DENSITY, AND THAT ALL PERMANENT PAVEMENTS HAVE BEEN
INSTALLED.  ALL TEMPORARY BMP'S SHALL BE REMOVED, DITCHES STABILIZED, AND SEDIMENT SHALL
BE REMOVED FROM PERMANENT CONVEYANCES AND SEDIMENTATION BASINS IN ORDER TO RETURN
THE POND TO DESIGN CAPACITY.

32. RESPONSIBILITIES
A. THE OWNER MUST IDENTIFY A PERSON WHO WILL OVERSEE THE SWPPP IMPLEMENTATION AND

THE PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR INSPECTION AND MAINTENANCE:
CONTACT:    

  COMPANY:    
PHONE:    

B. THE OWNER MUST IDENTIFY THE A PERSON WHO WILL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR LONG TERM
OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE OF THE PERMANENT STORMWATER MANAGEMENT SYSTEM:

CONTACT:
COMPANY:    
PHONE:    

33. THE WATERSHED DISTRICT OR THE CITY MAY HAVE REQUIREMENTS FOR INSPECTIONS OR AS-BUILT
DRAWINGS VERIFYING PROPER CONSTRUCTION OF THE BMPS.

34. EROSION CONTROL DEVICES CANNOT BE REMOVED UNTIL THE WATERSHED DISTRICT HAS
DETERMINED THE SITE HAS BEEN PERMANENTLY RESTABALIZED AND SHALL BE REMOVED WITHIN 30
DAYS THEREAFTER.

SWPPP NOTES



33

33

50

50

60

CS

988.72

989.65

98
8.

18

99
0.

23

CS

974.12STOP-LIGHT

973.94

97
3.0

9

972.72

STO
PLI

GHT

973.76

1008.64

992.73

EDGE OF WATER AS
MEASURED 3-18-2020

EXISTIN
G

BRIDGE

BITUMINOUS
CURB B-STYLE

CURB

B
-S

TY
LE

C
U

R
B

B
-S

TY
LE

C
U

R
B

B
-S

TY
LE

C
U

R
B

BITUMINOUS
CURB

D
R
IV

EW
A
Y 

A
N

D
 U

TI
LI

TY
 A

G
R
EE

M
EN

T 
PE

R
 D

O
C
U

M
EN

TS
 N

O
. 

50
64

57
8 

A
N

D
 4

65
31

82
30

30

DRIVEWAY AND UTILITY AGREEMENT PER DOCUMENTS NO. 5064578 AND 4653182

30

 1
5'

 I
N

G
R
ES

S
, 

EG
R
ES

S
, 

A
N

D
D

R
IV

EW
A
Y 

EA
S
EM

EN
T 

PE
R

D
O

C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

59
50

71
4 

A
N

D
56

42
60

0

15

15

50
' H

IG
H

W
A
Y 

EA
S
EM

EN
T 

PE
R

D
O

C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

79
01

48
0

 1
5'

 R
EL

IA
N

T 
EN

ER
G

Y 
/

M
IN

N
EG

A
S
C
O

 U
TI

LI
TY

EA
S
EM

EN
T 

PE
R
 D

O
C
U

M
EN

T
N

O
. 

71
87

06
6

15

15

R
EL

EA
S
ED

 F
R
O

M
 1

5'
 I

N
G

R
ES

S
,

EG
R
ES

S
, 

A
N

D
 D

R
IV

EW
A
Y 

EA
S
EM

EN
T

C
R
EA

TE
D

 B
Y 

D
O

C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

59
50

71
4

PE
R
 D

O
C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

59
50

71
5

50
' H

IG
H

W
A
Y 

EA
S
EM

EN
T 

PE
R

D
O

C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

84
70

91
3

DRAINAGE AND UTILITY EASEMENT
PER DOCUMENT NO. 8470913

 1
5'

 R
EL

IA
N

T 
EN

ER
G

Y 
/

M
IN

N
EG

A
S
C
O

 U
TI

LI
TY

 E
A
S
EM

EN
T

PE
R
 D

O
C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

71
87

06
7

50
' H

IG
H

W
A
Y 

EA
S
EM

EN
T 

PE
R

D
O

C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

78
92

15
3

60

60

C
O

R
C
O

R
A
N

C
IT

Y 
LI

M
IT

S

50

33

16

(PUBLIC      ROAD)

(P
U

B
LI

C
  

  
  

R
O

A
D

)

CORCORAN
CITY LIMITS

16

42
.1

50

50

60

60

IN
V

 =
 9

70
.4

2

IN
V 

= 9
94

.0
9

IN
V =

 9
79.0

9

INV = 980.03

scan2830

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

















 






























   









 







FUTURE ROAD IMPROVEMENTS TO BE
DESIGNED & CONSTRUCTED BY CITY

FUTURE ROAD IMPROVEMENTS
TO BE DESIGNED & CONSTRUCTED

BY CITY/COUNTY













  





PROPOSED
BUILDING
FFE=995.00






































SANMH 2
RIM=992.20

INV(E)=978.88
INV(SW)=978.78

CONNECT TO EXISTING 8"
PVC C900 PLUG

(VERIFY EXISTING LOCATION,
SIZE & MATERIAL)

HYDRANT W/ GATE VALVE
12 LF-6" PVC WATERMAIN

CONNECT TO EXISTING 8" PVC
C900 PLUG
(VERIFY EXISTING LOCATION,
SIZE & MATERIAL)

158 LF-8" PVC WATERMAIN
8"x8" TEE

8" GATE VALVE

17 LF-8" PVC WATERMAIN

11.25 DEG. 8" BEND 242 LF-8" PVC WATERMAIN

11.25 DEG. 8" BEND
223 LF-8" PVC WATERMAIN

8"x8" TEE

8" GATE VALVE

33 LF-8" PVC WATERMAIN

22.5 DEG. 8" BEND

127 LF-8" PVC WATERMAIN

HYDRANT W/ GATE VALVE
11 LF-6" PVC WATERMAIN

8"x6" TEE

8"x6" TEE

8"x6" TEE

8"x4" TEE
8" GATE VALVE

8" GATE VALVE

4" GATE VALVE

45 DEG. 4" BEND

78 LF-4" PVC WATERMAIN

8 LF-4" PVC WATERMAIN

4" PVC DOMESTIC WATER
SERVICE STUB
(VERIFY LOCATION, INVERT &
SIZE W/ MECHANICAL)

6" PVC FIRE PROTECTION
SERVICE STUB
(VERIFY LOCATION, INVERT &
SIZE W/ MECHANICAL)

4 LF-6" PVC WATERMAIN

6" 45 DEG. BEND

74 LF-6" PVC WATERMAIN

6" PIV

11.25 DEG. 8" BEND

(2) 45 DEG. 8" BENDS

(2) 45 DEG. 8" BENDS

75 LF-8" PVC WATERMAIN

42 LF-8" PVC
WATERMAIN

51 LF-8" PVC
WATERMAIN

4 LF-8" PVC WATERMAIN

300 LF-8" PVC WATERMAIN

80 LF-8" PVC WATERMAIN

8"x6" TEE

HYDRANT W/ GATE VALVE
26 LF-6" PVC WATERMAIN

350 LF-8" PVC WATERMAIN

8"x6" TEE

HYDRANT W/ GATE VALVE
29 LF-6" PVC WATERMAIN

31 LF-8" PVC WATERMAIN

263 LF-8" PVC WATERMAIN

26 LF-8" PVC WATERMAIN
22.5 DEG. 8" BEND

65 LF-8" PVC WATERMAIN

SANITARY SEWER
SERVICE STUB
INV=980.06
(VERIFY LOCATION, INVERT
& SIZE W/ MECHANICAL)

59 LF-8" PVC @ 2.0%

290 LF-8" PVC @ 2.0%

SANMH 2
RIM=986.8
INV(NE)=972.98
INV(NW)=972.88

118 LF-8" PVC @ 2.0%

CORE DRILL & CONNECT
TO EXISTING SANMH @
INV(SE)=970.52±
EX. INV(NW)=970.42
(FIELD VERIFY LOCATION
& INVERT)

N

SCALE       IN       FEET

0 50 100

Consultants

LOUCKS PROJECT NO. 19176A

SD ISSUE

LOUCKS

7200 Hemlock Lane, Suite 300

Maple Grove, MN 55369

763.424.5505

www.loucksinc.com

PLANNING

CIVIL ENGINEERING

LAND SURVEYING

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

ENVIRONMENTAL

Co
py

rig
ht

 B
W

BR

DateItem

Sheet No.

Sheet Title

Comm. No. Drawn

3.2019023.00

This document may be an electronic file or may
be printed from an electronic file provided to
the user.  It is the sole responsibility of the user
to ensure that the content and quality is
consistent with the content and quality of the
original documents on file at BWBR.

Issued For

Consultants

651.222.3701
Saint Paul, MN 55102
380 St. Peter Street, Ste. 600

bwbr.com

This Sheet may be
a Reduced Copy.

The bar above is 1" long on a Full Size Sheet.
Drawing Scales apply to Full Size Sheets.

NOT F
OR

CONST
RUCTIO

N

Name

Date Lic./Reg. No.05-19-2020 53706

I hereby certify that this plan, specification or report was prepared
by me or under my direct supervision and that I am a duly

Licensed/Registered Professional Engineer under the laws of the
State of Minnesota

Trevor D. Gruys - PE

04-29-2020

EAGLE BROOK
CHURCH

WEST METRO
CAMPUS

CUP ISSUE 05-19-2020

UTILITY PLAN
SANITARY SEWER
& WATERMAIN

240.CU

TDG/ZBM/MDC

NOTE:
EXISTING CONDITIONS INFORMATION
SHOWN IS FROM A TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY
PREPARED BY E. G. RUD & SONS, INC. AND
DATED APRIL, 2020.




23

CIVIL LEGEND

Gopher State One Call

WARNING:
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR CALLING FOR LOCATIONS
OF ALL EXISTING UTILITIES. THEY SHALL COOPERATE WITH ALL UTILITY
COMPANIES IN MAINTAINING THEIR SERVICE AND / OR RELOCATION OF
LINES.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT GOPHER STATE ONE CALL AT
651-454-0002 AT LEAST 48 HOURS IN ADVANCE FOR THE LOCATIONS OF
ALL UNDERGROUND WIRES, CABLES, CONDUITS, PIPES, MANHOLES,
VALVES OR OTHER BURIED STRUCTURES BEFORE DIGGING. THE
CONTRACTOR SHALL REPAIR OR REPLACE THE ABOVE WHEN DAMAGED
DURING CONSTRUCTION AT NO COST TO THE OWNER.

UTILITY NOTES
1.  ALL SANITARY SEWER, STORM SEWER AND WATERMAIN UTILITIES SHALL BE FURNISHED AND

INSTALLED PER THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE SPECIFICATIONS,THE  MINNESOTA PLUMBING CODE,
THE LOCAL GOVERNING UNIT ,  AND THE STANDARD UTILITIES SPECIFICATION OF THE CITY
ENGINEERS ASSOCIATION OF MINNESOTA (CEAM), 2018 EDITION.

2. ALL UTILITY PIPE BEDDING SHALL BE COMPACTED SAND OR FINE GRANULAR MATERIAL.  ALL
COMPACTION SHALL BE PERFORMED PER THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE CEAM SPECIFICATION
AND THE GEOTECHNICAL REPORT.

3. ALL CONNECTIONS TO EXISTING UTILITIES SHALL BE PERFORMED PER THE REQUIREMENTS OF
THE    STATE AND LOCAL JURISDICTIONS. THE CITY DEPARTMENT OF ENGINEERING AND
BUILDING INSPECTIONS DEPARTMENT AND THE CONSTRUCTION ENGINEER MUST BE NOTIFIED
AT LEAST 48 HOURS PRIOR TO ANY WORK  WITHIN THE PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY, OR WORK
IMPACTING PUBLIC UTILITIES.

4. ALL STORM SEWER , SANITARY SEWER AND WATER SERVICES SHALL TERMINATE 5' FROM THE
BUILDING FACE UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

5. A MINIMUM OF 18 INCHES OF VERTICAL SEPARATION AND 10 FEET OF HORIZONTAL
SEPARATION IS REQUIRED FOR ALL UTILITES UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

6. ALL NEW WATERMAIN AND SERVICES MUST HAVE A MINIMUM OF 8.0 FEET OF COVER.  EXTRA
DEPTH MAY BE REQUIRED TO MAINTAIN A MINIMUM 18" VERTICAL SEPARATION TO SANITARY
OR STORM SEWER LINES. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL FIELD ADJUST WATERMAIN TO AVOID
CONFLICTS WITH SANITARY SEWER,  STORM SEWER, AND SERVICES AS REQUIRED. INSULATION
OF WATER AND SANITARY SEWER LINES SHALL BE PROVIDED WHERE 8.0 FEET MINIMUM DEPTH
CAN NOT BE ATTAINED.

7. ALL FIRE HYDRANTS SHALL BE LOCATED 5 FEET BEHIND BACK OF CURB OR EDGE OF PAVEMENT
UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

8. PROPOSED PIPE MATERIALS:
WATERMAIN  PVC C900 4" TO 8" DIAMETER
SANITARY SEWER     PVC SCH 40  8" DIAMETER
STORM SEWER       DUAL WALL HDPE       10" TO 24" DIAMETER

PVC SCH 40 6" TO 18" DIAMETER
PERFORATED PVC 4" TO 6" DIAMETER

9. ALL SANITARY SEWER WYES, TEES AND SERVICES SHALL BE 8" PVC SCH 40.

10. ALL PORTIONS OF THE STORM SEWER SYSTEM, INCLUDING CATCH BASINS, LOCATED WITHIN 10
FEET OF THE BUILDING OR WATER SERVICE LINE MUST BE TESTED ACCORDANCE WITH
MINNESOTA RULES, PART 4715.2820

11. ALL JOINTS AND CONNECTIONS IN THE STORM SEWER SYSTEM SHALL BE GASTIGHT OR
WATERTIGHT (SEE MINNESOTA RULES, PART 4715.0700). APPROVED RESILIENT RUBBER JOINTS
MUST BE USED TO MAKE WATERTIGHT CONNECTIONS TO MANHOLES, CATCHBASINS, AND
OTHER STRUCTURES.

12. HIGH-DENSITY POLYETHYLENE (HDPE) STORM DRAINS MUST COMPLY WITH MINNESOTA RULES,
PART 4715.0540:
a. PIPES 4-INCH TO 10-INCH IN SIZE MUST COMPLY WITH AASHTO M252.
b. PIPES 12-INCH TO 60-INCH IN SIZE MUST COMPLY WITH ASTM F2306.
c. ALL FITTINGS MUST COMPLY WITH ASTM D3212.
d. WATER-TIGHT JOINTS MUST BE USED AT ALL CONNECTIONS INCLUDING STRUCTURES.



33

33

50

50

60

CS

988.72

989.65

98
8.

18

99
0.

23

CS

974.12STOP-LIGHT

973.94

97
2.0

7

97
3.0

9

972.72

STO
PLI

GHT

971.64STOPLIGHT

972.82

STO
PLI

GHT

97
2.4

1

973.76

1008.64

992.73

EDGE OF WATER AS
MEASURED 3-18-2020

EXISTIN
G

BRIDGE

BITUMINOUS
CURB B-STYLE

CURB

B
-S

TY
LE

C
U

R
B

B
-S

TY
LE

C
U

R
B

B
-S

TY
LE

C
U

R
B

BITUMINOUS
CURB

D
R
IV

EW
A
Y 

A
N

D
 U

TI
LI

TY
 A

G
R
EE

M
EN

T 
PE

R
 D

O
C
U

M
EN

TS
 N

O
. 

50
64

57
8 

A
N

D
 4

65
31

82

30

30

DRIVEWAY AND UTILITY AGREEMENT PER DOCUMENTS NO. 5064578 AND 4653182

30

 1
5'

 I
N

G
R
ES

S
, 

EG
R
ES

S
, 

A
N

D
D

R
IV

EW
A
Y 

EA
S
EM

EN
T 

PE
R

D
O

C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

59
50

71
4 

A
N

D
56

42
60

0
15

15

50
' H

IG
H

W
A
Y 

EA
S
EM

EN
T 

PE
R

D
O

C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

79
01

48
0

 1
5'

 R
EL

IA
N

T 
EN

ER
G

Y 
/

M
IN

N
EG

A
S
C
O

 U
TI

LI
TY

EA
S
EM

EN
T 

PE
R
 D

O
C
U

M
EN

T
N

O
. 

71
87

06
6

15

15

R
EL

EA
S
ED

 F
R
O

M
 1

5'
 I

N
G

R
ES

S
,

EG
R
ES

S
, 

A
N

D
 D

R
IV

EW
A
Y 

EA
S
EM

EN
T

C
R
EA

TE
D

 B
Y 

D
O

C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

59
50

71
4

PE
R
 D

O
C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

59
50

71
5

50
' H

IG
H

W
A
Y 

EA
S
EM

EN
T 

PE
R

D
O

C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

84
70

91
3

DRAINAGE AND UTILITY EASEMENT
PER DOCUMENT NO. 8470913

 1
5'

 R
EL

IA
N

T 
EN

ER
G

Y 
/

M
IN

N
EG

A
S
C
O

 U
TI

LI
TY

 E
A
S
EM

EN
T

PE
R
 D

O
C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

71
87

06
7

50
' H

IG
H

W
A
Y 

EA
S
EM

EN
T 

PE
R

D
O

C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

78
92

15
3

60

60

C
O

R
C
O

R
A
N

C
IT

Y 
LI

M
IT

S

50

33

16

(PUBLIC      ROAD)

(P
U

B
LI

C
  

  
  

R
O

A
D

)

CORCORAN
CITY LIMITS

16

42
.1

50

50

60

60

IN
V 

= 9
94

.0
9

IN
V =

 9
79.0

9

INV = 980.03

scan2830

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

















 






























   









 







FUTURE ROAD IMPROVEMENTS TO BE
DESIGNED & CONSTRUCTED BY CITY

FUTURE ROAD IMPROVEMENTS
TO BE DESIGNED & CONSTRUCTED

BY CITY/COUNTY













  





PROPOSED
BUILDING
FFE=995.00






































12 LF-12" HDPE @ 2.0%

CBMH 5
18" NYLOPLAST

RIM=992.0
INV=989.00

18" ROOF DRAIN STUB
INV=987.00

(VERIFY SIZE, INVERT &
LOCATION W/
MECHANICAL)

29 LF-18" PVC @ 1.6%

CBMH
RIM=994.1

INV(W)=987.90
INV(N,E)=986.53

8" ROOF DRAIN STUB
INV=989.00

(VERIFY SIZE, INVERT &
LOCATION W/
MECHANICAL)

110 LF-8" PVC @ 1.0%

209 LF-18" PVC @ 1.7%

CBMH
RIM=989.39
INV(NW)=985.39
INV(SW)=984.59
INV(E)=982.98
INV(SE)=982.48

326 LF-12"
PVC @ 1.1%

105 LF-12" HDPE @ 1.0%

CBMH 5
18" NYLOPLAST

RIM=993.0
INV=990.00

65 LF-10" HDPE @ 0.9%

CBMH
18" NYLOPLAST

RIM=993.6
INV=990.60

33 LF-12" HDPE @ 1.2%
CBMH

18" NYLOPLAST
RIM=994.0

INV=991.00

CBMH
RIM=989.15

INV(N)=985.32
INV(S)=985.15

CBMH
12" NYLOPLAST

RIM=993.5
INV=990.50

48 LF-8" PVC @ 1.0%

CBMH
12" NYLOPLAST

RIM=993.5
INV=990.02

80 LF-8" PVC @ 1.0%

CBMH
12" NYLOPLAST

RIM=993.0
INV(NW)=989.22

INV(W)=988.03
INV(SE)=987.70

CBMH
12" NYLOPLAST

RIM=993.0
INV=990.00

98 LF-8" PVC @ 1.0%

CBMH
12" NYLOPLAST

RIM=993.0
INV=989.02

99 LF-8" PVC @ 1.0%

93 LF-12" PVC @ 1.0%

STMH
RIM=992.84
INV=986.77

124 LF-12" PVC @ 1.0%

STMH
RIM=990.96
INV=985.53

94 LF-12" HDPE @ 1.0%

270 LF-24"
HDPE @ 1.7%

CBMH
RIM=983.42
INV=977.89

25 LF-4" PVC
DRAINTILE SLOPE
TO DRAIN-TYP

177 LF-24"
HDPE @ 1.7%

12 LF-24" HDPE @ 2.0%

CBMH
RIM=980.00
INV=974.88

CBMH
RIM=979.64
INV=974.64
25 LF-4" PVC
DRAINTILE SLOPE
TO DRAIN-TYP
45 LF-24" HDPE @ 1.4%

CBMH
RIM=979.57
INV=974.01
32 LF-24" HDPE @ 1.4%

CBMH
RIM=979.85
INV=973.56
SUMP=969.56

40 LF-24"
HDPE @ 1.4%

FES
INV=973.00

FES
INV=973.00

262 LF-24"
HDPE @ 2.0%

25 LF-4" PVC
DRAINTILE SLOPE
TO DRAIN-TYP

CBMH
RIM=983.56
INV=978.31
SUMP=974.31

12 LF-24" HDPE @ 2.0%

CBMH
RIM=983.75
INV(NW)=979.05
INV(SE)=978.55

151 LF-18" HDPE @ 1.0%

CBMH
RIM=985.07
INV(N)=981.06
INV(SE)=980.56

12 LF-12" HDPE @ 2.0%

CB
RIM=985.30
INV=981.30

25 LF-4" PVC
DRAINTILE SLOPE
TO DRAIN-TYP

CBMH
RIM=988.95

INV(N)=984.91
INV(S)=984.41

41 LF-18" HDPE @ 2.0%

CBMH
RIM=988.00
INV=983.59

SUMP=979.59

FES INV=983.00

20 LF-18"
HDPE @ 3.0%

25 LF-4" PVC
DRAINTILE SLOPE

TO DRAIN-TYP

FES INV=975.10

CBMH
RIM=979.80
INV(DT)=975.67
INV(S)=975.34

47 LF-12" HDPE @ 0.5%

FES
INV=967.60

CBMH
RIM=973.00

INV(DT)=968.17
INV(E)=967.84

41 LF-12" HDPE @ 0.6%
6" PERFORATE

PVC DRAINTILE
INV=968.17

TYP

PERFORATED
DRAINTILE SWALE

255 LF-6"
PERFORATED

DRAINTILE
SEE DETAIL

CLEANOUT
RIM=995.4
INV=992.4

CBMH
12" NYLOPLAST

RIM=993.9
INV(E)=990.90
INV(S)=990.57

335 LF-10"
HDPE @ 1.6%

116 LF-18"
HDPE @ 0.7%

106 LF-24"
HDPE @ 0.5%

34 LF-4" PVC
DRAINTILE SLOPE

TO DRAIN

66 LF-4" PVC
DRAINTILE SLOPE

TO DRAIN

106 LF-4" PVC
DRAINTILE SLOPE

TO DRAIN

8" PVC HEADER PIPE
INV=968.17

8"x6" WYE-TYP

8"x6" TEE-TYP

CLEANOUT
TYP

CLEANOUT
TYP

6" PERFORATE
PVC DRAINTILE

INV=975.67
TYP

8" PVC HEADER PIPE
INV=968.17

8"x6" TEE-TYP

FES
INV=975.07

FES
INV=974.56

FES
INV=976.20

FES
INV=977.00

N

SCALE       IN       FEET

0 50 100

Consultants

LOUCKS PROJECT NO. 19176A

SD ISSUE

LOUCKS

7200 Hemlock Lane, Suite 300

Maple Grove, MN 55369

763.424.5505

www.loucksinc.com

PLANNING

CIVIL ENGINEERING

LAND SURVEYING

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

ENVIRONMENTAL

Co
py

rig
ht

 B
W

BR

DateItem

Sheet No.

Sheet Title

Comm. No. Drawn

3.2019023.00

This document may be an electronic file or may
be printed from an electronic file provided to
the user.  It is the sole responsibility of the user
to ensure that the content and quality is
consistent with the content and quality of the
original documents on file at BWBR.

Issued For

Consultants

651.222.3701
Saint Paul, MN 55102
380 St. Peter Street, Ste. 600

bwbr.com

This Sheet may be
a Reduced Copy.

The bar above is 1" long on a Full Size Sheet.
Drawing Scales apply to Full Size Sheets.

NOT F
OR

CONST
RUCTIO

N

Name

Date Lic./Reg. No.05-19-2020 53706

I hereby certify that this plan, specification or report was prepared
by me or under my direct supervision and that I am a duly

Licensed/Registered Professional Engineer under the laws of the
State of Minnesota

Trevor D. Gruys - PE

04-29-2020

EAGLE BROOK
CHURCH

WEST METRO
CAMPUS

CUP ISSUE 05-19-2020

UTILITY PLAN
STORM SEWER

241.CU

TDG/ZBM/MDC

NOTE:
EXISTING CONDITIONS INFORMATION
SHOWN IS FROM A TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY
PREPARED BY E. G. RUD & SONS, INC. AND
DATED APRIL, 2020.




23

CIVIL LEGEND

Gopher State One Call

WARNING:
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR CALLING FOR LOCATIONS
OF ALL EXISTING UTILITIES. THEY SHALL COOPERATE WITH ALL UTILITY
COMPANIES IN MAINTAINING THEIR SERVICE AND / OR RELOCATION OF
LINES.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT GOPHER STATE ONE CALL AT
651-454-0002 AT LEAST 48 HOURS IN ADVANCE FOR THE LOCATIONS OF
ALL UNDERGROUND WIRES, CABLES, CONDUITS, PIPES, MANHOLES,
VALVES OR OTHER BURIED STRUCTURES BEFORE DIGGING. THE
CONTRACTOR SHALL REPAIR OR REPLACE THE ABOVE WHEN DAMAGED
DURING CONSTRUCTION AT NO COST TO THE OWNER.

UTILITY NOTES
1.  ALL SANITARY SEWER, STORM SEWER AND WATERMAIN UTILITIES SHALL BE FURNISHED AND

INSTALLED PER THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE SPECIFICATIONS,THE  MINNESOTA PLUMBING CODE,
THE LOCAL GOVERNING UNIT ,  AND THE STANDARD UTILITIES SPECIFICATION OF THE CITY
ENGINEERS ASSOCIATION OF MINNESOTA (CEAM), 2018 EDITION.

2. ALL UTILITY PIPE BEDDING SHALL BE COMPACTED SAND OR FINE GRANULAR MATERIAL.  ALL
COMPACTION SHALL BE PERFORMED PER THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE CEAM SPECIFICATION
AND THE GEOTECHNICAL REPORT.

3. ALL CONNECTIONS TO EXISTING UTILITIES SHALL BE PERFORMED PER THE REQUIREMENTS OF
THE    STATE AND LOCAL JURISDICTIONS. THE CITY DEPARTMENT OF ENGINEERING AND
BUILDING INSPECTIONS DEPARTMENT AND THE CONSTRUCTION ENGINEER MUST BE NOTIFIED
AT LEAST 48 HOURS PRIOR TO ANY WORK  WITHIN THE PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY, OR WORK
IMPACTING PUBLIC UTILITIES.

4. ALL STORM SEWER , SANITARY SEWER AND WATER SERVICES SHALL TERMINATE 5' FROM THE
BUILDING FACE UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

5. A MINIMUM OF 18 INCHES OF VERTICAL SEPARATION AND 10 FEET OF HORIZONTAL
SEPARATION IS REQUIRED FOR ALL UTILITES UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

6. ALL NEW WATERMAIN AND SERVICES MUST HAVE A MINIMUM OF 8.0 FEET OF COVER.  EXTRA
DEPTH MAY BE REQUIRED TO MAINTAIN A MINIMUM 18" VERTICAL SEPARATION TO SANITARY
OR STORM SEWER LINES. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL FIELD ADJUST WATERMAIN TO AVOID
CONFLICTS WITH SANITARY SEWER,  STORM SEWER, AND SERVICES AS REQUIRED. INSULATION
OF WATER AND SANITARY SEWER LINES SHALL BE PROVIDED WHERE 8.0 FEET MINIMUM DEPTH
CAN NOT BE ATTAINED.

7. ALL FIRE HYDRANTS SHALL BE LOCATED 5 FEET BEHIND BACK OF CURB OR EDGE OF PAVEMENT
UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

8. PROPOSED PIPE MATERIALS:
WATERMAIN  PVC C900 4" TO 8" DIAMETER
SANITARY SEWER     PVC SCH 40  8" DIAMETER
STORM SEWER       DUAL WALL HDPE       10" TO 24" DIAMETER

PVC SCH 40 6" TO 18" DIAMETER
PERFORATED PVC 4" TO 6" DIAMETER

9. ALL SANITARY SEWER WYES, TEES AND SERVICES SHALL BE 8" PVC SCH 40.

10. ALL PORTIONS OF THE STORM SEWER SYSTEM, INCLUDING CATCH BASINS, LOCATED WITHIN 10
FEET OF THE BUILDING OR WATER SERVICE LINE MUST BE TESTED ACCORDANCE WITH
MINNESOTA RULES, PART 4715.2820

11. ALL JOINTS AND CONNECTIONS IN THE STORM SEWER SYSTEM SHALL BE GASTIGHT OR
WATERTIGHT (SEE MINNESOTA RULES, PART 4715.0700). APPROVED RESILIENT RUBBER JOINTS
MUST BE USED TO MAKE WATERTIGHT CONNECTIONS TO MANHOLES, CATCHBASINS, AND
OTHER STRUCTURES.

12. HIGH-DENSITY POLYETHYLENE (HDPE) STORM DRAINS MUST COMPLY WITH MINNESOTA RULES,
PART 4715.0540:
a. PIPES 4-INCH TO 10-INCH IN SIZE MUST COMPLY WITH AASHTO M252.
b. PIPES 12-INCH TO 60-INCH IN SIZE MUST COMPLY WITH ASTM F2306.
c. ALL FITTINGS MUST COMPLY WITH ASTM D3212.
d. WATER-TIGHT JOINTS MUST BE USED AT ALL CONNECTIONS INCLUDING STRUCTURES.



D
R
IV

EW
A
Y 

A
N

D
 U

TI
LI

TY
 A

G
R
EE

M
EN

T 
PE

R
 D

O
C
U

M
EN

TS
 N

O
. 

50
64

57
8 

A
N

D
 4

65
31

82

30

DRIVEWAY AND UTILITY AGREEMENT PER DOCUMENTS NO. 5064578 AND 4653182

15 15

R
EL

EA
S
ED

 F
R
O

M
 1

5'
 I

N
G

R
ES

S
,

EG
R
ES

S
, 

A
N

D
 D

R
IV

EW
A
Y 

EA
S
EM

EN
T

C
R
EA

TE
D

 B
Y 

D
O

C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

59
50

71
4

PE
R
 D

O
C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

59
50

71
5

 1
5'

 R
EL

IA
N

T 
EN

ER
G

Y 
/

M
IN

N
EG

A
S
C
O

 U
TI

LI
TY

 E
A
S
EM

EN
T

PE
R
 D

O
C
U

M
EN

T 
N

O
. 

71
87

06
7

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

















      













   






























































       

PROPOSED
BUILDING
FFE=995.00















COORDINATE WITH MECHANICAL
FOR INTERIOR DRAIN TILE

CONNECTIONS
TO EXTERIOR DRAIN TILE SYSTEM

33 LF-6" SOLID
PVC SLOPED TO DRAIN

590 LF-6" PERFORATED
PVC DRAINTILE

CLEANOUT
RIM=994.96
COORDINATE W/
ARCHITECTURAL &
STRUCTURAL FOR
EXACT INVERT

33 LF-6" SOLID
PVC SLOPED TO DRAIN

714 LF-6" PERFORATED
PVC DRAINTILE

N

SCALE       IN       FEET

0 20 40

Consultants

LOUCKS PROJECT NO. 19176A

SD ISSUE

LOUCKS

7200 Hemlock Lane, Suite 300

Maple Grove, MN 55369

763.424.5505

www.loucksinc.com

PLANNING

CIVIL ENGINEERING

LAND SURVEYING

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

ENVIRONMENTAL

Co
py

rig
ht

 B
W

BR

DateItem

Sheet No.

Sheet Title

Comm. No. Drawn

3.2019023.00

This document may be an electronic file or may
be printed from an electronic file provided to
the user.  It is the sole responsibility of the user
to ensure that the content and quality is
consistent with the content and quality of the
original documents on file at BWBR.

Issued For

Consultants

651.222.3701
Saint Paul, MN 55102
380 St. Peter Street, Ste. 600

bwbr.com

This Sheet may be
a Reduced Copy.

The bar above is 1" long on a Full Size Sheet.
Drawing Scales apply to Full Size Sheets.

NOT F
OR

CONST
RUCTIO

N

Name

Date Lic./Reg. No.05-19-2020 53706

I hereby certify that this plan, specification or report was prepared
by me or under my direct supervision and that I am a duly

Licensed/Registered Professional Engineer under the laws of the
State of Minnesota

Trevor D. Gruys - PE

04-29-2020

EAGLE BROOK
CHURCH

WEST METRO
CAMPUS

CUP ISSUE 05-19-2020

UTILITY PLAN
FOUNDATION
DRAINTILE

242.CU

TDG/ZBM/MDC

NOTE:
EXISTING CONDITIONS INFORMATION
SHOWN IS FROM A TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY
PREPARED BY E. G. RUD & SONS, INC. AND
DATED APRIL, 2020.




23

CIVIL LEGEND

Gopher State One Call

WARNING:
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR CALLING FOR LOCATIONS
OF ALL EXISTING UTILITIES. THEY SHALL COOPERATE WITH ALL UTILITY
COMPANIES IN MAINTAINING THEIR SERVICE AND / OR RELOCATION OF
LINES.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT GOPHER STATE ONE CALL AT
651-454-0002 AT LEAST 48 HOURS IN ADVANCE FOR THE LOCATIONS OF
ALL UNDERGROUND WIRES, CABLES, CONDUITS, PIPES, MANHOLES,
VALVES OR OTHER BURIED STRUCTURES BEFORE DIGGING. THE
CONTRACTOR SHALL REPAIR OR REPLACE THE ABOVE WHEN DAMAGED
DURING CONSTRUCTION AT NO COST TO THE OWNER.

DRAWN 3/2018

LOUCKS PLATE NO.

EXTERIOR FOUNDATION
DRAINTILE DETAIL

NOT TO SCALE

NOTE
1. SEE MECHANICAL DRAWINGS FOR FOUNDATION DRAINTILE ON INTERIOR OF BUILDING.
2. NON-WOVEN GEOTECHNICAL FABRIC SHALL BE PLACED AROUND THE ENTIRE DRAINAGE

AGGREGATE FIELD. FULLY ADHERE SEAMS AND CINCH WITH A STAINLESS STEEL RING
CLAMP AT CLEANOUT LOCATIONS.

PIPE DETAIL

160°

90°

1
4" DIA. HOLE

TYPICAL

TRENCH DETAIL

2" MIN.

5"
MIN.

6" MIN.

FINISHED FLOOR ELEVATION

APPROVED FREE DRAINING
BACKFILL MATERIAL
(SEE SPECS)

COARSE FILTER AGGREGATE
MNDOT 3149.2H
THE AGGREGATE SHALL BE
ROUND RIVER ROCK, WASHED
AND FREE OF FINE PARTICLES

NON-WOVEN GEOTEXTILE
FABRIC AROUND DRAINAGE
ROCK - MNDOT 3733, TYPE 1

FOUNDATION
(SEE STRUCTURAL)

6" PERFORATED SCHEDULE 80
PVC PIPE

5" FROM EDGE OF DRAINTILE
TO FACE OF FOUNDATION

WALL TO ALLOW FOR
PLACEMENT OF INSULATION

APPROVED FREE DRAINING
BACKFILL MATERIAL
(SEE SPECS)

UTILITY NOTES
1.  ALL SANITARY SEWER, STORM SEWER AND WATERMAIN UTILITIES SHALL BE FURNISHED AND

INSTALLED PER THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE SPECIFICATIONS,THE  MINNESOTA PLUMBING CODE,
THE LOCAL GOVERNING UNIT ,  AND THE STANDARD UTILITIES SPECIFICATION OF THE CITY
ENGINEERS ASSOCIATION OF MINNESOTA (CEAM), 2018 EDITION.

2. ALL UTILITY PIPE BEDDING SHALL BE COMPACTED SAND OR FINE GRANULAR MATERIAL.  ALL
COMPACTION SHALL BE PERFORMED PER THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE CEAM SPECIFICATION
AND THE GEOTECHNICAL REPORT.

3. ALL CONNECTIONS TO EXISTING UTILITIES SHALL BE PERFORMED PER THE REQUIREMENTS OF
THE    STATE AND LOCAL JURISDICTIONS. THE CITY DEPARTMENT OF ENGINEERING AND
BUILDING INSPECTIONS DEPARTMENT AND THE CONSTRUCTION ENGINEER MUST BE NOTIFIED
AT LEAST 48 HOURS PRIOR TO ANY WORK  WITHIN THE PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY, OR WORK
IMPACTING PUBLIC UTILITIES.

4. ALL STORM SEWER , SANITARY SEWER AND WATER SERVICES SHALL TERMINATE 5' FROM THE
BUILDING FACE UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

5. A MINIMUM OF 18 INCHES OF VERTICAL SEPARATION AND 10 FEET OF HORIZONTAL
SEPARATION IS REQUIRED FOR ALL UTILITES UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

6. ALL NEW WATERMAIN AND SERVICES MUST HAVE A MINIMUM OF 8.0 FEET OF COVER.  EXTRA
DEPTH MAY BE REQUIRED TO MAINTAIN A MINIMUM 18" VERTICAL SEPARATION TO SANITARY
OR STORM SEWER LINES. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL FIELD ADJUST WATERMAIN TO AVOID
CONFLICTS WITH SANITARY SEWER,  STORM SEWER, AND SERVICES AS REQUIRED. INSULATION
OF WATER AND SANITARY SEWER LINES SHALL BE PROVIDED WHERE 8.0 FEET MINIMUM DEPTH
CAN NOT BE ATTAINED.

7. ALL FIRE HYDRANTS SHALL BE LOCATED 5 FEET BEHIND BACK OF CURB OR EDGE OF PAVEMENT
UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

8. PROPOSED PIPE MATERIALS:
WATERMAIN  PVC C900 4" TO 8" DIAMETER
SANITARY SEWER     PVC SCH 40  8" DIAMETER
STORM SEWER       DUAL WALL HDPE       10" TO 24" DIAMETER

PVC SCH 40 6" TO 18" DIAMETER
PERFORATED PVC 4" TO 6" DIAMETER

9. ALL SANITARY SEWER WYES, TEES AND SERVICES SHALL BE 8" PVC SCH 40.

10. ALL PORTIONS OF THE STORM SEWER SYSTEM, INCLUDING CATCH BASINS, LOCATED WITHIN 10
FEET OF THE BUILDING OR WATER SERVICE LINE MUST BE TESTED ACCORDANCE WITH
MINNESOTA RULES, PART 4715.2820

11. ALL JOINTS AND CONNECTIONS IN THE STORM SEWER SYSTEM SHALL BE GASTIGHT OR
WATERTIGHT (SEE MINNESOTA RULES, PART 4715.0700). APPROVED RESILIENT RUBBER JOINTS
MUST BE USED TO MAKE WATERTIGHT CONNECTIONS TO MANHOLES, CATCHBASINS, AND
OTHER STRUCTURES.

12. HIGH-DENSITY POLYETHYLENE (HDPE) STORM DRAINS MUST COMPLY WITH MINNESOTA RULES,
PART 4715.0540:
a. PIPES 4-INCH TO 10-INCH IN SIZE MUST COMPLY WITH AASHTO M252.
b. PIPES 12-INCH TO 60-INCH IN SIZE MUST COMPLY WITH ASTM F2306.
c. ALL FITTINGS MUST COMPLY WITH ASTM D3212.
d. WATER-TIGHT JOINTS MUST BE USED AT ALL CONNECTIONS INCLUDING STRUCTURES.



Consultants

LOUCKS PROJECT NO. 19176A

SD ISSUE

LOUCKS

7200 Hemlock Lane, Suite 300

Maple Grove, MN 55369

763.424.5505

www.loucksinc.com

PLANNING

CIVIL ENGINEERING

LAND SURVEYING

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

ENVIRONMENTAL

Co
py

rig
ht

 B
W

BR

DateItem

Sheet No.

Sheet Title

Comm. No. Drawn

3.2019023.00

This document may be an electronic file or may
be printed from an electronic file provided to
the user.  It is the sole responsibility of the user
to ensure that the content and quality is
consistent with the content and quality of the
original documents on file at BWBR.

Issued For

Consultants

651.222.3701
Saint Paul, MN 55102
380 St. Peter Street, Ste. 600

bwbr.com

This Sheet may be
a Reduced Copy.

The bar above is 1" long on a Full Size Sheet.
Drawing Scales apply to Full Size Sheets.

NOT F
OR

CONST
RUCTIO

N

Name

Date Lic./Reg. No.05-19-2020 53706

I hereby certify that this plan, specification or report was prepared
by me or under my direct supervision and that I am a duly

Licensed/Registered Professional Engineer under the laws of the
State of Minnesota

Trevor D. Gruys - PE

04-29-2020

EAGLE BROOK
CHURCH

WEST METRO
CAMPUS

CUP ISSUE 05-19-2020

CIVIL DETAILS

250.CD

TDG/ZBM/MDC



Consultants

LOUCKS PROJECT NO. 19176A

SD ISSUE

LOUCKS

7200 Hemlock Lane, Suite 300

Maple Grove, MN 55369

763.424.5505

www.loucksinc.com

PLANNING

CIVIL ENGINEERING

LAND SURVEYING

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

ENVIRONMENTAL

Co
py

rig
ht

 B
W

BR

DateItem

Sheet No.

Sheet Title

Comm. No. Drawn

3.2019023.00

This document may be an electronic file or may
be printed from an electronic file provided to
the user.  It is the sole responsibility of the user
to ensure that the content and quality is
consistent with the content and quality of the
original documents on file at BWBR.

Issued For

Consultants

651.222.3701
Saint Paul, MN 55102
380 St. Peter Street, Ste. 600

bwbr.com

This Sheet may be
a Reduced Copy.

The bar above is 1" long on a Full Size Sheet.
Drawing Scales apply to Full Size Sheets.

NOT F
OR

CONST
RUCTIO

N

Name

Date Lic./Reg. No.05-19-2020 53706

I hereby certify that this plan, specification or report was prepared
by me or under my direct supervision and that I am a duly

Licensed/Registered Professional Engineer under the laws of the
State of Minnesota

Trevor D. Gruys - PE

04-29-2020

EAGLE BROOK
CHURCH

WEST METRO
CAMPUS

CUP ISSUE 05-19-2020

CIVIL DETAILS

251.CD

TDG/ZBM/MDC



Consultants

LOUCKS PROJECT NO. 19176A

SD ISSUE

LOUCKS

7200 Hemlock Lane, Suite 300

Maple Grove, MN 55369

763.424.5505

www.loucksinc.com

PLANNING

CIVIL ENGINEERING

LAND SURVEYING

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

ENVIRONMENTAL

Co
py

rig
ht

 B
W

BR

DateItem

Sheet No.

Sheet Title

Comm. No. Drawn

3.2019023.00

This document may be an electronic file or may
be printed from an electronic file provided to
the user.  It is the sole responsibility of the user
to ensure that the content and quality is
consistent with the content and quality of the
original documents on file at BWBR.

Issued For

Consultants

651.222.3701
Saint Paul, MN 55102
380 St. Peter Street, Ste. 600

bwbr.com

This Sheet may be
a Reduced Copy.

The bar above is 1" long on a Full Size Sheet.
Drawing Scales apply to Full Size Sheets.

NOT F
OR

CONST
RUCTIO

N

Name

Date Lic./Reg. No.05-19-2020 53706

I hereby certify that this plan, specification or report was prepared
by me or under my direct supervision and that I am a duly

Licensed/Registered Professional Engineer under the laws of the
State of Minnesota

Trevor D. Gruys - PE

04-29-2020

EAGLE BROOK
CHURCH

WEST METRO
CAMPUS

CUP ISSUE 05-19-2020

CIVIL DETAILS

252.CD

TDG/ZBM/MDC

FLAT CURB AND

GUTTER (12")

DRAWN 2/2016

LOUCKS PLATE NO.

2012

LOUCKS

SLOPE GUTTER TO MATCH

PARKING LOT DRAINAGE

(3/4" PER FT. TYP.)

TIP GUTTER OUT AS REQ'D

PAVEMENT SECTION VARIES

MIN. OF 4"

3/8 " LIP

AGG. BASE UNDER

CURB (IF TOTAL

THICKNESS OF

SECTION ALLOWS)

7"

12" 8"

AGG. BASE

VARIES

1/2" RAD.

20"

SPECIFICATION NOTES:

1. UPON COMPLETION, CURBING SHOULD BE SPRAYED WITH A

MEMBRANE CURING COMPOUND PER MNDOT 3754.

2. EXPANSION JOINTS AT MAX. SPACING OF 200'.

3. CONSTRUCT IN ACCORDANCE WITH MNDOT 2531.

CONCRETE SIDEWALK-

WIDTH & SECTION VARY

REFER TO SITE PLAN

1.5" BIT. WEAR COURSE,

MN/DOT 2360 SPWEA240B

TACK COAT, MN/DOT 2357

2" BIT. NON-WEAR COURSE,

MN/DOT 2360 SPNWB230B

8" AGG. BASE, CLASS 5 OR 2 MN/DOT 3138

APPROVED SUBGRADE

FINISHED GRADE

18" SELECT GRANULAR, MN/DOT 3149.D

STANDARD BITUMINOUS

PAVEMENT SECTION

PAVEMENT SECTION BASED ON GEOTECHNICAL

REPORT BY BRAUN INTERTEC,

DATED XX/XX/XXXX

GEOTEXTILE FILTER FABRIC TYPE V,

MN/DOT 3733.2

DRAWN 12/2016

LOUCKS PLATE NO.

2031

LOUCKS

1.5" BIT. WEAR COURSE,

MN/DOT 2360 SPWEA240B

TACK COAT, MN/DOT 2357

2.5" BIT. NON-WEAR COURSE,

MN/DOT 2360 SPNWB230B

10" AGG. BASE, CLASS 5 OR 2 MN/DOT 3138

APPROVED SUBGRADE

FINISHED GRADE

18" SELECT GRANULAR, MN/DOT 3149.

HEAVY DUTY BITUMINOUS

PAVEMENT SECTION

PAVEMENT SECTION BASED ON GEOTECHNICAL

REPORT BY BRAUN INTERTEC,

DATED XX/XX/XXXX

GEOTEXTILE FILTER FABRIC TYPE V,

MN/DOT 3733.2

DRAWN 12/2016

LOUCKS PLATE NO.

2032

LOUCKS

8" COMPACTED AGGREGATE BASE CL. 5 OR 2

MN/DOT 3138

APPROVED SUBGRADE

FINISHED GRADE

6" CONCRETE MN/DOT 2301

CONCRETE PAVEMENT

SECTION

NOTES:

1. CONCRETE 6" THICK OR LESS SHALL BE REINFORCED WITH WELDED WIRE

FABRIC OR REINFORCING BARS. CONCRETE 7" THICK OR GREATER SHALL

BE REINFORCED PER GEOTECHNICAL RECOMMENDATIONS.

2. SAWED OR FORMED CONTROL JOINTS SHOULD BE INCLUDED FOR EACH

225 SQUARE FEET OF AREA OR LESS (15 FEET BY 15 FEET).

3. SAW CUTS SHOULD NOT CUT THROUGH THE WELDED WIRE FABRIC OR

REINFORCING STEEL AND DOWELS SHOULD BE UTILIZED AT FORMED

AND/OR COLD JOINTS.

DRAWN 12/2016

LOUCKS PLATE NO.

2033

LOUCKS

18" SELECT GRANULAR, MN/DOT 3149.D

PAVEMENT SECTION BASED ON GEOTECHNICAL

REPORT BY BRAUN INTERTEC,

DATED XX/XX/XXXX

GEOTEXTILE FILTER FABRIC

TYPE V MN/DOT 3733.2

CONCRETE SIDEWALK

SECTION

4" CONCRETE WALK

MN/DOT 2521

4" GRANULAR MATERIAL

MN/DOT 3149

DRAWN 12/2016

LOUCKS PLATE NO.

2034

LOUCKS

BOLLARD

1/2" CROWN

1" CROWN

3'
-6

"
3'

-0
"

6"

24" DIA.

2,500 PSI

CONCRETE

6" DIP, CONC.

FILLED, PAINTED

OSHA YELLOW

DRAWN 12/2016

LOUCKS PLATE NO.

2039

LOUCKS

LIFT VAN
ACCESSIBLE

6
0

"
4

8
"

18" DIA.

3
6

"

ADA PARKING

SIGN / BOLLARD COMBO

LIFT VAN ACCESSIBLE ONLY

12"x18" STANDARD HANDICAP PARKING

SIGN WITH SEPARATE 'VAN ACCESSIBLE'

PANEL. GREEN LETTERING AND BORDER

ON WHITE BACKGROUND. SYMBOL OF

ACCESSIBILITY SHALL BE 4"x4" AND BE

WHITE ON A BLUE BACKGROUND. USE

HARDWARE PER SIGN SUPPLIER'S

RECOMMENDATIONS.

HC SIGNAGE PER MINNESOTA

RULES 1341.0502

12"x6" STANDARD 'VAN

ACCESSIBLE' PANEL. GREEN

LETTERING AND BORDER ON

WHITE BACKGROUND.

2" DIA. 6' LONG MIN.

GALVANIZED  SCHEDULE 40

STEEL PIPE.  EMBED IN

CONCRETE FILLED BOLLARD

6" DIA. SCHEDULE 40

GALVENZIED STEEL PIPE

6' LONG MINIMUM

HEAVY DUTY HDPE DOME TOP

DECORATIVE SLEEVE BLUE OR YELLOW

IN COLOR.  AVAILABLE FROM

BOLLARDSNSLEEVES.COM OR EQUAL.

COMPACTED OR

UNDISTURBED SUBGRADE.

NOTES:

1. BOLLARDS TO BE PLACED 12" BEHIND

BACK OF CURB OR SIDEWALK (REFER

TO SITE PLAN.)

2. MAINTAIN PLUMB UNTIL CONCRETE IS

SUFFICIENTLY CURED.

3. HOLD CONCRETE FOOTING BELOW

GRADE OF FINISHED  CONCRETE TO

CREATE FINAL PAVING PATTERN AS

SHOWN  ON PLANS.

4. SIGN CENTERED AT HEAD OF PARKING

SPACE - MAXIMUM OF 96" FROM

HEAD OF PARKING SPACE.

DRAWN 02/2019

LOUCKS PLATE NO.

2038B

LOUCKS

6
"

1
8

"

6
"

VIOLATORS ARE SUBJECT
TO A FINE OF UP TO

$ 200.00

PARKING
RESERVED

ONLY

TYPICAL ADA PARKING

STALL STRIPING

DRAWN 03/2017

LOUCKS PLATE NO.

2037

LOUCKS

L

CC

4" WIDE PAINTED

LINES, TRAFFIC

WHITE

4" WIDE  PAINTED LINES,

18" O.C., @ 45 DEG. TRAFFIC WHITE

(AISLE TO CONTAIN THE DESIGNATION

"NO PARKING" COMPLYING WITH

MSBC 1341.0502 IF ACCESS AISLE

SIGNS ARE NOT SHOWN

REFER TO SITE PLAN FOR ADA

PARKING SIGN LOCATION

REFER TO SITE PLAN FOR

ACCESS AISLE SIGN LOCATION

(AISLE TO CONTAIN THE DESIGNATION

"NO PARKING" COMPLYING WITH

MSBC 134.0502 IF ACCESS AISLE

SIGNS ARE NOT SHOWN)

REFER TO SITE PLAN

FOR STALL DIMENSIONS

4
0

"

PROVIDE PAINTED

INTERNATIONAL SYMBOL OF

ACCESSIBILITY AT EACH

DESIGNATED HANDICAP

PARKING STALL. CENTER

SYMBOL IN STALL.

HC SIGNAGE PER MINNESOTA

RULES 1341.0502

ALL LINES 4" WIDE

8" DIAMETER

NOT TO SCALE

67.5°

5°

36"

CROSSWALK BAR

CROSSWALK BAR TO MEET CURRENT MMUTCD STANDARDS

8
'

2'

CENTERLINE OF ROAD

1'

2'
2'

DRAWN 12/2016

LOUCKS PLATE NO.

2040

LOUCKS

TRAFFIC SIGN

3#/FT.

3#/FT.

TRAFFIC SIGN SPECIFICATIONS

STOP SIGN SHALL BE R1-1, 30"X30" OR AS

DIRECTED BY ENGINEER.

MATERIAL

ALUMINUM SHALL BE 5052-H38 OR 6061-T6

ALLOY.

GAUGE SHALL BE 0.080 ON THE LONGEST

SIDE UP TO 30", 0.100 ON THE LONGEST SIDE

OVER 30".

REFLECTIVE SHEETING SHALL BE DIAMOND

GRADE VIP.

ALL SIGNS SHALL CONFORM TO MN/DOT

3352, SIGNS, DELINEATORS AND MARKERS -

STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR

CONSTRUCTION.

CHANNEL POST SPECIFICATIONS

STEEL CHANNEL POSTS SHALL WEIGH 3LB.

/FT.

POSTS SHALL BE OF THE 4-RIB DESIGN,

GALVANIZED AND PUNCHED ON 1" CENTERS.

3
'
-
0

"
7

'
-
0

"

IF INSTALLED IN PAVEMENT, INSTALL

V-LOC ANCHOR OR APPROVED EQUAL.

DRAWN 12/2016

LOUCKS PLATE NO.

2041

LOUCKS

TYPICAL ADA PARKING SIGN

ATTACH SIGN TO POST

WITH APPROPRIATE

STAINLESS STEEL

BOLTS, WASHERS &

NUTS. (TYP. AT TOP &

BOTTOM OF SIGN)

"VAN ACCESSIBLE"

SIGN

GRADE

NOTES:

1. PROVIDE (1) SIGN PER STALL

2. HC SIGNAGE PER

MINNESOTA RULES

1341.0502

3. SEE DETAIL 2041 FOR SIGN

INSTALLATION.

HANDICAP PARKING SIGN

NOT TO SCALE

6
0

"
-
6

6
"

"NO PARKING"

ATTACH SIGN TO POST

WITH APPROPRIATE

STAINLESS STEEL

BOLTS, WASHERS &

NUTS. (TYP. AT TOP &

BOTTOM OF SIGN)

GRADE

NOTES:

1. PROVIDE (1) SIGN PER ACCESS

AISLE

2. HC SIGNAGE PER MINNESOTA

RULES 1341.0502

3. SEE DETAIL 2041 FOR SIGN

INSTALLATION.

HANDICAP ACCESS AISLE

NO PARKING SIGN

NOT TO SCALE

6
0

"
-
6

6
"

DRAWN 12/2016

LOUCKS PLATE NO.

LOUCKS

VAN
ACCESSIBLE

VIOLATORS ARE SUBJECT
TO A FINE OF UP TO

$ 200.00

PARKING
RESERVED

2
.
0

'

2" MAX.

2.0'

1.0'

PERFORATED

DRAIN TILE PIPE

FINE FILTER AGGREGATE

MN/DOT 3149.2J

PERFORATED PIPE (PVC OR

CORRUGATED PE) WITH

PROTECTIVE WRAP, MEETING

MN/DOT 3245 AND 3278 SPECS.

DRAWN 2/2016

LOUCKS PLATE NO.

4314

LOUCKS

CONCRETE CURB CUT

SWALE

CONCRETE CURB CUT

NOTE:

CURB CUT TO BE CONSTRUCTED AT LOCATIONS

AS SHOWN ON SITE &/OR GRADING PLAN.

COST OF CUT TO BE INCIDENTAL TO B6 DESIGN

CONCRETE CURB & GUTTER.

5

'

-

0

"

DRAWN 2/2016

LOUCKS PLATE NO.

2022

LOUCKS



CS

988.72

989.65

98
8.

18

99
0.

23

CS

994.23

99
4.

98

995.63

995.75

1008.64

99
3.5

6

99
4.

46

987.00

10
10

1000

990

99
0

99
0

986

98
0

970

980

980

980

980

978

980

980

980

988

98
4

984
980

97
8

97
6

97
497

697
8

98
298

4

978
978

980

986

988
986

984
982

980

98
4

98
2

97
8

97
6

974

972

1008

1006

1004

1002

998

996

994

992 990

988

986

98
4

98
2

978

976

976

978

982

984

986

988

988

98
6

98
8

990

986 98
4

98
2

98
0

97
8

97
6

97
4

986

98
6

984

982

984

982

978

100610
10

10
12

1008

1004

1002
1000

1000 99
8

99
6 99

4

992

990

988

986

97
4

IN
V 

= 9
94

.0
9

IN
V =

 9
79.0

9

INV = 980.03

97
0

96
8

972
974

976

978

980
scan2830

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G

N

O

P

A

R

K

I
N

G















 






























   









 







FUTURE ROAD IMPROVEMENTS TO BE
DESIGNED & CONSTRUCTED BY CITY

FUTURE ROAD IMPROVEMENTS
TO BE DESIGNED & CONSTRUCTED

BY CITY/COUNTY













  





PROPOSED
BUILDING
FFE=995.00






































990991

989

990

991

992

993

99
3

99
4

994

99
4

99
3

99
0

99
1

99
2

99
3

98
5

99
0

98
6

98
7

98
8

98
9

99
1

99
2

99
0

98
6

98
7

98
8

98
9

99
1

99
2

990

989

991

985

986

987

988

989

984

985

985

984

984

98
4 98

3

98
2

98
0

98
1

98
2

98
3

98
5

98
3

98
4

98
6

98
7

98
8

98
9

98
5

98
4

98
6

98
7

98
5

99
0

98
6

98
7

98
8

98
9

99
1

10
05

10
06

10
07

10
08

10
01

10
02

10
03

10
04

10
00

99
8

99
9 99

5

99
1

99
2

99
3

99
4

99
6

99
7 99

0

98
9

98
8

995

1000

1005

990

980

98
0

97
5

98
5

985

980

980

98
5

985

98
9

990
99510

05
10

10

10
0410

0610
0710

0810
0910

11

98
0

97
5985

980979 981982

980
977 978 979

981

980
979

981 982

976
977

978
979985

980

985

984

986

987

988

98
0

97
7

97
8

97
9

98
1

98
0

98
5

983

982

982
981

980
985

97
5

97
0

970

975

969

971
972

973
974

980

976
977

978
979

981

98
0

98
5

97
5

975

972 973 974
976 977 976 975

97
0

EXISTING EVERGREEN TREES

ENTRY PLAZA

COORDINATE SELECTIVE TREE
REMOVAL WITH CITY ALONG 101

COORDINATE SELECTIVE TREE
REMOVAL WITH CITY ALONG 101

COORDINATE SELECTIVE TREE REMOVAL
WITH CITY ALONG HACKAMORE ROAD

LIMITS OF IRRIGATION

LIMITS OF IRRIGATION

BUILDING MAINTENANCE STRIP

BUILDING
MAINTENANCE STRIP

BUILDING MAINTENANCE
STRIP

LIMITS OF IRRIGATION

DECIDUOUS TREES QTY COMMON NAME BOTANICAL NAME CONT CAL
WB 4 WHITESPIRE BIRCH

CLUMP
Betula populifolia `Whitespire Sr.` B & B

SKH 11 SKYLINE HONEYLOCUST Gleditsia triacanthos `Skycole` B & B 2.5"Cal
QB 16 SWAMP WHITE OAK Quercus bicolor B & B 2.5"Cal
RO 10 RED OAK Quercus rubra B & B 2.5"Cal
AE 27 ACCOLADE ELM Ulmus `Morton` B & B 2.5"Cal

EVERGREEN TREES QTY COMMON NAME BOTANICAL NAME CONT CAL
BS 11 BLACK HILLS SPRUCE

FULL FORM
Picea glauca `Densata` B & B

WHP 20 WHITE PINE
FULL FORM

Pinus strobus B & B 6` HGT

ORNAMENTAL TREES QTY COMMON NAME BOTANICAL NAME CONT CAL
ABS 6 AUTUMN BRILLIANCE SERVICEBERRY Amelanchier x grandiflora `Autumn Brilliance` B & B 1.5"Cal

SHRUBS QTY COMMON NAME BOTANICAL NAME CONT SIZE AT PLANTING
GC 33 GLOSSY BLACK CHOKEBERRY Aronia melanocarpa elata 5 gal 24" HGT
AH 30 ANNABELLE HYDRANGEA Hydrangea arborescens `Annabelle` 5 gal 24" HGT
GF 114 GRO-LOW FRAGRANT SUMAC Rhus aromatica `Gro-Low` 5 gal 24" SPRD

CONIFEROUS SHRUBS QTY COMMON NAME BOTANICAL NAME CONT SIZE AT PLANTING
SG 56 SEA GREEN JUNIPER Juniperus chinensis `Sea Green` 5 gal 18" SPRD

GROUND COVERS COMMON NAME BOTANICAL NAME CONT FIELD2 SPACING
STONE MULCH
GRAY TRAP ROCK 2" OVER FABRIC

None

DECORATIVE STONE BED
HAND PLACED CHILTON LIMESTONE
SIZE - 8"-18"  DIAMETER OVER FABRIC

None

PLANT BED seed

STORMWATER NATIVE SEED MIX
STORMWATER SOUTH & WEST SEED
MIX - BWSR SEED MIX #33-261. APPLY
PER MNDOT MANUAL
RECOMMENDATIONS

seed

NATIVE SEED MIX
DRY PRAIRIE SEED MIX - BWSR SEED
MIX #35-621. APPLY PER MNDOT
MANUAL RECOMMENDATIONS

seed

TURF SOD sod

PLANT SCHEDULE

N

SCALE       IN       FEET

0 50 100

Consultants

LOUCKS PROJECT NO. 19176A

SD ISSUE

LOUCKS

7200 Hemlock Lane, Suite 300

Maple Grove, MN 55369

763.424.5505

www.loucksinc.com

PLANNING

CIVIL ENGINEERING

LAND SURVEYING

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

ENVIRONMENTAL

Co
py

rig
ht

 B
W

BR

DateItem

Sheet No.

Sheet Title

Comm. No. Drawn

3.2019023.00

This document may be an electronic file or may
be printed from an electronic file provided to
the user.  It is the sole responsibility of the user
to ensure that the content and quality is
consistent with the content and quality of the
original documents on file at BWBR.

Issued For

Consultants

651.222.3701
Saint Paul, MN 55102
380 St. Peter Street, Ste. 600

bwbr.com

This Sheet may be
a Reduced Copy.

The bar above is 1" long on a Full Size Sheet.
Drawing Scales apply to Full Size Sheets.

NOT F
OR

CONST
RUCTIO

N

Name

Date Lic./Reg. No.05-19-2020

I hereby certify that this plan, specification or report was prepared
by me or under my direct supervision and that I am a duly

Licensed/Registered Landscape Architect under the laws of the
State of Minnesota

04-29-2020

52050
Nathan Ekhoff - LA

EAGLE BROOK
CHURCH

WEST METRO
CAMPUS

CUP ISSUE 05-19-2020

LANDSCAPE PLAN

260.LP

TDG/ZBM/MDC

NOTE:
EXISTING CONDITIONS INFORMATION
SHOWN IS FROM A TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY
PREPARED BY E. G. RUD & SONS, INC. AND
DATED APRIL, 2020.

Gopher State One Call

WARNING:
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR CALLING FOR LOCATIONS
OF ALL EXISTING UTILITIES. THEY SHALL COOPERATE WITH ALL UTILITY
COMPANIES IN MAINTAINING THEIR SERVICE AND / OR RELOCATION OF
LINES.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT GOPHER STATE ONE CALL AT
651-454-0002 AT LEAST 48 HOURS IN ADVANCE FOR THE LOCATIONS OF
ALL UNDERGROUND WIRES, CABLES, CONDUITS, PIPES, MANHOLES,
VALVES OR OTHER BURIED STRUCTURES BEFORE DIGGING. THE
CONTRACTOR SHALL REPAIR OR REPLACE THE ABOVE WHEN DAMAGED
DURING CONSTRUCTION AT NO COST TO THE OWNER.

GENERAL NOTES:

CONTRACTOR SHALL VISIT SITE PRIOR TO SUBMITTING BID.  INSPECT SITE
AND BECOME FAMILIAR WITH EXISTING CONDITIONS RELATING TO THE
NATURE AND SCOPE OF WORK.

VERIFY LAYOUT AND ANY  DIMENSIONS SHOWN AND BRING TO THE
ATTENTION OF THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT ANY DISCREPANCIES WHICH
MAY COMPROMISE THE DESIGN AND/OR INTENT OF THE PROJECT'S
LAYOUT.

ASSURE COMPLIANCE WITH ALL APPLICABLE CODES AND REGULATIONS
GOVERNING THE WORK OR MATERIALS SUPPLIED.

CONTRACTOR SHALL  PROTECT ALL EXISTING ROADS, CURBS/GUTTERS,
TRAILS, TREES, LAWNS AND SITE ELEMENTS DURING PLANTING OPERATIONS.
ANY DAMAGE TO SAME SHALL BE REPAIRED AT NO COST TO THE OWNER.

CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALIGNMENT AND LOCATION OF ALL
UNDERGROUND AND ABOVE GRADE UTILITIES AND PROVIDE THE
NECESSARY PROTECTION FOR SAME BEFORE CONSTRUCTION / MATERIAL
INSTALLATION BEGINS (MINIMUM 10' - 0" CLEARANCE).

ALL UNDERGROUND UTILITIES SHALL BE LAID SO THAT TRENCHES DO NOT
CUT THROUGH ROOT SYSTEMS OF ANY EXISTING TREES TO REMAIN.

EXISTING CONTOURS, TRAILS, VEGETATION, CURB/GUTTER AND OTHER
EXISTING ELEMENTS BASED UPON INFORMATION SUPPLIED TO LANDSCAPE
ARCHITECT BY OTHERS.  CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ANY AND ALL
DISCREPANCIES PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION AND NOTIFY LANDSCAPE
ARCHITECT OF SAME.

THE ALIGNMENT AND GRADES OF THE PROPOSED WALKS, TRAILS AND/OR
ROADWAYS ARE SUBJECT TO FIELD ADJUSTMENT REQUIRED TO CONFORM
TO LOCALIZED TOPOGRAPHIC CONDITIONS AND TO MINIMIZE TREE
REMOVAL AND GRADING.  ANY CHANGE IN ALIGNMENT MUST BE
APPROVED BY LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT.

REFER TO SHEET L101 - LANDSCAPE DETAILS FOR LANDSCAPE DETAILS,
LANDSCAPE NOTES AND OTHER ITEMS RELATED TO THE LANDSCAPE PLAN.

REFER TO SHEET L200 - TREE PRESERVATION PLAN FOR EXISTING TREES TO BE
REMOVED, TREE INVENTORY LIST, AND DETAILS FOR THE PRESERVATION OF
EXISTING TREES TO BE SAVED.

LANDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS:

1 TREE PER 1,000 SF. OF BUILDING AREA
(71,000 SF. / 1,000 SF. = 71 TREES)

OR
1 TREE PER 50 LF. OF SITE PERIMETER

(4,370 LF. / 50 LF. = 87 TREES)

1 SHRUBS PER 300 SF. OF BUILDING AREA
(271,000  SF. / 300 SF. = 237 SHRUBS)

OR
1 SHRUBS PER 30 LF. OF SITE PERIMETER

(4,370  LF. / 30 LF. = 146 SHRUBS)

REQUIRED TREES: 87
PROVIDED TREES: 87

REQUIRED SHRUBS: 237
PROVIDED SHRUBS: 237



Consultants

LOUCKS PROJECT NO. 19176A

SD ISSUE

LOUCKS

7200 Hemlock Lane, Suite 300

Maple Grove, MN 55369

763.424.5505

www.loucksinc.com

PLANNING

CIVIL ENGINEERING

LAND SURVEYING

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

ENVIRONMENTAL

Co
py

rig
ht

 B
W

BR

DateItem

Sheet No.

Sheet Title

Comm. No. Drawn

3.2019023.00

This document may be an electronic file or may
be printed from an electronic file provided to
the user.  It is the sole responsibility of the user
to ensure that the content and quality is
consistent with the content and quality of the
original documents on file at BWBR.

Issued For

Consultants

651.222.3701
Saint Paul, MN 55102
380 St. Peter Street, Ste. 600

bwbr.com

This Sheet may be
a Reduced Copy.

The bar above is 1" long on a Full Size Sheet.
Drawing Scales apply to Full Size Sheets.

NOT F
OR

CONST
RUCTIO

N

Name

Date Lic./Reg. No.05-19-2020

I hereby certify that this plan, specification or report was prepared
by me or under my direct supervision and that I am a duly

Licensed/Registered Landscape Architect under the laws of the
State of Minnesota

04-29-2020

52050
Nathan Ekhoff - LA

EAGLE BROOK
CHURCH

WEST METRO
CAMPUS

CUP ISSUE 05-19-2020

LANDSCAPE
DETAILS

270.LD

TDG/ZBM/MDC

PERENNIAL PLANTING
SCALE: 3/4" = 1'-0" Perennial.Dwg

LOOSEN ROOTS OF
PLANT MATERIAL PRIOR

MULCH - 3" MIN. DEPTH 
 - SEE NOTES OR SPECS.
EDGER - SEE NOTES OR SPECS.

12" DEPTH (MIN). LOAM PLANTING
SOIL - SEE NOTES OR SPECS.

VARIES
SEE PLAN

TO PLANTING

EDGE  VARIES - SEE PLAN

4
270.0LD

SHRUBS TO BE PLACED SO THAT
TOP OF CONTAINER SITS FLUSH
WITH PROPOSED GRADE.

MULCH - 3" DEPTH - SEE NOTES OR SPEC.
LANDSCAPE FABRIC - SEE NOTES OR SPEC.
EDGING MATERIAL - SEE NOTES OR SPEC.
EDGE VARIES - REFER TO PLAN

PLANTING SOIL - SEE NOTES OR SPEC.

LOOSEN ROOTS OF ALL
CONTAINERIZED PLANTS.
SCARIFY BOTTOM AND SIDES OF
HOLE PRIOR TO PLANTING
BUILDING WALL (TYP)

REFER TO PLAN
18" MIN.

SCALE: 3/4" = 1'-0"

SHRUB PLANTING DETAIL3
270.0LD

LANDSCAPE INSTALLATION:

COORDINATE THE PHASES OF CONSTRUCTION AND PLANTING INSTALLATION WITH OTHER
CONTRACTORS WORKING ON SITE.

NO PLANTING WILL BE INSTALLED UNTIL COMPLETE GRADING AND CONSTRUCTION HAS BEEN
COMPLETED IN THE IMMEDIATE AREA.

WHERE SOD/SEED ABUTS PAVED SURFACES, FINISHED GRADE OF SOD/SEED SHALL BE HELD 1" BELOW
SURFACE ELEVATION OF TRAIL, SLAB, CURB, ETC.

SEED ALL AREAS DISTURBED DUE TO GRADING OTHER THAN THOSE AREAS NOTED TO RECEIVE SOD.  SEED
SHALL BE INSTALLED AND MULCHED AS PER MNDOT SPECS.

SOD ALL DESIGNATED AREAS DISTURBED DUE TO GRADING.  SOD SHALL BE LAID PARALLEL TO THE
CONTOURS AND SHALL HAVE STAGGERED JOINTS. ON SLOPES STEEPER THAN 3:1 OR IN DRAINAGE
SWALES, THE SOD SHALL BE STAKED TO THE GROUND.

ALL PLANT MATERIAL SHALL COMPLY WITH THE LATEST EDITION OF THE AMERICAN STANDARD FOR
NURSERY STOCK, AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF NURSERYMEN.  UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE, ALL SHRUBS
SHALL HAVE AT LEAST 5 CANES AT THE SPECIFIED MINIMUM SHRUB HEIGHT OR WIDTH.  ORNAMENTAL
TREES SHALL HAVE NO V CROTCHES AND SHALL BEGIN BRANCHING NO LOWER THAN 3' ABOVE ROOT
BALL. STREET AND BOULEVARD  TREES SHALL BEGIN BRANCHING NO LOWER THAN 5' ABOVE FINISHED
GRADE.

ANY CONIFEROUS TREE PREVIOUSLY PRUNED FOR CHRISTMAS TREE SALES SHALL NOT BE USED.  ALL
CONIFEROUS TREES SHALL BE FULL FORM, NATURAL TO THE SPECIES, WITHOUT PRUNING.

PLAN TAKES PRECEDENCE OVER PLANT SCHEDULE IF DISCREPANCIES IN QUANTITIES EXIST.
SPECIFICATIONS TAKE PRECEDENCE OVER NOTES.

NO PLANT MATERIAL SUBSTITUTIONS WILL BE ACCEPTED UNLESS APPROVAL IS REQUESTED OF THE
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT BY THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR PRIOR TO THE SUBMISSION OF A BID AND/OR
QUOTATION.

ALL PROPOSED PLANTS SHALL BE LOCATED AND STAKED  AS SHOWN ON PLAN. ADJUSTMENTS IN
LOCATION OF PROPOSED PLANT MATERIALS MAY BE NEEDED IN FIELD.  SHOULD AN ADJUSTMENT BE
ADVISED, THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT MUST BE NOTIFIED.

ALL PLANT MATERIALS SHALL BE FERTILIZED UPON INSTALLATION WITH A 27-3-3 SLOW RELEASE FERTILIZER
MIXED IN WITH THE PLANTING SOIL PER THE MANUFACTURER'S INSTRUCTIONS.  PLANTS MAY BE TREATED
FOR SUMMER AND FALL INSTALLATION WITH AN APPLICATION OF GRANULAR 27-3-3 AT 6 OZ PER 2.5"
CALIPER PER TREE AND 3 OZ PER SHRUB WITH AN ADDITIONAL APPLICATION OF 27-3-3 THE FOLLOWING
SPRING IN THE TREE SAUCER.

ALL PLANTING AREAS RECEIVING GROUND COVER, PERENNIALS, ANNUALS, AND/OR VINES SHALL RECEIVE
A MINIMUM OF 12" DEPTH OF PLANTING SOIL CONSISTING OF AT LEAST 45 PARTS TOPSOIL, 45 PARTS PEAT
OR MANURE AND 10 PARTS SAND.

ALL PLANTS TO BE INSTALLED AS PER PLANTING DETAILS.  REMOVE ALL FLAGGING AND LABELS FROM
PLANTS.

WRAPPING MATERIAL SHALL BE CORRUGATED PVC PIPING 1" GREATER IN CALIPER THAN THE TREE BEING
PROTECTED OR QUALITY, HEAVY, WATERPROOF CREPE PAPER MANUFACTURED FOR THIS PURPOSE.  WRAP
ALL DECIDUOUS TREES PLANTED IN THE FALL PRIOR TO 12-1 AND REMOVE ALL WRAPPING AFTER 5-1.

BLACK METAL EDGER TO BE USED TO CONTAIN SHRUBS, PERENNIALS, AND ANNUALS WHERE BED MEETS
SOD/SEED UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.

ALL ANNUAL AND PERENNIAL PLANTING BEDS TO RECEIVE 3" DEEP SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH WITH
NO WEED BARRIER.

ALL SHRUB BED MASSINGS TO RECEIVE 3" DEEP SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH AND FIBER MAT WEED
BARRIER.

ALL TREES TO RECEIVE 4" DEEP SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH WITH NO MULCH IN DIRECT CONTACT
WITH TREE TRUNK.

SPREAD GRANULAR PRE EMERGENT HERBICIDE (PREEN OR EQUAL) PER MANUFACTURER'S
RECOMMENDATIONS UNDER ALL MULCHED AREAS.

MAINTENANCE STRIPS TO HAVE METAL EDGER AND ROCK COBBLE MULCH AS SPECIFIED/INDICATED ON
DRAWING OR IN SPECIFICATION.

IF THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR IS CONCERNED OR PERCEIVES ANY DEFICIENCIES IN THE PLANT
SELECTIONS, SOIL CONDITIONS OR ANY OTHER SITE CONDITION WHICH MIGHT NEGATIVELY AFFECT
PLANT ESTABLISHMENT, SURVIVAL OR GUARANTEE, HE MUST BRING THESE DEFICIENCIES TO THE
ATTENTION OF THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT PRIOR TO PROCUREMENT AND/OR INSTALLATION.

CONTRACTOR SHALL SUBMIT A WRITTEN REQUEST FOR THE OWNER ACCEPTANCE INSPECTION OF ALL
LANDSCAPE AND SITE IMPROVEMENTS.

CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR ON-GOING MAINTENANCE OF ALL NEWLY INSTALLED MATERIALS
UNTIL TIME OF OWNER ACCEPTANCE.  ANY ACTS OF VANDALISM OR DAMAGE WHICH MAY OCCUR PRIOR
TO OWNER ACCEPTANCE SHALL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR.  CONTRACTOR SHALL
PROVIDE THE OWNER WITH A MAINTENANCE PROGRAM INCLUDING, BUT NOT NECESSARILY LIMITED TO,
PRUNING, FERTILIZATION AND DISEASE/PEST CONTROL.

CONTRACTOR SHALL GUARANTEE NEW PLANT MATERIAL THROUGH ONE CALENDAR YEAR FROM THE
DATE OF OWNER ACCEPTANCE.

WARRANTY (ONE FULL GROWING SEASON) FOR LANDSCAPE MATERIALS SHALL BEGIN ON THE DATE OF
ACCEPTANCE BY THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT AFTER THE COMPLETION OF PLANTING OF ALL LANDSCAPE
MATERIALS.  NO PARTIAL ACCEPTANCE WILL BE CONSIDERED.

UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE THE APPROPRIATE DATES FOR SPRING PLANT MATERIAL INSTALLATION AND
SEED/SOD PLACEMENT IS FROM THE TIME GROUND HAS THAWED TO JUNE 15.

FALL SODDING IS GENERALLY ACCEPTABLE FROM AUGUST 15 - NOVEMBER 1.  FALL  SEEDING FROM
AUGUST  15 - SEPTEMBER 15; DORMANT SEEDING IN THE FALL SHALL NOT OCCUR PRIOR TO NOVEMBER 1.
FALL CONIFEROUS PLANTING MAY OCCUR FROM AUGUST 15 - OCTOBER 1 AND DECIDUOUS PLANTING
FROM THE FIRST FROST UNTIL NOVEMBER 15. PLANTING OUTSIDE THESE DATES IS NOT RECOMMENDED.
ANY ADJUSTMENT MUST BE APPROVED IN WRITING BY THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT.

PROTECT ALL EXISTING OAKS ON SITE SCHEDULED TO REMAIN.  IF EXISTING OAKS ARE DAMAGED IN ANY
MANNER, ABOVE OR BELOW GROUND IN THE ROOT SYSTEM, AN ASPHALTIC TREE PRUNING PAINT
SHOULD BE APPLIED IMMEDIATELY AFTER WOUNDING. OAKS ARE NOT TO BE PRUNED, REMOVED OR
TRANSPLANTED BETWEEN APRIL 15 AND JULY 1.  NOTIFY LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT IF THESE DATES ARE
UNAVOIDABLE.

LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL ESTABLISH TO HIS SATISFACTION THAT SOIL AND COMPACTION
CONDITIONS ARE ADEQUATE TO ALLOW FOR PROPER DRAINAGE AT AND AROUND THE BUILDING SITE.

DECIDUOUS TREE PLANTING DETAIL
SCALE:  1/2" = 1'-0"

2x ROOT BALL WIDTH

Deciduous Tree.DWG

CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR  TESTING
PERCOLATION RATES PRIOR TO  PLANTING.
NOTIFY LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT IMMEDIATELY IF
POOR DRAINAGE EXISTS.

SET PLANT ON UNDISTURBED NATIVE SOIL

SCARIFY BOTTOM AND SIDES OF HOLE PRIOR
TO PLANTING

EDGE VARIES - SEE PLAN
WOOD STAKE (OPTIONAL)

MULCH - 4" DEEP.  NO MULCH IN CONTACT
WITH TRUNK - SEE NOTES OR SPECS.

ROOT FLARE EVEN WITH OR JUST ABOVE GRADE.
SAFETY FLAGGING - ONE PER WIRE
TREE WRAP TO FIRST BRANCH
16"x2" POLYPROPYLENE OR POLYETHYLENE STRAP

WATER TREE THOROUGHLY DURING  PLANTING
OPERATIONS.  PLACE BACKFILL IN 8-12" LIFTS AND
SATURATE SOIL WITH  WATER.  DO NOT COMPACT
MORE THAN  NECESSARY TO MAINTAIN PLUMB.

CUT BACK WIRE BASKET

PRUNE DAMAGED AND CROSSING BRANCHES
AFTER PLANTING IS COMPLETE.

THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR
MAINTAINING ALL TREES IN A PLUMB POSITION
THROUGH THE WARRANTY PERIOD.  STAKING IS
SUGGESTED, BUT  NOT REQUIRED.  ANY STAKING
MUST CONFORM WITH PRACTICES AS DEFINED  IN
A.N.A. GUIDELINES FOR STANDARD PRACTICES

BACKFILL WITH IN SITU TOPSOIL

1
270.0LD Coniferous Tree.DWG

CONIFEROUS TREE PLANTING DETAIL
SCALE:  1/2" = 1'-0"

2 x ROOT BALL WIDTH

THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR
MAINTAINING ALL TREES IN A PLUMB POSITION
THROUGH THE WARRANTY PERIOD.  STAKING IS
SUGGESTED, BUT  NOT REQUIRED.  ANY STAKING
MUST CONFORM WITH PRACTICES AS DEFINED  IN
A.N.A. GUIDELINES FOR STANDARD PRACTICES.
PRUNE ANY DAMAGED BRANCHES AFTER
PLANTING IS COMPLETE.

16"x2" POLYPROPYLENE OR POLYETHYLENE STRAP
SAFETY FLAGGING - ONE PER WIRE

BACKFILL WITH IN SITU TOPSOIL
WOOD STAKE (OPTIONAL)
EDGE VARIES - SEE PLAN

CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR  TESTING
PERCOLATION RATES PRIOR TO  PLANTING.
NOTIFY LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT IMMEDIATELY
IF POOR DRAINAGE EXISTS.

ROOT BALL SET ON UNDISTURBED  SUBGRADE

SCARIFY BOTTOM AND SIDES OF
HOLE PRIOR TO PLANTING

WATER TREE THOROUGHLY DURING  PLANTING
OPERATIONS.  PLACE BACKFILL IN 8-12" LIFTS AND
SATURATE SOIL WITH  WATER.  DO NOT COMPACT
MORE THAN  NECESSARY TO MAINTAIN PLUMB.

MULCH - 4" DEEP - SEE NOTES OR SPECS.  MULCH
MUST NOT BE IN CONTACT WITH TRUNK.

2
270.0LD

IRRIGATION NOTES:

VERIFY EXISTING/PROPOSED IRRIGATION SYSTEM LAYOUT AND CONFIRM COMPLETE LIMITS OF
IRRIGATION PRIOR TO SUPPLYING SHOP DRAWINGS.

LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR PROVIDING AN IRRIGATION LAYOUT PLAN AND
SPECIFICATION AS A PART OF THE SCOPE OF WORK WHEN BIDDING.  THESE SHALL BE APPROVED BY
THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT PRIOR TO ORDER AND/OR INSTALLATION.  IT SHALL BE THE LANDSCAPE
CONTRACTORS RESPONSIBILITY TO INSURE THAT ALL SODDED/SEEDED AND PLANTED AREAS ARE
IRRIGATED PROPERLY, INCLUDING THOSE AREAS DIRECTLY AROUND  AND ABUTTING BUILDING
FOUNDATION.

THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE THE OWNER WITH AN IRRIGATION SCHEDULE
APPROPRIATE TO THE PROJECT SITE CONDITIONS AND TO PLANT MATERIAL GROWTH REQUIREMENTS.

IRRIGATION SYSTEM IS NOT TO SPRINKLE ACROSS PAVEMENT.  THE SYSTEM SHALL INCORPORATE A RAIN
SENSOR INTO IRRIGATION SYSTEM.

PLANTINGS OUTSIDE THE LIMITS OF IRRIGATION ARE TO BE WATERED REGULARLY UNTIL
PLANTING/SOD/SEED HAS BEEN ESTABLISHED.



PC-02

PC-01 ALUMINUM WINDOW 

SYSTEM - TYP

MEMBRANE ROOF 1 - TYP 

AT ALL FLAT ROOFS
PC-03

PAINTED INSULATED HM DOOR

PC-01ALUMINUM WINDOW SYSTEM - TYP
PC-01 

PC-02

PC-02

PC-01

MEMBRANE ROOF 2

PC-04

PC-04

1
8
'-
2
"

3
5
'-
0
"

2
2
'-
2
"

1
8
'-
2
"

SCREENING OF MECHANICAL 

EQUIPMENT TO BE COORDINATED 

WITH CITY STAFF FOR VIEWING 

ANGLES. 

PAINTED ALUMINUM CROSS

NATURAL STONE CROSS TOWER

ALUMINUM WINDOW 

SYSTEM - TYP

PC-02PC-04

PC-01

PC-02

MEMBRANE ROOF 2

PC-03
MP-03

CANOPY - CONCRETE 

COLUMNS AND PAINTED 

STEEL FRAMING

MP-02

FACE BRICK 1

MP-01

PC-04

ALUMINUM WINDOW 

SYSTEM - TYP

PC-02 PC-03MP-01

PC-01

1
8
'-
2
"

1
6
'-
2
"

FACE BRICK 1

MP-02

FACE BRICK 1FACE BRICK 1

MP-03

ALUMINUM WINDOW 

SYSTEM - TYP

4
6
'-
4
"

5
7
'-
8
"

1
8
'-
2
"

SCREENING OF MECHANICAL 

EQUIPMENT TO BE COORDINATED 

WITH CITY STAFF FOR VIEWING 

ANGLES. 

MEMBRANE ROOF 1 - TYP 

AT ALL FLAT ROOFS

PAINTED INSULATED 

HM DOORS

PC-01

PC-03

PC-02

PC-01 PC-02

PC-02

FACE BRICK 1

ALUMINUM WINDOW SYSTEM - TYP

MP-01

PAINTED ALUMINUM CROSS

NATURAL STONE CROSS TOWER

CANOPY - CONCRETE 

COLUMNS AND PAINTED 

STEEL FRAMING

PC-04

2
2
'-
2
"

3
5
'-
0
"

1
8
'-
2
"

1
6
'-
2
"

2
4
'-
2
"

SCREENING OF MECHANICAL 

EQUIPMENT TO BE COORDINATED 

WITH CITY STAFF FOR VIEWING 

ANGLES. 

MEMBRANE ROOF 1 - TYP 

AT ALL FLAT ROOFS

PC-02

PC-01

PC-03

PC-01

PAINTED INSULATED 

METAL DOOR

ALUMINUM WINDOW 

SYSTEM - TYP

PC-02

ALUMINUM WINDOW 

SYSTEM - TYP

MP-01

PC-04

PAINTED ALUMINUM CROSS

NATURAL STONE CROSS TOWER

CANOPY - CONCRETE 

COLUMNS AND PAINTED 

STEEL FRAMING

PAINTED INSULATED 

OVERHEAD DOORS
PC-04

2
4
'-
2
"

1
6
'-
2
"

1
8
'-
2
"2
2
'-
2
"

3
5
'-
0
"

PC-04

SCREENING OF MECHANICAL 

EQUIPMENT TO BE COORDINATED 

WITH CITY STAFF FOR VIEWING 

ANGLES. 

ABBREVIATIONS

PC PRECAST CONCRETE

MP ARCHITECTURAL METAL PANEL

HM HOLLOW METAL

TYP TYPICAL

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

H

G

F

E

D

7654321

C
o

p
yr

ig
h
t 

B
W

B
R

Name

Date Lic./Reg. No.

DateItem

Sheet No.

Sheet Title

Comm. No. Drawn

This Sheet may be 

a Reduced Copy.

The bar above is 1" long on a Full Size Sheet.

Drawing Scales apply to Full Size Sheets.

N
O

T 
FO

R

C
O
N

ST
R
U
C
TI

O
N

This document may be an electronic file or may 

be printed from an electronic file provided to 

the user. It is the sole responsibility of the user 

to ensure that the content and quality is 

consistent with the content and quality of the 

original documents on file at BWBR.

C

B

A

Issued For

Consultants

651.222.3701
Saint Paul, MN 55102
380 St. Peter Street, Ste. 600

bwbr.com

Keyplan

EAGLE BROOK 

CHURCH  

WEST METRO 

CAMPUS

I hereby certify that this plan, specification or report was prepared

by me or under my direct supervision and that I am a duly 

Licensed Architect under the laws of the State of Minnesota.

5
/1

9
/2

0
2

0
 9

:1
2

:0
9

 A
M

ARS

EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

510

3.2019149.00

1" = 10'-0"510

1F EXTERIOR ELEVATION - NORTH

1" = 10'-0"510

1B EXTERIOR ELEVATION - SOUTH

1" = 10'-0"510

1D EXTERIOR ELEVATION - EAST

1" = 10'-0"510

1H EXTERIOR ELEVATION - WEST

SD ISSUE 04/29/2020
CUP ISSUE 05/19/2020









E
A

G
L
E
 B

R
O

O
K

 C
H

U
R

C
H

W
E
S

T
 M

E
T
R

O
 C

A
M

P
U

S

Designer

JD
Date

5/18/2020
Scale

1"=50'-0"
Drawing No.

Summary

1 of 1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.9

0.8

1.1

1.1

1.2

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.1

1.5

1.9

2.0

1.5

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.6

1.1

1.7

2.8

4.3

5.9

4.8

5.4

5.0

5.9

4.8

3.2

2.1

1.4

1.1

0.9

1.0

1.4

2.1

3.1

4.7

6.4

4.7

4.4

3.4

2.2

1.7

1.0

0.5

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.8

1.2

2.0

3.2

5.1

7.3

6.8

7.2

7.0

7.4

5.8

3.7

2.4

1.6

1.2

1.1

1.1

1.5

2.2

3.4

5.3

7.1

6.9

7.4

6.8

7.4

5.2

3.2

2.0

1.2

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.7

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.7

1.1

1.8

2.8

3.6

4.0

4.1

4.1

4.1

4.1

3.8

3.1

2.2

1.5

1.1

1.0

1.1

1.3

1.7

2.2

3.0

3.7

4.4

5.1

5.8

6.3

5.2

3.4

2.2

1.5

1.1

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.1

1.4

1.3

1.3

1.2

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.6

0.9

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.5

1.5

1.4

1.5

1.5

1.3

1.3

1.2

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.1

1.4

1.7

2.1

2.5

2.9

3.2

2.8

2.0

1.5

1.2

1.0

1.1

1.1

0.8

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.5

2.1

2.2

2.0

1.7

1.2

0.8

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.8

1.0

1.1

1.3

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.4

1.6

1.8

0.9

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.7

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.9

3.6

3.0

2.3

1.8

1.2

0.8

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.3

1.7

2.3

2.9

3.0

1.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.8

1.1

1.7

2.3

3.8

5.5

5.1

3.3

2.7

1.8

1.1

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.9

1.7

2.9

4.2

5.4

4.0

0.7

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.9

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.7

0.8

1.1

1.7

2.5

4.1

7.6

8.0

4.6

3.8

2.5

1.4

0.8

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.5

1.0

2.2

4.4

7.2

6.6

3.2

0.7

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.6

1.9

1.8

1.7

1.4

1.0

0.9

0.9

1.1

1.8

2.8

4.1

7.1

8.7

5.9

4.8

3.3

1.9

1.0

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

1.1

2.6

5.1

7.1

6.5

3.2

0.5

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.2

1.5

2.2

3.0

2.8

2.3

1.8

1.4

1.1

0.9

1.1

1.7

2.9

4.5

5.6

7.4

6.0

5.0

4.0

2.3

1.2

0.7

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.6

1.3

2.9

5.6

7.2

5.5

2.4

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.4

2.0

2.8

4.4

4.7

3.3

2.6

2.0

1.4

1.1

1.1

1.5

2.6

4.2

4.9

7.1

8.0

5.4

4.1

2.5

1.4

0.8

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.7

1.4

3.1

5.7

7.8

5.3

2.0

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.9

1.4

2.1

3.1

5.8

7.4

5.1

3.8

2.8

1.8

1.2

1.1

1.3

2.1

3.4

4.8

6.1

9.3

6.8

3.6

2.4

1.5

0.8

0.5

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.7

1.6

3.4

5.5

4.5

3.0

1.4

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.9

1.2

1.6

1.6

1.5

1.4

1.1

0.9

0.8

1.0

1.4

2.2

3.4

5.8

9.3

6.9

5.0

3.8

2.4

1.4

1.1

1.2

1.7

2.6

3.6

4.5

7.3

6.3

3.4

2.2

1.4

0.9

0.5

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.8

1.6

3.2

3.2

2.5

1.8

1.1

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.6

2.4

2.5

2.3

1.9

1.4

1.1

0.9

1.0

1.4

2.4

3.8

5.0

7.7

7.6

4.9

4.6

2.9

1.7

1.2

1.0

1.3

1.9

2.5

3.1

4.5

4.6

3.1

2.0

1.4

0.9

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.8

1.7

2.2

1.9

1.6

1.3

1.2

1.3

1.6

2.2

3.3

4.1

3.4

2.6

2.1

1.5

1.1

1.0

1.3

2.2

3.6

5.0

5.7

7.3

6.3

4.9

3.2

1.9

1.2

1.0

1.0

1.3

1.7

2.2

2.7

3.0

2.4

1.6

1.2

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.9

1.5

1.5

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.4

1.8

2.5

4.2

6.2

5.7

3.7

3.0

2.1

1.4

1.1

1.2

1.8

3.0

4.7

5.4

8.3

7.9

4.5

3.1

2.0

1.2

0.9

0.8

1.0

1.3

1.7

1.8

1.9

1.7

1.2

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.3

1.5

1.9

2.7

4.3

8.1

8.5

4.9

4.2

2.8

1.7

1.2

1.1

1.5

2.4

3.6

4.5

7.4

8.1

4.7

2.8

1.8

1.2

0.8

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.1

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.8

1.1

1.3

1.4

1.4

1.6

2.1

3.1

4.4

6.8

8.6

6.1

5.1

3.5

2.1

1.3

1.1

1.2

1.8

2.6

3.2

4.6

5.7

4.3

2.5

1.8

1.2

0.8

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.4

0.8

1.2

1.5

1.6

1.5

1.6

2.0

3.1

4.7

5.3

7.0

6.3

5.1

4.0

2.4

1.5

1.1

1.0

1.3

1.8

2.3

2.9

3.6

3.2

2.1

1.6

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.9

1.4

1.8

2.0

1.7

1.6

1.9

2.8

4.3

5.1

7.4

8.4

5.5

4.0

2.6

1.6

1.1

0.9

1.0

1.3

1.7

2.0

2.2

2.2

1.6

1.2

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.9

1.7

2.3

2.4

2.0

1.8

1.8

2.4

3.5

4.8

6.0

9.3

6.8

3.6

2.3

1.6

1.0

0.8

0.8

1.0

1.3

1.4

1.4

1.4

1.2

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.9

2.3

3.1

3.1

2.6

2.2

1.9

2.1

2.7

3.5

4.3

6.6

5.9

3.4

2.2

1.5

1.0

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

2.6

4.4

4.0

3.5

2.8

2.1

1.9

2.1

2.5

3.0

4.2

4.3

2.9

2.0

1.5

1.0

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.8

4.7

4.4

4.2

3.4

2.5

1.9

1.8

2.1

2.4

2.7

2.9

2.3

1.6

1.2

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.6

1.4

3.8

4.3

4.0

4.1

2.8

2.1

1.8

2.0

2.2

2.1

2.1

1.8

1.3

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.0

1.9

3.9

4.1

4.1

3.1

2.3

2.1

2.4

2.7

2.3

1.8

1.4

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.8

1.9

4.1

5.1

3.8

3.0

2.5

2.7

3.6

3.8

3.4

2.2

1.4

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.5

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

1.0

3.0

4.5

3.8

2.9

2.6

3.3

3.4

2.4

3.0

2.7

1.5

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.5

1.6

3.0

2.9

2.7

2.6

3.2

3.4

2.4

3.0

2.7

1.5

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.8

1.8

2.1

2.2

2.2

2.5

3.3

3.6

3.1

2.1

1.5

1.4

1.3

0.9

0.7

0.4

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.5

1.0

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

2.0

2.1

1.9

1.8

2.1

2.7

2.6

1.8

1.0

0.6

0.4

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.7

1.1

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.4

1.8

3.1

2.6

2.5

3.1

1.7

0.9

0.5

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.0

1.0

1.2

1.9

3.3

2.2

2.3

3.8

2.4

1.3

0.7

0.4

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.8

1.0

1.5

2.9

3.4

4.1

4.7

3.5

2.2

1.1

0.5

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.7

1.0

1.2

1.4

1.4

1.5

1.3

1.0

0.8

0.8

0.8

1.1

1.8

2.9

4.3

3.5

2.6

3.1

1.6

0.7

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.3

1.8

2.1

2.0

1.9

1.6

1.2

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.8

1.2

2.0

3.5

2.3

2.0

3.0

1.7

0.7

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

1.0

1.3

1.7

2.4

3.4

3.2

2.5

2.0

1.6

1.1

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.8

1.4

2.5

3.0

2.8

2.7

1.4

0.7

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.5

2.1

3.1

4.8

5.3

3.6

2.9

2.2

1.5

1.0

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.9

1.3

1.9

2.0

1.5

1.0

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.7

1.0

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.8

1.1

1.5

2.2

3.3

6.2

8.1

5.4

4.2

3.0

1.9

1.2

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.4

1.8

1.9

1.8

1.7

1.3

1.0

1.0

1.1

1.6

2.4

3.6

5.8

9.1

7.1

5.2

4.0

2.5

1.5

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.9

1.2

1.5

1.4

1.0

0.6

0.4

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.8

1.1

1.4

1.8

2.6

3.1

2.7

2.2

1.7

1.4

1.1

1.2

1.6

2.5

4.0

5.2

7.7

7.3

5.0

4.8

3.0

1.8

1.1

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.5

0.7

1.1

2.1

3.0

2.9

2.1

1.1

0.5

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.9

1.2

1.7

2.3

3.5

4.8

4.3

3.1

2.5

1.9

1.4

1.3

1.5

2.3

3.7

5.2

5.8

7.6

6.7

4.9

3.4

2.1

1.3

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.5

0.7

1.5

3.1

2.1

2.1

3.1

1.6

0.7

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.0

0.9

0.9

1.2

1.7

2.5

4.0

6.8

7.0

4.3

3.6

2.5

1.7

1.4

1.4

2.0

3.1

4.8

5.5

8.6

8.5

4.7

3.2

2.2

1.5

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.5

0.8

1.6

3.3

2.4

2.5

3.6

1.8

0.9

0.4

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.3

1.7

1.8

1.7

1.6

1.3

1.1

1.1

1.3

1.9

2.8

4.1

7.8

9.1

5.6

4.8

3.3

2.1

1.5

1.4

1.7

2.5

3.7

4.5

7.2

7.8

5.0

3.1

2.2

1.6

1.1

0.8

0.5

0.5

0.7

1.4

2.8

4.3

4.8

3.8

2.1

1.0

0.5

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.3

1.8

2.5

2.9

2.6

2.2

1.7

1.4

1.2

1.4

1.9

3.0

4.6

6.2

8.0

6.6

5.3

4.1

2.6

1.7

1.4

1.6

2.0

2.7

3.4

4.6

5.7

4.6

3.0

2.4

1.8

1.3

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.7

1.2

2.4

4.1

3.6

3.6

2.6

1.2

0.5

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

0.9

1.3

1.8

2.3

3.4

4.6

4.1

3.0

2.4

1.9

1.5

1.4

1.9

2.9

4.6

5.1

6.6

7.7

5.5

4.5

2.9

1.9

1.5

1.4

1.7

2.1

2.7

3.3

4.0

3.9

2.9

2.4

2.1

1.5

1.1

0.7

0.6

0.6

1.1

2.3

3.2

2.1

2.2

2.9

1.3

0.6

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.6

0.9

1.1

1.4

1.9

2.6

4.1

6.6

6.7

4.2

3.5

2.5

1.8

1.5

1.7

2.6

3.9

5.3

6.9

9.2

6.6

4.2

3.0

2.0

1.6

1.4

1.5

1.8

2.3

2.7

3.1

3.4

3.0

2.5

2.3

1.7

1.2

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.9

1.8

3.1

2.4

2.8

2.3

1.1

0.5

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.9

1.2

1.3

1.3

1.6

2.1

2.9

4.2

8.0

9.2

5.6

4.7

3.3

2.2

1.7

1.6

2.2

3.2

4.4

5.4

8.8

7.4

4.1

2.8

2.1

1.6

1.4

1.4

1.6

2.1

2.4

2.7

3.4

3.6

3.1

2.6

2.0

1.5

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.7

1.2

1.9

2.5

2.2

1.4

0.7

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.9

2.0

2.0

1.8

1.6

1.8

2.3

3.3

4.7

6.4

8.5

6.6

5.3

4.1

2.7

1.8

1.6

1.9

2.5

3.3

4.0

6.0

5.9

4.1

2.8

2.2

1.7

1.4

1.3

1.5

1.9

2.3

2.8

3.7

4.7

4.3

3.1

2.5

1.9

1.3

0.9

0.7

0.7

0.8

1.1

1.3

1.2

0.9

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.4

0.7

1.1

2.2

3.7

3.0

2.3

1.9

1.9

2.3

3.2

4.8

5.3

6.4

7.5

5.5

4.6

3.0

2.0

1.7

1.7

2.0

2.5

3.0

4.0

4.5

3.7

2.8

2.4

1.9

1.5

1.3

1.4

1.7

2.2

2.8

4.0

6.2

6.5

4.3

3.4

2.5

1.6

1.1

0.8

0.7

0.8

1.1

1.2

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.9

2.9

3.6

4.3

3.3

2.4

2.0

2.0

2.2

2.9

4.3

5.4

7.1

9.1

6.5

4.4

3.1

2.2

1.7

1.6

1.7

2.1

2.6

3.0

3.5

3.4

2.8

2.5

2.1

1.7

1.4

1.4

1.6

2.1

2.8

4.0

7.4

9.3

5.8

4.7

3.3

2.1

1.3

0.9

0.9

1.2

1.8

2.3

2.0

1.3

0.7

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.9

2.2

2.5

3.6

3.1

3.2

2.6

2.3

2.1

2.1

2.5

3.5

4.7

5.6

9.2

7.7

4.2

2.9

2.2

1.7

1.5

1.6

1.9

2.3

2.6

3.0

3.5

3.3

2.8

2.4

1.9

1.6

1.4

1.6

2.0

3.0

4.3

6.1

8.9

7.2

5.2

4.1

2.5

1.5

1.1

1.1

1.8

3.0

2.5

2.9

2.2

1.0

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.5

1.2

3.2

3.7

3.2

3.3

3.4

2.7

2.3

1.9

1.9

2.1

2.7

3.6

4.3

6.4

6.3

4.2

2.9

2.3

1.8

1.6

1.5

1.7

2.1

2.5

3.0

4.0

4.4

3.5

2.8

2.3

1.8

1.5

1.5

1.9

2.8

4.4

5.4

7.2

6.5

5.2

4.7

2.9

1.8

1.3

1.3

2.2

2.9

1.8

2.0

2.8

1.2

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.8

2.4

4.5

3.7

3.3

3.8

3.3

2.6

2.1

1.6

1.5

1.7

2.1

2.6

3.2

4.2

4.7

3.8

2.8

2.4

2.0

1.6

1.5

1.6

2.0

2.5

3.1

4.8

6.2

5.2

3.6

3.0

2.2

1.7

1.5

1.7

2.5

3.9

5.3

6.5

8.5

6.5

4.5

3.1

1.9

1.4

1.3

1.9

3.2

2.3

2.8

2.3

1.1

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.4

2.7

3.8

3.5

3.4

3.2

2.9

2.3

1.7

1.4

1.3

1.4

1.7

2.1

2.6

3.1

3.6

3.5

2.8

2.5

2.2

1.8

1.5

1.6

1.8

2.3

3.2

4.9

8.3

8.0

4.8

4.0

2.8

1.9

1.5

1.5

2.1

3.1

4.6

5.3

9.0

8.1

4.2

2.8

1.9

1.4

1.2

1.4

2.1

2.6

2.2

1.4

0.8

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.7

1.7

2.5

3.0

2.9

2.8

2.7

2.5

1.9

1.5

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.5

1.9

2.3

2.6

3.0

3.5

3.2

2.8

2.4

1.9

1.7

1.6

1.8

2.4

3.4

4.7

8.0

8.8

5.8

5.0

3.4

2.2

1.6

1.4

1.7

2.4

3.4

4.1

6.4

6.5

4.2

2.6

1.9

1.4

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.2

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.4

1.3

2.0

2.4

2.6

2.5

2.6

2.5

2.1

1.7

1.4

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.4

1.7

2.1

2.5

3.0

3.9

4.2

3.4

2.8

2.3

1.9

1.6

1.8

2.3

3.4

5.1

6.3

7.6

6.4

5.3

4.0

2.5

1.7

1.4

1.5

1.9

2.4

3.0

4.0

4.5

3.5

2.5

2.0

1.5

1.3

1.2

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.3

1.2

0.6

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.7

2.0

2.6

2.7

2.5

2.5

2.5

2.3

2.0

1.7

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.5

1.9

2.5

3.1

4.6

5.9

5.0

3.5

2.9

2.2

1.8

1.7

2.1

3.1

4.8

5.1

7.7

8.0

5.4

4.1

2.7

1.8

1.4

1.3

1.5

1.8

2.3

2.7

3.0

2.8

2.1

1.8

1.6

1.5

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.6

2.1

2.3

1.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.6

1.2

3.3

3.6

3.2

2.7

2.6

2.4

2.2

2.1

2.0

1.7

1.6

1.5

1.3

1.2

1.4

1.8

2.3

3.1

4.9

7.9

7.7

4.7

3.9

2.8

2.0

1.7

1.8

2.6

3.9

5.2

6.8

9.5

6.4

3.7

2.6

1.8

1.4

1.3

1.3

1.5

1.9

2.1

2.2

2.2

2.0

1.8

1.8

1.8

1.6

1.4

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.0

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.3

1.5

2.0

2.9

3.8

2.7

0.9

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

1.0

2.3

4.4

4.2

3.3

2.8

2.8

2.5

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.3

2.1

1.9

1.5

1.3

1.4

1.7

2.3

3.3

4.6

8.3

8.9

5.8

5.0

3.4

2.3

1.7

1.7

2.1

3.0

4.0

5.1

7.7

6.3

3.5

2.5

1.8

1.4

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.7

1.8

1.8

2.0

2.1

2.2

2.2

2.2

2.1

1.7

1.3

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.9

1.3

1.7

1.7

1.7

1.6

1.3

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.6

1.9

2.3

2.9

3.8

3.5

2.2

0.8

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

1.2

3.7

3.6

3.4

3.5

3.0

2.9

2.6

2.5

2.6

3.3

3.4

2.9

2.4

1.9

1.6

1.4

1.6

2.2

3.4

5.0

6.5

7.7

6.0

5.3

4.0

2.6

1.8

1.6

1.8

2.3

2.8

3.5

5.0

4.8

3.3

2.4

1.9

1.5

1.3

1.3

1.5

1.7

1.8

1.9

2.3

2.5

2.8

2.8

2.6

2.3

2.0

1.6

1.2

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.8

1.0

1.3

1.7

2.4

2.8

2.5

2.1

1.7

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.6

2.1

2.6

3.2

2.9

3.6

2.4

1.0

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.9

2.1

3.9

3.4

3.1

3.7

3.1

2.8

2.5

2.6

2.9

4.1

5.2

4.4

3.1

2.6

2.0

1.6

1.6

2.0

3.1

4.8

5.3

7.5

7.9

5.4

4.3

2.8

1.9

1.5

1.5

1.8

2.2

2.6

3.2

3.4

2.7

2.1

1.9

1.6

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.7

2.0

2.2

2.6

3.0

3.4

3.3

3.2

2.9

2.6

2.1

1.5

1.1

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.8

1.1

1.6

2.2

3.2

4.4

3.9

2.8

2.3

1.8

1.3

1.3

1.6

2.1

2.7

3.5

2.7

3.3

3.7

1.8

0.7

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.9

2.5

3.7

3.1

3.5

3.6

3.0

2.5

2.2

2.4

3.0

4.7

7.3

7.1

4.3

3.6

2.5

1.8

1.5

1.8

2.6

4.0

5.3

6.9

9.4

6.4

3.9

2.7

1.9

1.5

1.4

1.5

1.8

2.2

2.3

2.5

2.3

2.0

1.8

1.7

1.6

1.6

1.6

1.8

2.1

2.4

2.7

3.4

4.0

3.7

3.5

3.9

3.4

2.4

1.7

1.1

0.8

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.1

1.1

0.9

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.7

2.4

3.9

6.3

6.4

4.0

3.3

2.3

1.6

1.3

1.4

2.0

2.6

3.2

3.2

3.0

3.8

2.0

0.5

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.9

3.1

4.6

3.3

3.3

2.9

2.6

2.1

2.0

2.4

3.2

4.5

8.3

8.8

5.5

4.7

3.2

2.1

1.6

1.6

2.1

3.1

4.2

5.2

8.1

6.6

3.6

2.6

1.9

1.5

1.3

1.4

1.6

1.9

1.9

2.1

2.1

2.1

2.0

1.8

1.7

1.6

1.7

1.8

2.1

2.4

3.0

3.6

3.2

3.4

3.6

4.9

3.7

2.3

1.5

1.0

0.9

0.9

1.2

1.6

1.6

1.6

1.5

1.2

1.0

1.0

1.2

1.7

2.6

4.0

7.7

9.0

5.4

4.5

3.1

2.0

1.4

1.3

1.7

2.2

2.5

2.9

3.1

3.9

2.6

0.8

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

1.3

2.7

3.5

2.9

2.6

2.4

2.2

1.8

1.8

2.2

3.4

4.8

6.5

7.8

6.1

5.2

3.9

2.5

1.7

1.5

1.7

2.3

3.0

3.7

5.3

5.1

3.5

2.5

2.0

1.6

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.9

2.0

2.2

2.4

2.4

2.3

2.0

1.8

1.7

1.7

1.8

2.1

2.6

3.5

4.1

3.7

4.2

4.3

3.2

2.1

1.5

1.1

1.0

1.1

1.3

1.6

2.3

2.6

2.3

2.0

1.6

1.3

1.1

1.3

1.8

2.9

4.3

6.2

8.4

6.5

5.1

3.8

2.4

1.5

1.3

1.4

1.8

2.1

2.1

2.5

2.6

2.0

1.0

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.6

1.3

2.0

2.3

2.2

2.0

2.0

1.7

1.5

1.5

2.0

3.0

4.8

5.1

7.0

7.7

5.3

4.2

2.7

1.8

1.4

1.5

1.8

2.2

2.7

3.4

3.7

2.9

2.3

1.9

1.7

1.7

1.7

1.9

2.2

2.4

2.7

2.9

2.8

2.5

2.2

2.0

1.8

1.7

1.8

2.0

2.5

3.5

4.6

3.9

4.1

2.6

2.0

1.5

1.3

1.1

1.1

1.3

1.7

2.2

3.1

4.1

3.7

2.7

2.2

1.7

1.3

1.3

1.7

2.7

4.4

5.0

6.3

7.2

5.2

4.3

2.7

1.7

1.3

1.2

1.5

1.7

1.6

1.7

1.7

1.3

0.8

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.5

0.4

0.5

0.7

0.7

0.8

1.2

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.6

1.6

1.4

1.2

1.2

1.6

2.5

4.0

5.3

7.1

9.1

6.1

3.9

2.7

1.8

1.4

1.3

1.4

1.8

2.2

2.4

2.6

2.5

2.0

1.7

1.7

1.7

2.0

2.3

2.6

2.9

3.3

3.4

3.3

3.0

2.7

2.4

1.9

1.7

1.6

1.7

2.1

2.5

2.6

2.1

2.1

1.8

1.8

1.6

1.5

1.3

1.2

1.4

1.8

2.4

3.9

6.0

6.1

3.9

3.2

2.3

1.6

1.3

1.5

2.4

3.8

5.1

6.8

8.7

6.1

4.1

2.7

1.7

1.2

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.3

1.2

1.1

0.9

0.6

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.8

1.3

1.7

1.7

1.6

1.6

1.2

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.1

1.0

1.0

1.3

2.0

3.1

4.3

5.4

8.5

6.7

3.6

2.5

1.8

1.4

1.2

1.3

1.6

1.9

2.0

2.1

2.1

1.9

1.7

1.7

1.8

2.1

2.4

2.8

3.2

3.8

4.0

3.5

3.6

3.7

2.7

2.0

1.6

1.4

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.3

1.5

1.9

2.2

2.1

2.0

1.9

1.5

1.4

1.5

1.9

2.6

4.0

7.6

8.9

5.2

4.4

3.0

1.9

1.4

1.4

2.0

3.0

4.4

5.3

8.9

7.3

3.8

2.4

1.7

1.2

1.0

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.7

1.1

1.8

2.9

4.1

3.5

3.8

3.6

2.6

1.8

1.5

1.2

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.1

1.6

2.3

3.1

3.8

5.7

5.3

3.5

2.5

1.9

1.5

1.3

1.4

1.6

1.8

1.9

2.0

2.0

1.8

1.7

1.6

1.8

2.1

2.4

2.9

3.5

3.5

3.3

3.5

4.4

4.3

2.8

1.8

1.2

1.0

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.6

2.0

2.8

3.1

2.7

2.3

1.9

1.6

1.6

2.0

3.0

4.3

6.3

8.7

6.7

5.1

3.8

2.4

1.5

1.3

1.6

2.3

3.1

3.8

6.0

5.8

3.6

2.3

1.6

1.2

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.4

0.5

0.8

1.3

2.0

3.0

3.6

3.0

3.5

3.7

4.1

3.8

2.5

1.7

1.2

1.0

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.3

1.8

2.3

2.8

3.6

3.9

3.0

2.3

1.9

1.7

1.6

1.7

1.9

2.2

2.3

2.3

2.2

2.0

1.8

1.6

1.7

2.0

2.6

3.4

4.2

3.7

4.1

4.2

3.9

2.7

1.8

1.2

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.8

1.0

1.3

1.8

2.4

3.5

4.7

4.2

3.1

2.5

2.1

1.8

2.1

3.0

4.5

5.2

6.9

6.5

5.1

4.3

2.7

1.7

1.3

1.3

1.7

2.1

2.7

3.6

4.0

2.9

2.0

1.6

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.8

1.2

1.7

2.3

3.0

3.0

2.7

3.0

3.8

3.7

2.6

1.8

1.4

1.2

1.1

1.0

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.5

1.9

2.3

2.5

2.7

2.5

2.0

1.9

1.9

1.9

2.2

2.5

2.8

2.8

2.7

2.4

2.1

1.9

1.7

1.7

1.9

2.4

3.2

4.4

4.0

4.1

2.6

2.4

1.7

1.4

1.2

1.2

1.1

0.9

0.8

0.9

1.3

1.8

2.6

4.1

6.7

6.8

4.2

3.6

2.6

2.0

2.0

2.7

4.1

5.2

6.9

8.6

6.0

4.2

2.8

1.8

1.2

1.1

1.2

1.5

2.0

2.3

2.5

2.2

1.5

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.6

0.8

1.2

1.6

2.0

2.6

3.2

3.5

3.3

3.0

2.8

2.2

1.7

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.8

2.0

2.0

2.1

2.1

1.9

1.8

2.1

2.3

2.7

3.1

3.5

3.4

3.2

2.8

2.6

2.1

1.8

1.6

1.7

2.0

2.4

2.7

2.0

2.0

1.6

1.7

1.8

1.8

1.6

1.6

1.4

1.1

0.9

1.0

1.3

1.9

2.8

4.2

7.9

9.1

5.5

4.8

3.4

2.4

2.0

2.4

3.3

4.6

5.5

9.1

7.5

3.9

2.5

1.7

1.2

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.5

1.5

1.6

1.5

1.2

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.4

1.8

2.2

2.6

2.7

2.5

2.3

2.0

1.8

1.5

1.4

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.8

1.8

1.9

1.9

2.0

2.0

1.9

1.9

1.9

1.8

1.8

2.1

2.5

2.9

3.6

4.1

3.9

3.6

3.7

3.3

2.4

1.8

1.5

1.3

1.4

1.4

1.2

1.2

1.5

1.6

1.7

2.2

2.6

2.4

2.2

1.8

1.4

1.1

1.1

1.3

1.9

3.0

4.6

6.3

8.3

6.5

5.2

4.1

2.7

2.1

2.1

2.6

3.4

4.1

6.4

6.1

3.7

2.3

1.6

1.1

0.9

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.6

1.8

2.0

2.0

2.0

1.8

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.4

1.7

1.9

2.2

2.4

2.5

2.6

2.5

2.3

2.1

1.9

1.8

1.7

1.8

2.1

2.4

3.1

3.8

3.4

3.4

3.6

5.0

3.7

2.4

1.6

1.2

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.1

1.3

1.6

2.0

2.6

3.8

3.8

2.9

2.3

1.8

1.4

1.2

1.3

1.8

2.9

4.6

5.1

6.4

7.6

5.5

4.5

3.0

2.2

1.9

2.1

2.5

2.9

3.9

4.3

3.1

2.1

1.6

1.1

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.4

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.5

1.9

2.2

2.5

2.9

3.2

3.2

2.9

2.6

2.3

1.9

1.7

1.7

1.7

2.1

2.7

3.6

4.1

3.8

4.3

4.3

3.5

2.6

1.7

1.3

1.1

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.0

1.0

1.2

1.6

2.2

3.1

5.1

6.0

4.3

3.3

2.6

1.8

1.4

1.3

1.6

2.5

4.0

5.3

7.0

9.1

6.4

4.3

3.1

2.2

1.8

1.7

1.9

2.2

2.5

2.7

2.3

1.6

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.6

2.2

2.9

3.1

3.4

3.8

3.7

3.2

2.7

2.3

2.0

1.7

1.6

1.7

2.0

2.6

3.7

4.9

4.2

4.2

3.2

2.0

1.4

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.3

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.6

2.3

3.3

6.0

8.8

6.5

4.6

3.5

2.3

1.6

1.3

1.5

2.1

3.2

4.5

5.5

9.0

7.5

4.1

2.8

2.2

1.7

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.7

1.7

1.6

1.2

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.8

1.1

1.6

2.4

3.7

4.1

3.1

3.0

3.2

3.5

3.0

2.5

2.0

1.7

1.5

1.6

1.7

2.1

2.7

2.8

2.2

2.0

1.5

1.6

1.5

1.5

1.9

2.3

2.2

2.1

1.7

1.4

1.2

1.3

1.7

2.5

3.7

5.2

8.6

7.7

5.3

4.5

2.9

1.9

1.4

1.4

1.7

2.5

3.3

4.1

6.2

6.0

4.1

2.8

2.3

1.8

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.1

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.6

1.1

1.9

3.1

3.6

3.8

3.8

3.5

4.6

3.7

2.7

2.0

1.7

1.5

1.4

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.3

1.4

1.4

1.3

1.4

1.6

1.9

2.5

3.5

3.5

2.7

2.2

1.8

1.5

1.4

1.7

2.4

3.9

5.3

7.0

7.2

5.5

5.1

3.4

2.2

1.5

1.4

1.5

1.9

2.5

3.0

4.1

4.5

3.7

2.8

2.4

2.0

1.6

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.7

1.0

1.9

2.9

3.4

3.5

4.1

3.3

2.4

1.9

1.6

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.2

1.1

1.3

1.6

2.2

3.0

4.8

5.7

4.0

3.1

2.5

1.8

1.5

1.6

2.3

3.5

5.1

5.6

8.0

7.4

5.0

3.6

2.4

1.7

1.4

1.4

1.6

2.0

2.6

3.0

3.5

3.4

2.7

2.4

2.1

1.7

1.3

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.6

0.9

0.9

1.3

1.4

1.6

2.0

1.9

1.7

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.4

1.2

1.1

1.2

1.6

2.2

3.2

5.9

8.4

6.3

4.5

3.4

2.3

1.7

1.6

2.0

2.9

4.4

5.3

8.2

9.2

5.1

3.3

2.4

1.7

1.4

1.3

1.4

1.8

2.3

2.5

3.0

3.5

3.2

2.7

2.4

1.9

1.5

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.7

0.8

0.8

1.0

1.3

1.4

1.6

1.5

1.6

1.9

2.2

2.1

2.0

1.7

1.4

1.2

1.3

1.6

2.4

3.6

5.3

8.9

7.6

5.3

4.5

2.9

1.9

1.6

1.8

2.4

3.4

4.2

6.3

7.5

5.4

3.2

2.4

1.8

1.4

1.2

1.3

1.6

2.1

2.4

2.9

3.9

4.2

3.4

2.8

2.2

1.7

1.2

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.3

1.6

1.8

1.9

2.1

2.5

3.4

3.3

2.7

2.2

1.8

1.5

1.4

1.7

2.4

3.8

5.2

7.3

7.5

5.3

5.1

3.4

2.3

1.7

1.7

2.0

2.6

3.1

4.0

5.3

4.6

3.2

2.5

2.0

1.6

1.3

1.2

1.5

1.9

2.4

3.0

4.6

5.9

5.0

3.5

2.9

2.1

1.4

1.0

0.6

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.6

1.1

1.5

2.0

2.2

2.3

2.6

3.2

4.8

5.4

3.9

3.0

2.4

1.8

1.5

1.6

2.3

3.5

5.1

5.5

7.8

7.3

5.1

3.7

2.5

1.8

1.6

1.7

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.7

3.8

3.0

2.5

2.2

1.7

1.4

1.2

1.4

1.7

2.2

3.1

4.8

8.0

7.7

4.7

3.9

2.7

1.7

1.1

0.8

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.5

1.3

1.9

2.5

2.6

2.6

2.9

3.6

6.0

8.1

6.1

4.3

3.3

2.3

1.7

1.6

2.0

3.0

4.6

5.4

8.1

9.1

5.1

3.5

2.5

1.9

1.6

1.6

1.8

2.2

2.6

2.9

3.4

3.2

2.7

2.4

1.9

1.5

1.3

1.3

1.6

2.2

3.3

4.6

8.1

8.8

5.7

5.0

3.4

2.2

1.4

0.9

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.4

1.5

2.5

3.1

3.1

3.2

3.5

4.1

5.7

9.3

7.6

5.3

4.4

2.9

1.9

1.6

1.8

2.4

3.5

4.4

6.5

7.9

5.6

3.3

2.5

1.9

1.6

1.5

1.6

2.0

2.3

2.6

3.4

3.8

3.3

2.8

2.2

1.8

1.4

1.3

1.5

2.1

3.3

4.9

6.4

7.6

5.9

5.3

4.1

2.6

1.7

1.2

0.8

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

1.4

3.2

4.3

3.9

3.9

4.0

4.8

5.7

7.8

7.7

5.3

5.1

3.4

2.3

1.7

1.7

2.0

2.6

3.2

4.2

5.6

4.8

3.2

2.6

2.1

1.7

1.5

1.5

1.8

2.3

2.7

3.6

4.9

4.8

3.4

2.7

2.2

1.6

1.4

1.4

1.9

3.0

4.7

5.1

7.6

7.9

5.4

4.3

2.9

2.0

1.5

1.2

0.7

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.8

3.5

5.6

4.4

4.7

4.4

4.9

5.9

5.9

7.8

7.3

5.2

3.8

2.5

1.8

1.6

1.7

2.1

2.6

3.1

3.8

4.0

3.1

2.5

2.2

1.8

1.5

1.5

1.7

2.1

2.7

3.7

6.3

7.2

4.8

3.8

2.8

1.9

1.4

1.3

1.6

2.5

3.9

5.1

6.8

9.3

6.3

3.9

3.0

2.3

1.9

1.7

1.3

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.8

2.5

4.7

4.5

5.1

4.8

4.8

5.6

6.0

8.4

9.1

5.2

3.6

2.5

1.9

1.6

1.6

1.8

2.2

2.6

2.9

3.4

3.2

2.6

2.4

2.0

1.6

1.5

1.6

2.0

2.7

3.9

6.8

6.5

5.0

3.6

2.4

1.5

1.3

1.4

2.0

2.9

4.0

5.1

7.8

6.3

3.5

2.8

2.6

2.5

2.5

2.3

0.7

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.8

1.8

3.5

4.6

4.8

4.9

4.5

4.8

5.3

7.2

8.5

5.7

3.4

2.5

1.9

1.6

1.5

1.7

2.0

2.4

2.6

3.3

3.7

3.2

2.7

2.2

1.8

1.6

1.6

2.0

2.8

4.2

5.5

8.3

7.6

5.2

4.4

2.8

1.7

1.3

1.2

1.5

2.1

2.8

3.4

5.0

4.8

3.2

2.5

2.6

3.2

3.7

3.9

2.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

1.2

3.3

4.8

4.7

4.7

4.2

4.1

4.2

4.9

6.1

5.1

3.3

2.6

2.1

1.7

1.5

1.6

1.8

2.3

2.7

3.5

4.7

4.6

3.3

2.7

2.2

1.8

1.6

1.9

2.6

4.1

5.3

6.2

7.3

5.7

4.8

3.1

1.9

1.3

1.1

1.2

1.5

1.9

2.4

3.0

3.3

2.5

2.0

2.1

3.2

5.1

6.2

4.6

0.5

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.9

1.9

4.7

5.4

4.2

3.7

3.6

3.6

3.8

4.3

4.2

3.1

2.6

2.2

1.8

1.5

1.5

1.7

2.1

2.7

3.7

6.1

6.8

4.6

3.7

2.8

2.0

1.6

1.7

2.3

3.5

5.1

5.9

8.6

7.1

4.5

3.1

2.0

1.3

1.0

1.0

1.1

1.4

1.8

1.9

2.1

1.9

1.5

1.5

2.3

4.6

7.7

6.1

2.1

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.9

3.0

4.0

3.8

3.6

3.4

3.4

3.4

3.4

3.6

3.2

2.6

2.4

2.0

1.6

1.5

1.6

2.0

2.7

3.8

6.8

9.5

6.3

4.9

3.6

2.4

1.7

1.5

1.9

2.8

4.1

4.9

8.3

8.2

4.4

2.7

1.8

1.2

0.9

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.2

1.1

1.6

3.3

6.3

7.3

3.8

0.7

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

1.7

2.8

3.1

3.3

3.4

3.4

3.3

3.1

3.6

3.7

3.1

2.7

2.2

1.8

1.6

1.6

2.0

2.8

4.1

5.6

8.6

7.6

5.2

4.4

2.8

1.8

1.5

1.6

2.1

3.0

3.6

5.4

6.1

4.3

2.5

1.8

1.2

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.9

1.1

2.3

4.7

7.4

5.7

1.9

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.8

1.9

2.5

3.0

3.3

3.3

3.3

3.3

3.8

4.7

4.4

3.2

2.6

2.1

1.7

1.6

1.9

2.7

4.1

5.4

6.7

6.4

5.5

4.9

3.2

2.0

1.5

1.4

1.6

2.1

2.6

3.3

4.0

3.3

2.2

1.6

1.2

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.4

3.3

6.3

7.8

3.8

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.4

1.3

2.1

2.8

3.3

3.3

3.3

3.5

4.2

6.1

6.6

4.5

3.6

2.7

2.0

1.6

1.7

2.4

3.6

5.1

5.9

8.4

7.0

4.6

3.2

2.1

1.4

1.2

1.2

1.5

1.9

2.2

2.4

2.3

1.7

1.2

1.0

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.6

1.0

2.1

4.8

6.8

4.9

1.5

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.9

2.1

2.9

3.5

3.4

3.4

3.7

4.4

7.1

9.4

6.3

4.8

3.5

2.4

1.7

1.6

1.9

2.9

4.3

5.0

8.4

8.5

4.5

2.8

1.9

1.3

1.0

1.0

1.1

1.4

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.2

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.7

1.3

3.3

4.5

3.8

2.2

0.5

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.7

2.2

3.5

4.0

3.8

3.8

4.1

4.8

6.1

9.0

7.7

5.3

4.4

2.8

1.8

1.5

1.6

2.2

3.1

3.8

5.7

6.5

4.5

2.6

1.9

1.3

0.9

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.5

0.8

2.0

3.0

2.7

2.1

1.0

0.4

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

2.1

4.3

5.1

4.5

4.4

4.3

5.1

5.9

7.5

6.3

5.3

4.9

3.2

2.0

1.5

1.4

1.7

2.2

2.7

3.5

4.3

3.5

2.3

1.7

1.2

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.6

1.3

2.0

2.0

1.8

1.3

0.8

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.3

4.2

5.1

4.7

4.9

4.5

4.9

5.8

6.2

8.3

7.1

4.8

3.3

2.1

1.4

1.2

1.3

1.6

2.0

2.3

2.6

2.5

1.8

1.3

1.0

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.4

0.8

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.6

1.4

0.7

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.2

3.3

4.3

4.4

5.1

4.4

4.4

5.2

5.6

8.7

8.7

4.6

2.9

2.0

1.4

1.1

1.0

1.2

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.7

1.3

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.5

1.0

1.4

1.7

2.0

2.1

1.7

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.9

1.7

3.8

4.6

4.7

4.3

3.9

4.2

4.4

6.3

6.9

4.7

2.7

1.9

1.3

1.0

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.1

1.0

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.6

1.0

1.8

2.6

3.2

3.2

1.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.7

1.5

3.5

5.3

4.4

3.8

3.4

3.2

3.3

3.9

4.7

3.7

2.4

1.8

1.3

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.4

0.7

1.3

2.9

4.6

5.4

3.1

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.8

2.0

4.4

4.2

3.3

2.8

2.6

2.6

2.7

2.9

2.7

1.9

1.4

1.1

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.8

2.2

4.9

7.8

5.0

1.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.8

2.6

2.9

2.8

2.5

2.2

2.1

2.1

1.9

1.8

1.4

1.0

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.7

1.5

3.7

6.6

6.6

2.9

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

1.3

1.9

2.0

1.9

1.8

1.7

1.6

1.3

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.9

2.5

5.5

7.4

4.6

1.1

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.1

1.3

1.4

1.4

1.4

1.2

1.0

0.9

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.7

1.5

3.9

6.8

6.6

2.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.6

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

1.0

2.6

5.6

7.1

4.3

0.8

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.4

0.7

1.7

4.0

5.0

3.8

1.7

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

1.1

2.7

3.4

2.9

2.0

0.6

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.4

0.9

1.9

2.5

2.4

1.8

0.9

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.7

1.7

2.3

2.2

1.9

1.0

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

1.6

2.5

2.6

2.3

1.0

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

1.6

3.2

3.6

3.1

1.0

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

1.5

3.9

5.4

4.5

1.1

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

1.6

4.2

7.5

6.0

0.9

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

1.6

4.2

6.9

4.9

1.1

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

1.5

4.1

7.3

5.4

1.1

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

1.5

4.1

7.0

5.0

1.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

1.5

4.1

7.5

5.9

0.8

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.5

1.3

3.8

5.8

4.8

0.8

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.3

3.1

3.6

3.1

0.8

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.1

2.1

2.3

2.0

0.6

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.4

1.0

1.3

1.4

1.2

0.5

0.1

0.1

0.4

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.7

0.4

0.1

0.3

0.5

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.3

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

9.7

D2-1

D2-2

D2-3

D-2

D2-4

D2-5

D2-6

D2-7

D2-8

D2-9

D2-11

F-3

F-4

F-5

D2-14

D2-15

D2-16

D2-17

D-3

D2-24

D2-25

D2-26

D2-27

D2-28

D2-29

D-4

F-8

F-6

A-7

A-8

A-9

H-1

H-2

H-3

H-4

H-5 H-6

F-10

F-9

E-1

B-1

B-2

B-3

Plan View
Scale - 1" = 50ft

Schedule

Symbol Label Image QTY Manufacturer Catalog Number Description Lamp
Number

Lamps
Filename

Lumens

per

Lamp

Lumen

Multiplie

r

LLF Wattage Efficiency
Distribut

ion
Polar Plot Notes

A

3 COOPER
LIGHTING
SOLUTIONS -
LUMARK
(FORMERLY
EATON)

PRV-XL-C75-D-UNV-T2-
BZ-HSS

PREVAIL XL AREA AND
ROADWAY LUMINAIRE (4) 70
CRI, 4000K LEDS AND TYPE II
OPTICS WITH HOUSE SIDE
SHIELD, BRONZE PAINTED
FINISH

4 PRV-XL-C75-D-
UNV-T2-BZ-
HSS.ies

6045 1 0.9 176 100%

B

3 COOPER
LIGHTING
SOLUTIONS -
LUMARK
(FORMERLY
EATON)

PRV-XL-C75-D-UNV-T2-
BZ

PREVAIL XL AREA AND
ROADWAY LUMINAIRE (4) 70
CRI, 4000K LEDS AND TYPE II
OPTICS, BRONZE PAINTED
FINISH

4 PRV-XL-C75-D-
UNV-T2-BZ.ies

6566 1 0.9 176 100%

C

0 COOPER
LIGHTING
SOLUTIONS -
LUMARK
(FORMERLY
EATON)

PRV-XL-C75-D-UNV-T3-
BZ-HSS

PREVAIL XL AREA AND
ROADWAY LUMINAIRE (4) 70
CRI, 4000K LEDS AND TYPE III
OPTICS WITH HOUSE SIDE
SHIELD, BRONZE PAINTED
FINISH

4 PRV-XL-C75-D-
UNV-T3-BZ-
HSS.ies

5938 1 0.9 176 100%

D

3 COOPER
LIGHTING
SOLUTIONS -
LUMARK
(FORMERLY
EATON)

PRV-XL-C75-D-UNV-T3-
BZ

PREVAIL XL AREA AND
ROADWAY LUMINAIRE (4) 70
CRI, 4000K LEDS AND TYPE III
OPTICS, BRONZE PAINTED
FINISH

4 PRV-XL-C75-D-
UNV-T3-BZ.ies

6530 1 0.9 176 100%

D2

20 COOPER
LIGHTING
SOLUTIONS -
LUMARK
(FORMERLY
EATON)

PRV-XL-C75-D-UNV-T3-
BZ

PREVAIL XL AREA AND
ROADWAY LUMINAIRE (4) 70
CRI, 4000K LEDS AND TYPE III
OPTICS, BRONZE PAINTED
FINISH

4 PRV-XL-C75-D-
UNV-T3-BZ.ies

6530 1 0.9 352 100%

E

1 COOPER
LIGHTING
SOLUTIONS -
LUMARK
(FORMERLY
EATON)

PRV-XL-C75-D-UNV-T4-
BZ-HSS

PREVAIL XL AREA AND
ROADWAY LUMINAIRE (4) 70
CRI, 4000K LEDS AND TYPE IV
OPTICS WITH HOUSE SIDE
SHIELD, BRONZE PAINTED
FINISH

4 PRV-XL-C75-D-
UNV-T4-BZ-
HSS.ies

5920 1 0.9 176 100%

F

7 COOPER
LIGHTING
SOLUTIONS -
LUMARK
(FORMERLY
EATON)

PRV-XL-C75-D-UNV-T4-
BZ

PREVAIL XL AREA AND
ROADWAY LUMINAIRE (4) 70
CRI, 4000K LEDS AND TYPE IV
OPTICS, BRONZE PAINTED
FINISH

4 PRV-XL-C75-D-
UNV-T4-BZ.ies

6526 1 0.9 176 100%

G

0 COOPER
LIGHTING
SOLUTIONS -
LUMARK
(FORMERLY
EATON)

PRV-XL-C75-D-UNV-T5-
BZ

PREVAIL XL AREA AND
ROADWAY LUMINAIRE (4) 70
CRI, 4000K LEDS AND TYPE V
OPTICS, BRONZE PAINTED
FINISH

4 PRV-XL-C75-D-
UNV-T5-BZ.ies

7033 1 0.9 176 100%

H

6 COOPER
LIGHTING
SOLUTIONS -
INVUE
(FORMERLY
EATON)

ARB-B3-LED-D1-T5 ARBOR OUTDOOR
ARCHITECTURAL POST TOP 70
CRI, 4000K LEDS AND TYPE V
OPTIC, GRAPHITE METALLIC
PAINTED FINISH

2 ARB-B3-LED-D1-
-T5.ies

4256 1 0.9 86 100%

Statistics

Description Symbol Avg Max Min Max/Min Avg/Min

Calc Zone #1 1.0 fc 9.7 fc 0.0 fc N/A N/A



From: Erica Dovenberg
To: Brad Martens
Subject: Re: May 28 Council Meeting Open Forum – Public Comment Opportunity
Date: Thursday, May 28, 2020 10:10:57 AM

Brad,
 
Thank you very much for your prompt reply.   Since learning of the proposed development,
my fellow neighbors and I have been in communication with a number of local residents, all
of whom live within direct line of sight of the proposed development.  This includes residents
of Corcoran, Maple Grove, Medina and Hamel.   We are all universally opposed to the
development, and we urge the Counsel to work with Eagle Brook to identify a more suitable
location for its new facility. 
 
The development plan includes features far more appropriate for a commercial or industrial
zone versus an area slated for low density residential.  Specifically, we understand that the
plan includes:
 

1)      Over 830 parking spots.  This would be the largest parking lot in Corcoran, and
includes nearly 20% more parking spots than the Target complex at highway 55 and
101.
2)      A building edifice covering over 70,000 square feet.  This is roughly 10% larger
than the Plymouth Cub Foods and more than twice the size of the Medina
Entertainment Center.
3)      The requirement for a significant traffic pattern adjustment.

 
We understand that some people have suggested that the local residents would prefer to see
the Eagle Brook development as opposed to additional residential units.  This couldn’t be
further from the truth.  The proposed project is not a good fit for the area (it’s much more akin
to a strip mall or big box retailer), and we would much rather see additional residential
development instead.  Most of us live in the area for the rural feel, and most of us checked the
local zoning before purchasing our homes.  We never would have imagined a building the size
of Cub Foods in our back yards. 
 
In addition, we want to note that RLUPA does not grant “carte blanche” to religious
institutions to build wherever they wish.  This is especially true when decisions are made in a
non-discriminatory manner and where the church cannot claim a “substantial burden.”  These
are technical legal issues, but to be clear, nobody is objecting to a church being placed at 101
and Hackamore.  Rather, we are objecting to a 70,000 square foot building and an 830 car
parking lot being placed at 101 and Hackamore, and the associated disruptions, quality of life
reduction and property value diminution that goes with it.    

Erica and Bob Dovenberg

Sent from my iPad

On May 27, 2020, at 2:53 PM, Brad Martens <bmartens@ci.corcoran.mn.us> wrote:

Hi Erica,

mailto:erica@dovenberg.com
mailto:bmartens@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:bmartens@ci.corcoran.mn.us


Thanks for reaching out in advance of the meeting and sharing your thoughts. I
can use the email you sent as your comments and send it on to the Planning
Commission and Council, or you can draft something different if you want and
send to me. An address would be appreciated for the record. Please let me know
ASAP as we're pulling together the packet for the Planning Commission next
week by noon tomorrow. Council will review this at the June 25th meeting so
there is more time for that packet. 

I will say that the City Council has very little discretion for this type of an
application. Federal legislation in the Religious Land Use Protection Act
(RLUPA) limits our ability to say no to religious facilities. Churches are an
allowed use in all residential districts as long as they meet our guidelines such as
setbacks, height, stormwater, etc. This application would require significant
improvements to the Hackamore Rd/CR 101 intersection at their expense to
manage traffic and the City would work with the church to provide adequate
traffic management before and after their services (Police directing traffic)
planned for Saturday evening and Sunday morning (two each I believe).

Thanks again for reaching out. Once I hear back from you I'll add the information
accordingly.

Sincerely, 

Brad Martens
City Administrator
City of Corcoran
763-400-7030
www.ci.corcoran.mn.us 

-----Original Message-----
From: erica <erica@dovenberg.com> 
Sent: Wednesday, May 27, 2020 2:35 PM
To: Brad Martens <bmartens@ci.corcoran.mn.us>; erica
<erica@dovenberg.com>
Subject: Re: May 28 Council Meeting Open Forum – Public Comment
Opportunity

Hello,

I have a question I would like submitted for the May 28, 2020 city council
meeting.

I understand the council is considering a proposed development at the corner of
101 and Hackamore.  The proposed development includes, among other things, a
70,000 square foot building and parking for approximately 830 cars.   I, along
with numerous other residents of Corcoran, Maple Grove, Medina and Hamel are
strongly opposed.  What is the most effective method/venue for us to express our
concern and opposition?

Thank you for your consideration.

http://www.ci.corcoran.mn.us/
mailto:erica@dovenberg.com
mailto:bmartens@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:erica@dovenberg.com


Erica Dovenberg



Eagle Brook Church | West Metro Campus

LUA:  Outlot Preliminary Layout

10 JUNE 2020 | BWBR 3.2019149.00

CS

20' GRAVEL TRAIL
FOR FIRE ACCESS

6

30.0' 18.5'

WETLAND
BUFFER-TYP

25.0'

20.0'

20' BUILDING
& PARKING SETBACK

6.0

B612 CURB
& GUTTER
TYP-SEE DETAIL

9
25

22
22

24

10
.0

'

10' BUILDING
& PARKING SETBACK

50.0'

20.0'

6.0'

10'R

10'R
5'R

5'R

5'R

5'R

N

SCALE       IN       FEET

0 50 100

CUL-DE-SAC

LOTS 1 THRU 9:  
SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL

PAVED ROAD



Eagle Brook Church | West Metro Campus

LUA:  Monument Sign Plan

10 JUNE 2020 | BWBR 3.2019149.00

ELEVATION - MONUMENT SIGN

PLAN - MONUMENT SIGN

12'-0"

1'
-6

"

STONE VENEER

PRECAST CAP

METAL PANEL TWO
SIDED FRONT LIT SIGN

CAMPUS NAME HERE



From: Annika Hanson
To: Brad Martens; Ron Thomas; Tom Anderson; Jonathan Bottema; Alan Schultz
Cc: Dan Hanson
Subject: EBC proposed development: VOTE NO
Date: Thursday, June 18, 2020 3:16:05 PM

Dear Mayor and Councilors:
 
I am writing to you due to concern about the proposed Eagle Brook megachurch site at 101 and
Hackamore Road. I do not want this proposed development to be approved, nor do my fellow
residents of the Ravinia community that would back up to the megachurch site. The scale of this
facility is far too large for this area and being that we are predominantly home sites for individual
families, a megachurch makes absolutely no sense in that proposed location what-so-ever. Some of
the council member’s assumptions in the Hometown Source article DO NOT reflect the desires of
our neighborhood or adjoining communities either:

·         “Mayor Ron Thomas said he sees the church campus as a “pretty good fit” for the
southeast corner of Corcoran.”
·         “City Councilor Brian Dejewski called the project a nice entrance to the city. Neighbors
might be happy that a bunch of homes would not be located there.”

Have any of you spent any time in our neighborhoods talking to residents? If you have, you would
know why people wanted to move to this area and you would understand why a megachurch
hacking apart our community  is completely out of place. We moved here for good neighborhoods
(people who want to be CONNECTED not divided), parks and trails, good schools and all-around
good planning behaviors from the city and land developers. I think most of the planning to-date has
been exceptional in Corcoran and I’ve really enjoyed being a resident here for the last 14 months. To
that end, putting a ridiculously giant building/campus right in the middle of four suburban residential
areas is completely out of place for anyone living in these communities and will destroy the feeling
of “neighborhood” as well as our property values.
 
Had the MegaChurch been built years ago and THEN the city planned/approved hundreds of
homesites around that area, at least anyone moving in would be able to accept and agree to that set
up. And if they don’t, they can build or buy and live somewhere else. That is not the case for anyone
living in this area now, including the adjoining communities in Wild Meadows (Medina), Bonaire, the
recent SE corner development by Hanson Builders and nearby Maple Grove neighborhoods. You
have now negatively impacted four different suburban communities, thousands of residents and
nearby homesites with this proposed plan. While some residents (like us) are part of newer
developments others have been established for almost 20 years.
 
From a Corcoran residential standpoint, we don’t need a designated “entrance” to the city and
“welcoming” residents with a church is not what I would consider welcoming by any means.
Corcoran has a beautiful essence of simplicity, peacefulness and calm via planful nature preserves
and the appropriate scaling of residential expansion. I feel relaxed everyday living here. The essence
of the area will drastically and negatively change with this industrial-sized park-like development of
the mega church with expansive parking lots, lighting and a maintenance plan that will include year-
round destructive noise pollution not to mention traffic congestion unseen in this area.
 

mailto:annikalhanson@gmail.com
mailto:bmartens@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:rthomas@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:tanderson@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:jbottema@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:ASchultz@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:danmhanson@gmail.com
https://www.hometownsource.com/press_and_news/community/corcoran/eagle-brook-church-envisions-campus-in-corcoran/article_edf601b6-9726-11ea-9c97-13b9a3c468fc.html?fbclid=IwAR1jAuH4qP1q321k7CAEBSNBNQITHiFlEBng0vHAfxpzyMJpHcOxhXVrQs4


The proposed 70,000 square foot building is as big as four Office Depot stores together, as big as
two Best Buy stores together, and a little bigger than the size of the Plymouth Cub Foods. The 850-
space parking lot that is proposed to be in the backyards of me and my neighbors is the largest in the
city and bigger than the one at the Target complex in Medina. This plan has much more in common
with a big-box commercial development than with the conventional notion of a church, but
generating much denser traffic. You would not build a Best Buy on this corner to “welcome” people
to Corcoran. Why would you consider a MegaChurch to be suitable or acceptable?
 
Even comparing it to nearby churches, the Lord of Life building on 101 a few miles north is around
half the size of the proposed Eagle Brook facility, and the Saint Thomas the Apostle church in the
business district of Corcoran is less than 6,000 square feet. The closest church building of this size is
Holy Name of Jesus in Wayzata, but it also includes a preschool - 6th grade school facility. However,
Holy Name only has 550 parking spaces (35% less) and is in a rural zone where parking is ~200 feet
away from any neighboring homes. Further, Eagle Brook is still apparently growing, and may need to
become even bigger over time.
 
I have had the opportunity to speak with several nearby residents who either border the proposed
site or live in other parts of the Ravinia development, as well as residents of adjoining
neighborhoods in Wild Meadows and Bonaire. We have concerns about traffic, noise, public safety,
lack of privacy, and loss of home values due to this development. The surges of traffic into and out of
the area due to service start times are unlike any other land use in the area. This is an unacceptable
outcome to all of us.
 
This is at a scale too large for a low density residential area with hundreds of already established
residents and hundreds of millions of dollars in property values that could be negatively impacted.
We have bought homes expecting residential traffic and further low density residential
development. Instead, this plan would give us large, sharply defined surges of people into and out of
the area before and after service times at a church the size of a shopping mall. 
 
This megachurch building should go to a site that is less developed or the scale of the building
reduced to match the low density zoning in this area. Corcoran’s land mass footprint is the
equivalent to Maple Grove or Plymouth as you promote on your website – with a fraction of the
population and development. I cannot imagine this is THE only location to offer to this megachurch.
The church site should be closer to an area that has already established itself with commercial
properties like entertainment, retail, gas stations, etc. A megachurch inside of a community of
homes is like putting a large, agitated Grizzly bear inside of a soft-side kiddie pool. It’s going to look
and feel ridiculous. It is not welcoming to anyone.
 
I thank you in advance for your consideration of these concerns and am grateful for the opportunity
to participate in the future consideration of this proposal as the zoning ordinance provides.
 
Sincerely,
Annika Hanson
Ravinia neighborhood, Corcoran Resident



From: Schammel, Chelsey
To: Ron Thomas; Brad Martens
Subject: Concerned neighbor - new development proposal
Date: Thursday, June 18, 2020 2:08:43 PM

Hello!
 
I am writing to you in regards to the recent proposal from Eagle Brooke Church to plan development
on 101 and hwy 116.  As with several other neighbors, I am beyond concerned with what this could
bring to the area in terms of traffic and unsafe communities.  It has been such a pleasure to be a
member of the Corcoran community and to see it grow with the families and kids and see what the
future holds for us together.  But bringing something the size of Eagle Brooke to that specific area
would not create the safe space and community that we all moved here for.  The addition to North
Wood elementary on 101 has been fantastic, but have you ever tried to take a left out of the school
neighborhood and back on to 101 in the morning?  The line is always 10+ cars deep and BEYOND
dangerous.  Since day 1, my fear has been that it will not be until there is a major accident with one
of our community’s children involved that there will be change to that intersection. (this is a whole
other conversation!!)  Now imagine adding on the proposed development to the already high traffic
area.  One could argue that the timing of church services would not align with school start/finish- but
I would argue back that with a campus that size my assumption is that they will have events all hours
of the day.
 
I could go on with more reasons on why I do not feel this would be the best decision to move
forward with, but I think it really comes down to what you want to community of Corcoran to look
like and represent.  Safety and happiness of your current population should be #1- and you would be
severely harming both of these with this expansion.  I am 100% for a growing community, as long as
it makes sense to goals and serving those around.
 
Thank you for taking the time to read my email.  I am happy to connect at any time to have a
discussion further.
 
 
______________________________
 

Chelsey Schammel | Optum
Brand Manager, Brand and Corporate Marketing
 
11000 Optum Circle, Eden Prairie, MN 55344
+1 612.237.4966
chelsey.schammel@optum.com
www.optum.com

 
 

 

This e-mail, including attachments, may include confidential and/or
proprietary information, and may be used only by the person or entity

mailto:chelsey.schammel@optum.com
mailto:rthomas@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:bmartens@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:chelsey.schammel@optum.com
http://www.optum.com/


to which it is addressed. If the reader of this e-mail is not the intended
recipient or his or her authorized agent, the reader is hereby notified
that any dissemination, distribution or copying of this e-mail is
prohibited. If you have received this e-mail in error, please notify the
sender by replying to this message and delete this e-mail immediately.



From: CH Cox
To: Brad Martens; Ron Thomas; Jonathan Bottema; Brian Dejewski; Tom Anderson
Subject: Proposed Megachurch HWY 101 & Hackamore Road
Date: Thursday, June 18, 2020 9:04:32 AM

Dear Mayor and Councilors,

We are writing to you due to concern about the proposed EagleBrooke megachurch site at HWY 101 and
Hackamore Road.  We are supportive of the idea of a church in this location, but the scale of this facility is far too
large for this area.

We are very concerned about the plan to build a megachurch campus at this site. While we understand the low
density zoning of the area makes it possible for the city to grant a permit to build a place of worship, the scale of the
building is not on par with a common person’s understanding of a place of worship.

The proposed 70,000 square foot building is as big as 4 Office Depot stores, 2 Best Buy stores, and slightly larger
than the Plymouth Cub Foods.  The 850 space parking lots that are proposed to be in very close proximity of the
backyards of us and our neighbors is the largest in the city and bigger than the one at the Target complex in Medina. 
For all intents and purposes this plan has much more in common with a big-box commercial development than with
the conventional notion of a church, but will negatively generate much denser traffic.

Even comparing it to nearby churches, the Lord of Life building on HWY 101 a few miles north is around half the
size of the proposed EagleBrooke facility, and the Saint Thomas the Apostle church in the business district of
Corcoran is less than 6,000 square feet.  The closest church building of this size is Holy Name of Jesus in Wayzata,
but it also includes a preschool - 6th grade school facility.  However, Holy Name only has 550 parking spaces (35%
less) and is in a rural zone where parking is ~200 feet away from any neighboring homes.  Further, EagleBrooke is
still apparently growing, and may need to expand even more over time.

I have had the opportunity to speak with several nearby residents who either border the proposed site or live in other
parts of the Ravinia development, as well as residents of adjoining neighborhoods in Wild Meadows and Bonaire. 
We all have concerns about increased traffic, noise, public safety, lack of privacy, and loss of home values due to
this development.  The surges of traffic into and out of the area due to service start times are unlike any other land
use in the area.

This footprint is far too large for a low density residential area with hundreds of already established residents and
hundreds of millions of dollars in property values that would be negatively impacted.  We have bought homes with
the expectation of only residential traffic and further low density residential development.  Instead, this plan would
give us large, sharply defined surges of people into and out of the area before and after service times at a church the
size of a shopping mall. To reiterate again, we have no issue with this being a church however the magnitude of the
building and the traffic patterns it will create are our primary and the utmost concern.

This megachurch proposal should be repositioned to a site that is less developed or the scale of the building reduced
to match the low density zoning in this area. We thank you in advance for your consideration of these concerns and
are grateful for the opportunity to participate in the future consideration of this proposal as the zoning ordinance
provides.

Sincerely,

Clayton & Heather Cox
Concerned Local Residents

mailto:clhm.cox@outlook.com
mailto:bmartens@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:rthomas@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:jbottema@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:BDejewski@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:tanderson@ci.corcoran.mn.us


From: Gary Hahn
To: Ron Thomas; Tom Anderson; Jonathan Bottema; Brian Dejewski; Alan Schultz; Brad Martens
Subject: Eagle Brook Mega Church
Date: Thursday, June 18, 2020 10:31:08 AM

Dear Mayor and Councilors,

We are writing to you due to concern about the proposed Eagle Brook megachurch site at
HWY 101 and Hackamore Road.  We are very concerned about the plan to build a
megachurch campus at this site. While we understand the low-density zoning of the area
makes it possible for the city to grant a permit to build a place of worship, the 2040 plan for
Corcoran has this whole corner set up for residential development.  A megachurch
absolutely does not fall into that category.

The proposed 70,000 square foot building is bigger than the Target Medina complex, this is
unbelievable for this area. The amount of traffic that will flow in and out is a huge cause for
concern.  There is a church in Plymouth on the corner of Vicksburg Ln and Old Rockford
Road (Plymouth Covenant Church) that has to have a fleet of police officers to enforce
traffic all day on Sundays because of how much of a cluster the area is.  This proposed
church is much larger, with a massive congregation, and both 101 and Hackamore are only
2-lane roads.  This will bring 101 and Hackamore to a dead standstill on what should be
quiet Sunday mornings in a great residential neighborhood, as well as during the
Wednesday and Saturday services.  This is exactly the opposite of what the 2040 plan for
Corcoran states.  This is NOT preserving the rural nature of Corcoran.  This is NOT why we
built what we planned to be our forever home in this town.

We live in Ravinia, on Larkspur lane, just a stone’s throw from the proposed site.  We have
been conversing with neighbors, and adjacent neighborhoods and developments, and they
all share our concerns.  We all have concerns about increased traffic, noise, public safety,
lack of privacy, and loss of home values due to this development.  The surges of traffic into
and out of the area due to service start times are unlike any other land use in the area.   

This footprint is far too large for a low-density residential area with hundreds of already
established residents and hundreds of millions of dollars in property values that would be
negatively impacted.  We have bought homes with the expectation of only residential traffic
and further low-density residential development.  Instead, this plan would give us large,
sharply defined surges of people into and out of the area before and after service times at a
church the size of a shopping mall. To reiterate again, we have no issue with this being a
church however the magnitude of the building and the traffic patterns it will create are our
primary and the utmost concern.

This megachurch proposal should be repositioned to a site that is less developed or the
scale of the building reduced to match the low density zoning in this area. We thank you in
advance for your consideration of these concerns and are grateful for the opportunity to
participate in the future consideration of this proposal as the zoning ordinance provides.

Sincerely,

Gerard and Amber Hahn
Concerned Local Residents

612-280-8940

mailto:gary.hahn86@gmail.com
mailto:rthomas@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:tanderson@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:jbottema@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:BDejewski@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:ASchultz@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:bmartens@ci.corcoran.mn.us


From: Jeremy Nichols
To: Tom Anderson; Ron Thomas; Jonathan Bottema; Brian Dejewski; Alan Schultz; Brad Martens
Subject: Proposed Eagle Brook Megachurch in Ravinia
Date: Thursday, June 18, 2020 12:20:57 PM
Attachments: RLUIPA legal analysis.pdf

Dear Mayor & Councilors,

I am writing to you out of concern for the proposed Eaglebrook megachurch site at 101
and Hackamore Road.  I am okay with the idea of a church in this location, but the scale
of this facility is far too large for this area.

I live in Corcoran at 6334 Steeple Chase Lane, and my lot directly adjoins the parcel that
is proposed to be made into a megachurch.  I purchased my home in September 2019
with the hope and expectation of many years of property appreciation, further low
density residential development, and pleasant and private use of my yard and home.

I am very concerned about the plan to build a megachurch campus at this site.  While I
understand the low density zoning of the area makes it possible for the city to grant a
permit to build a place of worship, the scale of the building is not on par with a common
person’s understanding of a place of worship.

The proposed 70,000 square foot building is about the size of the Plymouth Cub
Foods, as big as 2 Best Buy stores together, and as big as 4 Office Depot stores together.
 The 850 space parking lot that is proposed to be in the backyards of me and my
neighbors is the largest in the city and bigger than the one at the Target complex in
Medina.  For all intents and purposes this plan has much more in common with a big-box
commercial development than with any conventional notion of a church.  

Even comparing it to nearby churches, the Lord of Life building on 101 a few miles
north is around half the size of the proposed Eaglebrook facility, and the Saint Thomas
the Apostle church in the business district of Corcoran is less than 6,000 square feet. 
The closest building of this size is Holy Name of Jesus in Wayzata, which includes a
preschool - 6th grade school facility and is slightly larger than what Eaglebrook is
proposing.  But, Holy Name only has 550 parking spaces and is in a rural zone where
parking is ~200 feet away from any neighboring properties.

Since I learned of this project on June 12th, I have had the opportunity to speak with
several nearby residents who either border the proposed site or live in other parts of the
Ravinia development, as well as residents of adjoining neighborhoods.  We all have
concerns about traffic, noise, lack of privacy, and loss of home values due to this
development.

I am grateful that this proposal has not yet been formally presented before the planning

mailto:jeremy.h.nichols@gmail.com
mailto:tanderson@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:rthomas@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:jbottema@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:BDejewski@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:ASchultz@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:bmartens@ci.corcoran.mn.us



Summary	of	findings	from	Riverside	Church	v.	City	of	St.	Michael	(MN)	and	layman’s	analysis	relative	to	
this	proposal	in	Corcoran.	
	
Full	text	here:	
	
https://casetext.com/case/riverside-church-v-city-of-st-michael-
6?utm_source=Iterable&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=prospecting-emails&resultsNav=false	
	
In	this	case,	Plaintiff	filed	suit	against	the	City	of	St.	Michael	for	refusing	to	allow	a	zoning	exemption	
allowing	the	church	to	purchase	and	use	a	movie	theater	for	services.		The	movie	theater	was	in	zone	
B1,	which	did	not	permit	places	of	worship.	
	
The	church	filed	suit	alleging	the	city’s	refusal	amounted	to	a	violation	of	RLUIPA.		Summary	judgement	
was	granted	to	the	city	on	these	claims	on	multiple	separate	grounds:	
	


1.) There	is	a	safe	harbor	provision	in	RLUIPA	that	allows	cities	to	avoid	liability	even	after	refusal	
to	permit	use	by	a	worship	body.		So,	even	though	there	may	appear	to	be	risk	of	having	to	
pay	Eagle	Brook’s	court	costs	under	the	law,	the	safe	harbor	provision	enables	cities	to	avoid	
that	outcome	by	agreeing	to	permit	the	use	requested	after	the	lawsuit	has	started.		
Therefore,	it	is	low	risk	to	negotiate	with	Eagle	Brook,	because	Corcoran	can	always	take	
advantage	of	the	Safe	Harbor	provision	to	avoid	having	to	pay	their	legal	fees	if	the	case	
develops	in	a	negative	direction.	


	
A.	The	Safe	Harbor	Provision	
Before	considering	whether	the	City	violated	either	the	substantial	burden	provision	or	the	equal	terms	
provision,	the	Court	considers	RLUIPA's	so-called	"safe	harbor"	provision,	which	allows	a	government	to	
avoid	RLUIPA's	"preemptive	force"	by	changing	its	policies	and	practices:	
	
A	government	may	avoid	the	preemptive	force	of	any	provision	of	this	chapter	by	changing	the	policy	or	
practice	that	results	in	a	substantial	burden	on	religious	exercise,	by	retaining	the	policy	or	practice	and	
exempting	the	substantially	burdened	religious	exercise,	by	providing	exemptions	from	the	policy	or	
practice	for	applications	that	substantially	burden	religious	exercise,	or	by	any	other	means	that	
eliminates	the	substantial	burden.	
42	U.S.C.	§	2000cc–3(e).	
	
The	Eighth	Circuit	has	not	had	occasion	to	construe	this	provision,	so	the	Court	turns	to	the	Seventh	
Circuit's	interpretation	in	Civil	Liberties	for	Urban	Believers	v.	City	of	Chicago	,	342	F.3d	752,	762	(7th	
Cir.2003).	Civil	Liberties	stands	for	the	proposition	that,	under	RLUIPA's	safe	harbor	provision,	a	
government	can	avoid	liability	under	RLUIPA	by	amending	its	land	use	regulations	to	remove	the	
allegedly	burdensome	or	discriminatory	provisions,	even	after	such	provisions	have	caused	harm.	Civil	
Liberties	,	342	F.3d	at	762.	In	that	case,	the	plaintiff	churches	claimed	that	they	had	incurred	various	
expenses	due	to	the	defendant	city's	zoning	ordinance,	which	placed	certain	restrictions	on	churches.	
Civil	Liberties	,	342	F.3d	at	755–58.	After	years	of	litigation,	the	city	amended	the	zoning	ordinance	such	
that	it	placed	churches	on	equal	footing	with	secular	assembly	uses.	Id.	at	758–762.	Considering	the	safe	
harbor	provision,	the	Seventh	Circuit	explained	that	although	the	provision	specifically	references	
elimination	of	"substantial	burdens,"	it	can	operate	to	relieve	liability	under	either	the	substantial	burden	
or	nondiscrimination	provisions	of	RLUIPA.	Civil	Liberties	,	342	F.3d	at	762.	As	such,	the	court	concluded	







that	the	city's	amendments	to	the	zoning	ordinance	barred	the	plaintiffs'	RLUIPA	nondiscrimination	
claim.	Id.	
	
In	Civil	Liberties,	the	plaintiffs'	RLUIPA	nondiscrimination	claims	included	claims	under	RLUIPA's	equal	
terms	provision,	42	U.S.C.	§	2000cc(b)(1).	Civil	Liberties,	342	F.3d	at	760.	
	
Since	the	Seventh	Circuit's	decision	in	Civil	Liberties	,	courts	in	two	Districts	have	relied	on	that	case	in	
finding	a	government	not	liable	under	RLUIPA.	Grace	Church	of	Roaring	Fork	Valley	v.	Bd.	of	Cty.	
Comm'rs	,	742	F.Supp.2d	1156,	1160	(D.Colo.2010)	(granting	summary	judgment	to	defendant	under	
RLUIPA's	safe	harbor	provision	where	city	permitted	construction	and	use	of	plaintiff	church's	facilities,	
thereby	eliminating	burden	imposed	by	city's	denial	of	plaintiff's	special	use	application);	Petra	
Presbyterian	Church	v.	Village	of	Northbrook	,	409	F.Supp.2d	1001,	1008	(N.D.Ill.2006),	aff'd	,	489	F.3d	
846	(7th	Cir.2007)	(granting	summary	judgment	to	defendant	under	RLUIPA's	safe	harbor	provision	
where	city	amended	allegedly	discriminatory	zoning	ordinance);	Boles	v.	Neet	,	402	F.Supp.2d	1237,	1241	
(D.Colo.2005)	(granting	summary	judgment	to	defendant	under	RLUIPA's	safe	harbor	provision	where	
corrections	department	changed	practices	that	allegedly	infringed	plaintiff	prisoner's	religious	practice	
rights).	
	


2.) The	church’s	claim	also	failed	because	denial	of	a	permit/zoning	modification	was	not	a	
substantial	burden	under	RLUIPA.	


a. Substantial	Burden	is	found	when	government	acts	in	bad	faith	or	unreasonably	
In	addition,	when	evaluating	substantial	burden	claims,	courts	have	found	that	a	land	use	
regulation	imposes	a	substantial	burden	when	the	government	enforcing	the	land	use	regulation	
acts	unreasonably.	The	Ninth	Circuit,	for	example,	found	a	substantial	burden	where:	(1)	the	
county	twice	denied	the	plaintiff's	conditional	use	permit	applications	based	on	"broad	reasons	
[that]	could	easily	apply	to	all	future	applications";	and	(2)	the	plaintiff	"readily	agreed	to	every	
mitigation	measure	suggested,"	but	the	county,	"without	explanation,	found	such	cooperation	
insufficient."	Guru	Nanak	,	456	F.3d	at	989.	Likewise,	the	Second	Circuit	found	a	substantial	
burden	where	the	zoning	decision	at	issue	"was	characterized	...	by	an	arbitrary	blindness	to	the	
facts."	Westchester	,	504	F.3d	at	352	;	see	alsoSts.	Constantine	&	Helen	Greek	Orthodox	Church,	
Inc.	v.	City	of	New	Berlin	,	396	F.3d	895,	898–901	(7th	Cir.2005)	(finding	a	substantial	burden	
where	the	city's	legal	errors	suggested	bad	faith	and	where	alternative	courses	of	action	would	
have	caused	"delay,	uncertainty,	and	expense"	for	the	plaintiff).	
	


b. Inability	to	acquire	a	particular	property	does	not	constitute	substantial	burden	
	
In	the	absence	of	such	unreasonable	conduct,	however,	courts	have	been	reluctant	to	find	a	
substantial	burden,	emphasizing	that	a	church's	inability	to	obtain	a	building	with	the	size	and	
location	that	the	church	desires	is	not	enough	to	state	a	claim.	The	Fourth	Circuit,	for	example,	
found	no	substantial	burden	where	the	plaintiffs	"never	had	a	reasonable	expectation	that	[a	
particular]	property	could	be	used	as	a	church,"	adding	that	"[t]he	absence	of	affordable	and	
available	properties	within	a	geographic	area	will	not	by	itself	support	a	substantial	burden	
claim."	Andon,	LLC	v.	City	of	Newport	News	,	813	F.3d	510,	515–16	(4th	Cir.2016).	Similarly,	the	
Seventh	Circuit	stated:	"When	there	is	plenty	of	land	on	which	religious	organizations	can	build	
churches	(or,	as	is	common	nowadays,	convert	to	churches	buildings	previously	intended	for	
some	other	use)	in	a	community,	the	fact	that	they	are	not	permitted	to	build	everywhere	does	
not	create	a	substantial	burden."	Petra	,	489	F.3d	at	851	;	see	also	Civil	Liberties	,	342	F.3d	at	761	
(finding	that	scarcity	of	affordable	land,	along	with	costs,	procedure,	and	politics	of	zoning	







approval	process,	did	not	impose	a	substantial	burden);	Living	Water	,	258	Fed.Appx.	at	741	
(finding	no	substantial	burden	where	plaintiff	failed	to	show	that	it	could	not	carry	out	its	
ministries	without	the	requested	permit,	instead	demonstrating	"only	that	it	cannot	operate	its	
church	on	the	scale	it	desires").	
	
	


c. Refusing	permission	to	build	a	church	in	a	specific	location	is	not	a	substantial	burden.		
In	this	section,	an	outright	ban	on	churches	in	a	specific	zone	was	found	to	be	
acceptable.	
	
	[A]	burden	must	be	more	than	a	mere	inconvenience	to	rise	to	the	level	of	a	
constitutional	injury;	it	must	place	significant	pressure	on	[a	plaintiff]	to	forego	religious	
precepts	or	to	engage	in	religious	conduct."	Vision	Church	,	468	F.3d	at	999	(internal	
quotation	marks	omitted).	Indeed,	no	substantial	burden	exists	if	an	ordinance	merely	
makes	the	practice	of	a	religious	belief	more	costly.	Patel	,	515	F.3d	at	813	;	Vineyard	,	
250	F.Supp.2d	at	987.	Further,	as	multiple	courts	have	held,	a	religious	plaintiff's	inability	
to	locate	its	premises	in	a	particular	location,	without	more,	does	not	establish	a	
constitutionally	cognizable	burden	on	free	exercise.	Lighthouse	,	510	F.3d	at	274	&	n.	17	
(collecting	cases);	Vineyard	,	250	F.Supp.2d	at	986	(same);	see	also	Cornerstone	,	948	
F.2d	at	472	(finding	that	a	zoning	ordinance	that	excluded	a	religious	plaintiff	from	the	
central	business	district	had	"no	impact	on	religious	belief").	
	
Here,	the	Court	finds	that	the	Zoning	Ordinance's	ban	on	"Assembly,	religious	institution,	
house	of	worship"	uses	in	the	B-1	district	does	not	impose	a	substantial	burden	on	the	
Church's	religious	exercise.	Although	the	ban	may	impose	monetary	and	logistical	
burdens	on	the	Church,	it	does	not	prevent	the	Church's	members	from	worshipping	or	
engaging	in	activities	central	to	their	religious	beliefs.	Indeed,	it	merely	prevents	the	
Church	from	using	a	specific	property	for	religious	worship.	Because	the	ban	does	not	
impose	a	substantial	burden	on	the	Church's	religious	exercise,	the	ban	does	not	violate	
the	Free	Exercise	Clause.	
	


3.)	Government	interests	can	preclude	approval	and	not	violate	RLUIPA:	
	
	


a. Traffic	patterns	are	legitimate	concerns	and	do	not	violate	equal	terms	protections	in	RLUIPA		
Another	regulatory	purpose,	reflected	in	the	Findings	of	Fact	and	Decision	denying	the	Church's	
Planning	Application,	is	safety,	especially	as	it	relates	to	traffic	generated	by	a	church.	(Findings	
of	Fact	&	Decision	¶¶	6-8.)	Regarding	traffic	safety,	a	church	is	not	similarly	situated	to	a	movie	
theater.	Churches	typically	have	one	service,	or	perhaps	two	or	three	services	back	to	back,	
which	would	lead	to	high	levels	of	traffic	at	the	beginning	and	end	of	each	service.	(See	id.	¶¶	12,	
14-16.)	Movie	theaters,	on	the	other	hand,	generally	have	multiple	screenings	with	staggered	
start	times,	resulting	in	a	more	even	traffic	flow.	(See	id.	)	
	
In	sum,	the	Court	finds	that	the	City's	prohibition	on	churches	in	B-1,	while	permitting	movie	
theaters,	does	not	violate	RUIPA's	equal	terms	provision,	because	churches	are	not	similarly	
situated	to	movie	theaters	as	to	regulatory	purpose	or	zoning	criteria.	As	such,	even	if	the	safe	
harbor	provision	did	not	bar	the	Church's	RLUIPA	claims,	the	Court	would	grant	summary	
judgment	in	favor	of	the	City	on	Count	5.	







	
									b.	Impact	on	traffic,	safety	and	property	values	is	a	legitimate	government	interest	


To	begin,	the	Court	examines	whether	the	City's	Zoning	Ordinance	furthered	a	"significant	
governmental	interest."	See	id.	In	Cornerstone	,	the	Eighth	Circuit	recognized	that	a	city's	goals	
of	preserving	and	restoring	a	central	business	district	were	"unquestionably	a	permissible	
municipal	objective."	Id.	Similarly,	in	Renton	,	the	Supreme	Court	found	that	prevention	of	crime	
and	protection	of	retail	trade	and	property	values	were	"vital	governmental	interests."	Renton	
,	475	U.S.	at	50,	106	S.Ct.	925.	Here,	as	noted	above,	the	City	asserts	interests	in	protecting	the	
community's	economic	wellbeing	and	safety—particularly,	safety	related	to	traffic	control.	The	
Court	concludes	that	these	are	significant	governmental	interests.	
	


4.)	Corcoran	Ordinances	set	an	appropriately	high	bar	for	this	project	to	be	approved	
	


A. The	zoning	ordinance	states	RSF-2	is	intended	to	provide	urban	sized	lots	for	single	family	
homes.			


	


B. Places	or	worship	are	not	a	permitted	use	
	


	
	







C. Places	of	worship	are	conditional	uses,	subject	to	review	by	the	Condition	Use	Permit	process	
in	1070.020,	meaning	the	city	has	control	of	the	specific	plans	allowed	to	be	implemented	


D. The	conditional	user	permit	process	is	intended	to	protect	properties	already	in	place:	


	
	
	


E. The	process	grants	the	city	authority	to	ask	for	any	concession/modification	to	proposed	land	
uses:	
	


	
F. The	evaluation	of	a	permit	application	has	to	ensure	the	comfort	of	the	public,	ensure	the	use	


is	not	going	to	harm	the	use	and	enjoyment	of	property	in	the	area,	and	preserve	property	
values:	


	







	
5.	My	Analysis	Based	on	the	Forgoing:	


	
As	currently	formulated,	the	plan	should	be	rejected	and	alternative	sites	proposed,	or	the	scale	
of	the	project	reduced	so	the	evaluation	criteria	of	the	CUP	process	can	be	satisfied.	
	
The	St.	Michael	case	establishes	legitimate	government	interests	in	traffic	levels,	public	safety,	
etc.	and	the	public	in	Corcoran	has	legitimate	concerns	about	these	factors	given	the	physical	
footprint	as	well	as	service	sizes	and	traffic	levels,	let	alone	the	impact	on	bordering/nearby	
property	values.	
	
The	government	is	permitted	to	refuse	to	grant	the	conditional	use	permit	on	these	grounds	
and/or	negotiate	the	design	to	deal	with	resident	concerns	and	ensure	their	property	values	are	
not	negatively	impacted.		The	presence	of	numerous	alternative	sites	could	also	allow	the	
project	to	proceed	in	an	area	better	suited	to	the	size	and	scope	of	the	proposal.	
	
The	criteria	in	the	zoning	ordinance	allow	these	negotiations/possible	refusal	to	be	performed	
legally.		As	long	as	the	government	is	negotiating	in	good	faith	and	behaving	reasonably	it	will	
not	create	a	substantial	burden	under	RLUIPA.		Even	if	a	suit	is	subsequently	filed,	if	the	
government	wants	to	avoid	the	risk,	the	safe	harbor	provision	could	be	invoked	by	accepting	the	
negotiated	application.		We	respectfully	ask	the	City	of	Corcoran	to	pursue	this	option	in	order	
to	ad	
	







commission and that there is still time to perform the diligent review required in city
ordinances for conditional use permits.  I am grateful for ready access to the town
councilors so that the concerns of the residents can be fully considered and our interests
considered and protected appropriately by the requirements of the Conditional Use
Permit (CUP) process as defined in Corcoran ordinances, and I look forward to that
process proceeding.  Given that we have not yet reached the required public hearing
stage, I look forward to residents’ ability to meaningfully affect the outcome.  

I would like the council and planning commission to consider several points as the
process moves forward:

1.)    Several legal decisions, including some in Minnesota, show that the RLUIPA does
not give churches an automatic approval of any request they seek. I have attached
highlights from this decision and some analysis based on the Corcoran zoning
ordinances.  

Several cases establish that towns can refuse to allow to churches to use specific
parcels/zones of land as long as it is protecting legitimate government interests, such as
public safety and property values, both of which are a serious concern in this instance. 
Please consider this case in St. Michael from 2016, where the US 8th Circuit found St.
Michael, MN was not in violation of RLUIPA when it refused to permit a church to
operate from a movie theater in defense of local traffic flow and public safety
concerns, which are legitimate government interests. 

https://casetext.com/case/riverside-church-v-city-of-st-michael-6?
utm_source=Iterable&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=prospecting-
emails&resultsNav=false

2.)    The CUP ordinance states that:
“The purpose of a conditional use permit is to authorize and regulate uses which may be
beneficial in a specific instance to the general welfare of the community, yet ensure that
such uses are not detrimental to surrounding property, and are consistent with the
stated purpose of the zoning district in which such uses are located regarding conditions
of operation, location, arrangement, and construction.”

3.)    Residents in the surrounding area (me and people I have spoken to) are concerned
about a multi acre parking lot being installed adjacent to our property due to noise, lot
lights, headlights, views not commensurate with a low density residential zone, the noise
from snow removal and many other factors that impact our ability to use and enjoy our
property.  We believe the use of the land in this way is clearly detrimental to surrounding
property, including in ways the CUP ordinance requires the council to consider, such as:

“The conditional use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in

https://casetext.com/case/riverside-church-v-city-of-st-michael-6?utm_source=Iterable&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=prospecting-emails&resultsNav=false
https://casetext.com/case/riverside-church-v-city-of-st-michael-6?utm_source=Iterable&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=prospecting-emails&resultsNav=false
https://casetext.com/case/riverside-church-v-city-of-st-michael-6?utm_source=Iterable&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=prospecting-emails&resultsNav=false


the immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and
impair property values within the neighborhood.”

4.)    Residents in Ravinia and surrounding neighborhoods are very concerned about the
traffic impact due to numerous services at times when we want to use our homes and
enjoy local travel.  The exchange of 1700 cars (850x2) during service changeover times,
which are currently 5x per week (including Wednesdays) and may be 6x per week, is
very burdensome to neighbors of the site, especially compared with the low density
residential zoning in the area.
 
5.)    There are other areas in the district which would not be harmed by this
development, unlike the current proposed location.  Being close to the commercial
district, for instance, could help with local development goals and improve nearby
businesses due to church traffic and improve commercial property values.  These
alternative sites should be preferred by the city to protect the interests of existing
residents.

To ensure that residents’ needs are appropriately considered, I respectfully ask for the
following:

a.    For any public hearing where this matter is reviewed, please ensure there is an
accommodation for in person attendance for those interested.  This will prevent people
from being unable to make their views and questions known due to technical issues.

b.    The City of Corcoran to conduct an independent study to determine the impact that
the proposed development would have on property values and marketability immediately
adjacent to the proposed site like mine.  (Independent meaning using a firm that does not
have an established relationship with any interested parties, such as the existing owners
of the land, the church, adjacent developers, etc.).  The onus should be on the town to
establish objective evidence that the development will not substantially diminish
bordering and nearby property values before giving a conditional use permit. 

c.     Conduct a traffic study.  The study should specifically account for the lower level of
traffic due to Covid 19 that has been in place since March 2020 vs. when things will be
"back to normal".  Current church attendance and regular area traffic is lower than will
be typical over the next 10+ years.  This is important to ensure that the proposed
development is safe and the impact is accurately known before the permit is approved. 
If valid data is not available, the study and any approval should be conducted after the
pandemic is over and current and accurate data can be collected.

d.  Please have some or all of the City Council come to the properties impacted by this
megachurch proposal prior to the July 23 City Council meeting.  This can all be done
safely with social distancing and we are happy to meet with you. We think it's important



for you to see firsthand the property as it is today and the large, negative impact the
proposed megachurch will have on our homes and neighborhood.  I have attached a
photo showing how our lots are situated.

I thank you in advance for your consideration of these concerns and am grateful for the
opportunity to participate in the future consideration of this proposal as the zoning
ordinance provides.  I would welcome the chance to meet with you and the city council
at my home to show you the impact the proposal would have for me and my neighbors
who will border the proposed parking lot.

Sincerely,
Jeremy Nichols
612-501-3684

tel:612-501-3684




From: Sarah Carufel
To: Brad Martens
Subject: Fwd: Concerns regarding Eagle Brook Church Location
Date: Thursday, June 18, 2020 10:19:52 AM

---------- Forwarded message ---------
From: Sarah Carufel <sarahcarufel@gmail.com>
Date: Thu, Jun 18, 2020 at 10:15 AM
Subject: Concerns regarding Eagle Brook Church Location
To: <rthomas@ci.corcoran.mn.us>, <tanderson@ci.corcoran.mn.us>,
<jbottema@ci.corcoran.mn.us>, <bdejewski@ci.corcoran.mn.us>,
<aschultz@ci.corcoran.mn.us>, <bmartins@ci.corcoran.mn.us>
Cc: Hubby <mattcarufel@gmail.com>

Dear Mayor and Councilors-
As a resident of Ravinia, I am writing to you due to concern about the proposed Eagle
Brook megachurch site at 101 and Hackamore Road. I am excited about the prospect of
Eagle Brook coming to Corcoran, but am concerned about the scale of this church for this
specific location.
I am very concerned about the plan to build a megachurch campus at this site. While I
understand the low density zoning of the area makes it possible for the city to grant a
permit to build a place of worship, the scale of the building is not on par with a common
person’s understanding of a place of worship.
The proposed 70,000 square foot building is as big as 4 Office Depot stores together, as big
as 2 Best Buy stores together, and a little bigger than the size of the Plymouth Cub Foods.
The 850 space parking lot that is proposed to be in the backyards of me and my neighbors
is the largest in the city and bigger than the one at the Target complex in Medina. For all
intents and purposes this plan has much more in common with a big-box commercial
development than with the conventional notion of a church, but generating much denser
traffic.
Even comparing it to nearby churches, the Lord of Life building on 101 a few miles north is
around half the size of the proposed Eagle Brook facility, and the Saint Thomas the Apostle
church in the business district of Corcoran is less than 6,000 square feet. The closest church
building of this size is Holy Name of Jesus in Wayzata, but it also includes a preschool - 6th
grade school facility. However, Holy Name only has 550 parking spaces (35% less) and is in
a rural zone where parking is ~200 feet away from any neighboring homes. Further, Eagle
Brook is still apparently growing, and may need to become even bigger over time.
I have had the opportunity to speak with several nearby residents who either border the
proposed site or live in other parts of the Ravinia development, as well as residents of
adjoining neighborhoods in Wild Meadows and Bonaire. We have concerns about traffic,
noise, public safety, lack of privacy, and loss of home values due to this development. The
surges of traffic into and out of the area due to service start times are unlike any other land
use in the area.
This is at a scale too large for a low density residential area with hundreds of already
established residents and hundreds of millions of dollars in property values that could be

mailto:sarahcarufel@gmail.com
mailto:bmartens@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:sarahcarufel@gmail.com
mailto:rthomas@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:tanderson@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:jbottema@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:bdejewski@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:aschultz@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:bmartins@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:mattcarufel@gmail.com


negatively impacted. We have bought homes expecting residential traffic and further low
density residential development. Instead, this plan would give us large, sharply defined
surges of people into and out of the area before and after service times at a church the size
of a shopping mall. (This has nothing to do with the building being a church, just the size of
the building and the traffic patterns it will create.)
This megachurch building should go to a site that is less developed or the scale of the
building reduced to match the low density zoning in this area. I thank you in advance for
your consideration of these concerns and am grateful for the opportunity to participate in
the future consideration of this proposal as the zoning ordinance provides.
Sincerely,
Sarah



From: Ryan.Anderson
To: Ron Thomas; Tom Anderson; Jonathan Bottema; Brian Dejewski; Alan Schultz; Brad Martens
Subject: Proposed Megachurch at 101 and Hackamore
Date: Thursday, June 18, 2020 12:54:39 PM

Dear Mayor and Councilors,
 
I am writing to you due to concern about the proposed Eagle Brook megachurch site at 101 and
Hackamore Road. Our new home is currently under construction within the Ravinia development,
with a Sept ’20 closing date. We will pull out of our contract if this proposal moves forward as-is.
 
I am very concerned about the plan to build a megachurch campus at this site.  While I understand
the low density zoning of the area makes it possible for the city to grant a permit to build a place of
worship, the scale of the building is not on par with a common person’s understanding of a place of
worship.
 
The proposed 70,000 square foot building is as big as 4 Office Depot stores together, as big as 2 Best
Buy stores together, and a little bigger than the size of the Plymouth Cub Foods.  The 850 space
parking lot that is proposed to be in the backyards of me and my neighbors is the largest in the city
and bigger than the one at the Target complex in Medina.  For all intents and purposes this plan has
much more in common with a big-box commercial development than with the conventional notion
of a church, but generating much denser traffic.
 
Even comparing it to nearby churches, the Lord of Life building on 101 a few miles north is around
half the size of the proposed Eagle Brook facility, and the Saint Thomas the Apostle church in the
business district of Corcoran is less than 6,000 square feet.  The closest church building of this size is
Holy Name of Jesus in Wayzata, but it also includes a preschool - 6th grade school facility.  However,
Holy Name only has 550 parking spaces (35% less) and is in a rural zone where parking is ~200 feet
away from any neighboring homes.  Further, Eagle Brook is still apparently growing, and may need to
become even bigger over time.
 
I have had the opportunity to speak with several nearby residents who either border the proposed
site or live in other parts of the Ravinia development, as well as residents of adjoining
neighborhoods in Wild Meadows and Bonaire.  We have concerns about traffic, noise, public safety,
lack of privacy, and loss of home values due to this development.  The surges of traffic into and out
of the area due to service start times are unlike any other land use in the area.  
 
This is at a scale too large for a low density residential area with hundreds of already established
residents and hundreds of millions of dollars in property values that could be negatively impacted. 
We have bought homes expecting residential traffic and further low density residential
development.  Instead, this plan would give us large, sharply defined surges of people into and out of
the area before and after service times at a church the size of a shopping mall.  (This has nothing to
do with the building being a church, just the size of the building and the traffic patterns it will
create.)
 
This megachurch building should go to a site that is less developed or the scale of the building

mailto:Ryan.Anderson@target.com
mailto:rthomas@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:tanderson@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:jbottema@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:BDejewski@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:ASchultz@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:bmartens@ci.corcoran.mn.us


reduced to match the low density zoning in this area. I thank you in advance for your consideration
of these concerns and am grateful for the opportunity to participate in the future consideration of
this proposal as the zoning ordinance provides.
 
Sincerely,
 
Ryan Anderson  |  Director Merch Buying  | D9/84 Outdoor Living |  ¤ Target  |  612.761.0167

 



From: Payal Mathur
To: Ron Thomas; Jonathan Bottema; Brian Dejewski; Alan Schultz; Brad Martens; Tom Anderson
Cc: Amit Mathur
Subject: Proposed Eagle Brook Megachurch in Ravinia
Date: Friday, June 19, 2020 12:27:10 AM

Dear Mayor and Councilors,

I am writing to you due to concern about the proposed Eagle Brook megachurch site at 101 and
Hackamore Road.  I am okay with the idea of a church in this location, but the scale of this facility is
far too large for this area.

I am very concerned about the plan to build a megachurch campus at this site.  While I understand
the low density zoning of the area makes it possible for the city to grant a permit to build a place of
worship, the scale of the building is not on par with a common person’s understanding of a place of
worship.

The proposed 70,000 square foot building is as big as 4 Office Depot stores together, as big as 2 Best
Buy stores together, and a little bigger than the size of the Plymouth Cub Foods.  The 850 space
parking lot that is proposed to be in the backyards of me and my neighbors is the largest in the city
and bigger than the one at the Target complex in Medina.  For all intents and purposes this plan has
much more in common with a big-box commercial development than with the conventional notion
of a church, but generating much denser traffic.

Even comparing it to nearby churches, the Lord of Life building on 101 a few miles north is around
half the size of the proposed Eagle Brook facility, and the Saint Thomas the Apostle church in the
business district of Corcoran is less than 6,000 square feet.  The closest church building of this size
is Holy Name of Jesus in Wayzata, but it also includes a preschool - 6th grade school facility. 
However, Holy Name only has 550 parking spaces (35% less) and is in a rural zone where parking is
~200 feet away from any neighboring homes.  Further, Eagle Brook is still apparently growing, and
may need to become even bigger over time.

I have had the opportunity to speak with several nearby residents who either border the proposed site
or live in other parts of the Ravinia development, as well as residents of adjoining neighborhoods in
Wild Meadows and Bonaire.  We have concerns about traffic, noise, public safety, lack of privacy,
and loss of home values due to this development.  The surges of traffic into and out of the area due
to service start times are unlike any other land use in the area.   

This is at a scale too large for a low density residential area with hundreds of already established
residents and hundreds of millions of dollars in property values that could be negatively impacted. 
We have bought homes expecting residential traffic and further low density residential
development.  Instead, this plan would give us large, sharply defined surges of people into and out of
the area before and after service times at a church the size of a shopping mall.  (This has nothing to
do with the building being a church, just the size of the building and the traffic patterns it will
create.)

This megachurch building should go to a site that is less developed or the scale of the building
reduced to match the low density zoning in this area. I thank you in advance for your consideration
of these concerns and am grateful for the opportunity to participate in the future consideration of this
proposal as the zoning ordinance provides.

Sincerely,
Payal Mathur

mailto:mepayalmathur@gmail.com
mailto:rthomas@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:jbottema@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:BDejewski@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:ASchultz@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:bmartens@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:tanderson@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:amitsmt@gmail.com


612-940-0142

> 
> 



From: Erin Cirioli
To: Ron Thomas; Brad Martens; Tom Anderson; Alan Schultz; Brian Dejewski
Subject: Proposed Megachurch at 101 and Hackamore
Date: Friday, June 19, 2020 10:40:20 PM

Dear Mayor and Councilors,

I am writing to you due to concern about the proposed Eagle Brook megachurch site at 101
and Hackamore Road.  I am concerned that the scale of this facility is far too large for this
area.

I am very concerned about the plan to build a megachurch campus at this site.  While I
understand the low density zoning of the area makes it possible for the city to grant a permit to
build a place of worship, the scale of the building is not on par with a common person’s
understanding of a place of worship.

The proposed 70,000 square foot building is as big as 4 Office Depot stores together, as big as
2 Best Buy stores together, and a little bigger than the size of the Plymouth Cub Foods.  The
850 space parking lot that is proposed to be in the backyards of me and my neighbors is the
largest in the city and bigger than the one at the Target complex in Medina.  For all intents and
purposes this plan has much more in common with a big-box commercial development than
with the conventional notion of a church, but generating much denser traffic.

Even comparing it to nearby churches, the Lord of Life building on 101 a few miles north is
around half the size of the proposed Eagle Brook facility, and the Saint Thomas the Apostle
church in the business district of Corcoran is less than 6,000 square feet.  The closest church
building of this size is Holy Name of Jesus in Wayzata, but it also includes a preschool - 6th
grade school facility.  However, Holy Name only has 550 parking spaces (35% less) and is in
a rural zone where parking is ~200 feet away from any neighboring homes.  Further, Eagle
Brook is still apparently growing, and may need to become even bigger over time.

I have had the opportunity to speak with several nearby residents who either border the
proposed site or live in other parts of the Ravinia development, as well as residents of
adjoining neighborhoods in Wild Meadows and Bonaire.  We have concerns about traffic,
noise, public safety, lack of privacy, and loss of home values due to this development.  The
surges of traffic into and out of the area due to service start times are unlike any other land use
in the area.   

This is at a scale too large for a low density residential area with hundreds of already
established residents and hundreds of millions of dollars in property values that could be
negatively impacted.  We have bought homes expecting residential traffic and further low
density residential development.  Instead, this plan would give us large, sharply defined surges
of people into and out of the area before and after service times at a church the size of a
shopping mall.  (This has nothing to do with the building being a church, just the size of the
building and the traffic patterns it will create.)

This megachurch building should go to a site that is less developed or the scale of the building
reduced to match the low density zoning in this area. I thank you in advance for your
consideration of these concerns and am grateful for the opportunity to participate in the future
consideration of this proposal as the zoning ordinance provides.

mailto:erin.e.cirioli@vanderbilt.edu
mailto:rthomas@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:bmartens@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:tanderson@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:ASchultz@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:BDejewski@ci.corcoran.mn.us


Sincerely,
Erin Cirioli McKee 
Corcoran Resident and Homeowner 



From: THOMAS MCKEE
To: Brad Martens
Subject: Eagle Brook Proposed Site
Date: Friday, June 19, 2020 11:01:34 PM

Administrator Martens,

I am writing to express my serious concern over the proposed Eagle Brook megachurch on
Hackamore and 101. As a recent new resident of Corcoran, my wife and I are beyond
concerned about the negative impact this would have on our community in countless ways.
Most notably, the increased noise, privacy, and massive increase in traffic around our
neighborhoods would not only diminish our quality of life significantly, but would also
completely devastate the property values of every single Corcoran resident - particularly those
in the developments like Ravinia that would be neighboring the complex and massive parking
lot. 

It is my understanding that the City of Corcoran has not done an independent traffic study to
look into the impact that this would have on our community. I strongly urge you to conduct an
independent traffic study, as well as a property value assessment for all of the surrounding
properties before considering the location of this 70,000 sq foot building with a 850 car
parking lot. I am confident that once you do you will see that a complex of this size is not the
right fit for our community, and will negatively impact all residents. Moreover, I believe that
the city should consider a number of other locations that are a better fit for the community. 

Thank you,

Tom McKee
A very concerned Corcoran resident and homeowner

Thanks,

Tom McKee

mailto:tommckee@mac.com
mailto:bmartens@ci.corcoran.mn.us


From: Navnit Narayan
To: Brad Martens; Ron Thomas; Tom Anderson; Jonathan Bottema; Brian Dejewski; Alan Schultz
Subject: Proposed Development for 101 and 47 intersection
Date: Sunday, June 21, 2020 11:54:05 PM

Dear Mayor and Councilors,

I am writing to you due to concern about the proposed Eagle Brook megachurch site at 101
and Hackamore Road.  I am okay with the idea of a church in this location, but the scale of
this facility is far too large for this area.

I am very concerned about the plan to build a megachurch campus at this site.  While I
understand the low density zoning of the area makes it possible for the city to grant a permit to
build a place of worship, the scale of the building is not on par with a common person’s
understanding of a place of worship.

The proposed 70,000 square foot building is as big as 4 Office Depot stores together, as big as
2 Best Buy stores together, and a little bigger than the size of the Plymouth Cub Foods.  The
850 space parking lot that is proposed to be in the backyards of me and my neighbors is the
largest in the city and bigger than the one at the Target complex in Medina.  For all intents and
purposes this plan has much more in common with a big-box commercial development than
with the conventional notion of a church, but generating much denser traffic.

Even comparing it to nearby churches, the Lord of Life building on 101 a few miles north is
around half the size of the proposed Eagle Brook facility, and the Saint Thomas the Apostle
church in the business district of Corcoran is less than 6,000 square feet.  The closest church
building of this size is Holy Name of Jesus in Wayzata, but it also includes a preschool - 6th
grade school facility.  However, Holy Name only has 550 parking spaces (35% less) and is in
a rural zone where parking is ~200 feet away from any neighboring homes.  Further, Eagle
Brook is still apparently growing, and may need to become even bigger over time.

I have had the opportunity to speak with several nearby residents who either border the
proposed site or live in other parts of the Ravinia development, as well as residents of
adjoining neighborhoods in Wild Meadows and Bonaire.  We have concerns about traffic,
noise, public safety, lack of privacy, and loss of home values due to this development.  The
surges of traffic into and out of the area due to service start times are unlike any other land use
in the area.   

This is at a scale too large for a low density residential area with hundreds of already
established residents and hundreds of millions of dollars in property values that could be
negatively impacted.  We have bought homes expecting residential traffic and further low
density residential development.  Instead, this plan would give us large, sharply defined surges
of people into and out of the area before and after service times at a church the size of a
shopping mall.  (This has nothing to do with the building being a church, just the size of the
building and the traffic patterns it will create.)

This megachurch building should go to a site that is less developed or the scale of the building
reduced to match the low density zoning in this area. I thank you in advance for your
consideration of these concerns and am grateful for the opportunity to participate in the future
consideration of this proposal as the zoning ordinance provides.

mailto:navnitnarayan@gmail.com
mailto:bmartens@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:rthomas@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:tanderson@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:jbottema@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:BDejewski@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:ASchultz@ci.corcoran.mn.us


Sincerely,
Nav Narayan
6672 carriage way
Corcoran, MN 55340

"Time has a wonderful way of showing us what really matters! " 



From: Blaine Schneider
To: Ron Thomas; Tom Anderson; Jonathan Bottema; Brian Dejewski; Alan Schultz; Brad Martens
Cc: Katie Kaysen
Subject: Corcoran Megachurch Concerns
Date: Monday, June 22, 2020 3:01:09 PM

Dear Mayor, Councilors, and City Administrator,

Like many of our neighbors, we are writing to you due to concern about the proposed
EagleBrooke megachurch site at HWY 101 and Hackamore Road.  Although we would have
no issue with a standard sized church at this location, the scale of this facility is far too large
for this area. While we understand the low density zoning of the area makes it possible for the
city to grant a permit to build a place of worship, the scale of the building is very concerning.

The proposed 70,000 square foot building is as big as 4 Office Depot stores, 2 Best Buy stores,
and slightly larger than the Plymouth Cub Foods.  The 850 space parking lots that are
proposed to be in very close proximity to the backyards of us and our neighbors is the largest
in the city and bigger than the one at the Target complex in Medina.  For all intents and
purposes this plan has much more in common with a big-box commercial development than
with the conventional notion of a church and will negatively generate much denser traffic, not
just during the 4 (currently) scheduled weekly worships but also throughout the week
(construction, employees, maintenance, etc.) and holidays.

Even comparing it to nearby churches, the Lord of Life building on HWY 101 a few miles
north is around half the size of the proposed EagleBrooke facility, and the Saint Thomas the
Apostle church in the business district of Corcoran is less than 6,000 square feet.  The
closest church building of this size is Holy Name of Jesus in Wayzata, but it also includes a
preschool - 6th grade school facility.  However, Holy Name only has 550 parking spaces (35%
less) and is in a rural zone where parking is ~200 feet away from any neighboring homes. 
Further, EagleBrooke is still apparently growing, and may need to expand even more over
time.

Like my neighbors, we all have concerns about increased traffic, noise, public safety, lack of
privacy, and loss of home values due to this development.  The surges of traffic into and out of
the area due to service start times are unlike any other land use in the area and may impact our
ability to enter and exit our community.  

This footprint is far too large for a low density residential area with hundreds of already
established residents and hundreds of millions of dollars in property values that would be
negatively impacted.  We have bought homes with the expectation of only residential traffic
and further low density residential development.  Instead, this plan would give us large,
sharply defined surges of people into and out of the area before and after service times at
a church the size of a shopping mall. To reiterate again, we have no issue with this being
a church however the magnitude of the building and the traffic patterns it will create are our
primary and the utmost concern. 

This megachurch proposal should be repositioned to a site that is less developed, has larger
roads to accommodate the increase in traffic, or the scale of the building and parking lot
should be reduced to match the low density zoning in this area. Although we are also
disappointed with the scheduled city council meeting date of July 2nd (when many neighbors
will be out of town on vacation and will therefore be unable to voice their concerns during the

mailto:blaineschneider@gmail.com
mailto:rthomas@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:tanderson@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:jbottema@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:BDejewski@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:ASchultz@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:bmartens@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:Katelynkaysen@gmail.com


meeting), we thank you in advance for your consideration of these concerns and are grateful
for the opportunity to participate in the future consideration of this proposal as the zoning
ordinance provides.

Sincerely,

Blaine Schneider and Katelyn Kaysen
Concerned Local Residents



From: Ryan Konrath
To: Ron Thomas; Tom Anderson; Jonathan Bottema; Brian Dejewski; Alan Schultz
Cc: Brad Martens
Subject: Eagle Brook Church Planned Development - Corcoran
Date: Monday, June 22, 2020 11:40:27 AM
Attachments: image001.png

image002.png

Dear Mayor and Councilors,
 
I am writing to you due to concern about the proposed Eagle Brook megachurch site at 101
and Hackamore Road.
 
I am very concerned about the plan to build a megachurch campus at this site. While I
understand the low density zoning of the area makes it possible for the city to grant a
permit to build a place of worship, the scale of the building is not on par with a common
person’s understanding of a place of worship.
 
The proposed 70,000 square foot building is as big as 4 Office Depot stores together, as
big as 2 Best Buy stores together, and a little bigger than the size of the Plymouth Cub
Foods. The 850 space parking lot that is proposed to be in the backyards of me and my
neighbors is the largest in the city and bigger than the one at the Target complex in Medina.
For all intents and purposes this plan has much more in common with a big-box commercial
development than with the conventional notion of a church, but generating much denser
traffic.
 
Even comparing it to nearby churches, the Lord of Life building on 101 a few miles north is
around half the size of the proposed Eagle Brook facility, and the Saint Thomas the Apostle
church in the business district of Corcoran is less than 6,000 square feet. The closest
church building of this size is Holy Name of Jesus in Wayzata, but it also includes a
preschool - 6th grade school facility. However, Holy Name only has 550 parking spaces
(35% less) and is in a rural zone where parking is ~200 feet away from any neighboring
homes. Further, Eagle Brook is still apparently growing, and may need to become even
bigger over time.
 
I have had the opportunity to speak with many nearby residents who either border the
proposed site or live in other parts of the Ravinia development, as well as residents of
adjoining neighborhoods in Wild Meadows and Bonaire. We have concerns about traffic,
noise, public safety, lack of privacy, and loss of home values due to this development. The
surges of traffic into and out of the area due to service start times are unlike any other land
use in the area.
 
This is at a scale too large for a low density residential area with hundreds of already
established residents and hundreds of millions of dollars in property values that could be
negatively impacted. We have bought homes expecting residential traffic and further low
density residential development. Instead, this plan would give us large, sharply defined
surges of people into and out of the area before and after service times at a church the size
of a shopping mall. (This has nothing to do with the building being a church, just the size of
the building and the traffic patterns it will create.)
 
This megachurch building should go to a site that is less developed or the scale of the

mailto:rkonrath@wingsinsurance.com
mailto:rthomas@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:tanderson@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:jbottema@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:BDejewski@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:ASchultz@ci.corcoran.mn.us
mailto:bmartens@ci.corcoran.mn.us




building reduced to match the low density zoning in this area. I thank you in advance for
your consideration of these concerns and am grateful for the opportunity to participate in
the future consideration of this proposal as the zoning ordinance provides.
 
Sincerely,
 
Ryan
 
Ryan Konrath
Director of Business Development
Aviation Insurance Broker
Comm – AMEL/ASEL-CFI/I-MEI/CSIP
Direct: 952-641-3152   mobile:  651-253-3844

  
 
Wings Insurance
Flying Cloud Airport, 14871 Pioneer Trail, Eden Prairie, MN  55347
tel:   952-942-8800   fax:   952-942-8700   web:   www.wingsinsurance.aero
 
 

* * * *  NOTICE:   The documents and accompanying e-mai l  communicat ion may contain conf idential  and pr iv i leged
information for  the intended recipient only.  Further distr ibut ion is  prohibited without pr ior  approval  by the sender.  Any
viewing,  copying or  distr ibut ion of,  or  rel iance on this  message by unintended recipients  i s  prohibited. I f  you received
this  message in error,  please not i fy  us  immediately by reply ing to this  message and delete i t  from your computer.

 

https://calendly.com/ryankonrath/30-minute-meeting
http://www.linkedin.com/in/ryankonrath
http://www.wingsinsurance.aero/


 

 
105 South Fifth Avenue 
Suite 513 
Minneapolis, MN 55401 

Tel: 612-252-9070 
www. land fo rm .ne t  

 
 

Landform® and Site to Finish® are registered service marks of Landform Professional Services, LLC.  

Agenda Item: 6.d. 

TO:  Corcoran Planning Commission 
 
FROM: T.J. Hofer through Kendra Lindahl, Landform 
 
DATE:  June 24, 2020 for the July 2, 2020 Planning Commission Meeting 
 
RE: Final PUD Development Plan for “Bellwether 5nd Addition” (Outlot A, Bellwether 4nd 

Addition) (city file no. 20-024) 
 
 
REVIEW DEADLINE:  September 16, 2020 
 
  
1. Application Request 

Pulte Homes of Minnesota, LLC (applicant) has submitted a request for approval of a Final Plat and 
Final PUD plan application for “Bellwether 5th Addition”, a residential development of 46 new single-
family homes and one outlot on 18.43 acres of property. 

Only the Final PUD Development Plan is reviewed by the Planning Commission. The Planning 
Commission recommendation will be forwarded to the City Council. 

2. Parks Commission 

On June 18, 2020 the Parks Commission reviewed the application. The Parks Commission 
recommended a reduction in the amount of land to be taken as park dedication, an extension of the trail 
along Jack Pine Lane to constructed now and pedestrian ramps to be added at each of the cul-de-sacs 
to access the trail on the opposite side of the street.  

The Parks Commission voted 6-0 to recommend approval with the changes noted above and those 
changes have been included in the draft resolution.  

3. Context 

Background 

On June 28, 2018 the City approved rezoning the property to Planned Unit Development (PUD), a 
preliminary plat and a preliminary PUD plan. The approvals were subject to several conditions which 
the developer is working to address.  

On October 11, 2018 the City approved the Final Plat and Final PUD Development plan for the first 
phase of Bellwether which included 78 single family homes and six outlots.  

On April 25, 2019 the City approved the Final Plat for Bellwether 2nd Addition and the Final PUD for the 
2nd and 3rd phases 



 

Bellwether 5th Addition Final PUD Plan (20-024) 2 
July 2, 2020 

On October 26, 2019 the City approved the Final Plat for Bellwether 3rd Addition. The plat for the 3rd 
Addition cannot be recorded until the street and utility improvements on the realigned Stieg Road are 
completed, but some grading work in the 3rd Addition was required to facilitate these improvements. 

On March 26, 2020 the City approved the Final Plat and Final PUD for the 4th phase. A grading plan 
was approved as part of the 4th phase that allowed for work to be done on Outlot A, Bellwether 4th 
Addition in order to help balance the site. Outlot A is now being proposed as Bellwether 5th Addition.  

This is the fifth of six planned phases. 

4. Analysis of Request 

Staff has reviewed the application for consistency with Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, 
Subdivision Ordinance and City Code requirements, as well as City policies. The City Engineer’s 
comments are incorporated into this staff report, the detailed comments are included in the attached 
engineering memo and the approval conditions require compliance with the memo. 

A.  Level of City Discretion in Decision-Making 

The City’s discretion in approving a final PUD is limited to whether the proposed plan is in substantial 
conformance with the preliminary PUD development plan. If it meets these standards, the City must 
approve the final PUD development plan.  

The City’s discretion in approving a final plat is limited to whether the proposed plat meets the 
standards outlined in the City’s subdivision and zoning ordinance. If it meets these standards, the City 
must approve the final plat.  

B.  Consistency with Ordinance Standards 

Final PUD Development Plan 

Staff has reviewed the application for consistency with the approved preliminary plans, as well as City 
policies. Staff finds that the final PUD development plan is generally consistent with the approved 
preliminary plans. 

The applicant has submitted a plan for the fifth phase of the proposed development which includes 46 
new single-family homes and one outlot. All the homes proposed in this development will be single-
family homes constructed for active adults. The Bellwether (formerly Encore) development is part of the 
Del Webb development brand, which is an age-restricted community that provides a wide range of 
property management services and recreational amenities to its residents. The properties are managed 
by a homeowner’s association that provides yard and snow maintenance and are restricted by 
covenants that require at least one person in the household to be 55 or older. No children are allowed 
to live in the community. The community is served by a recreational community center. 



 

Bellwether 5th Addition Final PUD Plan (20-024) 3 
July 2, 2020 

Lot Size and Setbacks 

The applicant is showing lot sizes and setbacks that are generally consistent with the preliminary plat 
and preliminary PUD development plan, which allowed 50- and 60-foot wide lots (measured at the 
setback). The final plat is consistent with those approvals. 

The site plan should be revised to show a minimum 22-foot driveways for all garages that do not 
overlap into sidewalks, drives or streets. Additionally, the applicant should revise plans to provide 
details of the driveway prior to usance of building permit that demonstrate compliance with the 
approved PUD standards, as required in Condition 17 of Resolution 2018-48. 

Architecture 

The applicant has three widths of homes (34-foot, 45-foot, and 50-foot wide homes) that have the 
option of being finished with five different architectural styles (Prairie, Heartland, Craftsman, Northern 
Craftsman, and Euro Country). All homes in this phase will be the 45- or 50-foot wide homes. The 45-
foot wide homes have four floor plan options and up to five different exterior elevations. The 50-foot 
wide homes have four floor plan options and up to five different exterior elevations. Architectural 
exhibits and elevations have previously been approved to comply with Condition 21 of Resolution 2018-
48. All homes in this phase must comply with these architectural requirements. 

Homeowners Association 

A homeowner’s association (HOA) will maintain all common ownership areas of the development, 
including the open space areas, development signage and cul-de-sac/island plantings. 

Condition 22 of Resolution 2018-48 requires that a draft of the HOA documents be submitted for City 
review and approval with the final plat application for all phases. Staff has included a condition that final 
approval of the PUD development plan and final plat are contingent on the applicant providing 
amended copies of the Declaration of Covenants and Homeowners Association Documents to the City 
for review and approval prior to release of the final plat for recording. 

Landscaping 

The applicant has provided a final tree preservation plan that conforms to the preliminary development 
plan.  

Section 1060.070 of the Zoning Ordinance requires one overstory tree for each single-family home and 
a variety of landscaping along the perimeter of the site, along the streets, within the private park and 
adjacent to wetlands. The plan shows overstory trees along each of the public streets in the right-of-
way. The even spacing and location of the trees creates a desirable tree canopy along the roads. At the 
time of preliminary PUD approval trees were required to be in the property owner’s yard. Policy now 
allows for trees in the right-of-way for the 80-foot and the 60-foot rights-of-way (where there is room for 
the public infrastructure and the trees) but will require that trees be placed outside of the right-of-way in 
the 50-foot rights-of-way. These trees outside of the right-of-way must be planted prior to issuance of a 
certificate of occupancy for the adjacent home. 



 

Bellwether 5th Addition Final PUD Plan (20-024) 4 
July 2, 2020 

Plans show trees located in the 50-foot right-of-
way along the southeast side of Jack Pine Lane 
near where it terminates by the future park and 
along the northside of 102nd Avenue between the 
intersection with Jack Pine Lane and the cul-de-
sac at the terminus of 102nd Avenue. Staff has 
included that these be moved out of the right-of-
way as a condition of approval.  

Mail Delivery 

Centralized mailbox locations should be shown 
on the landscape plans. The US Postal Service 
must approve the location of mailboxes. The applicant will need to provide proof of the approved 
location to the City.  

Signage 

Original approvals granted approval for signage at the main entrance and the secondary entrance off 
Stieg Road. No signs are proposed for this addition.  

Streets 

The street layout and design are consistent with preliminary approvals. Condition 29 of Resolution 
2018-48 notes that the HOA is required to maintain all common lots, cul-de-sac landscaping, and 
ponds. Staff notes that the developer is required to maintain all common areas including boulevard 
plantings and will be required to enter into a maintenance agreement with the City.  

Street names provided generally comply with the City’s approved Street Map.  

Section 945.020, Subd. 19 requires temporary cul-de-sacs or hammerhead turnarounds until future 
connections are constructed. A temporary cul-de-sac as detailed in the Engineer’s Memo is required at 
the western terminus of 102nd Place. A temporary turnaround will not be required at the western 
terminus of Jack Pine Lane, as Ironwood Court can function as a turnaround.  

All other roads comply with City standards. Staff is including a condition that the applicant provide 
temporary easement exhibits for the turnaround on 102nd Place. They will be required to file this 
easement at Hennepin County. 

The applicant shall also be required to install barricades and signage to indicate a future road 
connection, consistent with Section 945.010, Subd.19.  

The applicant will be required to comply with the conditions in the City Engineer’s memo dated June 22, 
2020.  



 

Bellwether 5th Addition Final PUD Plan (20-024) 5 
July 2, 2020 

Utilities 

Municipal sewer and water are available to serve the site. The applicant will be required to comply with 
the conditions in the City Engineer’s memo dated June 22, 2020.  

Wetlands 

The final plans shows several wetlands. The wetland buffers and buffer setbacks provided are 
consistent with the preliminary plat.  

Section 1050.010, Subd. 7 requires that monuments be installed at each lot line where it crosses a 
wetland buffer, and where needed to indicate the contour of the buffer, with a maximum spacing of 200 
feet of wetland edge. Plans generally comply with this requirement, but plans should be revised to show 
the additional missing wetland monuments. City staff will provide the applicant an exhibit to show where 
additional monuments are needed based on the Code. Staff has include a condition that the applicant 
revise the plans to show the correct placement for wetland monuments. 

The applicant shall be required to comply with any additional buffer requirements identified by ECWMC. 
The City and ECWMC have different wetland buffer and setback requirements. The applicant must 
show compliance with the most restrictive standard. The City does not allow trails in the wetland buffer, 
so the trail behind Lots 22-24 must be shifted out of the buffer and will likely require a trail easement. 

The applicant has indicated that multiple wetlands will be filled. The applicant will have to comply with 
the Minnesota Wetland Conservation Act and details in the City Engineer’s memo dated June 22, 2020.  

Floodplain 

The plans show that there are lots located within a 100-year flood plain (Zone A on the FEMA 
Floodplain map), which is represented as a dashed red line on the plans. Areas within Zone A that do 
not have a delineated floodway are classified as being in the General Floodplain District. Section 
1050.030 of the Zoning Ordinance provides standards for properties within the Floodplain. The 
applicant will need to work with City staff to apply for a FEMA map change on any future phases with 
structures in the flood plain that require fill or mitigation.  

Storm Water Management 

Stormwater management will be managed on site and the engineer’s memo includes conditions to 
ensure compliance with local, watershed and State standards. A stormwater maintenance agreement 
must be prepared for each pond, submitted for review and approval by staff and will be required to be 
recorded with the final plat. 

The developer has provided 10-foot drainage and utility easements along the front and rear lot lines 
and five-foot drainage and utility easements along the side lot lines for the single-family lots. This is 
consistent with the engineering design standards. 

The applicant will be required to comply with the conditions in the City Engineer’s memo dated June 22, 
2020. 



 

Bellwether 5th Addition Final PUD Plan (20-024) 6 
July 2, 2020 

Grading 

The site was previously approved for grading along with the 4th Addition.  

The applicant will be required to comply with the conditions in the City Engineer’s memo dated 
February 24, 2020. 

Lighting 

The applicant has submitted a lighting plan that shows lighting locations. The lights generally are 
located on the sidewalk side of the street except along Jack Pine Lane between the intersection with 
102nd Place and the western terminus of the street. Staff has included a condition that the applicant 
continue to work with staff to finalize streetlight locations. 

This phase will include the same lighting fixtures used in the previous phase which conform to City 
lighting requirements. Staff has included a condition that lighting complies with the lighting requirements 
of Section 1060.040 of the Zoning Ordinance and are generally located on the sidewalk side of the 
street. 

Parks, Trails and Open Space  

In this addition, the land in the southwest portion of 
the site is to be dedicated as park land along with off-
road trails in easements.  

The original proposal submitted by the applicant 
showed part of “Outlot A, Bellwether 5th Addition,” 
dedicated to meet park dedication purposes. The 
applicant is currently proposing to dedicate all of 
what is to be platted as Outlot A. This area is 4.84 
acres, but much of it is wetland area. As part of the 
1st addition the City took the southern portion of this 
wetland as park dedication. The Parks Commission 
recommended taking only the smaller, contiguous 
portion to the west.  

On- and off-road trails are proposed for this phase of the PUD final development plan; however, only 
off-road trail areas shown in the Comprehensive Plan count toward park dedication requirements. Off-
road trails run through the southwest of the 5th Addition and connect the new neighborhood park with 
the community park to the south and the future expansion of the park to the west when that parcel 
develops. The off-road trail is part of an option for the future Three Rivers Park District (TRPD) 
Diamond Lake Regional Trail corridor that had not yet been defined when the PUD was approved in 
2018. The City and TRPD both require a 20-foot trail easement, but the TRPD asks for a 10-foot wide 
trail and the City requires an 8-foot wide trail. Staff asks that the developer work with the City to try to 
increase the trail width to 10-feet in this phase to be consistent with the TRPD standards. 

The applicant is showing parts of the proposed off-road trail located in the wetland buffer for Wetland 
#6. Staff has included a condition for the plans be revised as trails are not allowed within the wetland 



 

Bellwether 5th Addition Final PUD Plan (20-024) 7 
July 2, 2020 

buffer. Complying with this requirement may require a trail easement on the adjacent lots (Lots 22-24). 
The applicant should revise the submitted plans to show the proposed trail connection on each sheet, 
not just the Storm Sewer and Landscape Plans. 

The Parks Commission recommended extending the trail off of Ironwood to extend to be perpendicular 
with the sidewalk along Ironwood Court. Additionally, pedestrian ramps across from each of the cul-de-
sacs should be added to access the trail on the opposite side of the road should discuss the alignment 
of the trail to connect to the south. Trails beyond this loop would be constructed when the park is 
developed in the future. 

The applicant is showing uses for the park area as “Tot Lot Swings,” “Courts” and “Dog Park.” The park 
will be developed and designed by the City when the adjacent parcel to the west develops. The final 
design may not include the items shown on Pulte’s concept. 

Additional park dedication will be considered as future phases are proposed. To calculate the total 
contribution to park dedication for each phase of development, a park and trail easement exhibit with 
gross and net acreage calculations will be required from the developer. 

Final Plat 

The applicant is requesting approval of a final PUD development plan for 46 single-family residential 
home lots and one outlot. 

If the phase is approved, it would bring the total number of platted lots to 277 out of 398 total lots. The 
applicant will be providing final PUD plans and final plats for additional phases of the development in 
the future.  

Only the City Council reviews the final plat. The Planning Commission will not provide a 
recommendation on the Final Plat.  

Development Phasing 

The developer plans to develop this project in five to six phases. The developer began work in the fall 
of 2018 and expects completion of the development by 2024. Timing will be contingent upon extension 
of public infrastructure. The phasing plan may be modified at each stage to better correspond with 
public improvements. 

Conclusion 

Staff finds that the proposed plan is generally consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, Zoning 
Ordinance, Subdivision Ordinance, and preliminary PUD approvals. The staff report noted the 
outstanding issues that must be addressed and staff has included conditions in the attached resolution 
to address these issues. 

5. Recommendation 

Recommend approval of the draft resolution approving the final PUD development plan for Bellwether 
5th Addition.  



 

Bellwether 5th Addition Final PUD Plan (20-024) 8 
July 2, 2020 

Attachments 

1. Draft Resolution approving the final PUD development plan 
2. Location Map 
3. Engineer’s Memo dated June 22, 2020 
4. Applicant’s narrative dated January 21, 2020 
5. Final PUD Development Plans and exhibits dated May 19, 2020 
6. Final Plat Dated January 22, 2020. 



City of Corcoran  July XX, 2020 
County of Hennepin    
State of Minnesota  

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-XX 
 

 
Page 1 of 3 

 

 
Motion By:       

Seconded By:       
 

 
APPROVING FINAL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD) PLAN FOR “BELLWETHER 

5nd ADDITION” FOR PULTE HOMES OF MINNESOTA LLC (OUTLOT A, BELLWETHER 4nd 
ADDITION) (CITY FILE 20-024)   

 
WHEREAS, Pulte Homes of Minnesota LLC (“the applicant”) has requested approval of a final 
PUD (planned unit development) plan for “Bellwether 5nd Addition” for 46 new residential lots 
one outlot in the fifth phase of a multi-phase residential development on 18.43 acres of property 
legally described as: 
 

Outlot A, Bellwether 4nd Addition 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission has reviewed the plan at a public meeting and 
recommends approval, and; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CORCORAN, MINNESOTA, that it should and hereby does approve the request for a final PUD 
development plan, subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. A final PUD plan is approved to allow the creation of 46 lots for new single-family homes 
and one outlot in accordance with the application materials and plans received by the 
City on May 19, 2020 except as amended by this resolution. 

 
2. Approval is contingent upon City Council approval of the final plat and development 

contract. 
 

3. The development shall be subject to all conditions of the “Encore” preliminary PUD 
development plan approval and all amendments. 
 

4. The development is subject to Elm Creek Watershed Management Commission review 
and approval.  

 
5. The applicant shall comply with all conditions in the City Engineer’s memo dated June 

22, 2020. 
 

6. Park dedication is based on the development of the entire Bellwether site approved 
under the preliminary PUD and shall be the equivalent of 21.98 acres. Park dedication in 
this phase shall be as follows: 
 
a. Park dedication shall be the western portion of Outlot A, as recommended by the 

Parks and Trails Commission. 
b. The trail easement shall be 20-feet wide. 
c. The City requires 8-foot wide paved trails; however, Three Rivers Park District has 

recently identified this off-road trail as part of the possible Diamond Lake Regional 



City of Corcoran  July XX, 2020 
County of Hennepin    
State of Minnesota  

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-XX 
 

 
Page 2 of 3 

 

Trail loop. The developer should work with the City to try to increase the trail width in 
this phase to 10 feet wide per the TRPD standards. 

d. Plans will be revised to show the trail along Jack Pine Lane to terminate 
perpendicular to the sidewalk on Ironwood Court.  

e. Plans will be revised to move the off-road trails outside of the wetland buffers. This 
may require a trail easement over Lots 22, 23 and 24. 

f. The developer grade the off-road trail behind Lots 22, 23 and 24 as part of this 
phase. 

g. Plans will be revised to show pedestrian cutouts along Jack Pine Lane at the 
intersection of Ironwood Court and 102nd Avenue.  
 

7. Plans will be revised to show trees located within the right-of-way of streets with a 50-ft. 
right-of-way outside of the right-of-way. 
 

8. Any request to inspect the required landscaping in order to reduce financial guarantees 
must be accompanied by recertification/verification of field inspection by the project 
landscape architect. A letter signed by the project landscape architect verifying plantings 
have been corrected and is in compliance with the plans and specifications will suffice. 

 
9. All permanent wetland buffer monument signs must be erected along the wetland buffer 

line as required by Section 1050.010, Subd. 7 of the Zoning Ordinance.  
a. Additional wetland buffer signs are required on Wetland #6, #7 and #25. The revised 

plan must be submitted for City review and approval. 
b. Wetland signs shall be purchased from the City.  
c. The final locations must be inspected and approved by City staff. 
d. Monuments and signs shall be installed prior to approval of the building permit. 

 
10. The development shall comply with the City’s requirements regarding fire access, fire 

protection and fire flow calculations, the location of fire hydrants, fire department 
connections and fire lane signage. 

 
11. Final copies of the amended Declaration of Covenants and Homeowners Association 

Documents shall be submitted for review and approval.  
 

12. Details of the driveways as required in Condition 17 of Resolution 2018-48 shall be 
submitted for staff review and approval. 
 

13. Plans shall be revised as follows:  
a. Show minimum 22-foot driveways in all lots. 
b. A temporary cul-de-sac is required at the western terminus of 102nd Place. Plans 

should be revised to reflect City engineering standards for Private Development 
Turnarounds. 

 
14. Lighting should comply with the lighting requirements of Section 1060.040 of the Zoning 

Ordinance and generally be located on the sidewalk side of the street. 
a. The applicant should work with staff to finalize street light locations. 

 



City of Corcoran  July XX, 2020 
County of Hennepin    
State of Minnesota  

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-XX 
 

 
Page 3 of 3 

 

15. The plans show centralized mailbox locations. These mailbox locations shall be 
approved by the US Postal Service and proof of the approved locations shall be 
provided to the City, prior to issuance of building permits. 
 

16. Drainage and utility easements must be provided over all wetlands, wetland buffers and 
ponds. 
 

17. The developer shall work with City staff to apply for a FEMA map change for the areas 
that require fill or mitigation. 
 

18. The following documents must be approved by the City Attorney and recorded at 
Hennepin County: 

a. Stormwater Maintenance Agreement 
b. Temporary Turnaround Easements 
c. Maintenance and Encroachment agreements for landscaping in the public right-

of-way. 
 

19. The applicant shall provide proof of recording the final plat and related documents at 
Hennepin County. 
 

20. The applicant shall provide the approved preliminary and final plan drawings to the City 
in an electronic (AutoCAD) format.  
 
VOTING AYE       VOTING NAY 

 Thomas, Ron        Thomas, Ron 
 Bottema, Jon       Bottema, Jon 
 Dejewski, Brian       Dejewski, Brian 
 Anderson, Thomas      Anderson, Thomas 
 Schultz, Alan       Schultz, Alan 

 
 
 
 
Whereupon, said Resolution is hereby declared adopted on this XX day of July 2020. 

 
 

________________________________ 
Ron Thomas - Mayor 

 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________      City Seal 
Jessica Beise – City Clerk/Administrative Services Coordinator  
 



Hennepin County Natural Resources Map

 

Date: 6/11/2020

Comments:

This data (i) is furnished 'AS IS' with no representation 
as to completeness or accuracy; (ii) is furnished with 
no warranty of any kind; and (iii) is notsuitable for legal, 
engineering or surveying purposes. Hennepin County 
shall not be liable for any damage, injury or loss 
resulting from this data.
COPYRIGHT © HENNEPIN COUNTY  2020

1 inch = 800 feet

Legend
Wetlands

Potential Wetland - HCWI
Probable Wetland - HCWI
Probable Wetland - NWI

PID: 0111923430011
 Address: 52 ADDRESS PENDING,
 CORCORAN
 Owner Name: J R & M S MARTIN TRUST
 Acres: 45.51
 

¯



Technical
Memo

Wenck Associates, Inc.  |  1800 Pioneer Creek Center  |  P.O. Box 249  |  Maple Plain, MN 55359-0249

Toll Free  800-472-2232     Main  763-479-4200     Email  wenckmp@wenck.com     Web  wenck.com
-

To:      Kevin Mattson, PE, Director of Public Works 

From: Kent Torve, P.E. City Engineer
Nicholas Wyers 
Rowdy Schmidt

Date: June 22nd, 2020

Subject: Bellwether 5th Addition – Plan Review 

Pulte Homes submitted plans for the Bellwether 5th Addition for City of Corcoran Review. 
Plans Dated May 19th, 2020 have been received May 22nd, 2020. The following comments 
are regarding the plans submitted and should be considered and addressed. Please provide 
written responses to the comments. 

The following comments are a result of the first review. Additional reviews to be expected as 
the project moves forward. 

1.0 Transportation

1.1 Temporary cul-de-sac with a curbed perimeter, complete storm sewer 
improvements and appropriate easements are required on 102nd Place. Cul-de-
sac shall be placed in a location that is constructible with the corresponding 
slopes at the end of 102nd Place. Easements for the cul-de-sac shall be roadway 
easements which can be vacated with the future extension of the roadway. 

1.2 Ironwood Court will be used as a “T” turnaround for Jack Pine Lane instead of 
requiring a stub street cul-de-sac.

1.3 The No Parking signs on 102nd Place should be moved to the non-sidewalk side of 
the roadway.

2.0 Trails

2.1 Trail extension along Jack Pine Lane will be required through the intersection of 
Ironwood Court. Install a pedestrian ramp on Jack Pine Lane at Ironwood Court.

2.2 Install pedestrian ramp on Jack Pine Lane at 102nd Avenue. 

2.3 The trail along Jack Pine Lane shall be 10’ and placed adjacent to the curb. 
Easements may be required if trail encroaches into side yards.  

2.4 Trail to be graded with City Park grading plan. Future trail extension to the south 
to be graded with this phase of work. Soils beneath the trail section shall be 
suitable for future trail extension and no wasting of unsuitable soils will be 
allowed within this footprint. Test pits will be coordinated in field. 



Engineer’s Memo
June 22nd, 2020

2
 T:\2294-Corcoran\33-Pulte Homes\Phase 4\Plan Review\Submittal #1_2020_0122\_Wenck Review\Bellwether 4th Addtion_2020_0204.docx

3.0 Water

3.1 Watermain at end of 102nd Place shall be stopped at a location short of the 
properly line which provides frost protection for utility based on sloping to 
existing grades. Remove valve at western end of 102nd Place.

3.2 Watermain highpoint is at STA 4+00 on Jack Pine Lane. Either install hydrant at 
this location or lower the watermain to eliminate high point. 

3.3 Hydrant spacing to be reviewed by Public Safety (for example, 102nd Place looks 
to have excessive distance).

3.4 Watermain on Jack Pine Lane shall be extended to the western property line 
though the park for future looping. A temporary hydrant should be installed at 
the end of the main. 

3.5 A valve should be added on the south leg of the watermain tee at Jack Pine Lane 
and 102nd Ave.

3.6 Valve prior to City Park shall be moved closer to the Ironwood Court intersection.

4.0 Storm Sewer, Grading and Stormwater

The development’s approval required (in lieu of a stormwater utility fee) the identification 
and feasibility for a water resources improvement funded by Pulte since the City has TMDL 
and other regulatory requirements. A project has been identified involving the future 
Bellwether phase which drains to the northwest towards CR 116. This project will be 
presented to developer in the last quarter of 2020. 

Storm Sewer
4.1 Draintile cleanouts adjacent to one another on Jack Pine Lane at Sta 4+00 on 

102nd Ave should be connected to one another. 

4.2 Revised grading plan for City Park has been provided. Modify storm sewer system 
at end of Jack Pine Lane to extend into Outlot A and drain necessary low areas. 
Verify that pipe sizes will be sufficient for runoff. 

4.3 Add sumps to structure F3 and F5.

4.4 Filtration #9 will be modified (see stormwater memo) and the City recommends 
changing Filtration Basin #9 to a NURP pond with a filtration bench to minimize 
resident complaints and maintenance. Needs to comply with WMO requirements. 

4.4.1 Provide drain tile capacity calculations for Filtration Basin #N9. It appears 
that additional drain tiles may be necessary. 

4.4.2 Filtration Basin #9N outlet appears to be at a 931.2 based on existing 
surface shots. This elevation does not appear to allow for the basin to be 
constructible as the top of basin must be higher than indicated on the 
plans to allow drainage. 

4.4.3 Pond modification hall revise the basin to show profiles which would allow 
the system to operate with adequate pipe slope and filter media sections.

4.5 Provide an OCS on Filtration Basin #9N. 



Engineer’s Memo
June 22nd, 2020

3
 T:\2294-Corcoran\33-Pulte Homes\Phase 4\Plan Review\Submittal #1_2020_0122\_Wenck Review\Bellwether 4th Addtion_2020_0204.docx

4.6 A 15’ maintenance access within a drainage and utility easement is required to 
access the OCS. Access location and grade to be reviewed Public Works. 

4.7 Provide additional storm sewer on 102nd Place west of Jack Pine Lane.

4.8 Placement of storm structures F21 and F22 appear infeasible with temporary 
grading shown. Provide revised plan for drainage in this area which collects all 
runoff and does not impact adjacent property. 

4.9 Eliminate 1.7’ drop in F11, revise grade to have continuous grade from F17-F3.

4.10 Forebay required for filtration basin. Forebay should be sized for a volume of 
10% of the water quality treatment runoff volume. 

4.11 An outlet structure should be installed at the discharge of the filtration basin.

Grading
4.12 Revised contours and grading plan will be provided for early grading that was 

requested by developer for Phase 4.

4.13 Contractor to pothole soils beneath the future trail areas within the City Park 
to verify materials are adequate for trail construction. 

Stormwater Modeling

See attached Wetland 25 stormwater memo.

4.14 Provide NWL of wetlands.

4.15 Wetland 7 and Wetland 7A have differing HWLs and should be consistent or 
justified. 

5.0 Erosion Control

5.1 City of Corcoran is an MS4 city and site visits to be conducted weekly

5.2 Compliance with developer’s (owner) MS4 permit will be monitored.

6.0 General

6.1 Indicate how Lots 1 of Block 3 and Lot 9 of Block 2 will be buildable. 
Considerations shall be made for access, sloping onto existing parcel and 
maintaining drainage within the site.  

6.2 2020 detail plates to be incorporated in plan set

6.3 Street lighting plan to be reviewed by City Staff

6.4 Revise wetland buffer signs to be installed at angle points and property lines. 
Some of signs are not shown on wetland buffer. 

7.0 Plat

7.1 Provide drainage and utility easement over all of Outlot A.

7.2 Review Lot 11 of Block 3 and Lot 20 of Block 1 to remove the misshaped portions 
and cover with a more continuous easement. 

7.3 Ensure drainage and utility easement in Lots 22, 23, and 24 Block 1 cover the 
HWL of the adjacent wetland.



Engineer’s Memo
June 22nd, 2020

4
 T:\2294-Corcoran\33-Pulte Homes\Phase 4\Plan Review\Submittal #1_2020_0122\_Wenck Review\Bellwether 4th Addtion_2020_0204.docx

7.4 Ensure drainage and utility easements on Lots 21 and 22 of Block 1 fully cover 
drainage swale through the lots.

7.5 The side yard easement for Lot 1 Block 3 should be 14’ per review comments and 
responses provided during the 4th Addition.

7.6 Easements shall be provided for all future trails shown on the plan as part of the 
regional trail plan. This includes but is not limited to Lots 22, 23 and 24 Block 1. 



Engineer’s Memo
June 22nd, 2020

4
 T:\2294-Corcoran\33-Pulte Homes\Phase 4\Plan Review\Submittal #1_2020_0122\_Wenck Review\Bellwether 4th Addtion_2020_0204.docx

Attachment A



Technical
Memo

Wenck  |  Colorado  |  Georgia  |  Minnesota  |  North Dakota  |  Wyoming

Toll Free  800-472-2232  Web wenck.com

To: Kevin Mattson, PE, Public Works Director

From: Danielle Tourtillott, EIT
Kent Torve, PE   

Date: June 22, 2020

Subject: Wetland 25 NWL  

Background and Pre-Development Flow Path
The purpose of this memorandum is to review the proposed outlet elevation and therefore 
Normal Water Level (NWL) of Wet 25 in Phase 5 of the Bellwether Development. Under 
existing conditions, Wet 25 discharged overland (west) towards the large Wet 4 complex 
(Attachment A).

The delineated edge is shown as 930/931 and for proposed conditions, the developer’s 
analysis assumes the delineated edge / NWL remains at 930.0, however this assumption 
relies on natural infiltration and/or evaporation, which is unlikely in heavy soils within a 
wetland surrounded by urban development.

Current Plans Outlet and Wetland Impact
Current plans have the pipe to CBMH F3 set at 932.2 which is approximately two feet above 
the existing edge of 930 +/- and will create a future NWL of 932.2, which has following 
impacts:

 This is considered a wetland impact,
 Reduces flood storage, and therefore
 Affects the model’s rate control for offsite flow to the west.  

o Existing conditions show the 100-year flow from Wetland 25 to Wetland 4 is 
8.6 CFS. Proposed conditions need to match this discharge rate. 

Model and Plan Modifications
A summary of modifications include:  

 Establish the piped outlet from Wet 25 at 930.7 (existing delineated edge)
 Direct pipe discharge to Wet #7 (bypass Pond 9N)
 Show NWL and HWL on grading plan.  

Additional Information

 Show EOF spot elevation at west property boundary for Wet 25
 Document pre-development (existing) HWL is higher or equal to post development 

HWL. 
 Document that the post development rates across adjacent development are equal 

or less than pre-development. 



Engineer’s Memo
June 22nd, 2020

4
 T:\2294-Corcoran\33-Pulte Homes\Phase 4\Plan Review\Submittal #1_2020_0122\_Wenck Review\Bellwether 4th Addtion_2020_0204.docx

Attachment A





 1  

We Build Consumer Inspired Homes and Communities to Make Lives Better 
 

 
 
 

“Bellwether 5th Addition”  
APPLICATION FOR:  

PUD Final Development Plan, Final Plat 5th Addition 
 

CORCORAN, MINNESOTA 
May 19, 2020 

 

Introduction 
Pulte Homes of Minnesota, LLC (“Pulte”) is pleased to be submitting this application.   
 
In previous years we submitted and received approval for the Preliminary Plat,1st Addition, 2nd 
Addition, 3rd Addition, and 4th Additions of Bellwether.  We are now submitting the continuation 
of Bellwether as the 5th Addition. 
 
Pulte will act as both developer of the property and builder of the homes within Bellwether. The 
primary contact for Pulte is: 
 
 Chad Onsgard, Director of Development 
 7500 Flying Cloud Drive, Suite 670 
 Eden Prairie, MN 55344 
 952-229-0723 
 Chad.Onsgard@pultegroup.com 
  
 

Property Legal Description  
 
Outlot A, Bellwether 4th Addition. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Bellwether 4th Addition Final Plat & Final 
PUD Plan 
The final plat for the 5th Addition is consistent with the approved preliminary plat.  

 

 

 

mailto:Chad.Onsgard@pultegroup.com


2 

 

Scope & Boundary 

Outlot A, Bellwether 4th Addition will be platted into 46 lots and 1 Outlot.  Utilities and streets will 
be extended from the 4th addition, which will also include trails and sidewalks to the future park.     
 

Park Dedication 

The Park Dedication was satisfied as part of the 1st Addition plat, which includes the park Outlot 
as part of this application. 
 

Right-of-Way Dedication 

Required Right of Way will be dedicated along public streets as well as required drainage and 
utility easements for drainage areas and ponding. 
   

The Homes 
The homes and architecture will be consistent with Preliminary Plat and previous approvals. 
 















Landform®, SensiblyGreen® and Site to Finish® are registered service marks of Landform Professional Services, LLC. 

1 

MEMORANDUM  
105 South Fifth Street, 
Suite 513 
Minneapolis, MN 55401 

Tel: 612-252-9070 
Fax: 612-252-9077 
www. land fo rm .ne t  

DATE June 15, 2020 
TO Brad Martens 
CC City Council, Planning Commission, Parks & Trails Commission 
FROM Kendra Lindahl, City Planner 
RE Active Corcoran Planning Applications 

Projects/Comments in blue italics are new 
Project marked with an * have moved from active to approved 

The following is a summary of project status for current, active projects: 

1. Corcoran Self Storage PUD Amendment (city file no. 20-009). The applicant is requesting an
amendment to the phasing plan for the project.  Staff is currently reviewing the application for
completeness, but it appears that the request may be administratively approved. The application is
incomplete pending additional information from the applicant.

2. Corcoran Crossroads Administrative Permit and Variances at 7625 County Road 116 (city file
20-014).  The new owner of Corcoran Crossroads has applied for an administrative permit for
expansion of the existing legal, non-conforming canopy structure and sign variances.  Staff will review
the application and if it complies with the ordinance, it may be administratively approved. The
application for the variances is scheduled for the July 2nd meeting and City Council will review on July
23rd.

3. Karineimi Addition Preliminary Plat at 6780 Rolling Hills Road and 6855 Willow Drive (PID 33-
119-23-22-0004 and 33-119-23-21-0001) (City file 20-0016). The applicant has submitted a
preliminary plat to create four lots from the newly created Lot 1, Block 1, Rolling Hills Acres and the
adjacent 40 acres to the east.  The 40-acre parcel have four development rights which will be used for
the subdivision. The application reviewed at a public hearing at the Planning Commission on June 4th

and City action is expected on June 25th.

4. Comprehensive Plan Amendment, Rezoning, Preliminary Plat and Preliminary PUD
Development Plan for “Tavera” at the property at the northwest corner of Hackamore Road and
County Road 116 (PID 35-119-23-44-0001, 35-119-23-11-0001, 35-119-23-12-0002, 35-119-23-41-
0001 and 35-119-23-43-0001) (City File 20-017). The applicant has submitted an application for
development of 549 homes on the 273.57-acre site.  The Council reviewed an EAW and Concept plan
for the site earlier this year.  The project includes a mix of single-family, villa, twinhome and townhome
units.  The phasing plan shows development in 8 phases. The application was reviewed by the  Parks
and Trails Commission review on May 21st and a public hearing was held at the Planning Commission
on June 4th.  City Council action is expected on June 25th.

5. Conditional Use Permit and Variance for the Tom Spanier property located at 10580 Cain Road
(PID 02-119-23-23-004) (city file no. 20-019) (City File 20-019). The applicant has requested
approval of a conditional use permit and variance for an accessory building.  This project was
reviewed and approved in 2015 and was never built. The approvals expired after one year on
November 23, 2016. The applicant is now ready to move forward with the project and is requesting
approval again with no changes.  The application was reviewed at a public hearing at the Planning
Commission on June 4th and City Council action is expected on June 25th.

Agenda Item ____ 7a. 



 

MEMORANDUM  2 

 
6. Sign Variance for the Marathon/Tom Thumb at 9350 County Road (PID 07-119-23-43-0004) (City 

File 20-020). The applicant has submitted a variance application to allow the number of and square 
footage of freestanding and wall signage to exceed what is allowed by ordinance.  The application is 
scheduled for review at the Planning Commission on July 2nd and City Council action on July 23rd.  
 

7. Encroachment agreement on 70th Avenue to provide access to PID 26-119-23-33-0001 (city file 
20-021).  The property owner is planning to construct a new home on this vacant parcel.  The existing 
70th Avenue right-of-way extends to the property line  but the road improvements stop short. The 
property owner will need an encroachment agreement to build a private driveway from the existing cul 
de sac over the unimproved right-of-way to the property line.  Once the request is complete, it would 
be scheduled for Council approval. 
 

8. Site Plan, Conditional Use Permit and Variance for Nelson International at 10409 CR 101 (PID 
01-119-23-41-0001) (city file no. 20-022).  The Council reviewed a concept plan for this site in 
January.  The project is a new 35,000 sq. ft. building for truck sales and service. The application is 
currently incomplete as the City completes feasibility studies for the planned infrastructure. The items 
will be scheduled for Planning Commission and Council review once it is complete.  This item is 
tentatively planned for the August meetings.  
 

9. Eagle Brook Church Site Plan, Conditional Use Permit and Preliminary Plat for the Property 
located at 7015 20th Avenue (PID 36-119-23-44-0008, 36-119-23-44-0010, 36-119-23-44-0009, 36-
119-23-44-0013, 36-119-23-44-0014) (city file no. 20-023).  The applicant is requesting approval to 
combine the existing parcels into one lot for a 70,000 square foot church and one outlot for future 
development. The application is scheduled for a public hearing at the July 2nd Planning Commission 
meeting and City Council action on July 23rd.  
 

10. Final PUD Development Plan, Final Plat and Easement Vacation for “Bellwether 5th Addition” 
(Outlot A, Bellwether 4th Addition) (city file no. 20-024).  Pulte Homes of Minnesota, LLC has 
submitted a request for approval of a Final Plat and Final PUD plan application for “Bellwether 5th 
Addition”, a residential development of 46 new single-family homes and one outlot on 18.43 acres of 
property.  The application includes vacation of the existing drainage and utility easement over the 
outlot.  The application is scheduled for Parks and Trails Commission review on June 18th, Planning 
Commission review on July 2nd and Council action on July 23rd.  

 
Also, there are several projects that have been approved, but are still not filed and closed out: 
 

1. Corcoran Business Park (City file 06-005). The City Council granted a one-year extension to the 
final plat approval, which expired on April 12, 2011. Staff has spoken to the applicant and is still 
working to close out this project. Staff has spoken to the applicant and will schedule a meeting when 
more information is available on the Loretto sewer project. 

 
2. Hope Ministries Conditional Use Permit for Cemetery and Vacation of Drainage & Utility 

Easement at 19951 Oswald Farm Road (City file 12-002). Hope Ministries submitted a request for a 
conditional use permit to allow a cemetery west of the existing church. The application was approved 
by the City Council on March 22nd and site work had begun. The letter of credit for site improvements 
has been released, but we are holding the escrow pending completion of the approved landscaping. 
The applicant has indicated that they are considering a site plan amendment application to modify the 
approved plans. Staff met again with Pastor Brian Lother in July 2017 to discuss the outstanding 
issues and future expansion plans on the property.  
 

3. Sawgrass Preliminary Plat, Preliminary PUD Development Plan and Rezoning for Schendel 
property at 20400 County Road 10 (City file 14-027). The City Council approved the request on 
December 11, 2014 and granted the applicant 2 years to apply for the final plat and final PUD 
development plan. Peachtree Partners did not buy the property, but a different developer could still 
proceed with the approved plan. Several extensions have been approved. The landowner is 
requesting another extension to the preliminary plat approval, which was previously granted 
extensions that expire in February.  M/I Homes is proposing to take over the project with a few 
amendments to the proposed plan. Council reviewed the request at the February 27th meeting. 
 



 

MEMORANDUM  3 

4. Commercial Door Addition at 7670 Commerce Street (City file 15-010). The City received an 
application for approval of a building addition, which required a conditional use permit, interim use 
permit, variance and site plan approval. The project was reviewed at a public hearing at the June 4th 
Planning Commission meeting and was approved by the City Council on June 25th. The required 
landscaping will be finalized and constructed after the downtown infrastructure project is completed. 
The City will release the remaining escrow when the planting is completed.  Staff is working with the 
landowner to complete the outstanding items. 
 

5. Comlink Midwest Site Plan, CUP, Variance and Rezoning at 23405 CR 10 (City file 19-011).  The 
request is to allow construction of a contractor’s yard in the Rural Commercial (CR) district over 3-5 
years.  Phase 1 is for the 20,000 square foot Utility Construction building. This item was reviewed at a 
public hearing at the July 9th Planning Commission and Council approved on July 25th meeting. The 
approval included changes to the building architecture were approved by the Council at the August 
22nd meeting. The applicant has indicated that they have found a site in a different city and will be 
restoring this site and closing out the file. 
 

6. Wessel Property PUD Sketch Plan and EAW for 22020 Hackamore Road (PID 35-119-23-43-0001, 
35-119-23-44-0001, 35-119-23-11-0001 and 35-119-23-12-0002) (City File 19-018).  The sketch plan 
was reviewed by the Council on September 26th and staff was directed to begin the Environmental 
Assessment Worksheet.  The EAW was acted on by the Council in January 2020. 
 

7. Savoie Minor Subdivision at 21801 Homestead Trail (City file 19-021).  This two-lot subdivision is 
was approved by the Council on October 24th.  The council had previously approved this subdivision, 
but the applicant let it expire and an extension was approved. The subdivision was approved on 
October 24, 2019. 

 
8. Sketch Plan for “Nelson International” at 10409 County Road 101 (city file 19-023).  The 

applicant submitted a sketch plan for an approximately 33,000-sq. ft. truck sales/repair operation.  The 
Council reviewed this item on January 23rd.  
 

9. *Park Dedication Ordinance Update (city file no. 20-004). The park dedication fees are based on 
the comprehensive plan.  The 2040 Comprehensive Plan was adopted in November and included 
some changes that require us to reevaluate our park dedication fee formula and make some minor 
edits to the ordinance.  The Parks Commission will review on May 21st, the Planning Commission held 
a public hearing on June 4th and City Council approved on June 11th.  
 

10. Annual Ordinance Codification (city file no. 20-005).  Staff prepares and annual codification to 
incorporate all of the previous year’s ordinance amendments into the City Code.  The new PDF of the 
Code is now complete and available at City Hall and online. 
 

11. Request for Variance, Preliminary and Final Plat for St. Jane Chantel cemetery (PID 21-119-23-
33-0004) (city file no. 20-001).  Gene Kissner is requesting approval of a Preliminary Plat, Final Plat 
and Variance to subdivide the 3.76-acre St. Jane Chantel parcel owned by Church of St. Thomas the 
Apostle.  The portion north of County Road 50 contains the cemetery and will be retained by the 
church and Kissners will purchase the portion south of County Road 50. The Planning Commission 
held a public hearing on March 5th and recommended approval. Council approved the request on 
March 26th. 
 

12. Bellwether 4th Final Plat and Final PUD (city file no.20-002). Pulte Homes of Minnesota, LLC 
(applicant) has submitted a request for approval of a Final Plat and Final PUD plan application for 
“Bellwether 4th Addition”, a residential development of 74 new single-family homes and one outlot on 
45.49 acres of property.  The Planning Commission reviewed on March 5th and recommended 
approval. Council approved the request on March 26th. 
 

13. Zoning Map Changes (city file no. 20-003).  Minnesota statues require cities to update their zoning 
map to bring it into compliance with the comprehensive plan within 9 months of adoption.  The 2040 
Comprehensive Plan was adopted in November and these map amendments will ensure consistency.  
The Planning Commission held a public hearing on March 5th and recommended approval. Council 
approved the request on March 26th. 
 



 

MEMORANDUM  4 

14. Tessmer Topo/Wetland Waiver (PID 07-119-23-21-0002) (city file no.20-007).  The applicant is 
requesting a waiver of the topography and wetland delineation requirements for this parcel.  This 
parcel will be platted with the property to the west for a small division, but no development is proposed 
for this parcel.  Council approved the request on March 26th. 
 

15. Vollrath request for Ag Preserve designation and initiate expiration for 42.09 acres of land 
south of County Road 50 (PID 29-119-23-24-0001) (City File 20-010). The Council approved the 
request on March 26th. 
 

16. *Paulsen Farms OSP Preliminary Plat (09-119-23-34-0001) (city file no. 20-011).  The applicant 
has submitted an Open Space & Preservation Plat for the 88 acres on County Road 30.  The plat 
would include 20 lots and preservation of 47 acres of open space.  Staff is currently reviewing this 
application for completeness.  The Planning Commission held a public hearing on May 7th, Parks and 
Trails Commission reviewed on May 21st and City Council approved on May 28th.  
 

17. M/I Homes Concept Plan for a modification of the approvals for “Sawgrass” on the 103-acre 
parcel at 20400 County Road 10 (PID 23-119-23-42-0003) (City file no. 20-012).  The Council 
approved an extension to the 2014 preliminary approvals so that the applicant could proceed with a 
final plat, final PUD development and PUD amendment. This concept plan is to outline the PUD 
amendments required for the new plan and ensure Council support before submitting a formal 
submittal. The Council was expected to review this item at their April 23rd meeting, but the applicant 
has withdrawn the application and will proceed with a formal final plat and final PUD application.. 
 

18. Eagle Brook Church Concept Plan at the NW quadrant of Hackamore Road and County Road 
101 (city file 20-013).  Eagle Brook Church has submitted a concept plan for a new church on this 
site.  The City Engineer is completing a feasibility study.  The Council reviewed the plan at the April 
23rd meeting. 
 

19. *Laura Gibson has requested approval of a Special Home Occupation License at 7105 County 
Rd 19 (PID 30-119-23-31-0001) (city file 20-015). The applicant is requesting an Administrative 
Permit for a Special Home Occupation License to operate a hair salon business. There will be no 
employees and up to 28 clients per week. Staff has reviewed and sent notices of intent to surrounding 
property owners. The application has been administratively approved. 
 

20. *Tabor Request for Metropolitan Agricultural Preserve Initiation of Expiration for 42.09 acres of 
land at  19450 Gleason Road (PID 36-119-23-12-0001) (City file 20-018). The landowner is 
requesting expiration of the Agricultural Preserve designation effective immediately as allowed under 
the 2019 changes to Minnesota Statute. This item was approved at the May 28th Council meeting. 

 



7b. 
 

Page 1 of 2 
 

 

 

CITY OF CORCORAN 
8200 County Road 116, Corcoran, MN 55340 

763.420.2288 – Office 763.420.6056 – Fax 
E-mail - general@ci.corcoran.mn.us  / Web Site - www.ci.corcoran.mn.us 

 
 

 

MEMO 
 

Meeting Date: 

To: 

From: 

Re: 

July 2, 2020 Planning 

Commission 

Brad Martens, City Administrator 

City Council Report 

  
 

The Planning Commission last met on June 4, 2020. The following is a recap of some of 
the items discussed at City Council meetings since that time. A full recap can be found 
by reviewing the approved City Council minutes on the website 

 
June 11, 2020 Council Meeting 

• Park Dedication Fee Update 

o Approved the Ordinance amendments as presented 

• Awarding the Sale of General Obligation Bonds – Series 2020A 

o Awarded the sale of general obligation bonds series 2020A 

• Hackamore Road Improvements – 30% Design Review 

o Approved street design layout Option 2 with one amendment and authorized 

WSB to proceed with the completion of a 75% design 

• 2020 Fee Schedule Amendments 

o Approved the Ordinance amending the 2020 Fee Schedule 

• Pandemic Response Update 

o Staff provided an overview of the continued response to the pandemic 

 

June 25, 2020 Council Meeting 

• Preliminary Plat for Kariniemi Addition 

o Approved the preliminary plat as presented 

• Comprehensive Plan Amendment, Rezoning, Preliminary Plat and Preliminary PUD  

 

 

mailto:general@ci.corcoran.mn.us
http://www.ci.corcoran.mn.us/


 
 

Page 2 of 2 
 

 

• Development Plan for Tavera 

o Approved the items with a few minor amendments for the 549-unit 

development at the northwest corner of CR 116 and Hackamore Road 

• Hackamore Road Improvement Project Update 

o Staff provided an update on the project planning following Medina’s review; 

staff will continue towards 75% design 

• COVID-19 Preparedness Plan 

o Adopted the preparedness plan as presented 

• Councilmember Resignation; Declaration of a Vacancy 

o Accepted the resignation; declared a Council vacancy 

o Thanked Councilmember Dejewski for his service 

o Appointed Brian Lother to the City Council effective July 1, 2020 to serve the 

remaining term through December 31, 2020 

• Pandemic Response Update 

o Staff provided an update on the City’s pandemic response 

 

Attachments: 

None 


	6a. 2020-07-02 PC Packet - Crossroads.pdf
	Planning Commission - Staff Report - Crossroads
	1.  Application Request
	2. Context
	Zoning and Land Use
	Surrounding Properties
	Natural Characteristics of the Site

	3. Analysis of Request
	Sign Variance
	Setback Variance

	4. Conclusions
	5. Recommendation

	Attachments
	Draft Resolution
	Location Map
	Applicant's Narrative
	Site Plan
	Site Renderings


	6b. 2020-07-02 9350 CR19 PC Staff Packet.pdf
	2020-07-02 9350 CR19 PC Staff Report.pdf
	1.  Application Request
	2. Context
	Zoning and Land Use
	Surrounding Properties
	Natural Characteristics of the Site

	3. Analysis of Request
	Variance

	4. Conclusions
	5. Recommendation
	Attachments

	2020-07-02 9350 CR19 Sign Variance Resolution.pdf
	Aerial Map.pdf
	Corcoran Variance.pdf
	Ess Bros. Survey 2.pdf
	2020-06-24 Sign Variance Exhibits - Landform.pdf
	sign permit_2020-05-05.pdf

	6c. 2020-07-02 EBC PC Packet-reduced.pdf
	2020-07-02 EBC PC Staff Report
	Attachments
	2020-07-02 EBC site plan and CUP Resolution
	2020-07-02 EBC Preliminary Plat resolution
	2020-04-23 Eagle Brook Location Map
	2020-06-24 Eagle Brook Church Public Safety Plan Review 3
	City Engineer's memo with County Memo
	Eagle Brook Feasibility Report Text and Figures May 14th
	1.0 Introduction
	2.0 Transportation
	2.1 Background
	2.2 Proposed Development Characteristics
	2.3 Existing Conditions
	2.4 Existing Traffic Volumes
	2.5 Traffic Forecasts
	2.6 Traffic Analysis
	2.7 Findings
	2.8 Cost Estimates

	3.0 Sewer and Water
	3.1 Background
	3.2 Sewer
	3.3 Potential Upsize of Water Main
	3.4 Model Results
	3.5 Sewer and Water Findings

	4.0 Drainage and Water Resources
	4.1 Stormwater Management
	4.2 Wetlands
	4.3 Findings

	5.0 Financing
	5.1 Summary

	6.0 Conclusions and Recommendations


	2020-05-19 - TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY-01 20-023
	2020-05-19 PLANS 20-023
	260.LP - LANDSCAPE PLAN.pdf
	242.CU - UTILITY PLAN - FOUNDATION DRAINTILE.pdf
	241.CU - UTILITY PLAN - STORM SEWER.pdf
	240.CU - UTILITY PLAN - SANITARY & WATERMAIN.pdf
	232.SW - SWPPP NOTES.pdf
	231.SW - SWPPP.pdf
	230.CG - GRADING PLAN.pdf
	220.CS - SITE PLAN.pdf
	210.SD - DEMO PLAN.pdf
	200.EX - EXISTING CONDITIONS.pdf

	2020-05-19 Pre Plat 20-023
	2020-05-19 SITE01 - SITE PHOTOMETRIC 20-023
	2020-06-10_EBC WM - Outlot Preliminary Layout
	2020-06-10_EBC WM - Sign Plan
	Resident letters
	2020-05-28 email from Dovenbergs
	2020-06-18 Annika Hanson - EBC proposed development_ VOTE NO
	2020-06-18 Chelsey Schammel - Concerned neighbor - new development proposal
	2020-06-18 email from Cox _ Concerns regarding Eagle Brook Church Location
	2020-06-18 email from Gary Hahn
	2020-06-18 email from Jeremy Nichols - Proposed Eagle Brook Megachurch in Ravinia
	2020-06-18 email from Sarah Carufel _ Concerns regarding Eagle Brook Church Location
	2020-06-18 Ryan Anderson - Proposed Megachurch at 101 and Hackamore
	2020-06-19 email from Payal Mathur - Proposed Eagle Brook Megachurch in Ravinia
	2020-06-19 Eric Cirioli - Proposed Megachurch at 101 and Hackamore
	2020-06-19 Thomas McKee - Eagle Brook Proposed Site
	2020-06-21 Navnit Narayan - Proposed Development for 101 and 47 intersection
	2020-06-22 Blaine Schneider - Corcoran Megachurch Concerns
	2020-06-22 email from Ryan Konrath - Eagle Brook Church Planned Development - Corcoran




	6d. 2020-07-02 Bellwether 5th PC Packet.pdf
	Planning Commission - Bellwether 5th Staff Report
	1. Application Request
	2. Parks Commission
	3. Context
	Background

	4. Analysis of Request
	Final PUD Development Plan
	Lot Size and Setbacks
	Architecture
	Homeowners Association
	Landscaping
	Mail Delivery
	Signage
	Streets
	Utilities
	Wetlands
	Floodplain
	Storm Water Management
	Grading
	Lighting
	Parks, Trails and Open Space

	Final Plat
	Development Phasing

	Conclusion

	5. Recommendation

	Attachments
	Draft Resolution
	Location Map
	Engineer's Memo
	Applicant's Narrative
	Final Plans
	Final Pat





